

# THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

OFFICIAL ORGAN OF THE



1867

PI BETA PHI FRATERNITY

# STAFF

Office of Publication: 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Arrow Editor: ADÈLE TAYLOR ALFORD (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif.

- Assistant Editor and Business Manager: GLADYS WARREN, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill., or 115 Robinson Ave., San Diego, Calif.
- Alumnæ Club Editor: VIRGINIA SHERMAN KOZAK (Mrs. Andrew J.), 728 Crouse Ave., Syracuse 10, N.Y.

Chapter Letter Editor: MARJORY MCMICHAEL PICKARD (Mrs.), 2108 16th St. N.W., Apt. 22, Washington, D.C.

- News from Little Pigeon: HARRIET GOODSELL RAUCH (Mrs. C. H.), 30 E. 70th St., New York 21, N.Y.
- Exchanges and College Notes: MERCEDES BAKER JORGULESCO (Mrs. Jonel), 7 Glenwolde Park, Tarrytown, N.Y.
- From Pi Phi Pens: MARY ELIZABETH LASHER BARNETTE (Mrs. Kenneth A.), 713 Pennsylvania St., Gary, Ind.

Arrow File: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

Arrow Contributors: MARGARETTA SPENCE DRAKE; FLO LELAND THOMPSON; KATH-ERINE GOEPPINGER; LAURIE PRITCHARD; MARTHA GITTINS BRICKER; GEORGIA GUBACK SIDERIUS.

Personals and In Memoriam Notices: Send to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

VOLUME 67

September · 1950

NUMBER 1

Subscriber's Name:
Address
Magazines Requested
Price \$
Magazines Requested
Total amount of money order or check made out to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Decatur, Illinois \$
Credit the subscription to
Signed:
Address

# SETTLEMENT SCHOOL DOLLARS NEEDED NOW!



# YOU HOLD THE KEY. ACT NOW!

It won't cost you a red cent! But it will cost your Settlement School whole dollars if you fail to place your magazine subscriptions (new or renewal) through your Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency. Harden your heart toward publishers' appeals and college boys. Think of the Settlement School and place *all* magazine subscriptions through your own Magazine Agency.

				iyr.	zyrs.
	1yr.	2yrs.	Ladies' Home Journal	3.00	5.00
American Girl	2.00	\$ 3.00	Life	6.00	9.75
American Home	2.50	4.00	Look	3.50	6.00
American Magazine	3.00	5.00	Mademoiselle	3.50	6.00
Atlantic Monthly	6.00	10.00	McCall's	2,50	4.00
Better Homes and Gardens	2.50	4.00	Nation	7.00	12.00
Kiplinger Changing Times	6.00	10.00	Newsweek	6.50	10.00
Child Life	3.00	5.00	Omnibook	4.00	7.00
Children's Activities	4.00	7,00	Open Road for Boys	2.50	4.00
Children's Playmate	1.50	2.75	Parents'	3.00	4.00
Christian Herald	3.00	5.00	Popular Mechanics	3.50	6.00
Colliers	5.00	8,00	Popular Photography	3.00	5.00
Coronet	3.00	5.00	Popular Science	3.00	5.50
Cosmopolitan	3.50	5.50	Quick	4.00	7.00
Esquire	6,00	10.00	Rider's Digest	3.00	5.00
Etude	3.00	5.00	Redbook	2,50	4.00
Flair	5.00	9.00	Saturday Evening Post	6.00	10.00
Flower Grower	,3.00	5.00	Senior Prom	2.40	4.00
Glamour	2.50	4.00	Time	6.00	10.50
Good Housekeeping	3.50	5.50	Town & Country	7.50	13.50
Harper's Bazaar	5.00	7.50	Travel	4.50	8.00
Harper's Magazine	5.00	8.00	True Story	2.20	3.50
Holiday	5.00	8.00	Vogue	7.50	12.00
House and Garden	5.00	7.50	Woman's Home Companion	2,50	4.00
Jack and Jill	2.50	4.00	Your Life	3.00	5.00

THE PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY, 410 STANDARD BUILDING, DECATUR, ILLINOIS

# SEE NEXT PAGE FOR FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

Please send changes of address to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Decatur 16, Ill.

# THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

September · 1950

# CONTENTS

Fraternity Directory	4
Official Calendars	12
Membership Statistics as of June 1, 1950	16
Editorials	17
Report of the Meetings of Grand Council	19
Post-Convention Meeting of Grand Council	20
Minutes of the Thirty-Seventh Biennial Convention	21
Minutes of the Convention Sessions of the Alumnæ Department, June 25-July 1, 1950	30
Annual Reports of National Officers	35
Settlement School Reports	69
Committee Reports	83
Province President Reports	93
Province Vice-President Reports	104
Alumnæ Personals	124
In Memoriam	132

**C**THE ARROW is printed in the months of September, December, March, and May by Pi Beta Phi Fraternity at the press of George Banta Publishing Company, 450 Ahnaip St., Menasha, Wis. Subscription price is \$1.50 a year, 50¢ for single copies, \$15.00 for life subscription. **C**Send subscriptions, change of address notice, and correspondence of a business nature to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, Decatur 16, Ill.

Correspondence of an editorial nature is to be addressed to the editor, Mrs. T. N. Alford, 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif. Items for publication should be addressed to the editor to arrive not later than July 15, October 10, January 15, March 5.

CMember of Fraternity Magazines Associated. All matters pertaining to national advertising should be directed to Fraternity Magazines Associated, 1618 Orringon Ave., Evanston, Ill. CEntered as second-class matter at the post office at Decatur, Ill., and Menasha, Wis., under the act of March 3, 1879. Acceptance for mailing at special rate of postage provided for in the act of February 28, 1925.

FRATERNITY DIRECTORY

#### FOUNDERS OF THE FRATERNITY

Fanny Whitenack Libbey (1848-1941) Inez Smith Soule (1846-1941) Margaret Campbell (1846-1936) Libbie Brook Gaddis (1830-1933) Jennie Horne Turnbull (1846-1932) Jennie Nicol, M.D. (1845-1881) Fannie Thomson (1848-1868) Nancy Black Wallace (1845-1918) Add Brune Geize (1848-1974) Ada Bruen Grier (1848-1924) Rosa Moore (1848-1924) Emma Brownlee Kilgore (1848-1924) Clara Brownlee Hutchinson (1850-1931)

#### PRESIDENT EMERITUS

May L. Keller, Westhampton College, University of Richmond, Va.

#### HONORARY GRAND TREASURER

Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 South Third St., Champaign, Ill.

#### GRAND COUNCIL

Grand President-Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, Ill. Grand Vice-President-Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 2021 Belmont Rd., N.W., Washington 9, D.C. Grand Secretary-Lucile Douglass Carson (Mrs. Floyd H.), 715 North Ave., Pittsburgh 21, Pa. Grand Treasurer-Lolita Snell Prouty (Mrs. Frank H.), 1760 Locust St., Denver 7, Colo. ARROW Editor-Adele Taylor Alford (Mrs. T. N.), 930 Olive Ave., Coronado, Calif. Director of Rushing and Pledge Training-Helen Anderson Lewis (Mrs. Benjamin C.), 4625 Washington Blvd., Indianapolis 5, Ind. Director of Extension-Marie Bacon Hagee (Mrs. George M.), 7135 Maryland Dr., University City 5, Mo.

#### COUNSELOR FOR CHAPTER HOUSE CORPORATIONS

Lillian Beck Holton (Mrs. Edwin Lee), 217 North 14th St., Manhattan, Kan.

# NATIONAL HISTORIAN

Marian Keck Simmons (Mrs. Oliver B.), 6415 Morningside Dr., Kansas City, Mo. Assistant to National Historian-Elizabeth Heryer Delaney (Mrs. E. H.), 2001 Brookwood, Kansas City, Mo.

## NATIONAL BOARD OF TRUSTEE FUNDS

Chairman-Lolita Snell Prouty (Mrs. Frank H.), 1760 Locust St., Denver, Colo.; Helen Richardson Corkum (Mrs. Howard D.), 333 Prospect St., Willimantic, Conn.; Mary Stuart Kinder (Mrs. Jean), 1144 Crestdale Rd., Lincoln, Neb.; Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, III.; Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 South Third St., Champaign, III.

NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING

Dorothea White Flint (Mrs. Leroy), 2849 N. Delaware St., Indianapolis 5, Ind.

## PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

Gladys Hayes Scivally, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Ill.

#### PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE

Director of Central Office-Gladys Hayes Scivally, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, III.

Save the Children Sponsorship-Contact Member-Lois Franklin Stoolman (Mrs. A. W.), 1001 S. Third St., Champaign, 111.

#### STANDING COMMITTEES

Standing committees
 Settlement School Committee—Chairman—Ruth Barrett Smith (Mrs. Warren T.), Brookings, Ore. Treasurer—Olivia Smith Moore (Mrs. Henry, Jr.), 420 Pine St., Texarkana, Tex.
 Secretary—School—Library—Ethel Gillespie Smith (Mrs. T. E.), 2096 Fairhaven Circle, N.E., Atlanta, Ga. Publicity, Editor of Little Pigeon Neurs—Harriet Goodsell Rauch (Mrs. C. H.), 30 East 70th St., New York City 21, N.Y. Films, Arts and Crafts—Nellis Hemple Gibson (Mrs. Frank B.), 4417 Norwood Rd., Baltimore, Md. Director of Settlement School—Ruth Dver, Pi Beta Phi Settlement School, Gatlinburg, Tenn. Manager, Arrowerali Shop—Mrs. Ethel M. Snow, Pi Beta Phi Arroweraft Shop, Gatlinburg, Tenn.
 Holt House Committee—Chairman—Eleanor Rockwood Cooley (Mrs. Kenneth), 7358 North Damen Ave., Chicago 45, Ill. Treasurer—Frances Small Trost (Mrs. John F.), R.R. 1, Lafayette, Ind. Carmen Sankey Pletz (Mrs. Samuel L.), 101 Barker Ave., Peorta, Ill. Alice McDougall Jensen (Mrs. R. M.), 305 E. Broadway, Monnouth, Ill. Evelyn Holliday Bridge (Mrs. Earle R.), 135 Moran Rd., Grosse Pointe Farms 30, Mich.
 Committee On Loan Fund—Chairman—Josephine McCleverty, 602 Melrose Ave. N., Seattle 2, Wash. Committee on Loan Fund—Chairman—Josephine McCleverty, 602 Melrose Ave. N., Seattle 2, Wash.
 Committee on Publicity—Chairman—Lois Snyder Finger (Mrs. Ray H.), 606 North Elm Dr., Beverly Hills, Calif.

5

Committee on Scholarship—Chairman—Harriet R. Johnstone, 5203 18th N.E., Seattle 5, Wash. Assistant Chairman—Marajane Warren Barksdale (Mrs. Julian D.), 13222 42nd N.E., Seattle, Wash. Province Supervisort on Scholarship: Alpha, East—Ada Minot Haggett (Mrs. Frederick M.), Phippsburg, Maine.
Alpha, East—Ada Minot Haggett (Mrs. William T.), 11 Wyndehurst Dr., Madison, N.J. Beta—Jane P. Craig (Mrs. William T.), 11 Wyndehurst Dr., Madison, N.J. Beta—Jane P. Craig (Mrs. William T.), 1226 Glengyle Ave., Cincinnati 8, Ohio.
Gamma—Jean Conklin Young (Mrs. R. L.), 2021 Ashland Ave., Charlotte, N.C. Delta—Ann Gill Cummins (Mrs. Richard C.), 407 North East St. Greenfield, Ind. Epsilon—Virginia Wilson Savage (Mrs. LaRce E. Jr.), 437 South Weller, Springfield, Mo. Zeta—Robin Hill Murphy (Mrs. Robert B.), 919 Ellwood St., Orlando, Fla.
Eta—Coleita Aitken, 304 East Empire, Bloomington, Ill. Theta—Gertrude B. Hoxie (Mrs. Will), Kappa Sigma House, Ames, Iowa. Iota—Ethelinda Parrish Amos (Mrs. T. E.), 11143-89 Avenue, Edmonton, Alberta, Can. Mu—Ruth Field Chamberlain (Mrs. T. E.), 11143-89 Avenue, Edmonton, Alberta, Can. Mu—Ruth Field Chamberlain (Mrs. J. C.), 24 Corte Mirado, San Rafael, Calif.
Committee on Transfers—Katherine Hosmer, Box 125, Basking Ridge, N.J.
Committee on Transfers—Katherine Hosmer, Box 125, Basking Ridge, N.J. Committee on Fraefers-Katherine Hosmer, Box 123, Basking Ridge, N.J.
 Committee on Fraternity Study and Examination-Chairman-Betty Hill Blalock (Mrs. William C.), Box 788, F Austin, Tex.
 Province Suppervisor on Fraternity Study and Examination:
 Alpha, East-Beverly Spencer, 480 Camberland St., Cumberland Mills, Maine.
 Alpha, West-Betty Reif Bond (Mrs. David E.), 77 Ruskin Rd., Eggersville, N.Y.
 Beta-Edith N. Wilson (Mrs. W. H.), Route #1, Hammond, W. Va.
 Gamma-Jo Seideman Foster (Mrs. Miller C., Jr.), 611 Rutledge St., Spattanburg, S.C.
 Delta-Nancy Hoover, 217 East Washington St., Renselaer, Ind.
 Epsilon-Ruth Ann Ragsdale (Mrs. J. G.), 309 Romany Rd., Apt. 2, Lexington, Ky.
 Zeta-Ray Jordan, Box 444, Deland, Fla.
 Eta-Carolyn Dallenbach Randall (Mrs. H. M., Jr.), 1421 Warwick Ave., Whiting, Ind.
 Theta-Josephine Rogers Carper (Mrs. Donald B.), R. 1, Mr. Pleasant, Iowa.
 Iota-Elsie Cary Bachanan (Mrs. Robert), 820 13th St., Boulder, Colo.
 Kappa-Charlotte Tigg, 4361 Livingston, Dallas, Tex.
 Lambda-Marion Eisenhauer, 227 E. 18th, Spokane 10, Wash.
 Mu-Maude Dawley Harley (Mrs. Gene), 4719 Norma Dr., San Diego, Calif.
 Committee on Social Eschange Committee:
 Alpha, West-E. Henrietta Gamble Scripture (Mrs. Weillamsburg, Va.
 Beta-Louise Brosins Hurd (Mrs. Andrew J.), 1509 Gardenia Dr., Pittsburgh J., Pa.
 Gamma-Helen Young, 700 Jamestown Rd, Williamsburg, Va.
 Belta-Lois Bosins Hurd (Mrs. Andrew Jackson), 944 Fairway Drive, Pensacola, Fla.
 Eta-Doris Denman Juvinall (Mrs. Andrew Jackson), 944 Fairway Drive, Pensacola, Fla.
 Eta-Marjori Ann Park Valentine (Mrs. Andrew Jackson), 944 Fairway Drive, Pensacola, Fla.
 Eta-Marione Ann Park Valentine (Mrs. Andrew Jackson), 944 Fairway Drive, Pensacola, Fla.
 Eta-Marjori

Leila Gray Clifton (Mrs. Charles M.), Pi Beta Phi House, Fayetteville, Ark. Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund Committee—Chairman—Ethel Hogan Copp (Mrs. Joseph P.), 424 Muirfield Rd., Los Angeles, Calif. Los Angeles, Ca. Committee Members

Hazel Sawyer Everett (Mrs. Victor), 883 Broadway, South Portland 7, Me.

#### NATIONAL PANHELLENIC CONFERENCE

NPC Chairman-Mts. E. Granville Crabtree, 85 Dean Road, Brookline, Mass. Pi Beta Phi Representative-Amy Burnham Onken, Chapin, 111. Committee on College Panbellenics Chairman-Mts. Harry H. Power, 2600 Wooldridge Dr., Austin 21, Tex. Committee on City Panbellenics Chairman-Mts. F. Ade Schumacher, Round Hill Road, Greenwich, Conn.

# ACTIVE CHAPTER DIRECTORY

# Corresponding Secretaries

# ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST President—Annie Laurie Keys Whipple (Mrs. Sidney H.), 28 Linbrook Rd., West Hartford, Conn. Nova Scotia Alpha—Dalhousie University, Nancy Briggs, 32 Young Ave., Halifax, N.S. Maime Alpha—University of Maine, Ida Moreshead, South Estabrooke, U. of M., Orono, Me. Vermont Alpha—University of Nancy Watters, Homstead, Middlebury, Vr. Vermont Bela—University of Vermont, Patricia Morse, Coolidge Hall, Burlington, Vt. Massachusetts Alpha—Diston University, Joy Brill, 92 Wilson Rd., Nahant, Mass. Massachusetts Bela—University of Massachusetts, Carol Hinds, 388 North Pleasant St., Amherst, Mass. Connecticut Alpha—University of Connecticut, Mary Duffy, Pi Beta Phi House, U. of C., Storrs, Conn.

#### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

President-Evelyn Miller Slifer (Mrs. George), 60 Tuxedo Rd., Montclair, N.J. New York Alpha-Syracuse University, Joyce Beryl Brown, 244 Salt Spring St., Fayetteville, N.Y. New York Gamma-St. Lawrence University, Sibyl Chatham, Pi Beta Phi House, Canton, N.Y. New York Delta-Cornell University, Martha Gotthoffer, 425 Wyckoff Rd., Ithaca, N.Y. Ontario Alpha-University of Toronto, Margaret Fleming, 616 Avenue Rd., Toronto, Ont., Can. Ontario Beta-University of Western Ontario, Barbara Saylor, 31 Adelaide St., So., London, Ont., Can.

## BETA PROVINCE

BETA PROVINCE Preident-Edith Hoyer Rankin (Mrs. Allen R.), 2185 Cambridge Blvd., Columbus, Ohio. Pennsylvania Beta-Bucknell University, May B. Williamson, W-408, Bucknell Univ., Lewisburg, Pa. Pennsylvania Gamma-Dickinson College, Nancy Martin, East College, Carlisle, Pa. Obio Alpba-University of Ohio, Ann Hammerle, 6 S. College, Athens, Ohio. Obio Beta-Ohio State University, A. Jane Woten, 1845 Indianola Ave., Columbus, Ohio. Obio Beta-Ohio Wesleyan University, Evelyn Turner, Monnette Hall, Delaware, Ohio. Obio Ebilom-University of Toledo, Virginia Kitzman, 3029 West Bancroft, Toledo, Ohio. Obio Eda-Miami University, Doris Jean Dreger, 338 Hamilton Hall, Oxford, Ohio. West Virginia Alpba-University of West Virginia, Martha Ashworth, 1493 University Ave., Morgantown, W.Va. West Virginia Beta-Davis and Elkins College, Elkins, W.Va.

#### GAMMA PROVINCE

GAMMA PROVINCE President—Betty Luhring, "Broadroof," North Shore Point, Norfolk, Va. Maryland Beta—University of Maryland, Dorothy Ruark, Pi Beta Phi House, College Park, Md. District of Columbia Alpha—George Washington University, Marjorie Johnson, 120 Sunset Iane, Kenwood, Md. Virginia Alpha—Radolph-Macon Woman's College, Julia Edwards, R.M. W.C., Lynchburg, Va. Virginia Gamma—College of William and Mary, Camille Grimes, Pi Beta House, Williamsburg, Va. North Carolina Alpha—University of North Carolina, Marie Withers, Alderman Dorn, Chapel Hill, N.C. North Carolina Beta—Duke University, Emily Sullivan, Box 6584, College Station, Durham, N.C. South Carolina Alpha—University of South Carolina, Charmaine Nutt, Box 2928, U.S.C., Columbia, S.C.

#### DELTA PROVINCE

President—Irene Hay Hoggatt (Mrs. Wilford) 3318 Gum St., Evansville, Ind. Michigan Alpha—Hillsdale College, Anna Baker, 234 Manning, Hillsdale, Mich. Michigan Beta—University of Michigan, Virginia Stoddard, 836 Tappan, Ann Arbor, Mich. Michigan Gamma—Michigan State College, Betty Schmidt, 343 Albert, E. Lansing, Mich. Indiana Alpha—Franklin College, Janet Chappell, Bryan Hall, Franklin, Ind. Indiana Beta—Indiana University, Mary Walz, 928 E. Third, Bloomington, Ind. Indiana Beta—Indiana University, Mary Walz, 928 E. Third, Bloomington, Ind. Indiana Beta—Purdue University, Lucille Eglett, 1012 State St., W. Lafayette, Ind. Indiana Epsilon—DePauw University, Sue Howard, Pi Beta Phi House, Greencastle, Ind.

### EPSILON PROVINCE

President-Marilyn Wiegner Brandom (Mrs. C. Dudley), Gallatin, Mo. Missoari Alpha-University of Missouri, Margie Burton, 511 Rollins, Columbia, Mo. Missoari Beta-Washington University, Elizabeth Hartis, 400 Marion, Webster Groves, Mo. Missoari Gamma-Drury College, Nancy Holland, 1232 E. Linwood, Springfield, Mo. Kentucky Alpha-University of Louisville, Nancy McCoy, 123 E. Shipp St., Louisville, Ky. Tennessee Alpha-University of Chattanooga, Rebecca Ann Bowman, Pfeiffer Hall, University of Chattanooga, Chattanooga, Tenn.

Tennessee Beta-Vanderbilt University, Elizabeth Nixon, Boyd Mill Rd., Franklin, Tenn. Tennessee Gamma-University of Tennessee, Eleanor Wicker, 1101 S.W. 22nd, Knoxville, Tenn.

## ZETA PROVINCE

President-Edythe Belton Tyler (Mrs. John L.), 178 Rumson Rd., N.E., Atlanta, Ga. Alabama Alpha-Birmingham-Southern College, Betty Woodham, Box 25, B.S.C., Birmingham, Ala. Alabama Beta-University of Alabama, Joyce Ann Bratton, Box 5027, University, Ala. Florida Alpha-John B. Stetson University, Ann Northen, Box 232, Stetson University, DeLand, Fla. Florida Beta-Florida State College for Women, Jean Jarrett, 515 W. College, Tallahassee, Fla. Florida Gamma-Rollins College, Sally Bradley, Rollins College, Winter Park, Fla. Georgia Alpha-University of Georgia, Helen Smith, Lucy Cobb Dormitory, Athens, Ga.

#### ETA PROVINCE

President-Maurine Firestone Cook (Mrs. C. Ray) 8143 Richmond Court, Wauwatosa, Wis, Wisconsin Alpha-University of Wisconsin, Joan Schutt, 233 Langdon St., Madison, Wis. Wisconsin Beta-Beloit College, Ruth Ellen Cramer, North College, Beloit, Wis. Wisconsin Gamma-Lawrence College, Joan Donaldson, Russell Sage Hall, Appleton, Wis. Illinois Alpha-Monmouth College, Inamae Wagner, Grier Hall, Monmouth, Ill. Illinois Beta-Delta-Knox College, Eleanor Moore, 148 W. Tompkins, Galesburg, Ill. Illinois Esta-Delta-Northwestern University, Ann Gregory, 636 Emerson, Evanston, Ill. Illinois Eta-James Millikin University, Mary Taylor, 235 N. Farview, Decatur, Ill. Illinois Theta-Bradley University, Helen Kiker, 516 West Glen, Peoria, Ill.

#### THETA PROVINCE

President-Florence Green Hoffman (Mrs. Wm. C. Jr.), 3611 Eleventh St., Des Moines, Iowa. Manitoba Alpha-University of Manitoba, Mary E. Masterman, 218 Queenston St., Winnipeg, Man., Can. North Dakota Alpha-University of North Dakota, Donna Gilbertson, 706 N. 2nd, E. Grand Forks, Minn. Minnesota Alpha-University of Minnesota, Margaret Ranseen, 4515 17th Ave., S. Minneapolis, Minn. Iowa Alpha-Iowa Wesleyan University, Georgia Volkman, Hersbey Hall, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa. Iowa Alpha-Jowa Wesleyan University, Georgia Volkman, Hersbey Hall, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa. Iowa Gamma-Iowa State College, Martha Moore, 208 Ash, Ames, Iowa. Iowa Zeta-University of Iowa, Marjorie Thomas, 815 E. Washington, Iowa City, Iowa.

#### **IOTA PROVINCE**

IOTA PROVINCE President—Lucille Nitsche Junge (Mrs. Carl L.), 2648 High St., Lincoln 2, Neb. South Dakota Alpha—University of South Dakota, Marilyn Paynter, 118 North Plum St., Vermillion, S.Dak. Nebraka Beta—University of Nebraska, Joris Devereux, 426 N. 16, Lincoln, Neb. Kanual Alpha—University of Kansas, Helene Steinbuchel, 1246 Mississippi, Lawrence, Kan. Kanial Beta—Kansas State College of Agriculture and Applied Science, Nancy Barnard, 505 Denison, Manhattan, Kan. Colorado Alpha—University of Colorado, Lucia Boyle, 890 11th St., Boulder, Colo. Colorado Beta—University of Denver, Mary Caryl Coles, 2045 S. York, Denver, Colo. Wyoming Alpha—University of Wyoming, Betty Beresford, Pi Beta Phi House, Laramie, Wyo. Utah Alpha—University of Utah, Barbara Jane Kershaw, 2500 Walker Lane, Salt Lake City, Utah.

#### **KAPPA PROVINCE**

President-Mildred Odell Sale (Mrs. Clarence M.), 3709 Lenox Dr., Fort Worth 7, Tex. Oklaboma Alpba-University of Oklahoma, Sue Ellison, 127 Page, Norman, Okla. Oklaboma Beta-Oklahoma Agricultural and Mechanical College, Ruth Mulledore, 1403 W. Fourth, Stillwater, Okla. Arkanas Alpba-University of Arkansas, Marie Bullard, Pi Beta Phi House, Fayetteville, Ark. Texat Alpba-University of Texas, Jean Haynie, 2300 San Antonio, Austin, Tex. Texat Beta-Newcomb College, Kathleen Coleman, 1235 Broadway, New Orleans, La. Louisiana Alpba-Newcomb College, Kathleen Coleman, 1235 Broadway, New Orleans, La.

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

LAMBDA PROVINCE President—Mary Weir Cooper (Mrs. E. J.) 95 West Shore Drive, S.W., Tacoma, Wash. Alberta Alpba—University of Alberta, Eva Robertson, 11138-87 Ave., Edmonton, Alta., Can. Montana Alpba—University of Idaho, Betty Bonnett, Pi Beta Phi House, Moscow, Idaho. Washington Alpba—University of Washington, Mary-Elizabeth Partlow, 4558 17th N.E., Seattle, Wash. Washington Beta—Washington State College, Jean Miller, 707 Linden Ave., Pullman, Wash. Washington Gamma—University of Puget Sound, Carole Long, 3715 N. 38th, Tacoma, Wash. Oregon Alpba—University of Oregon, Joan Manning, 1518 Kincaid, Eugen, Ore. Oregon Beta—Oregon State College, Janet Rutherford, Pi Beta Phi House, Corvallis, Ore. Oregon Gamma—Willamette University, Nancy Adams, 1445 State St., Salem, Ore.

#### MU PROVINCE

MU PROVINCE President—May Scoggins Scott (Mrs. Sterling Price, Jr.), 308 S. Maple Drive, Beverly Hills, Calif. California Beta—University of California, Constance Snodgrass, 2325 Piedmont Ave., Berkeley, Calif. California Gamma—University of Southern California, Carolyn Schiller, 647 W. 28th St., Los Angeles 7, Calif. California Delta—University of California at Los Angeles, Patricia Frick, 412 S. Mansfield Ave., Los Angeles 24, Calif. California Zeta—University of California at Santa Barbara, Carolyn Stone, 1620 Grand Ave., Santa Barbara, Calif. California Zeta—University of California at Santa Barbara, Carolyn Stone, 1620 Grand Ave., Santa Barbara, Calif. California Zeta—University of Arizona, Barbara Beeman, 1035 N. Mountain, Tucson, Ariz. Nevada Alpha—University of Nevada, Donna Batt, 869 Sierra St., Reno, Nev. New Mexico Alpha—University of New Mexico, Elaine Jackson, Box 50, U.N.M., Albuquerque, N.M.

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

# College Men, Not Boys

# From College Fraternity Editors' News Release

SOME OF THE BEST CONSTRUCTIVE PUBLICITY FOR FRATERNITIES appeared in the Indianapolis Star in March, with the above editorial title. It read: The Indiana University chapter of Alpha Tau Omega social fraternity has provided further evidence that a mature sense of responsibility distinguishes today's college generation from some of its predecessors. The ATO chapter utilized its recent pre-initiation "Hell Week" to perform good deeds for the community. Instead of "assuming the angle" before paddle-wielding upperclassmen and submitting to other childish tortures, the fraternity pledges were put to work for the Monroe County Welfare Department. During the week they painted a nursery school, chopped wood, repaired roofs, shoveled snow and did other useful welfare work. There may be a few unreconstructed rebels of the John Held, Jr., era who will say this is a sign today's collegians are going soft. We say it's a sign they're tougher than ever and have a better understanding that they are preparing themselves for an adult world which increasingly separates the men from the boys. And after all, the puerile mumbojumbo of the old-fashioned Hell Week must seem pretty silly to college freshmen whose older brothers took the worst Hitler and Tojo had to offer. ATO has set an example for other fraternity chapters to follow.

# Alumnae Department Directory

Secretary for the Alumnae and Grand Vice-President-Marianne Reid Wild (Mrs. Robert S.), 2021 Belmont Rd., Washington D.C. Director of Extension-Marie Bacon Hagee (Mrs. George M.), 7135 Marvland Dr., University City 5, Mo. Alumnae Club Editor-Virginia Sherman Kozak (Mrs. Andrew), 728 S. Crouse Ave., Syracuse 10, N.Y. Send letters for March ARROW to Mrs. Kozak by January 10. Send letters for May ARROW to Mrs. Kozak by March 5. Alumnae Personals-In charge of Central Office, 410 Standard Bldg., Decatur, III. Send Personals which include notices of marriages, births and deaths to the Central Office. For Sentember ARROW send by July 1.

For September ARROW send by July 1. For December ARROW send by October 10. For March ARROW send by January 10. For May ARROW send by March 5.

## Alumnæ Club Corresponding Secretaries

\* No officer list received

#### ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST Vice-President—Erminie L. Pollard, Proctorsville, Vt. Boston, Mass.—Irene Pearson, 24 Orchard St., Belmont 78, Mass. Burlington, Vt.—Mrs. W. S. Thompson, 214 Maple St., Burlington, Vt. Eastern Maine—Bernicee Thompson, 11 Boynton St., Bangor, Me. Halifax, N.S.—Elizabeth Doull, 284½ Robie St., Halifax, N.S. Hariford, Conn.—Genevieve Elmer, 131 Beacon St., Hartford S, Conn. Montreal, Quebec.—Mrs. H. G. Wood, 1380 DECarie Blvd, St. Laurent, Quebec. New Haven, Conn.—Mrs. Edward O'Hara, Box 30, Cheshire, Conn. Portland, Me.—Mts, John Slezinger, 96 Emery St., Portland, Me.

### ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

ALPHA PROVINCE WEST Vice-Pretident-Edna Olson Archibald (Mrs. Fred), 384 Loudon Rd., Loudonville, N.Y. Albany, N.Y.-Mrs. H. C. Kennedy, 1701 Tibbits Ave., Troy, N.Y. Buffalo, N.Y.-Mrs, Marvin Payton, 390 McKinley Ave., Kenmore 17, N.Y. Hudson River, N.Y.-Ruth Lewis, 215 Villard Ave., Hastings-on-Hudson, N.Y. London, Omario-Mrs. Peter MacKichan, 867½ Wellington St., London, Ont. New York City, N.Y.-Mrs. F. G. Hockaday, 75 Hanson Place, Brooklyn, N.Y. Northern New Jeriey-Mrs. Harold K. Philips, 3 Wyndham Rd., Shott Hills, N.J. Poughkeepsie, N.Y.-Mrs. Re. W. Hadden, 82 Davis Ave., Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Rochester, N.Y.-Mrs. Gerald Drake, 24 Westwood Drive, E. Rochester, N.Y. Schenettady, N.Y.-Mary Doyle Matthews (Mrs. D. E.), 123 Elmer Ave., Schenectady 10, N.Y. Syracuse, N.Y.-Mrs. Guy, Chaffee, 2827 E. Genesee St., Syracuse, N.Y. Toronto, Ontario-Mrs. A. K. Stuart, 150 Balmoral Ave., Toronto, Ont. Weischester County, N.Y.-Mrs, A. H. McCoy, 55 Hazelton Drive, White Plains, N.Y.

#### BETA PROVINCE

BETA PROVINCE Vice-President—Velva DeMoss Shortz (Mrs. Claude C.), 1711 N. Fourth St., Columbus, Ohio. Altent, Ohio—Mrs. George L. Wolf, 444 E. Glenwood Ave., Akron, Ohio. Chern, Ohio—Mrs. F. W. Wheaton, 77 Elmwood Place, Athens, Ohio. Central Pennsylvania—Marion C. Cuthbertson (Mrs. Gilbert), U.S.N.E.P., R.R. 1, Lewisburg, Pa. Charleston, W. Va.—Mrs. H. W. Adams, Jr., 4110 Venable Ave., S.E., Charleston, W.Va. Clarksburg, W.Va.—Melba Jo Yates, 455 S. Chestnutt St., Clarksburg, W.Va. Clarksburg, W.Va.—Melba Jo Yates, 455 S. Chestnutt St., Clarksburg, W.Va. Clarksburg, W.Va.—Mrs. R.F. Strattan, 3994 E. 177th St., Cleveland 20, Ohio. Cleveland East, Obio—Mrs. Rest Dorsh, 346 W. South St., Worthington, Ohio. Celeveland Wett, Obio—Mrs. Edwin Karpick, 11125 Lake Ave., Cleveland 2, Ohio. Cleveland, Obio—Mrs. B. C. Breinhardt, 2674 Rugby Rd., Dayton, Ohio. Dayton, Obio—Mrs. Alex Goldberg, 518 Davis St., Elkins, W. Va. Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa.—Mrs. W. S. Hinckley, 219 North 25th St., Camp Hill, Pa. Maboning Valley, Obio—Mrs. Re. E. Davis, 141 Wagner Road. Morgantown, W.Va. Obio Valley, Obio—Mrs. Robert E., Ritterhoff, 719 Harvard Rd., Bala-Cynwyd, Pa. Phittburgh, Pa.—Mrs. Robert E., Ritterhoff, 719 Harvard Rd., Bala-Cynwyd, Pa. Phittburgh, Pa.—Mrs. J. R. Malone, 10 Brucewood Drive, Pittsburgh 16, Pa. Springfield, Obio—Mrs. James C. Scharren, 2909 Medford Drive, Totedo 14, Ohio. Barthadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. J. A. Nutting, 2800 E. High, Springfield, Ohio. Teledo, Obio—Mrs. James C. Scharren, 2909 Medford Drive, Totedo 14, Ohio.

#### GAMMA PROVINCE

GAMMA PROVINCE Vice-President-Marie Tunstall Lingo (Mrs. B. Harrison), 1731 Lanier Pl. N.W., Washington, D.O. Baltimore, Md.-Mrs. N. F. Edmonds, 1635 E. Cold Spring Lane, Baltimore 18, Md. Chaplet Hill, N.C.-Dr. Maxine Haffner Cox, Box 327, Pittsboro, N.C. Charlotte, N.C., Mrs. Thomas G. Lane, Jr., 1119 Granville Rd., Charlotte, N.C. Columbia, S.C.-Mrs. R. Lynn Kalmbach, Lykesland, S.C. \*Darham, N.C., Mrs. R. F. Kibler, \$12 Ambassador Apt., Durham, N.C. Norfolk, Va., Mrs. Richard C. Montague, 5628 Westover Ave., Norfolk, Va. Richmond, Va., Mrs. Johnson C. Moss. 1007 Malvern Ave., Richmond 21, Va. Washington, D.C., Jr., Mrs. Paul H. Shaw, 2503 Lindell St., Silver Spring, Md. Washington, D.C., Sr., Florence Elizabeth Frisby, 4522 Warten St., N.W., Washington 16, D.C., Willmington, Del., Mrs. C. D. Ford, 809 Augusta Rd., Westover Hills, Willmington, Del. Washington, D.C.

#### DELTA PROVINCE

Vice-President—Virginia Brackett Green (Mrs.), 2650 Sutherland, Indianapolis, Ind. Ann Arbor, Mich.—Mrs. George Huntzicker, 1300 Gardner, Ana Arbor, Mich. Bloomfeld Hills, Mich.—Mrs. Paul Icke, 17115 Beechwood, Birmingham, Mich. Bloomington, Ind.—Emma Jane Shepherd, 718 E. Sth, Bloomington, Ind. Detroit, Mich.—Mrs. M. A. Guenin, 17408 Warrington, Detroit 21, Mich.

Fort Wayne, Ind.—Mrs. R. L. Hines, 4210 Arlington, Fort Wayne, Ind.
Franklin, Ind.—Julia Hyde, 666 E. Jefferson St., Franklin, Ind.
Gary, Ind.—Marge Schleicher, 4365 Adams St., Gary, Ind.
Grand Rapids, Mich.—Mrs. Jack Behler, 823 Neland Ave. S.E., Grand Rapids, Mich.
Hammond, Ind.—Mrs. Carl Dow, 46 E. Fayette St., Hillsdale, Mich.
Indianapolis, Ind.—Mrs. Larry C. Haury, 5276 Cornelius, Indianapolis, Ind.
Jackson, Mich.—Mrs. Marcus Sharpe, 1119 First St., Jackson, Mich.
\*Lalayette, Ind.—Mrs. Marcus Sharpe, 1119 First St., Jackson, Mich.
\*Lalayette, Ind.—Mrs. William C. Baldwin, 3116 Torquay Rd., Muncie, Ind.
\*Northern, Ind.—Mrs. Mark Disosway, 113 S. Seventh St., Goshen, Ind.
Richmond, Ind.—Mrs. D. H. Lay, 126 S. 8th St., Richmond, Ind.
Southeastern Ind.—Mrs. D. A. Young, 210 Oakey Ave., Lawrenceburg, Ind.
Southwestern Indiana—Mrs. Charles Haworth, 2613 Washington Ave., Evansville, Ind. EPSILON PROVINCE

EPSILON PROVINCE Vice-President-Alice Weber Mansfield (Mrs. William H.), 621 S. Rock Hill Rd., Webster Groves, Mo. Blue Ridge-Mrs, G. F. Sutherland, Big Stone Gap, Va. Chattanooga, Tenn.-Edith Smith Palmer (Mrs.) 3403 Harcourt Dr., Chattanooga 4, Tenn. Columbia, Mo.-Queen Smith, 501 Rollins, Columbia, Mo. Kanua City, Mo.-Barbara Kellogg, 4520 Main, Kansas City. Mo. Knoxrille-Little Pigeon, Tenn.-Mrs. Charles B. Clement, 1821 Melrose Ave., Knoxville, Tenn. Lexington, Ky.-Mrs. Paul Martin, 1149 E. Cooper Drive, Lexington, Ky. Louisville, Ky.-Mrs. John R. Williams, 3315 Grandview Ave., Louisville, Ky. Mempbis, Tenn.-Dorothy Dickson, 2020 Broadway, Nashville, Tenn. Natsbille, Tenn.-Dorothy Dickson, 2020 Broadway, Nashville, Tenn. St. Lowis, Mo.-Mrs. Louis J. Schaeler, R.R. 1, Box 200, Creve Coeur, Mo. Springfield, Mo.-Mrs. Robert D. Revnolds, 830 St. Louis St., Springfield, Mo. Tri-State-Mrs. H. L. Gilmore, 628 Porter, Joplin, Mo. ZETA PROVINCE

ZETA PROVINCE Vice-Presidem—Marguerite Blocker Bartlett (Mrs. George W.), 5 Sea Lane, St. Petersburg, Fla. Atlanta, Ga.—Frances Black, 416 Callan Circle, N.E., Atlanta, Ga. Birmingham, Ala.—Martelle Moore, 2815 10th Ave. S., Birmingham, Ala. DeLand, Fla.—Mrs. R. W. Wilson, 808 W. Minnesota Ave., DeLand, Fla. Gainereille, Fla.—Mrs. G. S. Germond, Rt. 2, Box 88 BB, Gainesville, Fla. Jacksonville, Fla.—Eleanor Mahoney, 2343 Herschel St., Jacksonville, Fla. Jacksonville, Fla.—Eleanor Mahoney, 2343 Herschel St., Jacksonville, Fla. Jacksonville, Fla.—Mrs. Howard J. Rice, P.O. Box 54, Eustis, Fla. Lakel County, Fla.—Mrs. J. D. Bray, 915 Castile Ave., Coral Gables, Fla. Miami, Fla.—Mrs. J. L. Bray, 915 Castile Ave., Coral Gables, Fla. Mobile, Ala.—Mrs. J. Dargg Ave., Mobile, Ala. Ocala, Fla.—Caroline Painter, 12 Ray St., Ocala, Fla. Orlando and Winiter Park, Fla.—Mrs. Edwin W. Guernsey, 911 W. Princeton Ave., Orlando, Fla. Palm Beaches, Fla.—Mrs. C. C. MacPike, 503 Frisco Drive, Pensacola, Fla. SI. Peterisburg, Fla.—Mrs. Fed Hester, 501/2 29th Ave. S., St. Petersburg, Fla. Tallabassee, Fla.—Mrs. Paul A. Skelton, 519 E. Park Ave., Tallahassee, Fla. Tampa, Fla.—Mrs. S. A. Sossamon, 3318 Jean Circle, Tampa 9, Fla. Orlando, Fla. ETA PROVINCE

ETA PROVINCE Vice-President—Elizabeth Hill Scott (Mrs. Harold M.), 1213 W. William, Champaign, Ill. Acon, Ill.—CLibbie Brook Gaddis)—Mrs. Stanley Manning, Avon, Ill. Beloit, Win.—Mrs. Theodore Robie, 722½ Harrison Ave., Beloit, Wis. Champaign-Urbana, Ill.—Mrs. Ramey Ablf, 1110 S. New, Champaign, Ill. Chicago Business Women, Ill.—Lucile Grover, Room 2035, 135 S. LaSalle St., Chicago 3, Ill. Chicago North, Ill.—Mrs. A. J. Gutek, 1631 Pratt Blvd, Chicago, Ill. Chicago North, Ill.—Mrs. A. J. Gutek, 1631 Pratt Blvd, Chicago, Ill. Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. A. J. Gutek, 1631 Pratt Blvd, Chicago, Ill. Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. A. J. Gutek, 1631 Pratt Blvd, Chicago, Ill. Chicago South, Ill.—Mrs. R. W. Taylor, 14 South Side Country Club. Decatur, Ill. DuPage County, Ill.—Mrs. R. G. Golseth, 325 Hagans Ave., Elmhurst, Ill. Eligin, Ill.—Mrs. Lee Phillips, 384 E. Chicago St., Elgin, Ill. Hilmoit Fox River Valley, Wis.—Mrs. Walter Parker, Jr., 1201½ Packard, Appleton, Wis. Galesbarg, Ill.—Mrs. Isa Neifert, 755 N. Kellogg St., Galesburg, Ill. Illinoit Fox River Valley, Ill.—Mrs. Donn Johnson, 123 North Ave., Aurora, Ill. Jacksonville, Ill.—Mrs. John Secord, 412 Lake St., Madison, Wis. Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. Homed Seaton, Little York, Ill. North Shore, Ill.—Mrs. Lionel C. Dalton, 1121 Chestnut St., Wilmette, Ill. North Shore, Ill., Mrs. Horad Seaton, Little York, Ill. North Shore, Ill., Mrs. Wang He, Gilman, 142 N. Austin Blvd., Oak Park, Ill. Peoria, Ill.—Mrs. J. H. Franke, 869 Moss Ave., Peoria, Ill. Porker, Ill.—Mrs. Will.am McIlwain, 311 Paris Ave., Rockford, Ill. Proria, Ill.—Mrs. H. J. Merriam, Washington Park Gardens, Springfield, Ill. Pringfield, Ill.—Mrs. H. J. Merriam, Washington Park Gardens, Springfield, Ill.

#### THETA PROVINCE

THETA PROVINCE Vice-President—Helen Wright Grant (Mrs. G. A.), 1111 North B St., Indianola, Iowa. Ames, Iowa—Mrs. Kenneth Cook, 1402 Douglas, Ames, Iowa. Barlington, Iowa—Mrs. David Steinle, 902 N. 7th St., Burlington, Iowa. Cedar Rapids, Iowa—Mrs. LeRoy D. Weld, 1838 Blake Blvd., Cedar Rapids, Iowa. Council Bluffs, Iowa—Mrs. J. R. Mason, 124 S. 185 St., Council Bluffs, Iowa. Der Meiner, Iowa—Mrs. K. J. Dawson, 306 51st St., Des Moines, Iowa. Dulath, Minn.-Superior, Wis.—Mrs. E. A. Kefgen, 2345 Woodland Ave., Duluth, Minn. Grand Forks, N.D.—Mrs. Stanley Sofas, 306 Oak, Grand Forks, N.D. Indianola, Iowa—Mrs. Homer Stone, R.R. 3, Indianola, Iowa. Iowa City, Iowa—Nrs. Homer Stone, R.R. 5, Indianola, Iowa. Minneapolit, Minn., Atternoon—Mrs. E. J. John, 5050 Garheld, S., Minneapolis, Minn. Minneapolit, Minn., Evening—Mrs. L. R. Wagner, 5228 Xerxes Ave. S., Minneapolis, Minn. Mt. Pleasant, Iowa—Mrs. Robert Humphrey, West Monroe, Mt. Pleasant, Iowa.

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

St. Paul, Minn.—Mrs. Frank Adair, 1898 Pinehurst, St. Paul, Minn, Sioux City, Iowa—Marilyn Pieper, 2023 Pierce, Sioux City, Iowa. Tri-City (Rock Island, Moline, III., Davenport, Iowa)—Mrs. Neil Danberg, 222 E. Central Park, Davenport, Iowa. Winnipeg, Man., Can.—Mrs. H. V. Williams, 340 Kingston Cresc., Winnipeg, Man., Can.

#### IOTA PROVINCE

IOTA PROVINCE Vice-President-Genevieve Conner Munger (Mrs. G. O.), 350 N. 15th St., Manhattan, Kan. Boulder, Colo.-Mrs. R. H. Buchanan, 820 13th St., Boulder, Colo. Casper, Wyo.-Mrs. F. H. Carr, 819 South Ash, Casper, Wyo. Colorado Springt, Colo.-Emma Lucile Adams, 1602 Alamo Ave., Colorado Springs, Colo. Denver, Colo.-Mrs. M. E. Palm, 151 S. Clermont St., Denver, Colo. Fort Collins, Colo.-Mrs. B. Ned, 301 E. 16th, Hutchinson, Kan. Hatchinson, Kan.-Mrs. W. B. Neel, 301 E. 16th, Hutchinson, Kan. Kansa, City, Kan.-Mrs. J. H. Vaughan, 1317 N. 25th, Kansas City, Kan. Laramie, Wyo.-Patricia Sullivan, 1012 Grand Ave., Laramie, Wyo. Lawrence, Kan.-Mrs. Charles Radcliffe, 2232 Vermont, Lawrence, Kan. Lincoln, Neb.-Mts. Bergan, 3000 B, Lincoln, Neb. Manbattan, Kan.-Mis. Norman Rothrock, 1708 Humboldt, Manhattan, Kan. Ogden, Utab-Mrs, Peter Lamb, 2107 Quincy Ave., Ogden, Utah. Omaha, Neb.-Mts. John M. Jenkins, 4817 California St., Omaha 3, Neb. Pueblo, Colo.-Mts, Gerald J. McCarthy, 219 Broadway, Pueblo, Colo. Salt Lake City, Utab-Mrs, D. S. Nelson, 2652 Wellington Ave., Salt Lake City, Utah. Sioax Fall, S.D.-Hens Lewis C, Swan, 1610 Plass, Topeka, Kan. Vermillion, S.D.-Mrs. Hugh E, DeWater, 943 Waverly Drive, Wichita, Kan.

#### KAPPA PROVINCE

Witchind, Kain.—Mrs. Hugh E. Dewalter, 945 waverly Dive, Witchin, Kain. **KAPPA PROVINCE Vice-President**—Theresa Gibson Graham (Mrs. Thomas E.), 3524 W. 18th St., Oklahoma Gity, Okla. *Amarillo, Tex.*—Mrs. H. K. Kendrick, 1607 Van Buren, Amarillo, Tex. *Ardmore, Okla.*—Mrs. H. K. Kendrick, 1607 Van Buren, Amarillo, Tex. *Ardmore, Okla.*—Mrs. H. K. Kendrick, 1607 Van Buren, Andmore, Okla. *Amarillo, Tex.*—Mrs. Hancs W. Taylor, 1012 Gaston Ave, Austin, Tex. **Baton Ronge, La.**—Mrs. R. A. Tceter, 137 W. Parker Blvd., Baton Ronge, La. *Braton Valley, Tex.*—Mrs. R. A. Tceter, 137 W. Parker Blvd., Baton Ronge, La. *Braton Valley, Tex.*—Mrs. R. A. Tceter, 137 W. Parker Blvd., Baton Ronge, La. *Braton Valley, Tex.*—Mrs. R. A. Tceter, 137 W. Parker Blvd., Baton Ronge, La. *Braton Valley, Tex.*—Mrs. Tom Edwards, 433 Peerman Place. Corpus Christi, Tex. *Corpus Corinit, Tex.*—Mrs. John A. Lester, 3460 Stanford, Dallas, Tex. *Tex.*—Mrs. John A. Lester, 3460 Stanford, Dallas, Tex. *Buton Rouge, La.*—Mrs. B. Cansenana, 613 W. Dickson, Fayetteville, Ark. *Port Worth, Tex.*—Mrs. George H. Matkin, 2220 Wich, Apt. 4. Houston 19, Tex. *Lake Charles, La.*—Mrs. B. E. R. Flanagan, 823 Kirkman, Apt. 4. Lake Charles, La. *Little Rock, Ark.*—Mrs. Joen Feanster, 1622 E. Sence a Ave. McAlester, Okla. *Midland, Tex.*—Mrs. J. K. Lydecker, 2206 W. College, Midland, Tex. *Muchaege, Okla.*—Mrs. Jon M. Baver, 1620 N. V. 17th, Oklahoma City, Okla. *Worman, Okla.*—Mrs. J. M. Baker, 1620 N. W. 17th, Oklahoma City, Okla. *Otemangee, Okla.*—Mrs. J. M. Baker, 1620 N. W. 17th, Oklahoma City, Okla. *We Orlean, La.*—Mrs. William P. Brown, Jr., 2602 Peniston St., New Orleans, La. *Norman, Okla.*—Mrs. J. M. Baker, 1620 N. W. 17th, Oklahoma City, Okla. *We Mangee, Okla.*—Mrs. J. M. Baker, 1620 N. W. 17th, Oklahoma City, Okla. *We Mangee, Okla.*—Mrs. Jon Berkman, 203 Hoover, Ponca City, Ok

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

LAMBDA PROVINCE Vice-President-Mary Bowlen Mooney (Mrs.), 13604 Ravine Drive, Edmonton, Alta., Can. Bellingham, Wath.-Mrs. Charles Wilson, 2700 Park Drive, Bellingham, Wash. Boise, Idaho-Mrs. Robert D. Campbell, 1104 N. 18th, Boise, Idaho. Bozeman, Mont.-Elizabeth Gary, 402 S. Black, Bozeman, Mont. Butte-Anaconda, Mont.-Mrs. M. C. Lind, Jr., 1143 W. Diamond, Butte, Mont. Calgary, Alta., Can.-Mrs. A. G. Burton, 1120 Frontenac Ave., Calgary, Alta., Can. Coor County, Ore.-Mrs. Bruce Starker, 3800 Van Buren, St., Corvallis, Ore. Corrallis, Ore.-Mrs. Bruce Starker, 3800 Van Buren, St., Corvalis, Ore. Camonton, Alta., Can.-Mrs. J. W. Neilson, 10921 85th Ave., Edmonton, Alta., Can. Eugene, Ore.-Martha Baker, 2410 Emerald, Eugene, Ore. Everett, Wash.-Mrs. Charles A. McGlade, 4618 Fowler, Apt. 36, Everett, Wash. Klamath Falls, Ore.-Ruth Doerr, Klamath Circle, Oretech, Ore. Medford, Ore.-Mrs. W. D. Longmore, 740 Dakota Ave., Medford, Ore. Pullman, Wash.-Mrs. Helen Cozad Clancy, 1029 S.W. Falcon St., Portland 1, Ore. Pullman, Wash.-Mrs. H. B. Busdicker, 31 Hillcrest Apts., Pullman, Wash. Solem., Wash.-Mrs. Rugh A. Dressel, S. 2129 Tekoa, Spokane, Wash. Spokane, Wash.-Mrs. Hugh A. Dressel, S. 2129 Tekoa, Spokane, Wash. Spokane, Wash.-Mrs. Hugh A. Dressel, S. 2129 Tekoa, Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash.-Mrs. J. O. Nicholson, Box 576, Wenatchee, Wash. Yakima, Wash.-Mrs. J. O. Nicholson, Box 576, Wenatchee, Wash. Yakima, Wash.-Mrs. J. O. Nicholson, Box 576, Wenatchee, Wash. Yakima, Wash.-(Fannie Whitenack Libby)-Mrs. Willard LeVan, 2108 MacLaren, Yakima, Wash.

## MU PROVINCE

MU PROVINCE Vice-President—Marcella McCormick Rhodes (Mrs. L. C.), Stonestown Apts. 404, 525 Buckingham Way, San Francisco, Calif. Albaquerque, N.M.—Mrs. Vance Mauney, 4209 Countrey Dr., Albaquerque, N.M. Berkeler, Calif.—Mrs. Revers L. Shaw. 218 Yale Ave., Berkeler, Calif. Centinal Valley, Calif.—Mrs. Rarris Farmer, 9629 Eighth Ave., Inglewood, Calif. Centina Coita, Calif.—Mrs. R. J. Van Wagenen, 1065 Delphia Ave., Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. K. J. Van Wagenen, 1065 Delphia Ave., Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. R. J. Van Wagenen, 1065 Delphia Ave., Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. R. J. Van Wagenen, 1065 Delphia Ave., Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif.—Mrs. B. John Pithlado, 1005 Goldfield, Long Beach 7, Calif. Honolulu, T.H.—Marilyn Allenbaugh, 3399 Kahawalu Dr., Honolulu, T.H. Lat Vreas, New.—Jacqueline P. Black, 208 N. 18th St., Las Vegas, New. Long Beach, Calif.—Mrs. Robert P. Black, 208 N. 18th St., Las Vegas, New. Long Beach, Calif.—Mrs. Ralph C. Hird, 3 Bassett Lane, Atherton, Calif. Patadena, Calif.—Mrs. R. E. Bichholtz, 120 Almenar Dr., Greenbrae, San Rafael, Calif. Patadena, Calif.—Mrs. R. B. Keilholtz, 120 Almenar Dr., Greenbrae, San Rafael, Calif. Patadena, Calif.—Mrs. R. E. Binith, 79 E. Hoover St., Phoenix, Ariz. Reno, New.—Mrs. R. R. Elliott, 981 Bates Ave., Reno, New. Roneell, N.M.—Dolores Farnsworth Snipes, 1006 S. Pennsylvania Ave., Roswell, N.M. Sacramerdino, Calif.—Mrs. John Vales 206 St. Sacramento, Calif. Sam Brenardino, Calif.—Mrs. Robert N. Thayer, 1556 Friar St., Van Nuys, Calif. Sam Frantice, Calif.—Mrs. Robert N. Thayer, 1556 Priar St., Van Nuys, Calif. Sam Frantice, Calif.—Mrs. Robert N. Thayer, 1556 Friar St., Van Nuys, Calif. Sam Ataeo Cowny, Calif.—Mrs. Robert N. Thayer, 1556 Priar St., Van Nuys, Calif. Sam Ataeo Cowny, Calif.—Mrs. Robert N. Thayer, 1556 Priar St., Van Nuys, Calif. Sam Ataeo Cowny, Calif.—Mrs. G. P. Benz, 80 Jack Colegrove St., San Mateo, Calif. Sam Ataeo Cowny, Calif.—Mrs. G. C. Stevens, Sun Jase, Calif. Sama Barbara-Ven

# Let's Give More for Scholarships . . .

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

# Editorial by

# RUTH WILSON COGSHALL IN Mountaineer

If the chapters had contributed even a few more dollars to the Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scholarship Fund, perhaps some of the 10 girls whose applications had to be refused might have been able to remain in college.

The number of these scholarships which Grand Council is able to approve each year, depends upon the amount of money which the chapters give. In addition there is the sum of \$900 already set aside from the money formerly used for the scholarship rings.

This year there were 16 girls to apply; sixteen girls whose records were unusually fine. But only six of these could be granted the money necessary to keep them in college. Letters from their professors, their deans of women, the alumnæ who know them intimately stressed their irreproachable conduct, their stable character, their dependability, their valuable contribution to chapter functioning, and their scholastic record. The six chosen will go on to greater accomplishments. But what of the ten whose applications had to be turned down? Some of them may find outside employment. Some of them undoubtedly will remain in college because the added income from part-time work will help defray the essential college expenses. But what about their scholastic records? And what about their contribution to college and fraternity life? Are they to be forced to be content with average accomplishments, sacrificing their brilliant records, their chance for growth through fraternity and organization service simply because they will have insufficient time to devote to their studies and their campus life?

We have only to glance through a sample of the letters submitted with the applications to realize that here is a superior class of girls. There is the one about whom the dean of women wrote . . she had the greatest influence in the development of successful programs of any student I have known. There is the girl about whom her chapter says . . . we have been able to count on her doing whatever is expected in a cheerful and unassuming way, outstanding in looks and manners, with conduct irreproachable. There is the one who has the wise grasp of college life, a persistence to finish school, a stable person.

The Fraternity needs these girls, and the Fraternity can keep them if the Scholarship Fund is increased by your contribution.

# OFFICIAL CALENDARS

Communications for the Central Office should be addressed: Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois. For addresses of other officers, consult the Fraternity Directory immediately following the Official Calendar in this issue.

# ACTIVE

Send checks for initiation fees to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois. Make checks for Senior dues payable to Pi Beta Phi Central Office, and send to the Central Office. Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to her.

Make checks for Scholarship Fund payable to the Central Office and send there.

Make checks for the Holt House payable to the treasurer of Holt House Committee and send to her.

Make checks for jewelry payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to that office.

Payment for badges in Canada is sent direct to Birks & Co. after order has been okeyed by the Pi Beta Phi Central Office.

Make checks for magazine subscription payable to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, 410 Standard Office Bldg., Decatur, Illinois.

## Notice to Canadian Chapters

Canadian chapters make all checks for payments of initiation fees, contributions to all funds, and payments for Bound ARROWS and Treasurers' Bonds, payable to the Grand Treasurer, Mrs. Frank H. Prouty, 1760 Locust St., Denver 7, Colorado.

## **General Instructions**

Chapter treasurers should see that the Financial Statements to Parents and Pledges are sent approximately two weeks before the proposed initiation. They should be sent only to the parents of the girls who have met the initiation requirements and whom the chapter definitely plans to initiate. This means too that the blanks should be sent only for the girls who have received the required vote of the Executive Council and the Alumnæ Advisory Committee for approval of initiation.

Chapter treasurers should see that badges are ordered through the Central Office. It takes six weeks or more, under present conditions, to complete badge orders. Badges for prospective members should not be ordered until all initiation requirements have been met.

Chapter treasurers should send the initiation fee for each initiate with Form GT1 to Central Office within three days of initiation. Canadian chapters send initiation fees to Mrs. Frank H. Prouty, 1760 Locust Street, Denver 7, Colorado.

Chapter Treasurers should send monthly reports to Busey Fraternity Accounting System.

The corresponding secretary should report to the Central Office changes in chapter officers if they are made, any time during the year.

When college schedules make it impossible to comply exactly with fraternity calendar dates, chapter officers should contact Central Office, explain the situations, and receive special permission to vary from the established dates.

- SEPTEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province President, Chapter officers meet, read manuals, and prepare for college year.
- SEPTEMBER 25. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send to Province Scholarship Supervisor and to Province President letter giving plans for study and improvement in scholarship.
- OCTOBER 1. Chapter corresponding secretary send list of actives to the Central Office.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter vice-president send Membership Lists to the Central Office.
- CTOBER 1, (or as soon after as possible). Chapter pledge superrisor send a list of pledges, on forms intended for that purpose, to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, and to the Central Office.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter corresponding secretary of chapters maintaining residences mail to Chairman of Committee on Chaperons, printed card concerning chaperon and also blank containing data on chaperon.
- OCTOBER 1. Chapter treasurer see that Grand Treasurer's letter explaining dues and fees is sent to parents of actives and pledges with letter from chapter.
- OCTOBER 1. Pledge aponsors send national and chapter letters to parents of pledges as soon as possible after pledging.
- OCTOBER I. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send report and plotures of honor students to National Scholarship Chairman, using Scholarship Blank 24. Send Copy to Province President also.
- OCTOBER I. Corresponding scretary and to Director of Extension name and address of president of chapter's Mothers' Club.
- OCTOBER 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by October 10.
- OCTOBER 16. Chapter president send letter and copy of Bylaws to the Province President.
- laws to the Province President. OCTOBER 10, Chapter corresponding secretary notify Central office if supplies for fall work have not been received. Chapter corresponding secretary return receipt for fall supplies to the Central Office as soon as the supplies are received.

- OCTOBER 15. Chapter corresponding secretary send Fraternity Study and Examination Blank 1105 to the Province Supervisor of Fraternity Study and Examination not later than October 15 and before if possible.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter corresponding secretary notify Chairman of Committee on Transfers if chapter has or has not members transferring to other campuses, using official Introduction Transfer Blank for purpose. Also send to her a list of the names and present addresses of all other undergraduates who have not returned to the chapter.
- Deturined to the enapter. OCTOBER 15. Within two weeks after the close of formal rushing season, approximately October 15, retiring chapter rush centain report to the Province President the result of rushing and pledging and report to the Province President and Central Office the name and address of the new rush captain. Within five days after pledging she is also to send recommendation and consent to bid blank for each girl pledged to Director of Rushing and Pledge Training.
- OCTOBER 15. Program chairmen submit plans to the Province President for chapter meeting programs for the first semester.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter treasurer send to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office \$5.00 to cover both the bond for the chapter treasurer and the bound ARROWS of preceding year.
- OCTOBER 15. Chapter treasurer send to Director of Extension a report concerning delinquents, whether there are any, if so names and amounts.
- OCTOBER 15. Deadline for material for December ARROW.
- OCTOBER 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: Summer-September Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) and 2 copies of Budget Control Sheet from all chapters whose schools open before September 15.
- OCTOBER 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- OCTOBER 30. Chapter piedge supervisor send letter to Province President.

OCTOBER 30. Chapter president send form to the Director of Rushing and Piedge Training stating that all employees handling food at the chapter house have passed a physical examination.

NOVEMBER 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-

NOVEMBER 10. Chapter Scholarship Chairman send to Province Supervisor, Province President and National Chairman copies of the new Scholarship Blank S. Send earlier if possible.

NOVEMBER 15. Pledge president send letter to Province President.

- NOVEMBER 20. Chapter social exchange chairman send material on Homecoming, Floats, Stunts, Formal Parties, Rushing, to Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.
- NOVEMBER 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: October Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- NOVEMBER 25. Chapter scholarship chalrman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- NOVEMBER 25. Chapter magazine chalrman send subscriptions for Christmas delivery to the PI Beta Phi Magazine Agency. (This does not mean that subscriptions will not be received after this date, but it does mean that to insure Christmas delivery the subscriptions should be received at the agency by this date.)
- DECEMBER 15. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
  DECEMBER 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: November Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- JANUARY 5. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARROW to reach Chapter Letter Editor by January 10.
- JANUARY 9. Chapter Loyalty Day in honor of Carrie Chapman
- JANUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-
- JANUARY 15. Chapter pledge supervisor send letter to Province President.
- Office if supplies for spring work have not been received. Return receipt for supplies to the Central Office immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.
- after supplies have been received and distributed. ANUARY 15. Chapter treasurer is responsible for the sending of the annual report of the Chapter House Corporation to the Counselor for Chapter House Corporations and the Province President, and for the sending of a \$5.00 fee for bonding the treasurer of the House Corporation. Blanks for the report will be sent to the treasurer of the House Corporation who makes out the report and sends the \$5.00 fee but the chapter treasurer must see that both reports and fees are sent. JANUARY 15.

JANUARY 15, Deadline for material for March ARROW.

- JANUARY 15, Deskings for insterial for starter Arkow JANUARY 15, Each senior graduating at mid-year is required to fill out a blank "Senior Application to an Alummæ Club Membership" and give the chapter treasurer \$1.00. The chapter treasurer is required to forward the Senior Application and money to the Central Office. Canadian chapters send Senior Dues and Applications to the Director of Rushing and Piedge Trating. Training
- JANUARY 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: December Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters,
- JANUARY 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Prov-ince President and Province Supervisor.
- FEBRUARY I. Plan for Active Fraternity Examination. FEBRUARY 10. Active chapter history material should be sub-mitted by chapter historian to the Assistant to the National His-torian and one copy to the Province President.
- FEBRUARY 10. Chapter president send letter to Province Presi-
- FEBRUARY 10. Final date for the election of chapter officers. FEBRUARY 13. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of officer list to Central Office.
- FEBRUARY 15. Final date for chapter president to send nomina-tion of candidates for the Amy Burnham Onken award to the Province President. (See Bulletin on Official Pi Beta Phi Awards.)
- FEBRUARY 15. Ch Province President. Chapter activity chairman send report to the

- Frontier President. FEBRUARY 15, Program Chairman submit plans for chapter meeting programs for the second semester. FEBRUARY 20, Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: January Report (Assessment Boll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Beport) from all chapters. FEBRUARY
- RUARY 25. Scholarship chairman send letter to Province resident and Province Supervisor.
- MARCH 1. Chapter treasurer send to the Director of Extension a report concerning delinquents, whether there are any and if so names and amounts.
- MARCH I. Blank of Instructions of Officers should be filled out and sent to the Central Office.
- MARCH. Vice-president send to the Province President within 3 days after initiation a report that new membership carda have been placed in the card file.
- RCH I (or Immediately after your semester opens). Chapter on-president send one copy of Membership Lists to the Central MARCH I
- ARCH 1. (or immediately after your semester opens). Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of active list to the Central Office. MARCH
- MARCH I. Chapter corresponding secretary prepare and mail chapter letter for ARRIOW to reach the Chapter Letter Editor not later than March 5.
- MARCH 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province Presi-

- MARCH 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: February Report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- MARCH 25, Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- MARCH 31, Final date for mailing of annual fraternity ex-amination for active members to Province Supervisor of Fra-ternity Study and Examination.
- APRIL 5. Chapter corresponding secretary notify the Central Office if supplies for completing year's work have not been received. Return receipt for supplies to the Central Office immediately after supplies have been received and distributed.
- APRIL 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President. APRIL 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President. APRIL 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Tressurer: March report (Assessment Roll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters. APRIL 25. Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor.
- APRIL 28, Founders' Day.
- MAY I. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of Annual Chapter Report to the Central Office, Keep one copy for chap-ter files.
- MAY I. Order supplies for Department of Chapter Accounting for next year from Flanagan Pearson, Champaign, Ill.
- MAY 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President. MAY AY 10. Chapter social exchange chairman send material on Founders' Day to the Province Supervisor of Social Exchange.
- MAY 15. Final date for election of chapter officers.
- MAY 15. Chapter corresponding secretary send one copy of new officer list to the Central Office.
- MAY 15. Rush captain report to the Province President, out-lining plans for summer and fall rushing.
- MAY 15. Chapter activity chairman report to the Province President
- WAY 20. Each senior is required to fill out a blank called "Senior Application to an Alumnae Club Membership," and give the chapter treasurer \$1.00. The chapter treasurer is re-quired to forward the Senior Applications and money to the Central Office, Canadian chapters send Senior dues to the Di-rector of Rushing and Pledge Training.
- MAY 20. Due to Mr. Paul Busey from chapter Treasurer: April Report (Assessment Boll, Expense Sheet, and Monthly Report) from all chapters.
- AY 25, Chapter scholarship chairman send letter to Province President and Province Supervisor. MAY
- JUNE 1. Chapter president takes the pin of any girl who is financially delinquent at the close of school.
- JUNE I. Final date for giving pre-initiation examination.
- JUNE 10. Chapter historian submit chapter history to the Assistant to the National Historian and a copy to the Province President. JUNE 10. Copy of all printed or mimeographed bulletins used for rushing must be approved in advance by the Grand President.
- JUNE 10. Chapter president send letter to the Province President. Reports of Fanhellenic delegates are requested semi-annually by the Grand President and blanks for the purpose are sent out to
- OCTOBER 10. Alumnae Club corresponding secretary as sonals and In Memoriam notices to the Central Office December ARROW. for the
- NOVEMBER 10. Alumnæ club corresponding secretary mall club year book or program dates to the Grand Vice-President and Director of Extendion, the Province Vice-President and to the Alumnæ Club Editor.
- NOVEMBER 15. Alumnæ Club treasurer send annual alumnæ dues to Province Vice-President.
- NOVEMBER 25. Alumnse club magazine chairmen see that all subscriptions to magazines for Christmas delivery are sent by this date to the Pi Eeta Phi Magazine Agency.
- JANUARY 5. Alumnae Club corresponding secretary prepare and send letter with club news and coming events in time to reach the Alumnae Club Editor by January 5 for the March ABROW Send Personals and In Memoriam notices to the Central Office for March ARROW.
- JANUARY 9. Chapter Loyalty Day in honor of Carrie Chapman
- MARCH 1. Election of officers should be held at the regular March meeting of the club, said officers to take office at the close of the club fiscal year, May 20. (Current dues must have been paid by this date to enable one to vote at the annual election or be eligible for office.)
- MARCH 5. Alumnie club corresponding secretary prepare and send letters with club news and coming events in time to reach the Alumnie Club Editor by March 5 for the May ARROW. Alumnie club corresponding secretary send Personals and In Memoriam notices to the Central Office for the May ARROW.
- PRIL 15. Alumnas club national dues should be sent to the Province Vice-President, These must be received by this date to be included in current year's totals. APRIL
- APRIL 28. Founders' Day to be celebrated with the nearest active chapter or chapters.
- active chapter or chapters, MAY 20. Club fiscal year ends. New officers' list should be sent by corresponding secretary to the Province Vice-President and the Central Office, (Earlier, if possible.) Please check to see that the corresponding secretary is a subscriber to the ALRIOW. MAY 20, Four questionnaires for annual report should have been filed out by the alumnae club president and returned as di-rected.
- rected
- MAY 20. Audit slips should be sent by the alumnas club treasurer as directed in the Central Office letter.
- JULY 15. Alumnæ Club corresponding secretary send Personals and in Memoriam notices to the Central Office for the September ARROW.

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

# ALUMNÆ

Make checks for national alumnæ dues payable to Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Settlement School payable to the Treasurer of the Settlement School and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund payable to that fund and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for the Holt House payable to the Treasurer of Holt House Committee and send to your Province Vice-President.

Make checks for jewelry payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and send to that office.

Payment for badges in Canada is sent direct to Birks & Co. after order has been O.K.ed by the Pi Beta Phi Central Office.

Make checks for magazine subscriptions payable to the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, 410 Standard Office Building, Decatur, Illinois.

NOTICE TO CANADIAN ALUMNÆ CLUBS: CANADIAN ALUMNÆ CLUBS make all checks for payment of annual alumnæ dues and contributions to all projects payable to Pi Beta Phi Fraternity and send to the Grand Treasurer, Mrs. Frank Prouty, 1760 Locust Street, Denver 7, Colorado.

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

Send all subscriptions for magazines to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Central Office, 410 Standard Building, Decatur, Illinois

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

Have you returned your new Directory Card to Central Office?

Do so at once.

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

The Denver Alumnæ Club has for sale placemats and desk blotters with the Settlement School pictorial map as well as tallies and greeting cards. Contact Mrs. William R. Parkins, 2635 Dexter Street, Denver 7, Colorado.

14

# Supplies of the Pi Beta Phi Fraternity

Unless otherwise designated (with price quotation), the supplies listed below will be furnished free wherever need of them is established. payment accompanies order, supplies will be sent postpaid; otherwise statement for priced supplies will include a When charge for postage.

# ORDERS SHOULD BE ADDRESSED AS FOLLOWS:

TO GRAND PRESIDENT for:

Blank applications for the fellowship Blank charters

Blank notification of fines to Chapter President Blank notification of fines to Grand Treasurer Voting blanks for chapters on granting of charters Voting blanks for Grand Council

TO GRAND VICE PRESIDENT for:

Blank applications for alumnæ club charters Blank applications for Ruth Bartett Smith Scholarships Charters for alumnæ clubs

TO GRAND SECRETARY for:

- Blank applications for Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scholarships
- Cipher and Key List of allowed expenses to those traveling on fraternity business
- TO CHAIRMAN OF EXTENSION COMMITTEE for: Instructions to petitioning groups
- TO FLANIGAN-PEARSON, PRINTERS, Champaign, Ill., for:
- Busey System and Accounting Blanks
- TO MANGEL, Florist, Chicago, Ill., for: Pi Beta Phi Wine Carnations
- TO PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY, 410 Standard Building, Decatur, Ill., for: Magazine Subscriptions (see latest prices in front of this issue of ARROW)
- TO PI BETA PHI CENTRAL OFFICE, 410 Standard Build-ing, Decatur 16, Ill., for:

- 19, Decatur 16, III., 101: Affiliation Ceremony Alumnae Advisory Committee Manual, 15¢ Alumnae Advisory Officer Lists Alumnae Club Duties of Officers Alumnae Club Presidents' Notebook Alumnae Club Receipt Books (blue, triplicate receipts, no churze) charge)
- charge) Alumaz Delegate Manual, 25¢ ARROWS (from old files) . . . price to chapters for com-pleting archives, 50¢; Special temporary life subscription Accows (from our mes), pleting archives, 50¢; S for alumnæ, \$7.50 Blanks: Affiliation and Transfer Introduction Transfer Transfer

Transfer

Affiliation Annual Report, due May 1 Broken Pledge

Chaperon White card to be sent out in fall to chairman Blank for Data on Chaperon Application Blank for Chaperon "The Relations Between a Chapter and Its Chaperon" Uniform Duties of Chapter House Chaperon Initiation Dues Blanks (GT1 forms), 50¢

Initiation Dues Blanks (G11 forms Chapter Officer Lists Contents of Archives List Credentials to Convention Dismissal and Reinstatement Blanks Automatic Probation Automatic Dismissal Dismissal Eventision

- Expulsion

Honorable Dismissal

Reinstatement Embossed Initiation Certificate (lost ones replaced, 50¢

- each) Fraternity Study and Examination Blanks, #105, #205, #305
- #305 Initiation Certificates List of chapter members at the beginning of each term (Active Lists) List of chapter members not returning to college at begin-ning of each term (V.P. Lists) Officer Bill Forms Recommendation Blanks 15¢ for 25 Information Blank from State Rushing Chairman (to chapter)

(Not all supplies handled in the Central Office are listed. Write for further information if you wish supplies not listed.)

Request for Information from State Rushing Chairman (from chapter) Consent to Bid Blanks

Combination Blanks

- Consent to Bid Blanks Combination Blanks Acknowledging letter of Recommendation 15¢ for 25 Scholarship Blanks, #3, #4. Senior Applications for Membership in Alumnæ Club Book of Initiates' Signatures (formerly called Bound Con-stitution) \$5.00 each. (Before ordering chapters must have permission from Province President or Visiting Officer) Book of Pledges' Signatures \$3.00 each Candle Lighting Ceremony Cards-for ordering supplies from Central Office, 1¢ each Cards-Data on Recent Graduates, 1¢ each Chapter File Cards 3 x 5 inches (in lots of not less than 100; white, salmon and blue), 35¢ per 100 Chapter File Instruction Booklet, 15¢ Chapter Manual, 15¢ each, \$1.50 per dozen Chapter Officers' Manuals: President (loose-leaf leather notebook) Pledge Supervisor (loose-leaf leather notebook) Pledge Supervisor (loose-leaf leather notebook) Vice-President, Caresponding Secretary, Recording Sec-retary, Treasurer, Historian, Rush Captain, Pledge Sponsor, Censor, Delegate, Magazine Chairman, Program Chair-man, 25¢ each Chapter Presidents' Calendar Chapter Presidents' Calendar Chapter Presidents' Calendar Chapter Presidents' Reference Binder Chapter Recording Secretary's Book \$5.00 (For minutes of meetings)

- Recording Secretary's Book \$5.00 (For minutes of Chapter meetings)

- Chapter Recording Secretary's Book \$3.00 (For minutes of meetings) Constitution—Write for information and price Cook Books, 60¢ (If purchased in dozen lots, 45¢ each) Dismissal Binder, \$3.75 Financial Statement to Parents of Pledges Founders' Day Play, with records by Helen Hartley, Cali-fornia r Historian's Binder, \$3.00 Historian's Binder, \$3.00 Historian's note-book paper—1¢ per sheet History Pi Beta Phi, Bound issue \$3.00 Holt House Booklet, 50¢ House Rules for Chapters 'How to Order Jewelry.' 25¢ Initiation Ceremony, 15¢ each, \$1.50 per dozen Instructions to visiting officers Letters to Parents of Pledges

Letters to Parents of Pledges

Manual for Alumnæ Club Magazine Chairmen, 25¢ Manual of Instructions for Contributions to THE ARROW, 25¢

- Manual of Social Usage, 25¢ "My Seven Gifts to Pi Beta Phi," 5¢ each, 50¢ per dozen Manuals for Standing Committees
- Official ARROW chapter letter stationery, 15¢ per 25 sheets Official Correspondence Stationery Order forms for official badges and jewelry, 50¢

Predging Ceremony, 10¢ each, \$1.00 per dozen Policies and Standing Rules applying to active chapters Receipts for Province Vice-Presidents, and Province Presidents Record of Membership Book, full leather \$10.00. (Before ordering, chapters must have permission from Province Presi-dent or Visiting Officer.)

Ritual, 20¢ per dozen Robes for initiation, \$4,50-now available-2 weeks notice Roll call of Chapters (One is included with each Pledge Book ordered)

Scholarship Plaque-\$18.00 plus 8¢ per letter for engraving-Order through Central Office Senior Farewell Ceremony, 15¢ each

Outline for By-Laws of Active Chapters Panhellenic Manual of Information

Pattern for model initiation gown, 50¢

Pledging Ceremony, 10¢ each, \$1.00 per dozen

Ribbon: Write for information and prices

Pi Beta Phi Song Book, \$1.00 Pi Beta Phi Symphony, 30¢ Pi Beta Phi Symphony, 30¢ Pledge Book-50¢. This book includes questions and answers for pledge examinations. A copy is furnished to each pledge without charge. The 50¢ price is a replacement price for sale to members

Pledge Ritual, 20¢ per dozen

Social Exchange Bulletins Study Aids, 5¢ each

# ★ Membership Statistics as of June 1, 1950

Total initiates for year 1949-50		2,321
Total number of initiates to date		52,093
Total expulsions to date	143	
Total honorable dismissals to date147		
Total honorable dismissal reinstatements 12		
Total honorable dismissals still in force	135	
Total dismissals in force	70	
Automatic probations now pending	1	
Automatic dismissals in force	16	
Total loss by dismissal	365	
Total loss by death	2,770	
Total loss by dismissal and death	3,135	3,135
Total members of Pi Beta Phi now living and in good standing		48,958

# ★ Relationship With Arrow Statistics

Total Subscribers to ARROW on current mailing list	40,664
Total members "lost" and discontinued	5,501
Total members whose names have been temporarily removed from the mailing list until time when an address is established	727
Total number ARROW subscribers	46,892
Non-subscribers to ARROW; address known1,622	
Non-subscribers to ARROW; address unknown 444	
Total non-subscribers2,066	2,066
Total members of Pi Beta Phi now living and in good standing	48,958

# THE ARROW OF PI BETA PHI

SEPTEMBER, 1950

VOLUME 67

NUMBER 1

## Review

Convention is over-all its thrills are in the past, and we can sit down to a cool evaluation of its events and its results.

Delightful in setting, outstanding in personnel, it proved to be a most inspiring meeting. True, there were difficulties, such as late trains (the Editor and the Grand Treasurer were 14 hours late!), delays due to washouts, slides, and finally the railroad strike in the states, all beyond the power of the Guide to prevent; and everyone was late for everything, beginning from the time the Special from Chicago forced the cancellation of the whole first session, and the delaying of the Model Initiation, and continuing because of the magnificent distances between the Lodge and the cabins. Yet we discussed issues with a fine tolerance of one another's views, and with keenly intelligent thinking. Perhaps the fact that the attack on South Korea came the very day that Convention opened made us a little more cautious in our judgments-whatever the cause, there was evident a serious tendency in discussion, a straight facing of problems that made for wise decisions. If all-out war is to follow the Korean outbreak, then Pi Beta Phi will be in a good position to face whatever another such war may do to our colleges and to our chapters, without new projects which might bring crippling responsibilities. We came away with a renewed interest and enthusiasm for our great Settlement School, and with increased desire to take care of such of our older people as may be in need of direct aid. The way to do that is already in our hands, as we know from Mrs. Copp's report in this issue-but that way needs additional funds and should get them, now that the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund is one of the three 100% funds for contributions. With the progress of time the work of this committee will be constantly expanding. The small addition to our alumnæ dues voted in Convention will put us in a position of financial safety nationally, better able to face constantly rising costs of operation of the great business that a great fraternity has become.

# Again, Economy!

For the coming year still more strict economy must be the policy of the ARROW. How it does cramp our style! If fine material sent to our office is never published, if fewer pictures are used, look on us with a tolerant eye, and know that whenever conditions change for the better, we'd like a much larger issue, perhaps even a bi-monthly or a monthly magazine, with color pictures! Well, we can dream anyway, especially in an issue like this one, made up of reports, which may appear to need a little color, but which make fascinating reading. Pi Beta Phi is still the only fraternity to offer to its members a chance to read every word of the reports of its officers—what an opportunity it offers to know your Fraternity!

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

# Of Alumnæ

Convention always makes clear the strength of our alumnæ organization, when we see the group of alumnæ delegates—117 this time, not as many as might have come, out of our present strength of 241 alumnæ clubs—but such fine women they were, from the four corners of the continent— and one from Hawaii.

Membership in our alumnæ department is one of the rights given us by our membership in Pi Beta Phi, a right that we should use to the utmost. Such membership does not mean simply paying dues to the national organization and to a local club—it means a real dedication of oneself to the work of the organization, real work for its advancement, whether it be through a near-by active chapter, or through the many money-raising activities of a club which provide funds for its gifts to our national projects. Elsewhere in this issue we print a blank for use of isolated alumnæ in joining the national organization—and through its use perhaps some members may find that they are within reach of some one of the regional clubs.

# Announcements

Grand Council announces the following national awards:

Balfour Cup-Colorado Beta

Stoolman Vase-Iowa Beta

Philadelphia Vase—Connecticut Alpha

National Amy Burnham Onken Award-Betty Bruce Stake, Missouri Beta.

Scholarships

Ruth Barrett Smith Scholarship, given by the Alumnæ Department—Cheryl Bastain, Ohio  $\Delta$  Harriet Rutherford Johnston Scholarships:

Joyce Herreid, Wisconsin Gamma; Barbara Stowe, Washington Alpha; Alice Palmer, Washington Gamma; Frances Curns, New Mexico Alpha; Donna Jean Rabinoff, Colorado Beta; Barbara Gormley, Colorado Alpha.

California Alpha Scholarships.

Peggy Burbank, California Delta, U.C.L.A.; Annetta Dietz, Oregon Beta, Corvallis, Oregon; Marian Lofgren, California Epsilon, San Diego, California.

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

# Pi Beta Phi Fellowship

For the year 1950-51 the Fraternity will offer one graduate fellowship with a value of \$500. The fellowship is open to any member of the Fraternity who has received her bachelor's degree, and it may be used at any university which offers special opportunities in graduate work along the line desired by its holder.

Two points will be considered by the Grand Council in awarding the fellowship: scholastic standing and all-around development of character with its resultant ability worthily to represent the Fraternity. Each applicant must state definitely the university she wishes to enter, the courses which she desires to pursue, and the ultimate aim of her graduate study.

Applications accompanied by photographs of applicants, transcripts of college grades, credentials from college professors, and other recommendations, must be in the hands of the Grand President not later than January 1, 1951.

All material must be collected by the applicant and submitted as a whole. Blank forms for application for the fellowship may be obtained from the Grand President at any time. If she so desires, any applicant of former years who has not received the fellowship may make a new application.

# $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$

# West Virginia Beta-To-Be

Convention added a chapter to our roll, compensating numerically and in small part indeed for the loss of Maryland Alpha through college regulation. Phi Chi, local group at Davis and Elkins College, at Elkins, West Virgina, will be installed September 21. The ARROW extends a warm welcome to our new members.

So begins the eighty-fourth year of Pi Beta Phi, again with war and all its troubles facing ustroubles to be met as we have met them before, with strength and courage.

Waile Taylor alford

DEAR MRS. ALFORD:

May I express through THE ARROW my deep appreciation to Pi Beta Phi for the most wonderful opportunity of being the Honor Guest of the recent Convention.

Although many fine things have come to me from the Fraternity, through the years, none have been more inspiring than to be the guest of such a thrilling gathering.

My thanks to you all.

Sincerely in II B Φ, Agnes Wright Spring (Mrs. A.T.)

# Report of the Meetings of Grand Council

THE Annual Meeting of the Grand Council of Pi Beta Phi was held at Jasper Park Lodge, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada, June 17-23, 1950. The Grand President opened the meeting with the Ritual and presided over the morning, afternoon, and evening sessions held throughout the week preceding Convention. All members were present.

The first order of business was the reading and discussion of the annual reports of all officers and committee chairmen. Grand Council gave consideration to the recommendations made by the various officers and chairmen concerning their work, to general trends in the fraternity, and to all special individual and chapter problems. From this detailed study of the fraternity came the final recommendations to Convention, the awards, and the decisions as outlined. Special attention was given to fraternity finance, the legal aspects of a Home for Pi Phis, serious problems in present day campus Public Relations, and to chapter supervision and fraternity Extension.

In addition to those announced in advance, Grand Council made the following recommendations to the 1950 Convention: To the Regular Session—

(1) That Statutes, Part I, Article VII, new Section 2 be amended by adding: The ten dollar payment shall be apportioned by the Grand Treasurer as follows: \$5.00 to the Convention Fund, \$3.00 to the Contingent Fund, and \$2.00 to the Alumnæ Fund.

(2) That Statutes, Part II, Article IV be amended by inserting between the words "meetings" and "and" the words "Chapter Presidents' Workshops" so that the heading would read: "Chapter Meetings, Chapter Presidents' Workshops, and Conventions of National Fraternity."

(3) That Statutes, Part II, Article IV be amended by adding a new division III, to read: "Chapter Presidents' Workshops. Section 1. In the year following a Convention a two-day Chapter Presidents' Workshop, under the direction of the Province President concerned, shall be held in each province.

- a. Attendance shall be limited to one official representative for each chapter in the province, who shall be the chapter president.
  - The pledge supervisor may attend at chapter expense.
- b. The expenses for railway and Pullman fares and hotel bills for the chapter presidents and the Province President concerned shall be paid from the Convention Fund."

(4) That Statutes, Part I, Article II, Section 9, "Duties of the Province President" be amended by inserting a new "e" to read: "To conduct the Chapter President's Workshop for her province after plans for program, location, and expense have been approved by the Grand President."

(5) That the plan of having State Rushing Recommendations Chairmen become an established fraternity practice, using the general procedures now in effect, the appointments to be made biennially, beginning January, 1951.
(6) That Statutes, Part II, Article III be amended

(6) That Statutes, Part II, Article III be amended by striking out Section 11 and inserting a new Section 11, to read: "Duties of Chapter Rush Captain and Assistant Rush Captain. The duties of the Rush Captain and the Assistant Rush Captain shall be:

- a. To plan and to direct the rushing of the chapter.
- b. To make certain that all local and national Panhellenic regulations governing rushing are observed.

- c. To work under the supervision of the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training.
- d. To send to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, within five days after Pledge Day, a recommendation and/or consent or consents to bid, for each girl pledged.
- e. To send within ten days after every pledge day or after any other pledging, to the Rushing Recommendations Chairman of the Alumnæ Club concerned, a list of all girls pledged from the town or towns under that Alumnæ Club's jurisdiction."

(7) That when college regulations permit fraternity chapters to engage and to dismiss chapter house chaperons, the Pi Beta Phi chapter president and the chairman of the Alumnæ Advisory Committee, before they notify the chapteron of the chapter's intention to release her, must together report this decision to the Dean of Women.

(8) That the following resolution be adopted by the Regular and the Alumnæ Sessions of Convention:

"Whereas, as a consequence of the timely action of the American Legion in calling a meeting of representatives of more than sixty distinguished organizations to consider ways and means of uniting 'all truly patriotic and American organizations in a battle against the one immediate common enemy—Communism,' there has been formed the All-American Conference to Combat Communism and

Whereas, the stated purpose of the All-American Conference is 'to unite in a nationwide crusade to defend and promote our freedoms and to expose and curtail Communism' in America, and

Whereas, National Panhellenic Conference in recognition of its potential power has been honored by an invitation to become a part of this group Be it therefore resolved That Pi Beta Phi, in Con-

Be it therefore resolved That Pi Beta Phi, in Convention assembled, go on record as wholeheartedly approving of this affiliation, That it pledge its full support to National Panhellenic Conference as it meets its responsibility in this crusade, and further, That it call upon all Pi Beta Phis as individuals, chapters and alumnae clubs to meet this challenge with positive action."

And, to the Alumnæ Session of Convention, Grand Council made the following recommendation:

That Statutes, Part III, Article II, Section 2, b, 4 be amended by striking out "the unallocated part of the Alumnæ Convention Fund" and inserting, "the Alumnæ Fund and be allocated to the Convention expenses of the Alumnæ Department."

Grand Council further decided: That it be recommended to the incoming Council that the present Historian, Marian Keck Simmons, be asked to write the history of the Fraternity from 1936 to date; that the Director of Extension be assigned the responsibility of the planning and supervision of the four uniform "Pi Phi Night" programs; that the Grand Treasurer be asked to work out suggested pages for alumnæ club treasurers, for large and small club accounting; that the pledge supervisors, rather than the individual sponsors of pledges, be asked to give the response for the sponsor in the Pledge Ceremony; that Beta Chi Theta at Carroll College be discouraged definitely and that groups at Southwestern Missouri State and Ball State colleges be investigated; and, that, in the future, the payments from the Alumnæ Convention Fund be made at the end of Convention to the delegates who qualify under the new regulations.

Recommendations for the Balfour Cup, presented by the Province Presidents, were carefully considered and the recommended chapters checked with the Standardization and Survey report. By unanimous decisions the following awards were made:

Balfour Cup-Colorado Beta

Stoolman Vase-Indiana Gamma and Iowa Beta

Philadelphia Vase-Connecticut Alpha

Theta Province Award-Illinois Theta

Recommendations for the National Amy B. Onken Award, made by the chapters and the Province Presi-dents concerned, were studied. By unanimous decision, this award was given to Betty Bruce Stake, Missouri Beta.

A review of the Harriet Rutherford Johnstone Scholarship applications followed. From the fourteen who applied Grand Council was able to make the following six awards, limited by amount of money available in the fund: To Barbara Lucille Stowe, Washington Alpha; Frances R. Curns, New Mexico Alpha; Barbara Jean Gormley, Colorado Alpha; Joyce Herreid, Wisconsin Gamma; Alice Jean Palmer, Washington Gamma; and Donna Jean Rabinoff, Colorado Beta.

Time was taken to discuss and plan the Joint Meetings of Province Officers, the separate ones for Province Presidents and Province Vice Presidents, and final plans for Convention. Individual conferences were held with the National Historian, the Chairman of the Settlement School Committee, and the Convention Guide.

Grand Council then recessed to meet in a post-Convention session, following the adjourment of Convention.

POST-CONVENTION MEETING OF GRAND COUNCIL

The post-Convention meeting of the Grand Council opened with a study of the annual report of the Director of Central Office and decisions indicated in the report, concerning the revision of manuals, office supplies, salaries, and the new directory.

Committee appointments were made; special supervision for chapters was outlined, where needed; plans for the installation and supervision of the new chapter were discussed; appointments for the investigation of interested campuses were made-the Director of Extension being assigned to Southwestern Missouri State and the Grand Vice President, to Ball State College; and the recommendations from the Con-vention meetings of the province officers were reviewed and coordinated with fraternity procedures wherever possible.

Chapter visit assignments to Grand Council members for the school year 1950-51 were determined, as follows:

Grand President-Louisiana Beta, Alabama Beta, Missouri Gamma, and Kansas chapters

Grand Vice President—Alpha West Province Grand Secretary—Nebraska Beta, South Dakota Alpha, and Iowa chapters

Grand Treasurer-Mu Province

ARROW Editor-Illinois chapters

Director of Extension-Gamma Province

Dir. of Rushing and Pledge Training-Manitoba Alpha, Minnesota Alpha, North Dakota Alpha, and Wisconsin chapters

It was decided that payments from the Alumnæ Convention Fund would be made at the end of the Convention, in the future, to the delegates who qualify under the new regulations.

The annual Meeting of the Grand Council of Pi Beta Phi adjourned Monday evening, July 3, 1950.

> LUCILLE DOUGLASS CARSON Grand Secretary

# Minutes of the Thirty-Seventh Biennial Convention

# Jasper Park Lodge, Jasper National Park, Alberta, Canada June 25-30, 1950

THE Thirty-Seventh Biennial Convention of Pi TBeta Phi Fraternity opened on the evening of June the twenty-fifth with the formal pledging and initiation of Katherine Devine Kennedy.

The first business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention convened in the ballroom of Jasper Park Lodge, Monday morning, June 26, 1950, at nine o'clock, with Amy Burnham Onken, Grand President, presiding. After the meeting was called to order the Session opened with the singing of the Pi Beta Phi Anthem, followed by the Opening Ritual. The Invocation was given by the Grand Secretary. The Convention stood in a moment of silence and remembrance before the singing of the "Memorial Hymn" by the Convention Chorus.

First to be introduced was Mr. H. J. Gunning, Manager of Jasper Park Lodge, who spoke briefly in welcome. Miss Onken then introduced Mr. Paul Busey, National Auditor and Convention Photographic Editor: Mrs. William Utter of the University of Washington, Convention Parliamentarian; and, Miss

Joyce Marson of Denver, Convention stenotypist. Pi Beta Phi members with special responsibilities were introduced by the Grand President including the Grand Council; May L. Keller, President Emeri-tus; all national officers and chairmen present at Convention; the Director of Central Office and members of the staff of the Settlement School; the Convention Initiate; the province officers; and all past officers and committee members who were in attendance. She also introduced the two Pi Beta Phi Deans of Women who were present at Convention to conduct the discussion were present at Convention to conduct the discussion groups for active delegates—Dean Helen Moore of Kansas State College and Dean Frances Falvey of James Milliken University. "Golden Arrow" Pi Phis were asked to stand and those present were May Keller, El-berta Smith, Lucille Hall, Dora C. Delay, Florence Crofert, Annie Lowrie Anderson, and Lulu Weld. The special introductions ended with the call for Pi Beta Phi mothers and daughters present at Convention and for Pi Phi actives with Pi Beta Phi mothers, not present.

Grand Council honored as the pages for the opening of Convention Dianne Gittins of Alberta Alpha, the hostess chapter, and Jean Dressler, Kansas Alpha, the Balfour Cup chapter.

The traditional demonstration of the accomplishments of Pi Beta Phi active members and chapters included recognition of membership in Phi Beta Kappa, Phi Kappa Phi, graduation "cum laude" and "magna cum laude," departmental honorary societies, Mortar Board, Who's Who in American Colleges and Uni*versities*, Pi Phi editors and leads in campus plays, Pi Phi presidents of W. S. G. A. or A. W. S. and Y. W. C. A., and the many popularity honors. Chapters having outstanding records in scholarship were given special recognition. Miss Onken concluded this part of the opening meeting with recognition of Betty Stovall King, Gamma Province President, who was honored by a Washington D. C. newspaper as "Beauty of the Week."

The Grand President then announced the official Order of Business and stated that Workshops for

active delegates would be the Special Order of the Day for actives Monday afternoon, Thursday morning and Thursday afternoon and Extension, Wednesday morning at nine o'clock. She announced that the Parliamentarian had graciously consented to hold Parliamentary Law classes at eight o'clock each morning and gave special instructions concerning Pi Beta Phi Convention procedures.

The Grand Secretary, as chairman of the Credentials Committee gave her report. She moved that Agnes Wright Spring, Convention Guest; Katherine Devine Kennedy, Convention Initiate; Margaret Foster, acting Eta Province Vice President; and Edythe Manning, acting Lambda Province President be seated and that they, with the ninety-seven delegates and all officers authorized by the constitution, become the official personnel of the Regular Session of Convention. The motion was carried and the voting personnel of Convention thus became 139 members, as follows:

#### Grand Council-

Grand President—Amy Burnham Onken Grand Vice President—Marianne Reid Wild Grand Secretary—Lucile Douglass Carson Grand Treasurer—Lolita Snell Prouty ARROW Editor—Adele Taylor Alford Director of Rushing and Pledge Training—Cla Director of Extension—Marie Bacon Hagee -Clara Hall Sipherd

Fraternity Officers-

National Historian-Marian Keck Simmons Counselor for Chapter House Corporations-Lillian Beck Holton Holton Supervisor of Chapter Accounting—Dorothea White Flint Director of Central Office—Gladys Hays Scivally Settlement School Committee Chairman—Ruth Barrett Smith Convention Guide—Mary Bowlen Mooney President Emeritus—May L. Keller

Special Members-

Convention Guest-Agnes Wright Spring Convention Initiate-Katherine Devine Kennedy

Province Presidents-

Alpha East—Annie Laurie Keys Whipple Alpha West—Evelyn Miller Slifer Beta—Jean Haller Gustkey Gamma—Elizabeth Stovall King Delta—Helen Anderson Lewis Epsilon—Marilyn Wiegner Brandom Zeta—Edythe Belton Tyler Eta—Margaret Dick Theta—Betty Whipple Frantz Iota—Lucille Nitsche Junge Kappa—Mildred Odell Sale Lambda—Edythe Allen Manning (acting) Mu—Olga Charles Siburg

Province Vice Presidents-

rovince Vice Presidents---Alpha East-Erminie L. Pollard Alpha West-Edna Olson Archibald Beta-Edith Hoyer Rankin Gamma-Marie Tunstall Lingo Delta-Virginia Brackett Green Epsilon-Alice Weber Mansfield Zeta-Marguertie Blocker Bartlett Eta-Margaret Armstrong Foster (acting) Theta-Helen Wright Grand Iota-Marie Quillin Divisek Kappa-Theresa Gibson Graham Lambda-Louise Wheelock Dobler Mu-Marcella McCormick Rhodes

Kappa Province-

Delegates-

# Alpha East Province-

Alpha Lait Province— Nova Scotia Alpha—Beverly Huntington Maine Alpha—Theresa O'Reilly Vermont Alpha—Carol Lee Osborn Vermont Beta—Carolyn L. Thorell Massachusetts Alpha—Natalie F. Roberts Massachusetts Beta—Mary Breen Connecticut Alpha—Joanne Scott

## Alpha West Province-

New York Alpha—Marilyn Cameron New York Gamma—Marjorie Manuel New York Delta—Therese Geherin Ontario Alpha—Betty Hutchison Ontario Beta—Phyllis Kobl

### Beta Province

Beta Province-Pennsylvania Beta-Elizabeth Mather Pennsylvania Gamma-Sarah Haddock Ohio Alpha-Mary Newkirk Ohio Beta-Virginia Louise Stansbury Ohio Delta-Cheryl Bastian Ohio Epsilon-Elaine Sautter Ohio Zeta-Eleanor Jo Cox West Virginia Alpha-Martha Ezell

#### Gamma Province-

Gamma Province-Maryland Alpha-Jean E. Clouser Maryland Beta-Dorothy Drake D. C. Alpha-Dorothy Anne Weld Virginia Alpha-Mary Malone Virginia Gamma-Kitty Nottingham North Carolina Alpha-Lila Ponder North Carolina Alpha-Lila Ponder South Carolina Alpha-Gretchen Miley

## Delta Province-

Deita Province--Michigan Alpha--Patricia Lampman Michigan Beta--Ellen Van Wagoner Michigan Gamma-Barbara Williams Indiana Alpha-Barbara Williams Indiana Beta-Carolyn Jones Indiana Gamma--Ruth Reed Indiana Delta-Jo Ann Rose Indiana Epsilon--Pauline Rich

#### Epsilon Province-

Epsiton Province— Missouri Alpha—Sue C. Coker Missouri Beta—Georgia Dunbar Missouri Gamma—Carolyn Compton Kentucky Alpha—Nettie Ghram Tennessee Alpha—Janis Haskew Tennessee Beta—Helen Rooney Tennessee Gamma—Joan Edington

#### Zeta Province-

Alabama Alpha—Ann Mooty Alabama Beta—Beverley A. Latimer Florida Alpha—Nancy Aline Williams Florida Beta—Ann Eidson Florida Gamma—Jean Wiselogel Georgia Alpha—Mildred Matthews

#### Eta Province-

Ela Province-Wisconsin Alpha-Beverly Hollett Wisconsin Gamma-Joyce Herreid Illinois Alpha-Imogene Gardner Illinois Beta-Delta-Charlene Hiatt Illinois Egsilon-Annalee Schendorf Illinois Eta-Sandra Lukey Illinois Eta-Sandra Lukey Illinois Theta-Lue Wellington Illinois Theta-Jane Wellington

#### Theta Province-

Ibita Province— Manitoba Alpha—Louise Plummer North Dakota Alpha—Margaret Paterson Jowa Alpha—Barbara Van Vranken Jowa Beta—Beverly Crawford Jowa Gamma—Janet Sutherland Jowa Zeta—Marie O'Connor

# lota Province-

Iota Province-South Dakota Alpha-Joan Osman Nebraska Beta-Joel Bailey Kansas Alpha-Marearet Granger Kansas Beta-Ann McMillen Colorado Alpha-Joanne Easley Colorado Beta-Jane Newton Wyoming Alpha-Linden Louise Storey Utah Alpha-Shanna Lee Jones

Oklahoma Alpha—Justine McDonald Oklahoma Beta—Jeanne Thomas Arkansas Alpha—Jane Longino Texas Alpha—Anne Matthews Louiziane Alpha—Anne Matthews Louisiana Alpha-Effie Stockton Louisiana Beta-Shirley Doan Lambda Province-Lampaa Province— Alberta Alpha—Arlene Jones Montana Alpha—Barbara Chesney Idaho Alpha—Jody Raber Washington Alpha—Nancy MacKenzie Washington Beta—Anne McCrea Washington Gamma—Nancy Jean Riehl Oregon Alpha—Barbara Sundet Oregon Beta—Annette Dietz Oregon Gamma—Diane Proctor Mu Province-

Ma Province— California Beta—Jane Mannex California Delta—Naacy Noble California Epsilon—Anne M. Geiberger California Epsilon—Anne M. Geiberger California Zeta—Carol Evelyn Richardson Nevada Alpha—Donna Batt Arizona Alpha—Carola Batt Arizona Alpha—Ealine Jackson

Following announcements by the Convention Guide the Grand President read greetings from the Premier of the Province of Alberta; and the Lieutenant Governor, father of Mary Mooney; Mr. Clement Kennedy, husband of the Convention Initiate; Isabel Clark Winkler, former Grand Council member; Helen R. Corkum, member of the Board of Trustee Funds; Chi Omega; Alpha Delta Pi; the Manager of the Huntington at Pasadena; Mary Van Buren, ARROW staff member; Alpha Tau Omega; Sigma Alpha Jota; Lucille Roberts, Past Grand President of Zeta Tau Alpha; Elizabeth W. Lanier, President of Kappa Delta; Alpha Chi Omega; Beatrice Felmley, former Director of Central Office; Dorothy Houghton, Iowa Gamma and President of the General Federation of Women's Clubs; Jessie Lockett, former Chairman of Chaperons; and Elizabeth Motycka, past Alpha East Province President.

Reports of officers began with the annual report of the Grand President which was accepted on motion of Michigan Beta, seconded and carried. Delta Province President moved that the report of the Grand Vice President be deferred to the Alumnæ Session. Motion carried. The report of the Grand Secretary was read and accepted on motion of Pennsylvania Beta. The Grand Treasurer distributed and discussed a nine month's report showing the financial state of the fraternity, as of April 30, 1950. Her report was read and accepted on motion of North Dakota Alpha. The report of the Arrow Editor was read and accepted on motion of California Epsilon.

Connecticut Alpha moved that the report of the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training be deferred to the next meeting of the Regular Session. Motion carried. Lambda Province Vice President moved that the report of the Director of Extension be deferred to the Alumnæ Session. Motion carried.

The Grand President announced the appointment of the following special Convention Committees:

Attendance Award: Maxine Girts, Washington, D.C.; Margaret Anderson Lockhart, Denver; Frances Kyle Napton, Bozman; Eva Nelle Crowe, Lans-ing; Dorothy Chipman, Ann Arbor, Chairman.

Chapter Exhibits: Agnes Wright Spring, Sacramento; Chapter Exhibits: Agnes Wright Spring, Sacramento; Katherine Devine Kennedy, Convention Initiate; Elberta Smith, Springfield; Lucille Hall, Santa Barbara; Marie Gaby, San Diego, Chairman.
 Resolutions: Edna Archibald, Alpha West Province Vice President; Missouri Alpha; Pennsylvania

Beta; New Mexico Alpha; Jean Gustkey, Beta Province President, Chairman.

The Grand President introduced to Convention Annie Lowrie Gaddis Anderson, daughter of the Founder, Libbie Brook Gaddis, and Margaret Anderson Lockhart, granddaughter. Instructions were given to the voting personnel by the Chairman of the Nominating Committee, Virginia Brackett Green.

The first business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention then adjourned.

# REGULAR SESSION—SECOND MEETING

The second business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention was called to order at nine o'clock on Tuesday morning, June 27, the Grand President presiding. Greetings were read from Lois Franklin Stoolman, honorary Grand Treasurer; Alpha Sigma Alpha; and Mr. Ames, Director and Advertising Manager of the Palm Beach Biltmore.

Following announcements, the Grand President presented the Convention Guest, Agnes Wright Spring, who spoke briefly. The pages were Betsy Ferguson, West Virginia Alpha, honored by the Grand Vice President, and June Harlow, Missouri Beta, honored by the Director of Extension.

Annual reports were continued with the reading of the report of the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, accepted on motion of Indiana Gamma. The Counselor for Chapter House Corporations read her report which was accepted on motion of Ohio Delta. The report of the National Historian followed. Iowa Zeta moved that this report be accepted. Motion carried. The National Supervisor of Chapter Accounting gave her report which was accepted on motion of Michigan Gamma, New Mexico Alpha moved that the report of the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency be deferred. Motion carried. Delta Province President moved that the report of the Publicity Chairman not be read and that it be held for publication in THE ARROW. Motion carried. Michigan Beta moved that the report of the National Scholarship Chairman not be read and that it be filed for publication in THE ARROW. Motion carried. South Dakota Alpha moved that the report of the Committee on Transfers be omitted and that it appear in the September issue of THE ARROW. Motion carried. The Grand President then stated that the reports of the committees on Fraternity Study and Examination, Social Exchange, and Chaperons would also be omitted and appear in the September ARROW if there were no objections. There were none. Michigan Alpha moved that the annual report of the National Chairman of Music be omitted and be published in the ARROW. Motion carried.

The next Order of Business was the consideration of the recommendations of Grand Council. Ohio Beta moved that Statutes, Part I, Article VII be amended by adding a new Section 2, to read: "National Pledge Fee. Within three days after her pledging, each fraternity pledge shall pay to the chapter treasurer the national pledge fee of \$10.00." Michigan Gamma moved that the proposed recommendation be amended by striking out "Within three days after her pledging" and inserting "On or before May first" so that the recommendation would read: "On or before May first, each fraternity pledge shall pay to the chapter treasurer the national pledge fee of \$10.00." The motion was seconded. Colorado Beta moved that this amendment be amended by striking out "On or before May first" and inserting "Six weeks after her pledging" so that the recommendation would read: "Six weeks after her pledging, each fraternity pledge shall pay to the chapter treasurer the national pledge fee of \$10.00." The motion to amend the amendment was seconded. After discussion, Michigan Beta moved that the motion, with its amendment and the amendment to the amendment, be tabled. Motion seconded and carried.

Iowa Gamma moved that any decision to establish a national pledge fee, subsequently made, become effective November 1, 1950. Motion seconded. Iowa Gamma withdrew this motion after discussion.

Alabama Beta moved that the recommendation of Grand Council, affecting Statutes, Part I, Article VII, if adopted, become effective September 1, 1950 and apply to girls pledged after that date. Motion lost.

Alpha West Province President moved that the recommendation of Grand Council, affecting Statutes, Part I, Article VII, if adopted, become effective January 1, 1951 and apply to girls pledged on or after that date. Motion seconded.

After that date. Motion seconded. Michigan Beta moved that the motion be amended by striking out "January 1, 1951" and inserting "July 1, 1951" so that the motion would read: "That the recommendation of Grand Council, affecting Statutes, Part I, Article VII, if adopted, become effective July 1, 1951 and apply to girls pledged on or after that date."

Oregon Beta moved that the amendment be amended by striking out "July 1, 1951" and inserting "September 1, 1951" so that the motion would read: "That the recommendation of Grand Council, affecting Statutes, Part I, Article VII, if adopted, become effective September 1, 1951 and apply to girls pledged on or after that date." Motion seconded.

Missouri Beta moved the Previous Question. Motion seconded and carried. The motion to amend the amendment, setting the date affecting Statutes, Part I, Article VII, as September 1, 1951, was lost. The motion to amend, setting the date as July 1, 1951, was lost. The motion, setting the date as January 1, 1951, carried.

Iowa Alpha then moved that the original motion concerning the establishment of a national pledge fee be taken from the table, Motion carried.

Colorado Beta moved that the recommendation be amended by striking out "Within three days after her pledging" and inserting "Within six weeks after her pledging," so that the motion would read: "That Statutes, Part I, Article VII be amended by adding a new Section 2, to read: 'National Pledge Fee. Within six weeks after her pledging, each fraternity pledge shall pay to the chapter treasurer the national pledge fee of \$10.00.'' Motion seconded.

Ohio Delta moved that the motion be amended by adding "with the provision that between January 1, 1951 and July 1, 1951 the national pledge fee be \$5.00 only." Motion seconded and lost.

Louisiana Alpha moved that the motion be amended by striking out "\$10.00" and inserting "\$7.00" so that the motion would read: "That Statutes, Part I, Article VII be amended by adding a new Section 2, to read: "National Pledge Fee. Within six weeks after her pledging, each fraternity pledge shall pay to the chapter treasurer the national pledge fee of \$7.00."" Motion seconded and lost. The motion, as amended, was carried.

After a brief recess, Colorado Alpha moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part I, Article VII, new Section 2 be amended by adding: "The ten dollar payment shall be apportioned by the Grand Treasurer as follows: \$5.00 to the Convention Fund, \$3.00 to the Contingent Fund, and \$2.00 to the Alumnæ Fund," be adopted. Motion carried.

Oklahoma Beta moved that Grand Council's recommendation that Statutes, Part II, Article IV, be amended by inserting between the words "meetings" and "and" the words "Chapter Presidents' Workshops" so that the heading would read: "Chapter Meetings, Chapter Presidents' Workshops, and Conventions of National Fraternity," be adopted. Motion carried.

South Dakota Alpha moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part II, Article IV be amended by adding a new division III, to read: "Chapter Presidents' Workshops. Section 1. In the year following a Convention a two-day Chapter Presidents' Workshop, under the direction of the Province President concerned, shall be held in each province.

- Attendance shall be limited to one official representative for each chapter in the province, who shall be the chapter president.
  - 1. The pledge supervisor may attend at chapter expense.
- b. The expenses for railway and pullman fares and hotel bills for the chapter presidents and the Province President concerned shall be paid from the Convention Fund," be adopted.

Motion carried.

Ohio Alpha moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part I, Article II, Section 9, "Duties of the Province President" be amended by inserting a new "e" to read: "To conduct the Chapter Presidents' Workshop for her province after plans for program, location and expense have been approved by the Grand President," be adopted. Motion carried.

Following announcements, the second business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention adjourned.

# **REGULAR SESSION—THIRD MEETING**

THE third business meeting of the Regular Session was called to order by the Grand President at nine o'clock on Wednesday morning, June 28. Following announcements, greetings were read from Delta Gamma and Kappa Alpha Theta. The pages for the morning meeting were Patsy Chambers, Colorado Beta, honored by the Grand Treasurer, and Adeline Andrews, D. C. Alpha, honored by the ARROW Editor.

As had been announced, Extension was the Special Order of the Day and the Grand President called upon the Director of Extension to lead the discussion. Mrs. Hagee spoke briefly of the general trends in extension within National Panhellenic and of the policy of Pi Beta Phi in granting new charters. She introduced the subject of the petition of the Phi Chi group of Davis and Elkins College, Elkins, West Virginia, and called upon the Grand Secretary, who had been appointed by Grand Council to make the initial inspection visit, to discuss the college. Beta Province President followed with a presentation of the history and accomplishments of the Phi Chi group, assisted by the representatives of Beta Province chapters. Beta Province President moved that a charter of Pi Beta Phi be granted to the Phi Chi group of Davis and Elkins College. The motion was seconded. Tellers appointed by the Grand President were West Virginia Alpha, Kansas Beta, and Texas Alpha. The tellers' report showed that a charter had been granted. Consideration of the recommendations of Grand

Consideration of the recommendations of Grand Council was resumed and Illinois Epsilon moved that Statutes, Part II, Article VI, Section 3 be amended by striking out "\$1.00" and inserting "\$2.00" so that the Section would read: "Senior Alumnæ Dues. Four weeks before the date of any graduation each prospective graduate shall sign the official application blank for membership in the Alumnæ Department and shall pay to the chapter treasurer the annual alumnæ senior dues of \$2.00, which shall be allocated to the Alumnæ Fund and shall apply to the immediately following year," be adopted. The motion was seconded. Acting Lambda Province President moved that the recommendation be amended by striking out "\$2.00" and inserting "\$2.50" so that the motion would read: "Senior Alumnæ Dues. Four weeks before the date of any graduation each prospective graduate shall sign the official application blank for membership in the Alumnæ Department and shall pay to the chapter treasurer the annual alumnæ senior dues of \$2.50, which shall be allocated to the Alumnæ Fund and shall apply to the immediately following year." The motion was seconded and carried, and the original motion, as amended, was carried.

D. C. Alpha moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part II, Article III, Section 13 be amended by inserting between "president" and "a" the words "the Chapter Scholarship Chairman" so that Section 13 would read: "Executive Council. The Chapter Executive Council shall consist of not less than five or more than seven members including the Chapter President, the Chapter Scholarship Chairman, a representative of each of the three upper classes, elected for her class membership, and such other members as the chapter may desire," be adopted. Motion carried.

Illinois Eta moved the adoption of the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part II, Article III, Section 13 be amended by striking out "a" and inserting a new "a" to read: "The Chapter President and the Chapter Scholarship Chairman shall be members of the Executive Council by virtue of their respective offices and shall serve on the Council for their entire terms of office." Motion carried. Indiana Epsilon moved that the recommendation

Indiana Epsilon moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that an interim workshop meeting of Grand Council and the Province Presidents and Vice Presidents be authorized for the summer of 1951 be adopted. Motion carried.

Ohio Beta moved that the recommendation of Grand Council that \$10,000 be transferred from the Loan Fund to the Fellowship Endowment Fund be adopted. Motion carried.

Iowa Gamma moved the adoption of the recommendation of Grand Council that the plan of having State Rushing Recommendations Chairmen become an established fraternity practice, using the general procedures now in effect, the appointments to be made biennially, beginning January 1951. Motion carried.

biennially, beginning January 1951. Motion carried. Nevada Alpha moved the adoption of the recommendation of Grand Council that Statutes, Part II, Article III be amended by striking out Section 11 and inserting a new Section 11, to read: "Duties of the Chapter Rush Captain and Assistant Rush Captain. The duties of the Rush Captain and the Assistant Rush Captain shall be:

- a. To plan and to direct the rushing of the chapter.
- b. To make certain that all local and national Panhellenic regulations governing rushing are observed.
- c. To work under the supervision of the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training.
- d. To send to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, within five days after Pledge Day, a recommendation and/or consent or consents to bid for each girl pledged.
- e. To send within ten days after every pledge day or after any other pledging to the Rushing Recommendations Chairman of the Alumnæ Club concerned, a list of all girls pledged from the town or towns under that Alumnæ Club's jurisdiction." The motion was seconded.

Ohio Delta moved that the motion be amended by striking out the words "within five days" in "d" and inserting "within two weeks" so that it would read: "To send to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, within two weeks after Pledge Day, a recommendation and/or consent or consents to bid, for each girl pledged." The motion was seconded and lost.

Michigan Beta moved that the recommendation be amended by striking out the words "after pledge day" and inserting the words "after any formal pledging" so that "d" in Section 11 would read: "To send to the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, within five days after any formal pledging, a recommendation and/or consent or consents to bid, for each girl pledged." Motion seconded and carried. The original motion, as amended, was carried.

Virginia Gamma moved the adoption of the recommendation of Grand Council that when college regulations permit fraternity chapters to engage and to dismiss chapter house chaperons, the Pi Beta Phi chapter president and the chairman of the Alumnæ Advisory Committee, before they notify the chaperon of the chapter's intention to release her, must together report this decision to the Dean of Women. Motion carried.

Massachusetts Beta moved that the recommendation of Grand Council be adopted that the following resolution be adopted by this Convention:

"Whereas, as a consequence of the timely action of the American Legion in calling a meeting of representatives of more than sixty distinguished organizations to consider ways and means of uniting 'all truly patriotic and American organizations in a battle against the one immediate common energy—Communism,' there has been formed the All-American Conference to Combat Communism and

Whereas, the stated purpose of the All-American Conference is 'To unite in a nationwide crusade to defend and promote our freedoms and to expose and curtail Communism' in America, and

Whereas, National Panhellenic Conference in recognition of its potential power has been honored by an invitation to become a part of this group Be it therefore resolved That Pi Beta Phi, in Conven-

Be it therefore resolved That Pi Beta Phi, in Convention assembled, go on record as wholeheartedly approving of this affiliation, That it pledge its full support to National Panhellenic Conference as it meets its responsibility in this crusade, and further, That it call upon all Pi Beta Phis as individuals, chapters and alumnæ clubs to meet this challenge with positive action."

The motion was seconded and discussion followed. Louisiana Beta moved the Previous Question. The motion was seconded and carried. The Resolution, as recommended, was adopted.

The third business meeting of the Regular Session was then adjourned.

# REGULAR SESSION—FOURTH MEETING

THE fourth business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention was called to order by the Grand President at ten thirty o'clock Friday morning, June 30, following the closing of the Alumnæ Session. Greetings were read from Olivia Moore, Treasurer of the Settlement School Committee, and from Mr. Cleone Soule, son of the Founder, Inez Smith Soule. Lucy Cornett, California Epsilon, honored by the ARROW Editor, and Jean Crane, New York Delta, honored by the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, continued as pages. The Grand President spoke briefly in clarification

The Grand President spoke briefly in clarification of questions concerning Pi Beta Phi policy in the use of the blackball and emphasized the attitude of the fraternity toward the "distinct obligation" of each chapter to value Pi Beta Phi background in its consideration of a rushee. Announcement was made that etchings of Holt House may be purchased from Mrs. Carey, hostess at Holt House, for \$2.00 each.

The report of the Director of Central Office was given. Illinois Eta moved that the report be accepted. Motion carried.

The Houston, Texas, Alumnæ Club delegate read a telegram from Mr. Glenn McCarthy of the Hotel Shamrock inviting Pi Beta Phi to hold its 1952 Convention in Houston, at the Shamrock. Speaking for Kappa Province, she urged that the invitation be accepted. Virginia Alpha moved that Grand Council be asked to give serious consideration to the Shamrock as the location for the 1952 Convention. Motion carried.

The fourth business meeting of the Regular Session was then adjourned.

# **REGULAR SESSION—FIFTH MEETING**

THE fifth and last business meeting of the Regular Session of Convention was called to order by the Grand President at two o'clock, Friday afternoon, June thirtieth. The pages for the afternoon were Ruth Morris, Colorado Alpha, honored by the Grand Treasurer, and Martha MacIntosh, Kentucky Alpha, honored by the Grand President.

Iota Province President moved that the alternate

for Colorado Alpha be seated in place of the delegate. Motion carried.

The next Order of Business was the election. Miss Onken appointed as tellers Maryland Alpha, Chairman; California Zeta; Manitoba Alpha; Maine Alpha; Florida Beta; and Michigan Beta. Delta Province Vice President, Chairman of the Nominating Committee, gave her report. The Grand President called for nom-

inations from the floor and Wisconsin Alpha moved that Margaret Dick be nominated for the office of Eta Province President. Miss Dick declined the nomination. No other nominations were made from the floor and the presiding officer therefore declared the nominations closed. The balloting followed and the tellers retired.

New business was called for.

The Director of Extension, secretary of the Alumnæ Session, read a communication from the Baltimore Alumnæ Club commending Maryland Alpha for its excellent record through the long years and expressing the sorrow of the club over losing the chapter from the Goucher campus due to the ruling of the campus administration that all National Panhellenic groups must leave their campus by June, 1950.

Mu Province President moved that Statutes, Part I. Article II, Section 6, "Duties of the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training," be amended by striking out Motion carried. e.

Mu Province President moved that Statutes, Part I, Article II, Section 7, "Duties of the Director of Ex-tension," be amended by striking out "f." Motion carried.

Colorado Beta moved that chapter exhibits at Convention be replaced by a display of chapter histories. The motion was seconded and, after full discussion, was carried.

Oregon Alpha moved that more time be assigned at Convention to Active Workshops and that the number and length of the reports of national officers and committee chairmen, read at Convention, be limited to allow more time for active discussions. Motion carried.

Vermont Alpha moved that Statutes, Part I, Article II, Section 1, "b" be amended by adding the words "and to have charge of the conferences of the Province Presidents before and after Convention." Motion carried.

Vermont Alpha moved that Statutes, Part I, Article Section 2, "b" be amended by adding the words II, Section 2, and to have charge of the conferences of the Province Vice Presidents before and after Convention." Motion carried.

Zeta Province President moved that copies of all motions, made at Convention, carried and lost, be mimeographed and sent to the delegates as soon as possible after Convention. Motion seconded. Hartford Alumnæ Club delegate asked whether similar copies could be sent to the alumnæ delegates and the motion was stated to include the alumnæ delegates. Motion carried.

The Grand Vice President announced the appointment of Theta Province President as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee for the Alumnæ Session of the 1952 Convention.

Oregon Beta moved that Grand Council consider and report to the next Convention a recommendation which would provide for the creation of an Executive Council made up of active members, designed to function during the Convention period, to include one representative from each province. Motion lost.

Following a brief recess, the report of the tellers was read. The Grand Vice President officially declared the election of Amy Burnham Onken as Grand President and presided over her installation. Miss Onken then declared the election of the following officers: Grand Secretary-Lucile Douglass Carson Grand Treasurer-Lolita Snell Prouty

ARROW Editor-Adele Taylor Alford

Director of Rushing and Pledge Training-Helen

Anderson Lewis

National Historian-Marian Keck Simmons

Member of Board of Trustee Funds-Helen Richardson Corkum

Province Presidents:

Alpha East-Annie Laurie Keys Whipple

Alpha West-Evelyn Miller Slifer

Beta-Edith Hoyer Rankin

Gamma-Betty Luhring

Delta-Irene Hay Hoggatt

Epsilon-Marilyn Wiegner Brandom

Zeta-Edythe Belton Tyler

Eta-Maurine Firestone Cook

Theta-Louise Boos Colby

Iota-Lucille Nitsche Junge

Kappa-Mildred Odell Sale Lambda-Mary Weir Cooper

Mu-Mae Scoggin Scott

The installation of all officers, elected and present at Convention, followed.

The following report of the Committee on Resolutions was read by the chairman, Beta Province Presi-dent, who moved its adoption: "Whereas, this assembly wishes to express its gratitude to the many persons who have contributed to the success of this convention, Now, therefore, be it resolved that we acknowledge the services and unwavering devotion of our beloved Grand President, Amy Burnham Onken, and express our sincere appreciation for her inspirational guidance. We proudly recognize her depth of understanding, her universal and unrestricted interest and her invaluable interpretation of the fraternity world to Pi Beta Phi.

"That to our Grand Vice President, Marianne Reid Wild, we commend wholeheartedly her work with Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ and are grateful for her leadership and generous contribution to the fraternity.

"That we extend our appreciation to Lucile Douglass Carson, Grand Secretary, for her efficient and gracious service.

"That we recognize and thank Lolita Snell Prouty for the competent manner in which she fullfills her office of Grand Treasurer.

"That we acknowledge the contribution of the ARROW Editor, Adele Taylor Alford, and express appreciation for her unlimited enthusiasm in giving Pi Beta Phi the outstanding publication in the fraternity world. Her staff and contributors merit our praise.

That to Clara Hall Sipherd, Director of Rushing and Pledge Training, we sincerely commend her for the constructive ideals and progress made in this new department and offer our thanks for her kind assistance.

"That to Marie Bacon Hagee, Director of Extension, we appreciate her capable direction of the fraternity's policies on extension and believe this deserv-

ing of our thanks. "We recognize with pleasure the presence of the honored Pi Phis, Dr. Mae Keller, President Emeritus, and Agnes Wright Spring, former ARROW Editor, and extend to our Convention Initiate, Katherine Devine Kennedy, a warm welcome and our pledge of friendship.

That to Marian Keck Simmons, National Historian, we wish to express our gratitude for the excellent exhibit at this convention and for her talk in which she portrayed the personalities and ideals of the Founders of our fraternity.

That to Elizabeth Heryer Delaney our thanks for her assistance to the National Historian.

"That to Lillian Beck Holton, Counselor for Chapter House Corporations, we extend appreciation for her continued interest in Pi Beta Phi.

"That to Helen Richardson Corkum and Mary Stuart Kinder we respectfully acknowledge their service on the National Board of Trustees.

"That to Lois Franklin Stoolman, Honorary Grand Treasurer, we recognize her contacts for and efforts toward the 'Save the Children Federation.'

"That Dorothea White Flint, National Supervisor of Chapter Accounting, we commend her for such generous assistance in administering aid to the chapter officers of finances.

"That to Gladys Hayes Scivally, Director of Central Office, we do compliment her for such an efficient organization and her constant work with the Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency.

"That to the Chairman of the Settlement School Committee, Ruth Barrett Smith, and her Committee. Nellis Gibson, Harriet Rauch, Ethel Smith, and Olivia Moore, we are truly grateful for the excellent work they have done the past year and for the splendid and entertaining program which was presented at convention.

"That to Mrs. Gibson, the Cleveland members, and other assistants on the Committee for Home for Pi Phis, we desire to extend deepest gratitude for their willing and untiring efforts.

"That to Ethel Snow, Ruth Dyer, and their staff we express our thanks for their part in carrying out the activities at the Settlement School and for their colorful display of Settlement School products.

"That to Mary Bowlen Mooney, Convention Guide, Helen Smith, Registration Chairman, and Gwen Ford, Hospitality Chairman, we express our deepest appreciation for their detailed preparation and plans for the Thirty-seventh Biennial Convention.

"That we are grateful to Dorothy Vale Durand for her wonderful contribution in presenting Pi Beta Phi music and to the convention chorus who entertained us so beautifully.

"That to Dr. Raymond B. Allen, President of the University of Washington, we express sincere gratitude for his practical message to the women of Pi Beta Phi.

"That to Mr. J. Edward Davis of Asheville, North Carolina, we extend our thanks for the interesting interpretation of his personal experience with the Settlement School.

"That to Dr. Herman Deutsch of Washington State College we thank for his willing response to our request.

"That to the Alumnæ Clubs of Lambda Province we are most appreciative of their hospitality and thank them for their many kind gestures in serving as our hostesses. The special hostesses deserve recognition for their varied arrangements and plans.

"That to Ruth Wilson Cogshall and her staff we express our sincere thanks. The clever and informative editions of *The Mountaineer* added much to the interest of this Convention.

"That to Dean Helen Moore and Dean Frances Falvey we extend sincere appreciation for a valuable contribution in the excellent direction of active workshops.

"That we are especially proud to have with us the Golden Arrow members who symbolize true devotion to Pi Beta Phi.

"That to the following Convention Chairman and their respective committees we acknowledge with appreciation their efforts in providing for our comfort and pleasure: Publicity—Ruth Bowen; Exhibits— Angela Alderson; Convention Seating—Grace Ballinger; Photography—Orene Ross; Historical and Holt House—Bunny Chastain; Informal Reception—Sally Casto; Recreation—Marjorie Bowker; Buffet Supper— Beatrice Little; Settlement School—Dorothy Huggins; Model Pledging and Initiation—Barbara Sundet; Pi Phi Night—Frances Cox; Banquet—Ann Robinson; Memorial Service—Marian Oliver.

"That to Province Officers we sincerely thank for their close contact and valuable guidance to active chapters and alumnæ clubs.

"That to Nancy J. Swisher, Chairman of the Holt House Committee, and her committee members, Frances Small Trost, Carmen Sankey Pletz, Alice McDougall Jensen, and Carol Meiks Cook, all Pi Phis are grateful for careful arrangement of the memorial to our Founders and for a program which has given us a greater knowledge and appreciation of this.

us a greater knowledge and appreciation of this. "That to Harriet R. Johnstone, Committee on Scholarship, to her assistant, and to all Province Supervisors, we commend them for their excellent supervision with chapters in this extremely important work.

"That we recognize with great respect the service and contribution of the following chairmen and committee members of the Fraternity: Loan Fund—Josephine McCleverty; Publicity—Lorraine Kindred Peters, chairman, and Betty Jean Collins, Ruth Zimmerman Miller; Transfers—Katherine Hosmer; Fraternity Study and Examination—Florence Hunt Isert, chairman, and Esther Coffin, Betty M. Reif, Margaret Black Ulle, Charlotte Schultz Nash, Nancy Hoover, Joyce Lindsay, Ray Jordan, Carolyn Dallenbach Randall; Josephine Rogers Carper, Elsie Cory Buchanan, Betty Hill Blalock, Marian Eisenhauer, Maud Dawley Hartley, Province Supervisors; Social Exchange, Virginia McMahan, chairman; and Chaperons, Leila Gray Clifton.

"That to Ethel Hogan Copp and her committee we are grateful for their very fine work with the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund.

"That to Mr. R. J. Eberhardt, representative of the Canadian National Railroad, and to the Pi Beta Phi Transportation Chairman, Helen Madden Russell, we appreciate their patient efforts in organizing our transportation.

"That to Irene Hoggatt, hostess of the Special Pi Phi train, we extend gratitude for her hospitality and clever program of activities.

"That to Virginia Brackett Green and Elizabeth Stovall King we express our thanks for their efficient and fair procedure in performing the duties for the active and alumnæ nominating committee.

"That we again honor the pages who served at the different convention meetings.

"That we are grateful for all congratulatory messages received at this convention.

"That we express our thanks to the Parliamentarian, Mrs. William Utter, and to the Stenotypist, Miss Joyce Marson, for their services.

"That to Mr. Paul G. Busey, guest and official photographer of the convention, we are grateful for interest and service.

"That we extend many thanks to Mr. H. J. Gunning, Manager of Jasper Park Lodge, and his staff of assistants who have been extremely cordial and most helpful in making our visit a completely pleasant one."

Respectfully submitted,

Committee on Resolutions

The Philadelphia Alumnæ Club delegate asked for the floor and requested that the motion to accept the report of the Committee on Resolutions include an expression of deep appreciation of the work of the chairman and her committee. The Grand President called for a rising vote and the motion was carried as requested.

The Grand President stated that unless objection was heard the minutes of Convention would be approved by the Grand Council. There was no objection.

The Nominating Committee for the Regular Session of the 1952 Convention was appointed by the Grand President, as follows: Lambda Province Vice President, Chairman, Zeta Province Vice President, and the chapters winning the Balfour Cup, and the Stoolman Vase to be announced at the banquet.

Greetings were read from Edith Bacon Vincent, member of the Loan Fund Committee.

The Grand President declared the business meetings of the Regular Session of the Thirty-Seventh Biennial Convention of Pi Beta Phi adjourned.

Convention closed with the Banquet, Friday evening at seven o'clock, in the dining-room of Jasper Park Lodge.

LUCILE DOUGLAS CARSON, Grand Secretary

Help Your Chapter Win

# THE PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT'S MEMBERSHIP CUP

to be awarded to the chapter having the greatest percent of its initiated members as paid members of the Alumnæ Department.

Pay

# YOUR NATIONAL ALUMNÆ DUES

.50

If you are an isolated alumnus, make check (\$2.50) payable to the Pi Beta Phi Central Office and mail with the attached slip for data to the Province Vice President of the province in which you live. See Directory in the front pages of this ARROW. Otherwise join your alumnæ club!

# MINUTES OF THE CONVENTION SESSIONS OF THE ALUMNÆ DEPARTMENT JUNE 25-JULY 1, 1950

The FIRST Alumnæ Session of the 37th Convention of Pi Beta Phi was called to order by the Grand Vice-President, Marianne Reid Wild, at 2:15 P.M., Monday, June 26th, in Convention Hall of the Jasper Park Lodge, Jasper Park, Alberta, Canada.

After the reading of the Ritual, the Invocation was given by Clara Hall Sipherd, Director of Rushing and Pledge Training. Greetings were read from Kappa Kappa Gamma, Phi Mu, Alpha Phi, and Zeta Tau Alpha.

Pages for the session were introduced: Helen Knodle, as a member of Iowa B which held the Stoolman Vase Award for the past year, and Catherine Cronice from Wisconsin B which held the Philadelphia Vase.

The Director of Extension, Marie Bacon Hagee, as Chairman of the Committee on Credentials for Alumnæ Sessions, presented the report of the Committee, and moved its acceptance, with the recommendation that May Keller, President Emeritus; Agnes Wright Spring, Convention Guest; Katherine D. Kennedy, Convention Initiate, be seated. The report showed that 91 delegates had presented credentials and that with Margaret A. Foster Acting Eta Province Vice-President, and Edythe Manning, Acting Lambda Province President, all officers were in attendance. Announcements were made, followed by the introductions of May Keller and Katherine Kennedy.

The Kappa Province Vice-President moved and it was seconded and carried that Mrs. Karl Baughman be seated as the delegate from Ponca City, Oklahoma.

The Beta Province Vice-President moved and it was seconded and carried that Jean Gustkey be seated as the official delegate for the Ohio Valley Alumnæ Club.

Zeta Province Vice-President moved and it was seconded and carried that Ann Verscheure be seated as the official delegate of the Mobile Alumnæ Club.

Theta Province Vice-President moved and it was seconded and carried that Marjory Jacobson be seated as the official delegate of the Grand Forks Alumnæ Club.

The Lambda Province Vice-President moved that the alternate from the Butte-Anaconda Alumnæ Club, Mary Pat Dowling, be seated as its official delegate; and that Mrs. Orville Ritchie be seated as the official delegate from Spokane, Washington. Seconded and carried.

The Delta Province Vice-President moved and it was seconded and carried that Mrs. H. D. Wilson be seated as the official delegate of the Detroit Alumnæ Club.

With these additions the Chairman of the Credential Committee reported 98 official delegates in attendance.

An announcement was made by the Chair concerning the arrangements made by the Nominating Committee,

An announcement was also made of the change made at the 1948 Convention in the method of electing the Holt House Committee.

The order of business was announced as follows: Reports of Officers, Reports of Regular Committees, Reports of Special Committees, Recommendations from Grand Council, Recommendations from the Province Vice-Presidents, Recommendations contained in reports, New Business, Election of Officers.

The chair announced as special orders that for Tues-

day at 2:00 P.M. Reports of the Settlement School Committee, Report of Holt House Committee, Report of the Magazine Agency.

Special order of the day for Thursday afternoon, June 29th, was announced to be workshops as follows: 2:30 to 3:15 P.M. Advisory Boards, Rushing and Public Relations joint active and alumnæ discussions: 3:15 to 4:00 P.M., Membership, Officer Training, Junior Clubs, and Programs.

Reports of the Officers of the Alumnæ Department were then in order. The report of the Grand Vice-President was read and accepted on motion of the Zeta Province Vice-President, seconded. The report of the Director of Extension was read and accepted on motion of the Iota Province Vice-President, seconded.

The Grand Treasurer, Lolita Snell Prouty, read a statement on alumnæ funds and made called-for explanations. The report of the special committee on the Allocation of Convention Funds from its Chairman, Gertrude T. Whatley, was read by the Grand Treasurer and, upon motion of the Alpha Province Vice-President, was accepted.

The report of the Committee on the Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ Home was read by its Chairman, Mary W. Gibson, and upon recommendation of the Kappa Province Vice-President was accepted. It was moved by the Iota Province Vice-President that Joann Reuse be seated as the official delegate from the Lawrence, Kansas, Alumnæ Club.

Consideration of the recommendations of Grand Council was the next order of business.

Beta Province Vice-President moved that the recommendation: That Statutes, Part II, Article II, Section 3, be amended by adding a new "e" to read:

If she is a person initiated as an alumna of a newly chartered chapter, either as a charter member or as an initiate at a date later than that of the installation, she has paid one year's annual alumnæ dues.

Seconded and passed.

The St. Petersburg delegate moved the adoption of the recommendation: That Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, a, 3, be amended by striking out "onehalf" and inserting "one-third" so that it will read: "One-third of the expenses of the Central Office."

Seconded and passed. Acting Province Vice-President for Eta Province moved the adoption of the recommendation: That Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 1, be amended by striking out "two dollars" and inserting "two dollars and a half," so that it will read:

Annual Alumnæ Dues. Membership in the Alumnæ Department shall be contingent upon payment of annual dues of two and a half dollars, said dues to be forwarded to the Central Office through the Province Vice-President concerned on November 15 or April 15.

This was seconded and, after thorough discussion, was passed.

The Santa Monica delegate moved the adoption of the recommendation: That if the above is adopted, Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, be amended by striking out "The \$2.00 payment shall be apportioned as follows: \$1.00 shall be placed in an alumnæ fund" and inserting "The \$2.50 payment shall be apportioned as follows: \$1.50 shall be placed in an alumnæ fund" so that it will read: Distribution of Alumnæ Dues. The two dollar and a half payment shall be apportioned as follows: a. One dollar and a half shall be placed in an

a. One dollar and a half shall be placed in an Alumnæ Fund from which expenses incidental to the work of the Alumnæ Department shall be paid. Such expenses shall include: etc.

Seconded and passed.

The Lambda Province Vice-President moved the adoption of the recommendation: That an interim workshop meeting of Grand Council and the Province Presidents and Vice-Presidents be authorized for the summer of 1951.

Seconded and passed.

The Beta Province Vice-President moved the adoption of the recommendation: That the policy of the fraternity be to charter regular alumnæ clubs only, but that junior alumnæ clubs, already chartered, be allowed to continue as separate alumnæ clubs so long as they meet all national requirements.

Seconded and passed.

The Alpha East Province Vice-President moved the adoption of the recommendation: That Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, b, 4 be amended by striking out "the unallocated part of the Alumnæ Convention Fund" and inserting, "the Alumnæ Fund and be allocated to the Convention expenses of the Alumnæ Department."

Seconded and passed unanimously.

The Hartford Delegate moved the adoption of the recommendation:

WHEREAS, As a consequence of the timely action of the American Legion in calling a meeting of representatives of more than sixty distinguished organizations to consider ways and means of uniting "all truly patriotic and American organizations in a battle against the one immediate common enemy— Communism," there has been formed the All-American Conference to Combat Communism and

WHEREAS, The stated purpose of the All American Conference is "to unite in a nationwide crusade to defend and promote our freedoms and to expose and curtail Communism" in America, and

WHEREAS, National Panhellenic Conference in recognition of its potential power has been honored by an invitation to become a part of this group.

Be it therefore resolved, That Pi Beta Phi, in Convention assembled, go on record as wholeheartedly approving of this affiliation, That it pledge its full support to National Panhellenic Conference as it meets its responsibility in this crusade, and further, That it call upon all Pi Beta Phis as individuals, chapters and alumnæ clubs to meet this challenge with positive action.

Seconded and, after thorough discussion, passed unanimously.

Epsilon Province Vice-President moved that the following recommendation be withdrawn:

That if the revision to effect the change in Statutes Part III, Article III, Section 2, a, 3, is adopted the change be made retro-active to cover the years 1948-49 and 1949-50.

Seconded and passed.

Following announcements by the Convention Guide, Mary Bowlen Mooney, the session was recessed at 5:15 P.M.

# TUESDAY, JUNE 27, 1950, 2:30 P.M.

The second session of the Alumnæ Department, a joint session with required attendance by active chapter delegates, was called to order by the Grand Vice-President, Introduction of the pages followed. The Grand President honored her own chapter, Illinois E, by choosing Jean Boren; the Grand Secretary honored her chapter, Illinois A, in Elizabeth Schmetter. Greetings were read from Francese Evans Ives.

Anouncements were made and a message from the members of the Golden Arrow was read: "The members of the Order of the Golden Arrow want to express our appreciation of your gracious attention and to wish that every one of you may live to be a Golden Arrow Pi Phi." Signed: Dora C. Dehay; Florence Crofoot; Lucille L. Hall; Lulu G. Weld; May L. Keller; Elberta T. Smith; Annie Gaddis Anderson.

Announcement was made of a new award to be given by the Province Vice-Presidents to the chapter having the largest percentage of its initiated members as paid members of the Alumnæ Department. This is to be known as The Province Vice-Presidents Award. The Credentials Committee reported that the number of delegates now seated was 99. In the Special Order of Business the report of the Settlement School Committee was given by its chairman, Ruth Barrett Smith. Harriet B. Rauch was introduced as a member of the S.S. Committee. The report of the Holt House Committee was given by its chairman, Nancy J. Swisher, Introduction of the treasurer of the Committee, Frances Small Troost, was made.

The report of the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund was made by its chairman, Ethel Hogan Coop. A member of the Committee, Irene Hay Hoggatt, was presented to Convention, a great many of whom knew her as the hostess of the Special Train to Convention. A short recess was taken.

After announcements, the report of the Magazine Agency was given by Gladys Hayes Scivally, Director of Central Office. In the regular order of business the recommendations of the Province Vice-Presidents were now brought up for consideration. It was moved by the Baltimore Club: That the Statutes, Part III, Article II, Section 1, be amended by inserting a new "e" to read:

That a delegate accepting any money for her expenses to convention from the Alumnæ Convention Fund or from the club which she represents:

- shall be required to be present for the entire convention.
- shall attend all meetings, workshops, and programs.
- shall make a full report to her Club of the Convention proceedings with a financial report of expense attached.

Seconded. An amendment was moved by the Grand President, seconded and passed, that the words "financial report attached" be stricken out and "submit a written financial statement" be substituted. The motion as amended was passed unanimously.

Recommendations from special committees were now in order, and that from the Committee on the Allocation of the Convention Fund, of which Gertrude Thielan Whatley is chairman, was read by the Grand Treasurer:

That the Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, b, be amended by striking out "2" and inserting a new "2" to read: Each eligible chartered alumnæ club shall share in the distribution of the Fund and that the transportation for each Alumnæ club to the place of convention be computed from the largest city in its state or territory or Canadian Province as the case may be.

This was seconded, and in the discussion which followed, it was brought out that interpretation of the motion should be made in case of a convention being held in a province where the meeting place is also the central point. As a result of this discussion Palo Alto moved: That a committee of five be

# THURSDAY, JUNE 29, 1950, 9:00 A.M.

The third session of the Alumnæ Department was called to order at 9:15 A.M. by the Grand Vice President. After announcements, greetings were read from Beta Sigma Omicron, and a wire of grateful appreciation from Mrs. Carl Payne, Faculty Adviser of the group, Phi Chi, at Davis and Elkins, West Virginia, which had been granted a charter by Pi Beta Phi in Active Session the previous day.

The pages for the Session were introduced. The Director of Rushing and Pledge Training honored Theta Province in Shirley Carter, and the Director of Extension honored Missouri Alpha, the last chapter visited by her, in Janet McDonald.

Lambda Province Vice-President moved that the alternate for the Calgary Alumnæ Club be seated as the delegate. Seconded and passed. The Credentials Committee reported that credentials for 117 delegates had been officially received and that those, with the national and province officers, those designated by the Constitution, and the two seated by this Alumnæ Session making up the voting personnel of the Alumnæ Sessions of Convention number 159.

The Order of Business for the day was announced as recommendations from special committees. First in order was the recommendation from the Chairman of

Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, b, 2, on transportation expense allocation; and that the Grand Treasurer be a member of the Committee. This was seconded and passed. The Chair appointed the fol-lowing committee with the Grand Treasurer as Chair-The delegates from the Alumnæ Clubs of Palo man: Alto, California, St. Louis, Missouri, Rochester, New York, and Jackson, Michigan. This Committee was instructed to report at the Friday A.M. Alumnæ Session. The meeting was recessed at 4:55 P.M.

appointed by the Chair to bring in an amendment to

Alumnæ Home Committee, Mary Walihan Gibson: That work for the \$250,000 stipulated for the Alumnæ Home be carried on, and that research for setting up such a Home be continued. This was seconded, extensive discussion followed, and the motion was lost. A motion was made by Acting Lambda Province President that when a contribution to the Home is returned a letter accompany it asking that money be sent to the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund. This motion was withdrawn for re-wording but not re-submitted. Mrs. Gibson was given an ovation and a rising vote of thanks for her work as chairman of this committee. Discussion followed in regard to disposal of the funds collected for the Home, and a motion was made by the delegate of the Northern New Jersey Club: That this Convention authorize Grand Council to instruct the Grand Treasurer to pay the expenses of returning in full all contributions made to the Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ Home. This was seconded and passed.

Palo Alto moved: That the meeting of the Alumnæ Session on Friday A.M. shall convene at 8:30 A.M. in place of the usual 9 o'clock. Meeting recessed at 12:15 P.M.

# FRIDAY, JUNE 30, 1950, 8:30 A.M.

Meeting was called to order by the Grand Vice-President at 8:45 A.M. After announcements, the pages for the day were introduced. The ARROW Editor honored California Epsilon in Lucy Cornett of that chapter, and the Director of Rushing and Pledge Training honored the last chapter she visited,

New York Delta, in Nancy Crain. Report of the Nominating Committee was given as follows:

REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE FOR THE ALUMNÆ DEPARTMENT-1950

Grand Vice-President-Marianne Reid Wild

Director of Extension-Marie Bacon Hagee

Province Vice-Presidents

Alpha East-Erminie L. Pollard

Alpha West-Edna Olson Archibald

Beta-Velva DeMoss Shortz

Gamma-Marie Turnstall Lingo

Delta-Virginia Brackett Green Epsilon-Alice Weber Mansfield

Zeta-Marguerite Blocker Bartlett

Eta-Elizabeth Hill Scott Theta-Helen Wright Grant

Iota-Genevieve Conner Munger Kappa-Theresa Gibson Graham

Lambda-Mary Bowlen Mooney Mu-Marcella McCormick Rhodes BETTY STOVALL KING, Chairman

Delegates from the following clubs were appointed as tellers in the election: New Haven, Cincinnati, North Shore, Des Moines, and Dallas.

The report of the Committee to Nominate Members for Holt House Committee reported that the North Shore and Detroit Alumnæ Clubs had been selected as the clubs from which new members of the Holt House Committee are to be selected. Acting Eta Province Vice-President moved that these clubs be accepted as the ones from which the members are to be selected, which was seconded and passed.

Report of the Special Committee for the Allocation of Convention Funds was made by its Chairman, the Grand Treasurer, and the following recommendation

was moved, seconded and passed: That Statutes, Part III, Article III, Section 2, b, 2, be amended by adding: "Exception shall be made for the state, territory, or Canadian Province in which the convention is to be held, wherein the transportation of each alumnæ club shall be computed separately." Beta Province Vice-President asked for information

on the salaries received by Pi Phi Officers. The Grand Treasurer replied with a definite statement.

Glendale moved: That the ARROWS between now and the 1952 convention include an appeal to all Pi Beta Phi Alumnæ to pay their national dues, either through their local club or to a person so designated to handle said dues. It is also recommended that this appeal carry interpretation regarding the need for such additional funds and the obligation of every Pi Beta Phi member to shoulder her part of this expense. Seconded and passed.

Glendale moved: That reports of National Officers and Committee Chairmen usually given in alumnæ session be condensed and have a definite time limit, not to exceed the time of a morning and afternoon session, in order to leave plenty of time for new business. This was seconded, and the Springfield delegate moved that it be amended by inserting the words "for workshops and" before "new business." Seconded and passed.

The Washington, D.C., delegate moved that the Constitution, Article VI, Section 1 (a) be amended by striking out "and" before "a Convention Guide" and inserting at the end "and two Active Convention Directors." Add a new Section (f) to read: "The Active Convention Directors shall be the active chapter delegates to Convention from the chapters which hold the Balfour Cup and Stoolman Vase."

And that the Constitution, Article VI, Section 2 be amended by adding: "Two Active Convention Directors shall be temporary members of Grand Council to sit with it and vote at all its meetings during the pre-convention, convention, and post-convention periods."

And the Statutes, Part I, Article IV be amended by inserting a new Section 15 to read as follows:

"Duties of the Active Convention Directors: The duties of the Active Convention Directors shall be, (a) to attend all meetings of Grand Council during the pre-convention, convention, and post-convention periods, and to participate in the deliberations and to vote on all questions; (b) each to preside over at least one active session of Convention."

This was seconded, and after discussion, was lost.

A recommendation was read by the Pasadena delegate that:

"WHEREAS, It is desirable to secure for the fraternity in the future, the same strong leadership which has contributed so much to our growth in the past, and,

"WHEREAS, Such development is best assured by the existence of a large number of experienced officers;

"Therefore, That a limited tenure of three (3) two (2) year terms in any one office for all members of Grand Council, be established; such tenure to take effect two years after establishment with the terms of officers staggered so that all officers are not replaced at one time."

Since this recommendation involved necessary changes to the Constitution and Statutes and had not been submitted to all national officers, chapters, and alumnæ clubs at least 60 days prior to the meeting at which they were to be voted upon, as provided in the Constitution, it was ruled out of order by the Chair.

Los Angeles moved that this recommendation be considered by the Alumnæ Session. This was seconded and lost.

The Washington, D.C., delegate moved that it be recommended to active session that Statutes, Part I, Article IV, Section 11 (a), be amended by striking out

the present Section II (a); which provides for a nominating committee to be appointed by the President, and inserting a new section to read: "A Committee to nominate fraternity officers at the ensuing convention shall consist of a Province President, the active chapter delegate from the chapter which holds the A. B. Onken award, the active chapter delegate from the chapter which holds the Philadelphia Vase, one member of Grand Council to be elected at the interim summer meeting of Grand Council, and a Province Vice President. The Province Presidents will serve on this committee in rotation alphabetically according to provinces; the Province Vice Presidents will serve on this committee in reverse rotation alphabetically according to Provinces. The personnel of this committee shall be determined immediately following the summer interim meeting of Grand Council and shall be announced in the ARROW for September of the same year. The Nominating Committee shall present two candidates for each national office to convention at its last meeting.

This was seconded and lost by a vote 59 for and 74 against. The delegate from the Baltimore Alumnæ Club read the following resolution: "The Baltimore Alumnæ Club wishes to tell this convention of the great joy it has found in working with Maryland Alpha during the many years of the two groups' ex-istence. Granted, there have been rough spots; but, particularly during the past year, this delegate has felt among the girls a spirit of unity and a sincere desire to be the best Pi Phis possible. Our combined Founders' Day banquet, April 25, 1950, was a memorable occasion. Miss Onken, Mrs. Wild, Mrs. Lingo and many Maryland Alphas from all over the country were our honored guests. As the final celebration of Maryland Alpha, it was a sad time, but for the Baltimore Alumnæ Club, receiving over 50 new members, it was a great inspiration. We salute Maryland Alpha and look forward to working with these girls and helping them to find their places as loyal Pi Beta Phi alumnæ

Pasadena moved: That Statutes, Part I, Article IV be amended by adding a new "17" to read: The required majority on any question shall be figured on the number of votes actually cast and not on the total voting personnel of the Alumna Sessions of Convention.

This was seconded and in the discussion that followed the Chair was asked what was meant by "Convention." The Parliamentarian was asked for her interpretation and ruled that "Convention" would include all persons whose expenses were paid by the fraternity. After discussion this motion was lost.

An explanation of the vote required on motions was given by the Parliamentarian.

A report of the tellers appointed to count the vote was brought in and the slate nominated was declared elected.

Epsilon Province Vice President moved adjournment, and after reading of the Ritual, the Grand Vice-President declared the Alumnæ Sessions of the 37th Convention of Pi Beta Phi adjourned.

Respectfully submitted

MARIE B. HAGEE Director of Extension Acting Secretary

#### OFFICIAL LIST OF ALUMNÆ DELEGATES

Alpha East

Halifax-Margaret Macpherson Hartford-Patricia G. Dutcher Montreal-Joan Yule McDiarmid New Haven-Louise C. Wilkin Portland-Ruth D. Brinnick

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

Alpha West Albany-Helen S. Wolfe Buffalo-Betty M. Reif London-Dorothy Allan Burns New York-Harriet G. Rauch Northern New Jersey-Edith B. Smith Rochester-Lydia L. Darling Schenectady-Louise L. Newkirk Toronto-Nita I. Hewitt

#### Beta

eta Athens-Ruth M. Sweeney Gincinnati-Jane P. Craig Cleveland East-Helen H. Maedje Cleveland West-Julia L. Wacaser Columbus-Velva D. Shortz Dayton-Nancy J. Humphreys Fairmont-Helen F. VanFleet Harrisburg-Carlisle-Mary Louise Heckman Morgantown-LaVerne P. Davis Ohio Valley-Jean H. Gustkey Philadelphia-Patricia Cooke Pittsburgh-Ruth B. Stevens Toledo-Janet S. Masters

### Gamma

Baltimore—Janice M. Cordray Chapel Hill—Edith M. Giduz Columbia—Mary L. Alcorn Richmond—Pauline Turnbul] Washington—Mary Katherine Lutz Wilmington—Dorothy F. Ford

## Delta

Ann Arbor-Dorothy J. Chipman Detroit-Frances G. Wilson Indianapolis-Elizabeth M. Jennings Jackson-Louella M. Speakman Lafayette-Frances S. Troost Lansing-East Lansing-Evah Nell Crow Southwestern Indiana-Irene H. Hoggatt Epsilon

Columbia—Mildred T. Allton Kansas City, Mo.—Dorothy Ware Knoxville-Little Pigeon—Ruth Dyer Louisville—Ruth W. Hansen Nashville—Louise Z. Flautt St. Louis—Gwenneth B. Meek Zeta

Lakeland—Dora C. Delay Mobile—Ann Versceure St. Petersburg—Ninabelle Dame

#### Eta

Avon (Libbie Brook Gaddis)—Mrs. George Ball Champaign-Urbana—Hanna P. Fisher Chicago North—Miriam S. Morrison Chicago South—Mrs. Herbert S. Vallette Chicago West Suburban—Fay M. Gross Decatur—Margaret W. Dick Joliet-Rachel H. Meadows Milwaukee—Cleo B. Stevenson North Shore—Eleanor R. Cooley Oak Park-River Forest—Gladys L. Campbell Springfield—Elberta Smith

Theta Cedar Rapids—Lula G. Weld Des Moines—Florence G. Hoffman Grand Forks—Marjotie Jacobsen Iowa City—Nancy J. Swisher St. Paul—Gertrude Moore Minneapolis Afternoon—Betty McGhie Iota ota Casper-Jane B. Swanton Colorado Springs-Evalyn L. Darby Denver-Jeanette Abott Fort Collins-Evalyn P. Lewis Lawrence-Jean Ruese Lincoln-Rath Louise Dierks Manhattan-Genevieve C. Munger Omaha-Ruth S. Bundy Salt Lake City-Alton P. Gleave Wichita-Helen Rose Allison Kappa Appa Austin-Elizabeth S. Hutchinson Brazos Valley-Sue C. Haynie Dallas-Mrs. J. B. Stigall, Jr. Houston-Mrs. Ernest Graham Muskogee-Lucille W. Patterson Oklahoma City-Elizabeth T. Branan Ponca City-Mrs. Karl Baughman San Antonio-Mrs. R. S. Adams Stillwater-Ruth S. Otr Tulsa-Norma S. Caylor Lambda ambda Edmonton-Ruth McCuaig Bate Boise-Mary Dunbar Raber Bozeman-Frances Napton Butte-Anaconda-Mary Pat Dowling Clagary-Neno Waldo Hayes Corvallis-Marion Oliver Everett-Angela J. Alderson Mediord-Virginia M. Wait Portland-Wirs, Baird A. Little Pullman-Frances E. Cox Salem (Nancy Black Wallace)-Mrs. Charles H. Huggins Seattle-Grace Ballinger Spokane-Marjorie N. Ritchie Tacoma (Inez Smith Soule)-Gladys S. Forrester Vancouver-Sheila Alexander Vakima-Bernice J. Chastain Mu du Berkeley-Miriam F. Prowd Glendale-Kathleen C. Richards Hawaii-Margaret M. Camp Long Beach-Clara P. Daughtrey Los Angeles-Marjorie T. Wetherly Pasadena-Elizabeth S. Cerini Phoenix-Brenda T. Burch Sacramento-Jean Kennedy San Diego-Ellen Jefferson San Fernando Valley-Sayte W. Lawrence San Jose-Dorothy K. Heath Santa Barbara-Ventura-Lucille I. Hall Santa Barbara-Ventura-Lucille I. Hall Santa Monica-Frances Larsen Tucson-Elizabeth A. Hibbs

34

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

# Annual Reports of National Officers

# MESSAGE OF GRAND PRESIDENT

## To Pi Beta Phi:

PERHAPS the most important reason for a conven-Ption is that it may deepen loyalty. As this Con-vention gives increased understanding of the basic purposes of the fraternity, there can come only a Breater pride in the achievements and prestige of Pi Beta Phi and a resulting deeper love for it and it is upon pride and love that true loyalty depends. This, the Thirty-seventh Convention of Pi Beta Phi, might well set as its special goal a clarification of what true loyalty means and what it demands in conviction, attitude, action, and service!

Dean Joseph A. Park, Educational Adviser at Ohio State University, in answering Mr. Kenneth Brown, who had said that fraternity members place loyalty to the fraternity above that to the institution, reach for prestige, and are indifferent to cultural interests, said that since these are very human faults, they probably could be assigned with equal fairness to faculties and added: "I like Dr. Brown's phrase, They will be judged, as they deserve to be judged, by the calibre of the men and women whom they aid in training.' When the College Alumni Secretary or Finance Director sets out to enlist alumni support of some worth-while endeavors, to whom does he turn? Is it merely because such people are extroverts and enjoy enlisting the aid of their fellows or is it possible that training in a lesser loyalty has developed a greater?" Pi Beta Phi has long recognized its responsibility to "that greater human fraternity to which we all be-long" and it believes with deep conviction that as it deepens loyalty to the things of Pi Beta Phi it automatically deepens it to the things of good citizenship on college campuses and off of them as these are demonstrated in a sincere interest in an effort to further the best in education, government, culture, and right living. The Interfraternity Decalogue of Fraternity Policy gives as the chief purpose of a fraternity "to provide training and discipline of the individual who, in seeking an education, desires to make himself a useful member of society, possessing knowledge, trained skill, and capacity for accomplishment." The effects of such training and discipline could not possibly be kept within the limits of one's fraternity! After the First World War, H. G. Wells said that

civilization was in a race between education and catastrophe; Dr. J. Walter Malone, president of Millikin University, now says that "after World War II, it was no longer a race. Education went over to catastrophe" and became "too much education for profit and not for personality, too much education for prestige and not for character" and that "one of today's greatest needs is an education which will place emphasis on spiritual things, personal responsibility, honesty, and character." How completely this ideal ties in with those of Pi Beta Phi! And how it emphasizes the importance of a definite stand by Pi Beta Phis, active and alumnæ, for this, the only kind of an education which will insure the future of colleges by attracting boys and girls who want for themselves the things of beautiful living for which fraternities stand and so will insure the future of fraternities, too. Let Pi Beta Phis be leaders in swinging education back from catastrophe! Undergraduates can do their part by choosing courses and professors which build right thinking and right attitudes, and alumnæ can do theirs by insisting that their colleges and universities provide such courses and such teachers.

Pi Beta Phi's responsibility for good citizenship cannot end on college campuses, highlighted though it is there by the fact that there Pi Phis live together as groups and are judged as such for their qualities of citizenship. It should not sound like "the same old story" when one speaks of the desperate need for citizens who are intelligent about the forces which gravely threaten the American way of life, who will look beneath the surface in order that they may know motives as well as appearances and protestations, and who will stand fast against the most insidious and destructive propaganda campaign which our country has ever known. Mr. J. Edgar Hoover, this month of June, 1950, has declared that the forces of Commu-nism in the United States present a terrifying danger -a danger most terrifying because so many of those who are supporting the cause of Communism do not wear its colors openly and so are able to work even more effectively than if their allegiance were known. When one has been given both a college training and the privilege of being a Pi Beta Phi, she has a re-sponsibility which she cannot evade for taking a firm and active stand against ideologies which are diametrically opposed to what generations of right thinking Americans have proved are the things which make for the best way of life which the world has ever known.

Pi Beta Phi dare not shut its eyes to the fact that Communism has declared its intention of taking over America by way of the college campuses on which it is playing upon the idealism and the inexperience of college students. The IRAC Bulletin of last September said: "The National Council for American Education does not see Communism on the various campuses as a bogeyman. It sees thirty-six Yale faculty members with one hundred and fifty-seven affiliations in eightytwo Communist fronts. It sees seventy-five Harvard faculty members with three hundred and thirty-six affiliations in one hundred and twenty-four Communist fronts, and it sees Communists on many of the college faculties, many of whom have been active in the anti-fraternity campaign." Mr. Jerome Koehler, Supreme President of Pi Kappa, in a wonderfully fine article, "What Price Discrimination," said: "Communists have been recently openly blasting Americans for not building an 'economic democracy,' for not accepting a 'social democracy' and for our refusal to 'im-plement racial brotherhood.' These allusions by the antidiscriminationist supporters should be critically examined. We know that 'political democracy' means political equality—one man, one vote; we imagine that their meaning of 'economic democracy' would be economic equality—one man, one unit of property. We assume that the meaning of 'social democracy' would be social equality-one man, one body of men of common equality. The attainment of these ideals would be conformity without choice, unity without diversity; and it would be Communism and not Americanism . . . Their pious chant of blending all our people into a strong united democracy has every evidence of being a sham and a double-cross. Their true intent appears to be to divide and separate; to array class against class, race against race, and creed against creed. . . . Much bitter opposition

has been expressed of late against fraternities. While most of this criticism is because of membership discrimination, the entire gauntlet of incriminations has been used against them. But despite all of these false accusations, most college students would still like to join! . . . Fraternities have been a wholesome contribution to the American concept of education, in that they have given primacy to the development of the individual for his future place in society. . . . Although much has yet to be done in correcting certain of their known weaknesses, college fraternities have proved to be the best demonstration of democracy in action on any campus." Dean Park says: "The two features of college life in which there seems to be the greatest public interest are Athletics and Fraternities. Unfortunately, the curriculum seems to be of interest to academicians only. One might argue that the public has a vested interest in athletics because it is the public's money that keeps them going. This is definitely not true with fraternities, which pay their own way and have no support from anyone except their own members. That's unusual in these days, isn't it?"

Perhaps it is permissible to repeat that "fraternities as such are, of course, not the major target of Communism; they are a practice target, important in themselves but most important because if they, as one democratic institution, can be destroyed the entire structure of America will be irreparably weakened." Mr. Koehler says of discrimination: "Discrimination without unjust distinction is good taste. If college fraternities were not discriminatory in selecting their members there would be very little need for their existence. To use discrimination in selecting companions has always been smart. This is freedom and freedom of choice is an accepted principle of democracy." It seems rather strange, does it not, that noth-ing is said by the enemies of fraternities, about the fact that fraternity membership is contingent upon selection not only by the chapter but also by the rushee? Acceptance of an invitation to membership is surely as much a matter of discrimination as is the giving of a bid and both are the exercises of true democracy. Pi Beta Phis should stand as a solid unit for the basic right of a fraternity, or of any other organization whose purposes and achievements are good, to select as its members those who will pro-

mote its unity, congeniality, and success. The firm stand which National Panhellenic Con-ference fraternities have taken against attempts to force them to allow their membership qualifications to be determined from the outside calls for the staunch support of all Pi Beta Phis. This stand has been sneered at by a few undergraduate journalists as an indication that fraternities "are scared to death about their own future" and are making mountains out of the molehills of these coercive demands by some student bodies and by the National Student Association that no fraternity set up any membership requirements which seem to these groups "discriminatory." Fraternities are interested in self-preservation, yes; because they believe in the infinite value of what they give to their own members and through them to the college campuses and the civic communities in which they live. But their firm stand for the right of freedom of assembly has back of it a realization that infinitely much more than the survival of fraternities is involved: the future of Americanism is at stake.

On some campuses, newspaper propaganda aimed at active chapter members has urged them to ignore their national officers, fraternity regulations, and National Panhellenic Conference rulings, saying that they should make decisions on the basis of local opinions and preferences only. Loyalty to oneself as well as to one's fraternity demands that undergraduate fraternity members make it very clear that they realize that with their privilege of national affiliation came national obligations which they assumed voluntarily and both wish and expect to honor. A campus on which all decisions are made solely upon the basis of local sentiment should offer local affiliations only since its students are not yet ready for broad responsibilities and privileges such as those of national fraternity membership.

While there has been some undesirable fraternity publicity in low grade fiction and in *Life*, attacks upon fraternities have, according to Mr. L. G. Balfour, Chairman of I.R.A.C., been fewer than in recent years. May the Grand President remind all Pi Beta Phis that the policy of the fraternity and that of all NPC fraternities is against any publicity whatever in *Life* and the other magazines of its type? *Life*, for example, has never yet given wholly desirable publicity to any college or to any fraternity. The chance that it will change its ways is too slight to make it acceptable for any Pi Beta Phi to be included in its campus presentations.

The Grand President's annual message might be called her "Report on the State of the Nation, and she has very great pride in what she can say if continued strength shown in unexcelled campus representation by active chapters, recognized leadership in the fraternity field, and prestige which is the result of more than eighty-three years of established high goals and exceptional achievements. Since Pi Beta Phi publishes in its annual Information Number of the ARROW the detailed reports of all officers and stand-ing committees, it should not be seriously handicapped by the fact that only a very few reports are read at conventions. No summaries by the Grand Vice-President and the Grand President, however, can possibly give an at all inclusive understanding of the organization, aims, and accomplishments of the alumnæ clubs and the active chapters of the fraternity or of what these mean to the fraternity as such. No member of the fraternity should be willing not to read carefully the reports of all officers and the minutes of Grand Council meetings and convention. Few fraternities make it so easy for their members to be intelligent about themselves.

The delegates' reports speak for themselves of the effective work of chapters and of the recognitions which have come to them. It seems to the Grand President that, exceedingly gratifying though the annual confidential reports from Deans of Women consistently are, those reports, this year, indicate the highest degree of effective meeting of responsibility which chapters as a whole have ever attained. The appreciation for the national fraternity, its methods, and its high standards which is so evident in the Deans' comments is another cause for extreme gratitude and pride. Not all chapters measure up to the fraternity's scholastic ideal for them-which is that each girl's grades shall represent her best scholastic ability and shall prove that she is assuming her personal re-sponsibility as a student—but there is reason for much pride in the record of eighteen first places on the comparative lists of fraternities for the full college year of 1948-49, the latest for which statistics are available, a gain of five first places over the immediately preceding year. The national goal-every Pi Beta Phi chapter in the upper third of its comparative list-is one which is perfectly possible of achievement and the only one, really, which is worthy of the frater-nity. Each delegate should go home determined that her chapter will not accept from its members scholarship which gives it a less worthy place on its campus and in the fraternity.

The contacts between active chapters and province and national officers have for the most part been close and effective. The interim meeting of Grand Council members and province officers and the province conferences of Province Presidents and chapter presidents and pledge supervisors have resulted in improvements in techniques, the setting of constantly higher goals, and a deepened understanding of fraternity policies. This Convention must consider, however, the question of continuing these interim conferences in the light of the great expense which they involve. The Grand President of another strong fra-ternity recently wrote, "Like all fraternities, we are having endowment troubles," due to the fact that even though endowments have been built up faster than financial experts expected, the interest does not carry the greatly increased running expenses of the fraternity. No other women's fraternity, apparently, has the background of endowment funds which Pi Beta Phi has. When these endowments were established, the stable value of the dollar, available interest rates, and relatively low cost of operation made it seem that they could insure the fact that Pi Beta Phi could indefinitely continue to function successfully without adding to its extremely low national financial requirements from active chapters. It was thought that the annual, automatic growth of the Contingent Fund Endowment, for example, would adequately take care of the increased annual cost due to the growth of the fraternity. The devaluation of the dollar to the point where it represents approximately half of its once stable value of one hundred cents and the resulting inevitable increases in all costs mean that each year the Contingent Fund is using up more and more of the surplus accumulated during past years and that the Convention Fund can no longer be expected to take care of conventions and biennial Chapter Presidents' conferences. Convention registration fees, even at this year's figure, are exceedingly low for NPC fraternities, one of which last year had a registration fee of forty dollars and several of which, this year, have fees of from fifteen to twenty dollars. When Grand Council's recommendation for a pledge fee is presented to Convention for its action, more detailed explanations will be given. The recommendation is made with reluctance but with a realization that unless some new source of income is established, it will be increasingly difficult for Pi Beta Phi to continue to make its work of internal supervision and help as effective as it now is and as it should be. Active chapter delegates should weigh the effects of the presidents' conferences in greater efficiency and finer fraternity spirit in their respective chapters against the problems which a national pledge fee would entail for them. For many years, Pi Beta Phi has been the only NPC fraternity without annual active dues and with a total payment by actives which is below the amount collected by other nationals for their combined initiation fees, other required payments, and annual dues. Apparently even Pi Beta Phi cannot meet greatly increased operational costs without some increase in active member payments, and a national pledge fee seems preferable to an increase in the initiation fee.

Pi Beta Phi's Settlement School, its memorial to its Founders and their gift to the fraternity, continues to deserve the place which it holds in the hearts of Pi Beta Phis. It is still a living memorial—one not static in its service but expanding and changing that service to meet changing needs and opportunities. Even with

the increased State aid which Tennessee now gives its schools, it would be impossible for Sevier County to maintain an accredited school system at Gatlinburg were it not for Pi Beta Phi's assuming full responsibility for the departments of music, art, physical education, wood work, and health. The relations between the community and the Settlement School are increasingly a cause for gratification, as the community becomes more articulate about its appreciation. The wonderfully effective and wise Settlement School Committee, working under the chairmanship of Ruth Barrett Smith and the treasurership of Olivia Smith Moore, has given the Fraternity unexcelled representation in all matters relating to the Settlement School. The Fraternity, this year, lost from the committee at the conclusion of five years of outstanding service, Eugenia Brooks Smith, whose successor is Nellis Hemple Gibson of the Baltimore Alumnæ Club. The fraternity can feel a very special pride in the summer workshop for handcrafters which is the result of co-operation between the University of Tennessee and the Settlement School and which is meaning a continent-wide constructive service to the cause of hand crafts and an equally wide-spread recognition for Pi Beta Phi as a leader in that field.

Holt House, the significant memorial to the founding of Pi Beta Phi, continues to delight all those, Pi Phis and non-Pi Phis, who are privileged to enjoy its warm and gracious hospitality. This expression of sentiment has nothing of sentimentality associated with it. It is a beautiful and worthy reminder of the days when our beloved Founders were college undergraduates, very like undergraduates of today, and when Pi Beta Phi had only one tiny chapter—the forerunner of the ninety-seven active chapters which today keep Pi Beta Phi first among fraternities.

The Harriet Johnstone Scholarships, which the 1948 Convention established, have had gratifying support from active chapters with the result that in 1949, the fraternity was able to grant five \$300 undergraduate scholarships. While improved economic conditions in Europe have resulted in a somewhat lessened need for help to children in war-torn countries, the hearts of Pi Beta Phis are still touched by individual instances of acute need and are warmed by the thought that they can bring happiness to little children whose lives are even yet filled with uncertainty, deprivation, and insecurity. Many Pi Phis, too, have become so attached to their little Pirkkos or Arnos that they are unwilling to lose touch with them even when actual crises are past. During the year 1949-50, eight active chapters and five alumnæ clubs gave full sponsorships and others shared children whose sponsorships had to come from a combination of small gifts. All in all, Pi Beta Phis contributed more than \$2300 to Save the Children, this year, and so strengthened the bonds of world friendship. One can only guess at the additional boxes of gifts and clothing which told of Pi Beta Phi thoughtfulness and generosity.

Pi Beta Phi's extension has continued to be consistent and conservative, as it has held to its accepted policy of taking no new group just for numbers, of accepting the petitions only of groups which have proved themselves capable of becoming strong chapters, and of keeping in touch with general extension trends and newly opening fields. The past year saw chapters installed at the University of Alabama, in response to the expressed wishes of the 1948 Convention, and at the San Diego State College and Santa Barbara College, campuses newly opened for nationalization. All new chapters are giving the fraternity distinguished representation on campuses of importance both now and for the future. The Grand President cannot refrain from expressing her interest in Phi Chi of Davis and Elkins College, which will petition this Convention. For the past several years she has known this group through correspondence and from those contacts she has developed an appreciation for Phi Chi and its college which makes her feel confident that they offer a true opportunity for wise Pi Beta Phi extension.

The regret which Pi Beta Phi feels at the decision of Goucher College that national fraternities may no longer maintain chapters on its campus is as great as is its pride in the long record of fine service to Goucher and to the fraternity by Pi Beta Phi actives and alumnæ of Maryland Alpha. What a comfort lies in the knowledge that being a Pi Beta Phi is a thing of life-long happiness!

The national awards for chapter and individual excellence will be announced at the Convention banquet. This year, for the first time, the Theta Province Award for Chapter Improvement, a handsome sterling silver bowl presented to the fraternity by Vera Lee Moss, former Theta Province President, will be announced. The Province winners of the Amy Burnham Onken awards are as follows:

Inken awards are as follows: Alpha East—Jean Ritchie, Vermont Beta. Alpha West—Carolyn Reamon, New York Gamma. Beta—Janet Monahan, Ohio Beta Gamma—Adeline Andrews, D.C. Alpha. Delta—Lou Ann Woelk, Michigan Gamma. Epsilon—Betty Stake, Missouri Beta. Zeta—Barbara Jean Morgan, Florida Beta. Eta—Janet Williams, Wisconsin Alpha. Theta—Janna Oppegaard, Minnesota Alpha. Iota—Eugenie Sampson, Nebraska Beta. Kappa—Betty Bollman, Texas Alpha. Lambda—Joan Mimnaugh, Oregon Alpha. Mu—Jacqueline Yarbrough, California Delta.

The Pi Beta Phi Graduate Fellowship for 1950-51 will be held by Dorothy Davis Randall, Missouri Gamma.

As Pi Beta Phi's delegate to National Panhellenic Conference, the Grand President has sincerely tried to make a constructive contribution to the cause of fraternities and to make evident always Pi Beta Phi's true Panhellenic interest. At present, she is serving as the Committee on Education and as the Contact Member for the National Council of Women of the United States. Her interest in City Panhellenics remains great even though pressure of work made it impossible for her to add membership on that committee to the other assignments so she feels a special pride in the several newly organized and affiliated City Panhellenics which are the result of the interest and effort of Pi Beta Phi alumnæ. At the special invitation of the chairmen of the Interfraternity Research and Advisory Council and the National Committee of College Fraternities and Societies, she attended the annual meetings of these two inter-Panhellnic groups, in April. The value of these groups and of the service which they give to colleges, fraternities, and honor societies is increasingly evident.

During the year, just ended, the Grand President has been privileged to install California Epsilon, California Zeta, and Alabama Beta and to enjoy cherished fellowship with the loyal local Pi Phis who

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

made each installation a rare and treasured fraternity experience. At the time of the Santa Barbara installa-tion, she was honored by the alumnæ clubs in the Los Angeles area at a Panhellenic tea whose beautiful decorative scheme of camellias was breathtaking and whose Pi Phi spirit was heartwarming. She was privileged at that time, too, to meet with the officers and the Executive Committee of the Los Angeles Alumnæ Club and to share their pleasure in a delightful luncheon given by its president, Ethel Hogan Copp; to have dinner with California Gamma; and to be very conscious of California Delta's warmth of hospitality. She has visited officially New York Alpha, Gamma, and Delta; Tennessee Alpha, Beta, and Gamma; Colorado Alpha; and Kentucky Alpha, and has loved her contacts with them and with their alumnæ. Because this would be the last Founders' Day for Maryland Alpha as an active chapter, Grand Council allowed the Grand President to accept that chapter's invitation to share its celebration and she gained a deep inspiration and pleasure from this opportunity to be with Maryland Alpha, the Baltimore alumnæ, and Maryland Beta and to be welcomed too by D.C. Alpha whose members she unfortunately didn't have an opportunity to see. She was the guest speaker at the Panhellenic Workshop at the Univer-sity of Tennessee and found it a most valuable and valued experience. A conflict in dates makes it impossible for her to accept an invitation to speak at the Phi Sigma Sigma convention, in June, but she will speak at the Panhellenic dinner in connection with the convention of Delta Sigma Epsilon, in Chicago, in August. These evidences of inter-fraternity friendship mean much to her, and she hopes to represent Pi Beta Phi acceptably. She found a deep pleasure in going to Kansas City for its beautiful Founders' Day banquet at which she shared an abiding inspiration with the Kansas City Alumnæ Club, members of other alumnæ clubs in the vicinity and practically the complete active chapters of Missouri Alpha, Missouri Gamma, Kansas Alpha, and Kansas Beta. There are no words to express the warmth of Pi Beta Phi hospitality or what it means in happiness for your Grand President.

May the Grand President, once again, express her deep appreciation for the heartening support and the real joy which have come to her in working closely with the national and province officers who have so endeared themselves to her and in knowing that back of them and of her have been the countless, equally devoted chapter and alumnæ club officers, the standing committee members, the alumnæ advisory committee members, and the faithful, individual actives and alumnæ whose constant hard work and loyalty are the true source of the fraternity's greatness. For these, for the opportunity to serve Pi Beta Phi, and for the privilege of being a part of a fraternity which so consciously strives towards its ideals of beautiful and purposeful living, she is increasingly grateful.

Respectfully submitted,

AMY BURNHAM ONKEN Grand President, Pi Beta Phi

### MESSAGE OF THE GRAND VICE-PRESIDENT

#### To the alumna of Pi Beta Phi:

AT THE National Panhellenic Conference last No-White's words "I enjoyed Yesterday, I love Today, I am not afraid of Tomorrow." In reviewing the work of the Alumnæ Department for the past two years we might well paraphrase those same words and say— We are proud of Yesterday, We worked for Today, We are planning for Tomorrow.

We ARE proud of yesterday. We are proud of the rich heritage which is ours in the high ideals which our Founders have given us, in the privilege of membership in the first national fraternity for women, and in the many other "firsts" which belong to Pi Beta Phi because of their vision, and the vision and leadership of those who have followed them. As for todaya review of the accomplishments of the past two years is convincing evidence that we HAVE worked. If we put first things first we must consider membership, for the measure of your success in interesting a large percentage of your membership is felt in so many other ways. Some one said "Your organization will take full advantage of its assets only when it keeps its full membership" as active members, and we are proud indeed to pay special tribute to our hundred percenters-four of them new clubs. They are: Oxford, Ohio; Southeastern Indiana; Shelbyville, In-diana; Lakeland, Florida; Pensacola, Florida; Avon, Illinois; Carthage, Illinois; Hutchinson, Kansas; Manhattan, Kansas; Lawrence, Kansas; Lake Charles, Louisiana; McAlester, Oklahoma; Midland, Texas; Osceola, Arkansas; Pauls Valley, Oklahoma; We-natchee, Washington; Solano County, California; and Roswell, New Mexico. It is of interest to note that for as far back as records are available the Lakeland, Florida Club has been 100% in membership!

Currently 118 clubs, not including the new ones, had an enlarged membership. Three more clubs have moved into the over 100 member category this year, making a total of 19, and Los Angeles continues to be in the over 200 group. The eleven provinces showing a gain are: Alpha East, Beta, Gamma, Delta, Epsilon, Zeta, Eta, Iota, Kappa, Lambda, and Mu.

Some of these gains can be attributed to the thirtyone clubs chartered in the two year interim, sixteen of them becoming actively participating groups this year. We welcomed into the fraternity the following alumnae clubs: Midland, Texas, with twenty-four members; Centinela Valley, California, with twenty-four members; Roswell, New Mexico, with eleven members; Amarillo, Texas, with thirty-six members; Lexington, Kentucky, with twelve members; Klamath Falls, Oregon, with twelve members; Pensacola, Florida, with nineteen members; The Palm Beaches, Florida, with fifteen members; Lubbock, Texas, with fourteen members; Solano County, California, with ten members; Sioux Falls, South Dakota, with ten members; Springfield, Ohio, with sixteen members; and Lake County, Florida, with thirteen members.

But unfortunately we must take four steps backward with the loss of our four clubs at the end of this year—Northern Indiana; Crowley Ridge, Arkansas; El Dorado, Arkansas; and Rio Grande Valley, Texas, so that we end the year with 241 clubs on our roster.

A great many clubs indicate their concern over their inability to enlist as active members a larger percent of the resident alumnæ. This is not a new problem, and we strive constantly to find the answer. We have wondered if part of the fault has not been in the kind of training, or lack of it, we give our active members. This year this became the topic for one of the required Pi Phi Night programs. The chapter chairmen were asked to send their reports to this office and the best one was selected from among them by a committee headed by Emilie Margaret White, former Grand Vice-President; and working with her was Nell Anderson Spruce, former Gamma Province President and Vice-President, and Beatrice Tait Trussell, past president of the Washington Alumnæ Club and member of the Maryland Beta Alumnæ Advisory Committee. The award goes to Oregon Gamma chapter.

These reports show an awakening to the problem, and offer such suggestions as more frequent contacts with alumnæ for more purely social occasions, alumnæ sponsors for pledges, a fuller knowledge of what alumnæ clubs do, interchange of actives at alumnæ club meetings, and alumnæ at active chapter meetings, and newsletters with an alumnæ section.

This year 868 seniors paid alumnæ dues, and it is to be hoped that this program will have stimulated their desire to affiliate with their local club and that the clubs will go out of their way to welcome them and find a place for them to serve their fraternity as alumnæ members.

The companion of membership is attendance. The best way to keep attendance high is by having set dates for meetings so that time can be set aside for them with fewer resulting conflicts of obligations. Programs should be planned to appeal actively to all age and interest groups. Material for two of the required meetings was sent out from Central Office this year-one written by the National Historian dealing with the 1888 Convention, and the other written by Marjorie Chalmers, nurse at the Settlement School, giving a word picture of a typical day at the School Health Center, Both of these were used extensively by a large majority of the clubs, and a desire has been expressed for more of this type of program aids. The Year Books received from 148 clubs showed variety in program, and ingenuity in make up. Founders' Day programs in Tacoma and Honolulu had added meaning for their members in that they had as speakers children of Founders. Cleon Soule, son of Inez Smith Soule was the guest of the Tacoma Club, and Mrs. Martin Anderson, daughter of Libbie Brook Gaddis, was the guest of the Honolulu Pi Phis.

The real work for the fraternity came with support given to the projects of Pi Beta Phi. The words of praise for our Settlement School spoken at the meeting of National Panhellenic Conference last fall still ring in our ears and make one realize that the first philanthropic project of any NPC group remains first. Eight clubs contributed over \$200.00 to the Settle-

Eight clubs contributed over \$200.00 to the Settlement School. For the fourth consecutive year St. Louis has given \$1,000.00. Other high contributors are Philadelphia, Pennsylvania giving \$500.00; Kansas City, Missouri, and Cleveland East, Ohio each \$300.00; Milwaukee, Wisconsin \$225.00; Lafayette, Indiana \$203.51; and Denver, Colorado and Indianapolis, Indiana \$200.00.

A number of clubs remembered the School at special times during the year. Many boxes of toys, candies, and clothing were received at Christmas time, and helped to make this special day one of happiness for the children. Cincinnati continued its annual custom of sending a box of athletic equipment. Westchester again used meeting time to sew on layettes for the Health Center. Other clubs sent books for the Grace Goodhue Coolidge Library, money for the purchase of records for the music appreciation programs, and maps for class work. The Memorial Fund has had an even wider appeal for those who like living memorials and gifts of remembrance.

Another year, another increase for the business of the Magazine Agency—that most painless of all ways of earning money for the School. Total commissions realized on magazine sales for the year amounted to \$10,724.69 earned by subscriptions sent in by 210 clubs and 89 chapters. Congratulations to the following winners of the sales contest;

#### For highest total commissions

Dallas, Texas Alumnæ Club, Mrs. Chester R. Cole, Chairman, commissions \$457.22 Maryland Beta, Letitia Earll, Chairman, commissions \$154.50

## For highest per capita commissions

San Jose, California, Miss Ida Karsten, Chairman, commissions per capita \$6.60 Maryland Beta, Letitia Earll, Chairman, commissions per capita \$3.96

#### For greatest percentage increase

Mobile, Alabama, Mrs. R. W. Deshon, Chairman, percent of increase 12,833.33% Alabama Beta, Beverly Goodwin, Chairman, percent of increase 12,833.33%

There were many more Arrowcraft sales this year with 74 of them realizing a larger gross profit than last year. Of this number 9 paid Arrowcraft over \$1,000.00 after deducting their 25% profit. They are as follows: Houston, Texas; Champaign-Urbana, Illinois; Portland, Oregon; Albuquerque, New Mexico; Marin County, California; Denver, Colorado; Cleveland East, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; and Omaha, Nebraska.

Several sales were unique in their approach. One club held their sale in conjunction with a benefit square dance, another displayed and sold the products in the lobby of a theater during a benefit performance. Invitations to place downtown window displays were accepted in several instances. A few clubs have changed from a fall pre-Christmas sale to one in the spring that might also be used as rushing-some have both. Arrowcraft not only has invitations for such sales available for club use at a small fee, but this year have added posters which may be used to pub-licize their sale. Pre-sale meetings have been held as refresher courses for our members so that they might be able not only to answer questions, but to be ambassadors of good will for the School, and in a larger sense for the fraternity system, in letting non-fraternity people know that we are not a purely social organization.

We wonder if we fully realize what a tremendous value this sort of publicity has had for Pi Beta Phi over the years. One club in searching for a local project interviewed a professional social worker about possibilities, only to be asked why they were even thinking of another project when they had their own Settlement School. Her comments about the School were so full of praise for the nature and calibre of our service that the club gave up any idea of a local project and turned their efforts to support of our own already established one.

We can best sum up our work for the Settlement School by repeating the words of Elizabeth Clarke Helmick, an early Committee Chairman as she spoke at the Washington, D.C. Founders' Day luncheon this year. She said "Dreams can come true." The Holt House film, which has circulated among the clubs has increased the knowledge of and appreciation for this possession of the fraternity. Twenty-four clubs increased their donation while others gave their customary amounts. This year there have been many fewer token gifts. Iowa City, Iowa, and Kansas City, Missouri, led the fraternity in their gifts of \$50.00 each.

This is the second year that the Emma Harper Turner Fund has been included in the three projects for 100% recognition for clubs. The growing appreciation for this project with its two fold purpose of assisting chapters with their building programs through loans, and of extending a helping hand to those in special need by means of gifts to them out of the fund built up by interest on the chapter house loans is evidenced by the fact that forty clubs increased their donations. Special mention should go to St. Louis for their gift of \$350.00; to Kansas City, Missouri for \$100.00; to Portland, Oregon and Berkeley, California for \$50.00; and to the following clubs for their contributions of \$25.00 each, Columbus, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Washington, D.C. Senior Club; Detroit, Michigan; San Mateo, and Los Angeles, California.

The following provinces were 100% in support of these projects: Alpha-East, Beta, Delta, Theta, Iota, Lambda, and Mu.

This record for our three projects is all the more amazing in view of the authorized campaign for funds for the proposed Home for Pi Beta Phis. Gifts to this fund have come from individuals contacted by local chairmen for the drive as well as actual club gifts earned by the project method. Some clubs are holding funds earmarked for later contributions. Clubs sending \$200.00 or more are as follows; Long Beach, California \$774.90; Glendale, California \$683.30; North Shore, Illinois Senior \$600.00; San Fernando, California \$500.00; Chicago South, Illinois \$460.00; Cleveland East, Ohio \$350.00; Pasadena, California \$350.00; Omaha, Nebraska \$250.00; Oak Park-River Forest, Illinois \$200.00; Minneapolis Afternoon, Minnesota, \$200.00; and Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, \$200.00.

Comment about this phase of fraternity work would not be complete without words of high praise for the Committee of Five composed of members of the two Cleveland clubs—a job inherited from the last Convention—so ably guided by Mary Wallihan Gibson. Enough cannot be said for the work of the members of the two Cleveland clubs, who worked with this Committee in stuffing, stamping, and sealing the more than 35,000 brochures which went out, telling of the proposed home and enlisting support for it. The work of this Committee has been supplemented by the Committee of Forty. These clubs were designated by last convention and the clubs in turn selected the person to serve. These members have followed up the appeal of the brochure.

Interest in our work through the Save the Children Federation continues. Many clubs and chapters have held partial or full sponsorships and have further added to the care and comfort of these children and their families by the food and clothing sent them. The following clubs have contributed sufficient amounts to hold full sponsorships: Champaign-Urbana, Illinois; Honolulu, T.H.; North Shore, Illinois, Senior; Oak Park-River Forest, Illinois, and Tulsa, Oklahoma. Berkeley, California has given more than enough to care for two children for one year.

Space does not permit a review of, or even extended comment about the number or kind of local projects carried on or supported by our clubs. There are those giving money, others volunteering time and effort, while some give both. These, like our Settlement School sales, are good public relations, to say nothing of the joy one feels in the doing.

Our greatest delight is our work with and for our chapters-in helping with rushing, in serving on Advisory Committees and House Corporations, in helping raise funds for building or repairing or just adding some item of furniture or equipment, but most of all in just knowing them for the fine young women they are, and taking pride in their accomplishments, and the honor they bring to Pi Beta Phi. Per-haps the two significant gifts to chapters are the \$1,000.00 given by Junior Groups—if you please to Texas Beta by the Dallas group, and to Indiana Epsilon by the Indianapolis group. A special mark of interest in the active chapters is the awarding of the Buth Barrett Smith Scholarship to an undergraduate by the Alumnæ Department. This is the third year this award has been made and goes to Cheryl Bastian, Ohio Delta, for 1950-51.

No less important but falling into a more regular pattern in the plans of clubs is the celebration of Chapter Loyalty Day, and the recognition and honoring of our members of The Order of The Golden Arrow. As Grand Council went over the applications for the Harriet Johnston Scholarships they were touched by the fine quality of the girls and the rep-resentation which they make for Pi Beta Phi on their campuses. It seemed an idea for the future that individuals or clubs might express loyalty to their chapters on Chapter Loyalty Day by remembering this fund which makes possible the continuation of education for a number of girls whose service to their chapters might otherwise be lost.

It is a matter of considerable pride that our alum-næ continue to fill positions of leadership in City Panhellenic affairs, and have in many instances been the instigators and leaders in organizing new City Panhellenic groups. The day when we can go our way alone has long since passed, and it is fitting that the pioneer among fraternities for women should find its members working diligently in an organization that contributes to the preservation and strengthening of the whole fraternity system.

In our report last year we spoke of the financial problems of the Alumnæ Department. These same problems must be a part of the report of this year.

It was hoped that an increase in the number of paid members might alleviate the condition, but the difference between income and expenses continue to be such that it leaves no choice but the recommendations which are being presented to Convention by Grand Council.

The Province Vice-Presidents have made the majority of their club visits this year, and it is gratifying to see the impetus in effort which these personal contacts give to both the clubs and the officers. We wish to speak a warm word of praise for each alumnæ club officer, and the manner in which she has fulfilled the duties of her office. We urge especially that plans for instructing and training new officers be a part of the summer planning of every club. Only in such a way can we be assured of continuity and growth. The same words of praise go to the Province Vice-Presidents. It is through their eyes that your Grand Vice-President and the other members of Grand Council see the individual parts that go to make up the Alumnæ Department.

We were greatly disappointed that the Flu germs kept us from visits with Pennsylvania B and  $\Gamma$  and Ohio E and several alumnæ clubs in Beta Province. The pleasure of knowing and being with Ohio A, B, A, Z, and West Virginia A and alumnæ clubs in Athens and Columbus, Ohio made us regret the more this necessary cancellation of our plans. We are grateful to the Grand Secretary, Mrs. Carson, for making these visits for us on short notice.

We enjoyed the privilege of attending the National Panhellenic Conference last fall, the informal contacts with D.C. A, Maryland B, and Indiana  $\Gamma$ , and were honored to have had a small part in the final Founders' Day Banquet of Maryland A.

In all of these ways we have worked for Today. And now we are planning for Tomorrow, If each club would examine its own record and then consider the question "What kind of an Alumnæ Department would we have if every club was just like ours?" we need have no concern for the future. Many of the plans for Tomorrow will come out of the decisions of this Convention. May these deliberations, then, be marked by the same wisdom and foresight that guided our Founders so that when Tomorrow becomes the past we may continue to say—We are proud of Yesterday. MARIANNE REID WILD, Grand Vice-President

### GRAND SECRETARY

ANOTHER fraternity year has come to an end and the accumulating reports begin to bring its record into focus. Pi Beta Phi with its ninety-seven chapters, its two hundred and forty-one alumnæ clubs and its membership of almost fifty thousand could seem to the uninitiated too large to be personal in any way. But this is not true. The most satisfying thing about membership in the fraternity is the constant awareness of the individual and, about working in the fraternity, the awareness of the attitude which the individual takes toward her responsibility to the fraternity.

The Grand Secretary begins the fraternity year with a memory of Grand Council at work as she records the proceedings of the annual meeting. And she closes the year with a study of chapters and clubs at work as she receives the annual reports. One cannot read the ninety-seven reports of the Convention delegates and not be proud of the record of Pi Beta Phi chapters in the year 1949-50. At almost the same time the

applications for the Harriet Rutherford Johnstone scholarships have been arriving and again, in the Pi Phi active, we see individual charm, loyalty, service, and scholastic performance-special qualities which seem to mark the wearers of the Arrow on the campuses of our continent. From a third direction have come to the Secretary the reports of national officers and chairmen, setting down their accounts of chapters and clubs. The Pi Phi must read these reports in the ARROW, carefully, if she would know her fraternity as she should, and if she does she will be very proud. The record written there is not an account of the accomplishment of the fraternity's large corps of volunteer workers, although they have had a share in it, but of the day by day performance of every club and every chapter and of their able and devoted membership.

Letters to Alumnæ Advisory Committees have been written throughout the year and the annual questionnaire was sent out in January. A preliminary study of replies has been made as they have been returned and the fine cooperation of many in the personal and helpful tone of the completed report has been deeply appreciated. We have almost five hundred women engaged in this close association with our chapters and no one can estimate the hours of service and the importance of the guidance given by these loyal alumnæ. In many instances the delegates to Convention have spoken their recognition and appreciation of the faithfulness of alumnæ service and devotion.

There have been five chapters in the fraternity this year which have been under the special supervision provided by Grand Council through the Secretary for a period of two years. Washington Gamma and Tennessee Gamma have completed their orientation period and are no longer fledglings. These two chapters have tried their wings and, especially in scholarship, they have lifted them above chapters very much older and more experienced. Alabama B and California E have ended their first year and California Z, one semester. The Alabama B chapter is a new group, colonized by Pi Beta Phi, while the California chap-ters are in the process of making the transition from strong, long-established locals into the national fraternity. Regular contact has been established with the chapter president, the special supervisor and the chair-man of the Alumnæ Advisory Committee of these five chapters and a clear picture of each has been maintained through their faithful correspondence. Each group has made progress and will start out in the fall with full assurance.

The Grand Secretary has the privilege of working with the national chairman of the Music, Fraternity Study and Examination, Social Exchange, Chaperon, Transfer and Scholarship Committees. In each case the chairman is experienced in her assignment, having served long enough to know what she wants to do and how to promote her own project. Thus our work together has proved to be less of serious consultation and, more, of mutual encouragement. The material sent out by these chairmen has been studied and their reports and suggestions have been carefully considered. Here, too, if you will read the brief reports of these chairmen you will find a new understanding of detail and results in fields of real value to the fraternity and often little known.

For instance, is there a realization that major emphasis has been placed upon good scholarship throughout the whole fraternity world and that Pi Beta Phi has continued her long-time policy of great emphasis, under a very hard-working chairman? And, the awareness of the widespread development of competitive Song Contests, which have become almost universal, challenging chapters to provide trained leadership and good group singing? And, is there the knowledge that the fraternity keeps track of the individual Pi Phi who leaves her original campus; has developed an extensive program of sharing interesting and successful party, decoration and celebration ideas; keeps a record of chaperons, giving guidance in their duties and relations with chapter and campus, and a reference list of available applicants; and that it studies continually to make the active and pledge examinations really effective toward an informed membership?

The Grand Secretary has kept track of, and arranged for, the moving of the national trophies according to the awards made; has sent out the Cipher and Key as needed; has corresponded with applicants and winners of the Harriet Rutherford Johnstone scholarships, and, fulfilled the recording and correspondence duties of her office.

It was a very great pleasure to accept the assignment to Alpha East Province this year and to visit its seven interesting chapters. The gracious hospitality of these chapters and their Advisory Committees is remembered very gratefully, as is the pleasure in the fellowship enjoyed in the Hartford Alumnæ Club and at their City Panhellenic tea. Regretting the illness of Mrs. Wild and the loss to the chapters of her special helpfulness, it was good to be with Pennsylvania Beta and Gamma chapters once again. The Founders' Day celebration with the Bucknell chapter and the Central Pennsylvania Alumnæ Club is a happy memory.

This officer was asked to make the inspection visit for Grand Council at Davis and Elkins and enjoyed her contacts with the petitioning group and the administration. The understanding of inter-fraternity problems and inter-fraternity cooperation which comes from attendance at the biennial meeting of the National Panhellenic Conference is invaluable and the one at Skytop, Pennsylvania was no exception in training. A key-note talk before the Bethany College Panhellenic in their first workshop gave opportunity to serve.

The Grand Secretary is deeply grateful for the opportunity of serving her fraternity and of enjoying the precious privilege of many associations, happy and inspiring.

> LUCILE DOUGLASS CARSON Grand Secretary

## ARROW EDITOR

This year has been one of much interest and much hard work for the ARROW Editor!

We were confronted with the necessity of reducing expenditures, and since printing costs continued to be high, this meant a reduction in the already small number of pages of the ARROW—small, that is, in proportion to the quantity of material that comes in about Pi Phis who are doing things. Adequately to present, or rather, to represent the Fraternity and its doings, would take at least 128 pages. Instead we used 96 pages in December and March, with a rise to 112 pages made necessary for the May issue by the publication of the usual section of pictures of social honor girls—it was interesting that the pictures used were those which came in from well-instructed corresponding secretaries who had read their manuals and complied with them—no special request was sent out, since we knew it would be impossible to use all the pictures it would have called forth. As it was, the task of cutting down the May issue was very difficult, and in the end we were forced to use 112 pages, since to have cut to 96 pages would have required the omission either of the picture section, or of the alumnæ club letters. If further cuts must be made for another year, they can only be made by using chapter and alumnæ letters only once a year for each—each letter to be made a brief record of the doings of the entire year. Pictures in the feature section, too, have been sacrificed and the magazine would have been less attractive had it not been for the generosity of Mr. Paul Busey, National Auditor and good friend, whose double hobby of photography and Jasper National Park led him to make the ARROW a present of not only the pictures but also the expense of making the cuts which made beautiful the December and May issues, while for the March issue the cuts with the Convention section were supplied by the Canadian National Railway, which has been most cooperative.

In return for Mr. Busey's generosity, we made him Convention photographic editor of the ARROW, and he has great plans for supervising all picture taking for Convention, cooperating with the official photographer of Jasper Lodge. Mr. Busey's lovely colored slides of Jasper were in such demand that he has kept four sets of them circulating all this year, and our people have been charmed with them.

The amount of this year's saving in costs will appear in the report of the Grand Treasurer.

For the past two years we have used two grades of paper in the ARROW, with the object of having the best pictures appear on paper of fine finish which allows for the clearest reproduction of cuts. At its meeting last summer in Decatur Grand Council voted to place the Directory pages, 17 pages of them, at the front of the magazine, and in consequence those routine pages appeared on the good paper, with a corresponding reduction of the pages which allow the best reproduction. We are looking for a solution of this problem, as the use of the more expensive paper is impossible for the entire issue with our present revenues.

It is with pleasure that we can announce that a fraternity Directory will be issued within this year, but with regret must say that owing to a ruling of the Post Office Department, this cannot go out as an issue of the Arrow to all of our 40,600 subscribers. After competitive bidding, the contract for print-ing the large volume which this will mean, even with only two sections, geographical and alphabetical, has been let to the George Banta Publishing Company, whose bid was the lowest, and whose work for the ARROW is outstanding. Central Office has been working on the material for the Directory all this year, gathering data and training personnel in the operation of the new machines. The printing will be done by an entirely new process, using the veritype machines to set the pages, and the offset presses for printing them, with a considerable saving over old methods of typesetting. The Directory will be issued to all those who have had the cost of a Directory included in their initiation fee but have never received a Directory issue; to all chapters; to all alumnæ clubs; to all officers for their official files. For all other members the Directory will be on sale at Central Office, the price \$2.00 covering the bare cost.

It is with regret that the Editor hears that Lorraine Peters, National Director of Publicity is resigning. Her work has been outstanding, her releases interesting and welcomed by clubs and chapters.

The Editor's contacts with the National Historian and her assistant have been an inspiration as always. Mrs. Simmons has her office splendidly organized, her material accessible and well-protected—but more than that she brings to it a real love for fraternity history and tradition and a real desire to do careful research on doubtful points which come up in connection with the early history. She has besides done excellent service in visiting clubs on their invitation, giving talks on the history in an always charming and interesting manner. Her assistant, Mrs. Delaney, has her files of chapter histories well organized, but they are outgrowing all possibility of storing them indefinitely. The subject was discussed, and the Editor's conclusion is that some new plan must be devised for taking care of this storage problem—perhaps to have chapter historians prepare along with their histories a brief resume of the year, no more than a page, to be kept in the national files for possible future reference —the original of the History to be returned to the chapter for its files when the national competition has been decided. The Editor recommends that some such plan be discussed by Grand Council.

This year has been made a very full and happy one by the work of supervision of California E with never a dull moment, and very few idle ones! It has been fascinating to watch the development of the new chapter. Their cooperation has been fine, her association with them a joy. A new and larger room has been secured, and will be furnished and equipped during the summer. This Spring the editor has tried more and more to make the chapter and advisory board independent of her, and will continue that policy for the second year of her work.

The meeting of the Editors' Conference at the time of NPC was interesting as usual, and the enlargement of its numbers along with the new members of NPC brought new viewpoints that were worthwhile.

Last summer was spent in preparation for the installation of California E, with Miss Onken's visit to install the new chapter as its climax. It was a privilege, too, to attend the installation of California Z in February, again as assistant to Miss Onken.

During the Spring chapter visits were made to Utah A (which has been under the special supervision of the Editor for the past year), and to Arkansas A, Oklahoma A and B, Louisiana A and B, Texas A and B. A schedule complicated by varying dates of Spring vacations made it impossible to accept several alumnæ club invitations in Kappa Province, but it was a pleasure to have luncheon with the Fayetteville club; a dinner in Tulsa with a group of alum-næ; a dinner and evening with Stillwater alumnæ; dinner in Oklahoma City with a large group; Founders' Day luncheon with the Texarkana Club; luncheon and Founders' Day dinner with the new club in Bryan-College Station; dinner in Austin at Dorothy Thrasher's with 200 chapter and alumnæ club mem-bers; Founders' Day with Fort Worth club; and finally Founders' Day with the Dallas club, at the Dallas Country Club with more than 200 present. All these visits were made happy by the wonderful spirit and loyalty of these Pi Phis-for all this the Editor is grateful.

We are grateful, too, to all who have helped the ARROW during this busy year; to the faithful ARROW staff; to Grand Council for its unfailing support; to Harold Bachmann of the Banta Publishing company for much fine work this year.

It is a privilege as always to have served Pi Beta Phi.

ADELE TAYLOR ALFORD

### REPORT OF THE GRAND TREASURER

**B**ESIDES duties directly connected with finance, and correspondence in regard to loans and fraternity matters, the Grand Treasurer visited the six chapters of Zeta Province the last two weeks in October, attended the N.P.C. meeting at Skytop, Pennsylvania in November and visited Colorado B the first of May. It was her good fortune to represent the fraternity at the Centennial celebration of the founding of the University of Utah in Salt Lake the last of February and while there she was entertained by Utah A and its Alumnæ Advisory Committee, and during the year she met with the following alumnæ clubs: Birmingham, Atlanta, Orlando, Northern New Jersey, and Fort Collins.

The letter about national finances for Parents of Actives and Pledges was revised, a letter was written in the fall to chapter treasurers, and a statement written on Instructions on Finance for National Committees handling money. In January a letter was sent to all Canadian chapters and alumnæ clubs calling attention to directions concerning Canadian fees and contributions. It has been a privilege to serve the fraternity.

My records for the year have been reviewed by Ernst & Ernst, Certified Public Accountants, and the contents of their REPORT OF EXAMINATION AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA is reproduced on pages 45-53.

> Respectfully submitted, LOLITA S. PROUTY

Grand Council Pi Beta Phi Fraternity Office of Grand Treasurer Denver, Colorado

WE HAVE examined the balance sheet of the Grand Treasurer of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity as of July 31, 1950, and the statements of fund transactions for the year then ended. Our examination was made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and accordingly included such tests of the accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary in their circumstances.

In prior years, deficits incurred by the Alumnæ Fund and the ARROW Publication Fund were absorbed by the Contingent Fund. It is now the policy to allow the deficits in these two funds to remain as such. In addition, the July 31, 1949, deficit, \$4,481.99, of the Alumnæ Fund was transferred from the Contingent Fund back to the Alumnæ Fund.

In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related statements of fund transactions present fairly the position of the Grand Treasurer of Pi Beta Phi Fraternity at July 31, 1950, and the changes in fund balances for the year then ended, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles applied, except as stated in the above paragraph, on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

ERNST & ERNST Certified Public Accountants

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

August 29, 1950

### BALANCE SHEET

#### July 31, 1950 ASSETS

ASSETS		
General and Special Funds Cash	\$ 24,965.42	
Cash Notes and accounts receivable: Student notes Investment income due from trustees 3,913.65	11,235.65	
Investments: Bonds and stocks—at cost (approximate market value, \$101,998.85)\$104,062.10 Interest coupons maturing August 1, 1950		
\$104,074.60 Chapter house mortgages	223,567.15	
Holt House property	13,228.86	
Fund balances—deficits: Alumnæ Fund ARROW Publication Fund Convention Fund 	28,328.80	\$ 301,325.88
Endowment Fund	\$ 26,239.07	
Uninvested principal cash Investments: Bonds-at cost (approximate market value, \$701,742.11)	\$ 20,239.07	
Chapter House mortgages	825,498.22	10.00
Due from general funds	21,710.22	873,447.51
Agency Funds Investment in United States Government obligations: Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-58—at cost (approximate market value, \$38,868.00) Interest coupons maturing August 1, 1950 \$41,000.00 \$41,512.50		
Series F Savings Bonds-at cost plus increment	\$ 42,374.65	
Due from general funds	512.50	42,887.15
		\$1,217,660.54
LIABILITIES		
General and Special Funds		
Accounts payable: Pay roll taxes and deductions	\$ 441.73	
Due endowment funds	21,710,22 512.50	
For specific purposes:       \$ 53,564.74         Emma Harper Turner Memorial Building Fund       \$ 53,564.74         Chapter House Building Fund       18,564.26         Friendship Endowment Fund—no change during year       50,682.38         Student Loan Fund       33,554.69         Emma Harper Turner Memorial Income Fund       30,653.36         Harriett Johnstone Scholarship Fund       2,067.50         Directory Fund—Central Office       3,722.68         Alummæ Convention Fund       496.00         Alummæ Convention Fund Reserve       12,725.74		
Holt House Property Fund—no change during year       \$201,131.35         13,228.86       64,301.22	278,661.43	\$ 301,325.88
Endowment Funds         Income designated for restricted purposes:         ARROW Endowment Fund         Settlement School Endowment Fund         Fellowship Endowment Fund         ARROW Life Membership Endowment Fund         20,300.00         Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Fund         260.00	\$693,507.76	
General Endowment Fund	179,939.75	873,447.51
Agency Funds		42,887.15
		\$1,217,660.54

### FUND STATEMENTS Year ended July 31, 1950

## EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL BUILDING FUND

EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL BUILDING FUND	
Balance at August 1, 1949 Contributions	\$51,830.50
Balance at July 31, 1950	
CHAPTER HOUSE BUILDING FUND	
Balance at August 1, 1949 Interest received on chapter house mortgages	\$17,863.48 700.78
Balance at July 31, 1950	
STUDENT LOAN FUND	
Balance at August 1, 1949	\$43,335.82
Income: Interest	198.87
Transfer to Fellowship Endowment Fund	\$43,534.69 10,000.00
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$33,534.69
EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL INCOME FUND	
Balance at August 1, 1949	\$ 1,735.05
Incomer	• 1,133,03
Interest on chapter house mortgages	2,600.31
Authorized disbursements to members of the Fraternity	\$ 4,335.36 1,270.00
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$ 3,065.36
HARRIETT JOHNSTONE SCHOLARSHIP FUND	
Balance at July 31, 1949 Contributions \$1,002.50 Transfer from Contingent Fund 900.00	\$ 1,665.00 1,902.50
Scholarships granted	\$ 3,567.50 1,500.00
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$ 2,067.50
Balance at August 1, 1949	
income nois initiation rees construction of the construction of the construction of the	4,484.00
Transfer to Directory Fund-Central Office for work on directory	\$27,708.00
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$22,708.00
DIRECTORY FUND—CENTRAL OFFICE	
Transfer from Directory Fund	\$ 5,000,00
Expenditures:	\$ 5,000,00
Salaries         \$3,446.25           Postage         10.00           Equipment         1,231.15           Pay roll tax         17.23	4,704.63
Cash transferred from Directory Fund during 1949 and unexpended at the beginning of this year	\$ 295.37 3,427.31
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$ 3,722.68

ALUMNÆ CONVENTION FUND		Section.
Balance at August 1, 1949		\$ 9,735.12
Income: Alumnæ dues	9.834.00	
Transfer of amounts from Alumnæ Convention Fund Reserve which had been reserved for clubs now defunct	306.00	10,140.00
		\$19,875,12
Expenditures and transfers: Transfer to Alumnæ Convention Fund Reserve for 1950 convention expenses	19,329.12 50.00	19,379.12
Balance at July 31, 1950		\$ 496.00
ALUMNÆ CONVENTION FUND RESERVE		
Belance at August 1, 1949		\$ 5,372.00 19,329.12
		\$24,701.12
Expenditures and transfers: Disbursements to alumnæ clubs for use in defraying delegate expenses Transfer to Alumnæ Convention Fund of amounts reserved for clubs now defunct—to be redistributed	11,669.38 306.00	11,975.38
Balance at July 31, 1950		\$12,725.74
STATEMENT OF CONTINGENT FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1949		\$53,669.72
Income:		
Initiation fees Interest and dividends on investments Jewelry and stationery Commissions Chapter and club supplies Song books Fines Profit on sale of securities Sundry	8,750.04 5,842.60 1,124.19 1,136.75 212.00 191.50	40,472.65
		\$94,142.37
Expenses: Central office expenses Chapter expense, including installation Traveling expenses Office and officers' expenses Salaries Legal expenses Fellowship award Committee expense Holt House expense Insurance Pay roll taxes Unclassified	4,278.82 5,216.69 5,812.11 2,874.00 1,695.87 500.00 113.63 855.90 137.50 80.35	32,973.14
Transfers:		\$61,169.23
From the Alumnæ Fund—Note A To the Harriett Johnstone Scholarship Fund To the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Income Fund		3,131.99
Balance at July 31, 1950		\$64,301.22
Note A-By action of the Grand Council in 1950, the deficit in the Alumnæ Fund, which had b tingent Fund at July 31, 1949, was charged back to the Alumnæ Fund.	een charged	to the Con-
ALUMNÆ FUND		
Balance at August 1, 1949		\$ -
Income: Alumnæ dues Senior dues		10,955.00
	1,121.00	
Expenditures:		\$10,955.00
Central Office expenses	11,084.93 8,462.45 1,448.63	

Scholarship Insurance	300.00	21,344.76
Transfer hereto by action of Grand Council of deficit at July 31, 1949, which had been charged to		\$10,389.76*
the Contingent Fund at that date		4,481.99
Deficit at July 31, 1950		\$14,871.75*

48 THE SEPTEMBER ARRO	w		
ARROW PUBLICATION FUND			
Balance as of August 1, 1949		÷ *	\$ -
Income: Interest on endowment fund investments Initiation fees Interest on chapter house mortgages Chapter ArRow file Advertising Arrows	•••••	6,726.00 871.51 240.00 539.20	20,561.47
			\$20,561.47
Expenses: Publication—Banta Publishing Company Editor's salary and office expense Binding current volume of Arrow Central office expense	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	676.83	25,773.78
Deficit at July 31, 1950-Note A			\$ 5,212.31*
Note A-In previous years, it has been the policy of the Fratemity to charge defi Contingent Fund. This was changed by action of the Grand Council in 1950 and Contingent Fund. * Denotes negative amount.	cits in the Ari d the deficit is	row Publicatio s not to be ab	n Fund to the sorbed by the
CONVENTION FUND			
Balance at August 1, 1949 Income:		÷.,	\$22,162.18
Initiation fees		\$11,210.00	16,531.66
			\$38,693.84
Expenditures: Grand Trunk Railway—Note A Less amounts charged to the Alumnæ Fund	\$29,000.00 3,145.74	\$25,854.26	
Hotel accommodations Province chapter presidents' conference expenses Sundry travel expenses Badges Surety bond	***********	1,231.85	46,938.58
Deficit at July 31, 1950			\$ 8,244.74*
SAVE THE CHILDREN FUND			
Balance at August 1, 1949 Income from contributions			\$ 198.00
			\$ 198.00
Expenditures: For Save the Children Federation sponsorships Foreign exchange charges—Canadian contributions		\$ 197.85	100.00
Balance at July 31, 1950			198.00 \$
Note A-Final accounting for this advance for tickets has not been submitted by the advance may exceed costs by approximately \$2,000.00. Upon receipt of refund, c * Denotes negative amount.	the Railway C redit will be p	ompany. Based assed to this F	on estimates, und.
STATEMENT OF ENDOWMENT FUND	s		
Balance at August 1, 1949 Add:			\$817,066.42
Initiation fees: Arrow Endowment Mortgage Fund General Endowment Fund	. 11,210.00	\$44,840.00	
Settlement School payment to its endowment fund Transfer from Student Loan Fund to Fellowship Endowment Fund ARROW Endowment Fund income cash paid to Alumnæ Life Membership Endow		1,600.65	
Profit on sale of securities:	• •	75.00	
Arrow Endowment Fund Settlement School Endowment Fund	\$ 118.91 . 104.90	223.81	56,739.46
			\$873,805,88

### STATEMENT OF AGENCY FUNDS

Balance at August 1, 1949	\$42,873.15
Add: Interest from California Alpha securities \$1,025.00 Increment in value of other securities 24.00	0 1,049.00
	\$43,922,15
Deduct: California Alpha scholarships granted	0 1,035.00
Balance at July 31, 1950	\$42,887.15
AGENCY FUND BALANCES	
California Alpha—Principal	\$42,025.00

California Alpha-Income	 1,025.00
Maine Alpha	

#### SCHEDULES

#### CASH-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

Demand deposits: Denver National Bank, Denver, Colorado Royal Bank of Canada, Grain Exchange Branch, Winnipeg, Manitoba—in Canadian Funds National Bank of Decatur, Decatur, Illinois—for Central Office expenses Milliken National Bank, Decatur, Illinois—for Directory Fund—Central Office	1,203.56 2,677.80 3,722.68
	\$24,965.42

#### INVESTMENT INCOME DUE FROM TRUSTEES-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago, First Trust Company, Lincoln, Nebraska	Illinois
	\$3,913.65

#### BONDS AND STOCKS-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

	Par or	1.5.1	Market or Redemption
<b>n</b> 1	Face Value	Cost	Value
Bonds			
United States Government obligations:			
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-55         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-56         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-56         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-56         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-56         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-56         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-58         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-58         Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-59         Treasury Bonds, 27% %—1955/60         Treasury Bonds, 27% %—1955/70	$\begin{array}{c} 1,000.00\\ 10,000.00\\ 5,000.00\\ 5,000.00\\ 10,000.00\\ 11,000.00\\ 15,000.00\\ 6,500.00\\ 10,000.00\\ 4,300.00\\ \end{array}$	\$ 9,200.00 1,000.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 10,000.00 15,000.00 15,000.00 10,000.00 6,500.00 10,000.00 4,312.10 1,000.00	\$ 8,813.60 995.00 9,550.00 4,775.00 4,775.00 9,490.00 10,439.00 14,235.00 9,470.00 6,162.00 9,510.00 4,553.06 1,017.19
Other:			
Pittsburgh & West Va. R.R. Co., Series C, 41/2%-1960 Dominion of Canada, 3%-1954 Dominion of Canada, 3%-1956 Dominion of Canada, 3%-1957	100.00	4,725.00 100.00 150.00 500.00	4,668.75 103.00 102.25 513.75
	\$103,750.00	\$103,487.10	\$ 99,117.60
Stocks			
Deep Rock Oil Co., common, 75 shares Panhellenic, preferred, 10 shares Panhellenic, common, 2 shares		\$ 75.00 500.00	\$ 2,381.25 500.00
		\$ 575.00	\$ 2,881.25
		\$104,062.10	\$101,998.85

49

797.50 64.65

\$42,887.15

Indicated

### CHAPTER HOUSE MORTGAGES-GENERAL AND SPECIAL FUNDS

July 31, 1950

Chapter House Building Fund	Balance August 1, 1949	Additions	Collections	Balance July 31, 1950
New York Gamma Chapter Ontario Beta Chapter Arizona Alpha Chapter Iowa Beta Chapter Illinois Eta Chapter	4,630.78 9,500.00 1,500.00	\$ 9,000.00 4,000.00	\$ 900.00(/ 190.25 9,500.00 1,500.00	A) \$ 4,440.53 9,000.00 4,000,00
Friendship Endowment Fund	\$16,530.78	\$13,000.00	\$12,090.25	\$ 17,440.53
Alberta Alpha Chapter Georgia Alpha Chapter Massachusetts Beta Chapter Michigan Gamma Chapter South Dakota Alpha Chapter Tennessee Beta Chapter West Virginia Alpha Chapter Illinois Eta Chapter Florida Alpha Chapter Arizona Alpha Chapter	. 18,170.57 . 4,900.00 . 6,700.00 . 1,300.00 . 2,000.00 . 2,000.00	\$ 10,300.00  1,000.00 1,000.00 3,000.00 \$15,300.00	\$ 550.00 777.20 350.00 935.00 600.00 2,000.00  \$ 5,712.20	\$ 3,900.00 17,393.37 4,550.00 16,065.00 700.00 1,500.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 3,000.00
Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	\$39,320.37	\$15,500.00	\$ 5,712.20	\$ 49,108.37
New Mexico Alpha Chapter North Carolina Alpha Chapter Maryland Beta Chapter Arizona Alpha Chapter	9,844.25	\$ 22,000.00 3,000.00	\$ 578.60 322.00 1,000.00	\$ 19,421.40 9,522.25 21,000.00 3,000.00
	\$29,844.25	\$25,000.00	\$ 1,900.60	\$ 52,943.65
	\$85,895.60	\$53,300.00	\$19.703.05	\$119,492.55

CHAPTER HOUSE MORTGAGES-ENDOWMENT FUNDS

Oregon Gamma Chapter		\$	\$ 800.00	\$ 6,800.00 30,900.00
Ohio Delta Chapter Indiana Epsilon Chapter	-	20,000.00	397.49	19,602.51 35,000.00
Arizona Alpha Chapter	-	1,500.00	-	1,500.00
\$	7,600.00	\$87,400.00	\$ 1,197.49	\$93,802.51

(A) This amount was transferred to the Endowment Funds and is included in the mortgage to the New York Gamma Chapter shown therein.

#### CENTRAL OFFICE EXPENSES

Salaries	e12 042 20
Salaries Rent	
Express and postage	1.758.13
Office supplies and expenses	2.083.49
Chapter and club supplies	2,429,87
Ribbon and robes	1,111.84
Telephone and telegraph	
Refunds	71.66
Pay roll taxes	
Unemployment compensation—State of Illinois	99.89
Excise tax	
Insurance	
Office equipment	
Unclassified	
	10140
	\$24,298.27
Less reimbursements received	216.74
	\$24,081.53
Less cash on hand at August 1, 1949	1,411.67
	\$22,669.86
Distributed as follows:	
Alumnæ Fund	
Contingent Fund	
Arrow Publication Fund	

\$22,669.86

#### UNINVESTED PRINCIPAL CASH-ENDOWMENT FUNDS

July 31, 1950			
Harris Trust and Savings Bank-Trust Accounts:			
ARROW Endowment Fund General Endowment Fund Settlement School Endowment Fund		8,421.00	\$16,233.35
First Trust Company-Trust Accounts:			
ARROW Endowment Fund Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Fund Fellowship Endowment Fund	***********	1.00	10,005.72
			\$26,239.07
SUMMARY OF BONDS-ENDOWMENT F	UNDS		Indicated
	Par or Face Value	Cost	Market or Redemption Value
ARROW Endowment Trust Fund:			
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, Chicago First Trust Company, Lincoln	\$442,275.00 49,400.00	\$444,208.01 50,264.95	\$426,006.41 47,760.55
	\$491,675.00	\$494,472.96	\$473.766.96
General Endowment Trust Fund Settlement School Endowment Trust Fund Fellowship Endowment Trust Fund Alumnæ Life Membership Endowment Trust Fund	170,800.00 55,000.00 10,300.00	171,503,75 55,160.00 10,300.00 259.00	165,063.60 52,819.60 9,826.00 265.95
	\$728,125.00	\$731,695.71	\$701,742.11

#### FELLOWSHIP ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

#### FIRST TRUST COMPANY, LINCOLN, NEBRASKA-TRUSTEE

### July 31, 1950

July 31, 1950	Face Value	Cost	Redemption Value
United States Government obligations: Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-56 Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57	. 6,800.00	\$ 500.00 6,800.00 3,000.00	\$ 485.00 6,494.00 2,847.00
	\$10,300.00	\$10,300.00	\$ 9,826.00

### ALUMNÆ LIFE MEMBERSHIP ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS FIRST TRUST COMPANY, LINCOLN, NEBRASKA-TRUSTEE

#### Inly 31, 1950

United States Government obligations:	Face Value	Cost	Redemption Value
Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-58 Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 10-1-58 Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-61		\$ 166.50 18.50 74.00	\$ 172.57 19.40 74.00
	\$ 350.00	\$ 259.00	\$ 265.95

### ARROW ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

### HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS-TRUSTEE

July 31, 1950

July 51, 1990 Par or		Indicated Market or Redemption
United States Government obligations:	e Cost	Value
		a contract
Series F Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-56 \$ 1,075.		\$ 883.65
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-53 10,000.		9,730.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53		13,580.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-53		2,134.00 10,379.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-54		10,346,90
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-54		2,901.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-54		2,892.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-55		5,573.80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-55		7,591.90
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-55		16,337.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-55		3,844.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-55		7,185.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-55		2,874.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-56		5,730.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-56		15,280.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-56		9,520.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-56		10,948.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-57		12,811.50
Series G Savings Bonds maturing 5-1-57 11,000.	0 11,000.00	10,439.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57 15,900.	15,900.00	15,089.10
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-57	5,000.00	4,745.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-57	9,500.00	8,996,50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-57 10,000.	00.000.00	9,470.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-57	14,000.00	13,258.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-57 15,500.	15,500.00	14,678.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58	9,500.00	8,996.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-58		20,834.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-58		21,496.90
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-58 1,700.		1,611.60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-58		2,844.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-58 13,300.		12,608.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-59 4,700.		4,469.70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-59 6,000.		5,706.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-59 30,400.		28,910.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-59 7,300.		6,978.80
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-60 15,000.		14,430.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-60		9,399.30
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-61		7,041.60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-62 4,000.		3,952.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-62 5,000.		4,940.00
Treasury bonds, 21/2%-1950/1952 6,000.	6,325.01	6,009.36
Other:		444544
Commonwealth Edison Co., 1st L, 3%-1977 5,000.		5,331.25
Detroit Edison Co. Gen. Ref. 3%-1970. 5,000.		5,275.00
Florida Power and Light Co., 1st, 31/2%-1974		3,225.00
Illinois Bell Telephone Co., 1st A, 23/4%-1981		5,100.00
Minnesota Power and Light Co., 1st, 31/8 %-1975 5,000.		5,250.00
Ohio Power Co. 1st 31/20-1968		5,268.75
Public Service Co., Ind., 1st F. 31/2		5,250.00
Toledo and Ohio Central Railway Co., Ref., 33/4%-1960	4,170.00	3,860.00
\$442,275.	\$444,208.01	\$426,006.41

#### ARROW ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

FIRST TRUST COMPANY, LINCOLN, NEBRASKA-TRUSTEE

July 31, 1950

	Value
United States Government obligations:	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53 \$ 2,200.00 \$ 2,200.00	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 10-1-53 1,100.00 1,100.00	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-56	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-57	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57 1,000.00 1,000.00	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-58	
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-59 1,900.00 1,900.00	
Treasury Bonds, 21/2 %-1967/72 5,000.00 5,153.1	3 5,081.25
Other:	
Baltimore and Ohio R.R. Co., 4%-1975	
Terrar Composition 365-1965 4,000.00 4,233.2	
Chesapeake and Ohio Railway Co., 37/8%-1973	6 2,095.00
\$49,400.00 \$50,264.9	\$ \$47,760.55

### GENERAL ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

## HABRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS-TRUSTEE

July 31, 1950

	Par or Face Value	Cost	Market or Redemption Value
United States Government obligation:			
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-53		\$ 8,000.00	\$ 7,760.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 1-1-54	4,000.00	4,000.00	3,880.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 3-1-54	2,500.00	2,500.00	2,417.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-54		2,900.00	2,804.30
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-55		1,400.00	1,345.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-55		2,700.00	2,594.70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-55	3,500.00	3,500.00	3,363.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-55		1,400.00	1,345.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-55		5,500.00	5,269.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-56		3,500.00	3,342.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-56		1,000.00	955.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-56		2,000.00	1,904.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-57		2,500.00	2,372.50
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-57		6,000.00	5,694.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-57		1,300.00	1,233.70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-57		5,900.00	5,587.30
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 10-1-57		5,100.00	4,829.70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-57		15,000.00	14,205.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-57	5,000.00	5,000.00	4,735.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-58	1,600.00	1,600.00	1,515.20
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-58		5,000.00	4,735.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-58	11,000.00	11,000.00	10,417.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 9-1-58		5,800.00	5,498.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 11-1-58		6,000.00	5,688.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-58		1,000.00	948.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-59		900.00	855.90
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 4-1-59		2,000.00	1,902.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 7-1-59		8,400.00	7,988.40
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-59	2,500.00	2,500.00	2,390.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 5-1-60	5,000.00	5,000.00	4,810.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 12-1-60		8,300.00	8,042.70
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 6-1-61	7,200.00	7,200.00	7,041.60
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 8-1-61		6,000.00	5,928.00
Series G Savings Bonds, maturing 2-1-62	2,900.00	2,900.00	2,865.20
Treasury Bonds, 21/2 %-1952/54	5,000.00	5,112.50	5,092.20
Other			
Other:	2 000 00	2,132.50	2,150,00
Florida Power and Light Co., 1st, 31/2%-1974	2,000.00	5,368.75	5,225.00
Southern California Edison Co., 1st Ref., 3%-1965	4,000.00	4,050.00	4,200.00
Wisconsin Michigan Power Co., 1st, 3%-1978	2,000,00	2.040.00	2,132.50
Commonwealth Edison Co., 1st L, 3%-1977			
4	170,800.00	\$171,503.75	\$165,063.60
		-	

## SETTLEMENT SCHOOL ENDOWMENT FUND BONDS

## HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS-TRUSTEE

July 31, 1950

July 31, 1950			
	Par or Face Value	Cost	Indicated Market or Redemption Value
United States Government obligations:			
Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-53         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       1-1-54         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-55         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-56         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-56         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-56         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       7-1-57         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       7-1-57         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       8-1-57         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       7-1-57         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       7-1-58         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-58         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-58         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-59         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-59         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-58         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       9-1-59         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       3-1-60         Series G       Savings Bonds, maturing       3-1-60         Series G       Savings Bonds,	$\begin{array}{c} 2,400,00\\ 1,300,00\\ 1,100,00\\ 3,500,00\\ 3,500,00\\ 3,500,00\\ 4,600,00\\ 3,000,00\\ 6,000,00\\ 1,900,00\\ 5,200,00\\ 3,000,00\\ 4,700,00\\ 1,700,00\\ 1,700,00\\ \end{array}$	\$ 2,000.00 2,400.00 1,300.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 4,600.00 6,000.00 6,000.00 1,900.00 4,700.00 1,700.00 1,700.00	\$ 1,940.00 2,328.00 1,253.20 1,053.80 2,856.00 3,332.00 2,847.00 4,356.20 2,841.00 5,682.00 1,801.20 4,929.60 2,853.00 4,469.70 1,635.40 1,635.40 1,855.40
	1,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	1,700.00	1,011,10
Other:	1	1	2 4 4 5 1 5
Wisconsin Michigan Power Co., 1st, 3%-1978 Toledo and Ohio Railway Co., Ref. Imp. A, 3¼%-1960	4,000.00	4,117.50 1,052.50	4,200.00 965.00
	\$55,000.00	\$55,160.00	\$52,819.60

Indicated

### DIRECTOR OF RUSHING AND PLEDGE TRAINING

THE OPPORTUNITY for service to Pi Beta Phi which T this past year has given this officer has been a source of real pleasure to her. The responsibilities of this office have been unusually heavy these past twelve months and many extra hours have been devoted to the work. Two new duties were added last summer, the organization and planning of the new set-up for the State Rush Chairmen and the preparation of four uniform Pi Phi Night Programs for the chapters.

There are two factors of great importance to the future strength and high standard of Pi Beta Phi; wise choice of new members after a well planned, ethical rush and the early training of pledges in the high ideals and history of our fraternity. Always, we strive to select girls who meet only the highest standards of fine character, intelligence, and moral integrity. As we receive these girls into the bonds of friendship we must recognize our responsibilities toward them. We must give them a well planned, carefully supervised pledge training in order to help them become well-adjusted, mature, loyal and coopera-tive members of their group. By the time that they have fulfilled all fraternity requirements and are initiated, we expect them to be ready and eager to assume their place of leadership and responsibility in their chapter.

The saying, "as a twig is bent, so grows the tree," applies well to fraternity training of new pledges. Thus the duties which fall upon all officers who work with pledges become especially interesting and challenging ones.

It has been a privilege to work with the fine rush captains and pledge supervisors of our 97 chapters these past twelve months. Their cooperation has been gratifying. Approximately 2,400 new pledges have been reported to this office this year and the required recommendations and consents for each girl have been carefully checked to see that all national requirements have been met. These have been recorded and placed on file. The Director of Rushing and Pledge Training keeps the recommendations and consents of all pledges for a period of two years.

At the 1948 convention, the alumnæ department recommended a set-up of State Rush Chairmen. This office planned and organized that new set-up last summer and prepared a manual of the work and duties. This has been planned as an experiment aimed at giving assistance to the rush captains of our chapters in obtaining information on rushees when other sources have failed. Each province in Canada and each state has a State Rush Chairman who has worked under the supervision of this office. The experiment has proven of real value and this assistance to the chapters seems worthy of being continued. This past year, 1949-50, opened with Grand Coun-

cil meeting and a Province Officers' workshop. It was the privilege of this officer to plan and conduct the meeting of the Province Presidents.

Out of the Grand Council meeting came the request for some uniform Pi Phi Night Programs. Four such programs were planned and sent out this past year, two for each semester. The programs were prepared as discussion programs and their subjects were as follows:

- 1. How Can Our Pi Beta Phi Chapter Best Contribute to Life on Our Campus?
- 2. Courtesy and Consideration of Others Week (a week devoted to practicing little courtesies followed by a planned chapter discussion). 3. Soon You Will Be an Alumna.
- 4. A Year-end Inventory of Our Chapter.

The program chairmen reported to this officer following each program. The report on the third program went directly to Marianne Reid Wild who generously offered an award for the best report. The Director of Rushing and Pledge Training had

the pleasure of visiting the eight chapters of Delta Province last fall. The Indiana chapters were visited in October and the Michigan chapters in November. It was a joy to have this opportunity to meet and learn to know so many fine Pi Beta Phis, both active and alumnæ.

It was an honor to have been asked by Michigan B to be guest speaker at their annual Initiation-Senior Farewell Banquet on May 13. At noon this officer was also invited to be present at the Golden Arrow Luncheon honoring nine Golden Arrow Pi Phis.

Immediately following the visits to the Indiana chapters in October, this officer joined the other members of Grand Council at Skytop, Pennsylvania, to attend the National Panhellenic Conference. This proved to be a valuable and interesting experience.

During the winter, a revision of the manual of the Chapter Delegate to Convention was completed. This revision incorporated suggestions and recommendations from a questionnaire of the delegates of the 1948 convention.

The required health certificates for all employees handling food in our Pi Beta Phi chapter houses were received, recorded and placed in the files of this office.

During the year, a great amount of individual correspondence has been cared for, but the satisfaction that comes from having given service to a cause so worthy is, in return, full recompense for any amount of time and labor spent.

I am deeply grateful for this opportunity to serve Pi Beta Phi and to work with so many wonderful Pi Phis. It is my firm belief that if we choose our members intelligently and educate them wisely, we can continue in the way that our Founders intended us to go. We shall surely continue to be the pioneersthe leaders among educated women of the world today and in the future.

CLARA HALL SIPHERD

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

\* "If we are to achieve security and stability in this period of crisis the matter must be resolved by hard-headed thinking based on the kind of thinking women do best," said Dr. Raymond B. Allen, President of the University of Washington, in his address to the Pi Beta Phi convention. "This kind of thinking puts its highest premium on human values and resists to the last any weakening or betrayal of its essential dignity."

## DIRECTOR OF EXTENSION

LIKE all Pi Beta Phi officers, the Director of Ex-tension has had a busy and interesting year, beginning in June when she presided over the meetings of the province Vice-Presidents at the workshop for province officers which was held in Decatur during the annual meeting of Grand Council.

In October visits were made to Lambda Province where as the guest of Montana A; Idaho A; Washington A, B, and F; Oregon A, B, and F; and Alberta A she enjoyed the warm hospitality of those chapters and the breath-taking scenery of the North-West. There were opportunities for many pleasant contacts with alumna, and meetings of the Portland, Everett, and Seattle Clubs were especially enjoyed. A most delightful week-end was spent in the home of Louise Dobler, Province Vice-President, who was kind enough to drive the visitor to Seattle. There during the chapter visit she had the pleasure of having dinner with Emily Draper, Lambda Province President, and her husband.

It was a matter of regret that her decision to make these visits in the fall prevented the Director of Extension from attending the National Panhellenic Conference at Skytop.

Later in the spring additional chapter visits were made to two chapters in her own province-Missouri Alpha and Beta, which of course were delightful.

Reports from chapters were received each semester from chapter treasurers of delinquencies, and a check was made to see that constitutional requirements concerning them were met.

Sixteen new clubs were chartered this year but since three became inactive, the real gain was only eleven. In Alpha West Hudson River was chartered; in Beta, Springfield, Ohio; in Delta, Hammond and Muncie, Ind.; in Epsilon, Lexington, Ky.; in Zeta, Pensacola, the Palm Beaches and Lake County, Florida; in Kappa, Midland, Amarillo, and Lubbock, Texas; in Lambda, Klamath Falls, Oregon; and in Mu, Centinela, Salano County, California, and Roswell, New Mexico. Those surrendering their charters were Northern Indi-ana; Crowley Ridge, Arkansas; El Dorado, and Rio Grande, Texas,

Extension was a very active issue this year, with the campuses of state teachers' colleges becoming eligible for NPC groups. Pi Beta Phi was contacted by local sororities, or inquiry was made by alumnæ or college authorities regarding the possibility of the fraternity establishing a chapter on these campuses:

University of Florida-Gainesville, Florida

- Ball State College-Muncie, Indiana
- Southeast Missouri State College-Cape Girardeau, Missouri

University of Pennsylvania-Philadelphia North Texas State College-Denton

Fresno State College-Fresno

Indiana State College-Terra Haute

Western Michigan College-Kalamazoo

Hartwich College-Oneonta

Bowling Green University-Bowling Green, Ohio Pennsylvania State Teachers College-Indiana, Pennsylvania

As directed by the French Lick Convention two campuses were examined to find out whether extension was desirable on either or both. At the time Grand President reported that Panhellenic felt that due to the drop in enrollment there were as many fraternities for women as the campus could support. At the University of Kentucky, inquiries were made of the university authorities by Pi Phi alumnæ who reported that general feeling was that no more groups should come on that campus at the present time.

As a result of the contacts made during the past two years it was decided by action of Grand Council that inspection of the local group at Davis and Elkins at Elkins, West Virginia, should be arranged. Therefore visits to that campus were made by the Grand Secretary, Lucile Carson; Jean Gustkey, Beta Province President; and the eight chapters in Beta Province. Following favorable reports made on the group by these visitors, Grand Council decided unanimously to allow Phi Chi to petition Convention. Therefore a booklet of information and an exhibit has been prepared by the group to be presented at this convention.

There are many rewards in working for the fraternity, but perhaps chief among these rewards is the knowledge that as an officer of Pi Beta Phi, one is helping to promote a way of living for college women which will make them finer citizens. A more selfish one is the satisfaction of being in touch with such pleasant people.

As always it has been a privilege to work with the Fraternity with its conscientious officers and delightful membership.

#### MARIE BACON HAGEE

## COUNSELOR FOR CHAPTER HOUSE CORPORATIONS

DR. G. HERBERT SMITH, President of Willamette University and President of Beta Theta Pi, said in his address before the Pi Beta Phi 1948 Convention that one of the greatest fraternity problems in the next few years would be housing. If the amount of correspondence of the Counselor for Pi Beta Phi House Corporations during the two years since that statement was made is an indication, housing for Pi Beta Phi chapters is a big problem, but it is being met and solved as rapidly and efficiently as seems advisable. The alumnæ personnel of our sixty house corporations deserve great commendation for the way in which they meet housing problems as they arise, and the treasurers are deserving of praise for keeping the finances of these corporations on a sound basis.

Much repair and improvement work and redecorating has been done on all chapter houses since materials have become available. In addition to those

mentioned in former reports, the Oklahoma A and Missouri B houses were completely redecorated when the girls returned last fall. The New Mexico A chapter was thrilled to be in their new Lodge for rushing. Ohio D's new Lodge was finished and occupied during the year. Maryland B started the college year in the house which had been bought and remodeled during the summer. Michigan I was happily housed in their remodeled apartment house. Illinois H is delighted with a completely remodeled and refurnished house. During the year an addition has been made to the Texas A house giving the chapter a large room with an outside entrance to be used for art work and for making homecoming, rushing, and party decorations. Servant quarters and extra closets are also included.

Two new houses are under construction, one for New York  $\Gamma$  and one for Indiana E. These include

all the latest ideas for chapter houses and will give these chapters housing second to none on their campuses. A large addition is being built to the Oklahoma B house which will change the present structure into a beautiful and commodious house on their fine present location across from the campus. The Wyoming A corporation is remodeling their house so that chapter will come back in the fall to an enlarged and modernized home. The Texas B corporation has plans underway for a large new house on the SMU campus which they hope to have completed by February. The hope for a new house on the lots purchased three years ago may be realized for Idaho A during the next year or two. North Dakota A is considering remodeling plans.

An apartment in a Panhellenic House has been realized by Florida A. Florida B is planning for an addition in which they can serve meals. The rooms used by Alabama A have been redecorated. Alabama B and Washington  $\Gamma$ , two new chapters, are planning to form house corporations and are working on building funds. Connecticut A will have an apartment in a new residence hall on the campus and is accumulating a fund for furnishings.

This enumeration of housing projects gives some idea of the reason for the large amount of correspondence of the Counselor. In all cases plans for raising house funds from actives and alumnæ were suggested to and adopted by chapters and corporations. Budgets were planned so that indebtedness could be amortized. Rules for Fraternity loans were explained. When no house corporation existed, help was given in setting one up. These and numerous other things were discussed in correspondence. The usual fall letter was sent to all house corporations and in January another letter with the blanks for the annual report went to all corporation treasurers. As the reports were returned, a letter commenting on each report was written to the treasurer concerned. With this went a receipt for the \$5.00 fee for the treasurer's \$2,000 bond.

As costs for repairs, improvements, furnishings, and taxes have gone up, the amount of rent the chapter pays to the corporation has been increased necessarily in many places. New tax appraisals are adding to already heavy taxes in some places. In a few states fraternity houses are still exempt. The counselor watches carefully to see that the income of each corporation covers the expenditures and advises that the income should be large enough to cover a regular amount placed in a depreciation fund, thus building up a fund for the time when a new house or a big remodeling project is needed. This year Oklahoma B had such a fund which was a great help in financing the remodeling which will make a practically new house.

Michigan F, New York F, Indiana E, Illinois E, and Texas B corporations are to be commended especially for their fine work in raising house funds from alumnæ, actives, and parents, in addition to money raising projects put on by actives and clubs.

The Counselor has enjoyed working with the Grand President and the Grand Treasurer, and hopes that she may have been helpful to the alumnæ who are doing so much for the Fraternity by managing the building and the financing of chapter houses.

LILLIAN BECK HOLTON

### NATIONAL HISTORIAN

THE NITA HILL STARK VASE for the best active chapter history written during the year 1949-1950 has been awarded to Illinois  $\Theta$ . Illinois  $\Theta$ 's historian was Cathie Calhoun. Her assistant was Thelma Moore.

The award for second place has gone to Kansas B. Kansas B's historian was Joan Newcomer and the pledge historian was Jancey Hunter.

pledge historian was Jancey Hunter. (With the approval of Grand Council, the National Historian and the Assistant National Historian are this year presenting a trophy cup, known as the National Historian's Vase, to be awarded annually to the chapter placing second in the national chapter history competition. Kansas B will be the first chapter to receive this new award.)

The history of Colorado B received honorable mention. Colorado B's historian for the first semester was Marion Brink, with Margie Opie as assistant. The Historian for the second semester was Jo Ann Gohlson, with Bee Russ as assistant.

In January of this year the Assistant National Historian sent to all active chapter historians a condensed letter of instruction, emphasizing deadlines and outlining basic requirements. As a result there have been fewer inquiries from chapter historians and the histories have shown substantial improvement.

The national archives of the fraternity now contain carbon copies of 1753 chapter semester histories. The total of missing histories from various chapters for the twelve year period is 238. During the current year twelve carbon copies were lent to chapters for copying.

The Assistant National Historian wishes to commend Carol Goltra, historian of Illinois H chapter, for her efforts in copying, and in some instances, compiling, a total of five semester histories which had been missing from previous years. Appreciation is expressed to Ellen Miller Slifer, president of A Province West, for her cooperation throughout the year.

Acquisitions to the National Archives for the year 1949-1950 are as follows:

A photograph of the Lawrence Convention of 1892 —from Tella Talbot Clammer (Mrs. George), Iowa B.

A collection of fourteen group and individual photographs of Kansas A chapter members in the 1890s from Emily Hulme Cooke (Mrs. Thornton), Kansas A.

Two convention souvenirs from the Yellowstone Convention of 1934, and the Pasadena Convention of 1940—from Katharine Kibler Lyons (Mrs. Donald E.), Kansas A.

Kansas A chapter photograph of the late '90s. Property of Grace Bangs Ruhl (Mrs. A. L.), Kansas A-from Virginia Ruhl Woodhead (Mrs. Harold), Maryland A and Kansas A.

Copy of an old letter-from Marguerite Graybill Lewis (Mrs. A. H.), Kansas A.

Snapshot of Carrie Chapman Catt-from Amy Burnham Onken, Grand President, Illinois E.

A printed letter of 1899, from Grace Lass Sisson, former Grand President, announcing publication of the first fraternity song book; also a copy of an early constitution of the National Alumnæ Association both from Althea McConnell Gittings (Mrs. Clarence K.), Illinois B.

A recognition arrow of 1906, mounted on stickpin,

with ball-type guard; also an initiation certificate of 1899—both from Marcia Stanley Crellin (Mrs. Charles V.), Iowa B.

An original paper on the history and development of the national fraternity as written and read before the Dallas Alumnæ Club by Dora Beggs Foster (Mrs. Robert C. Jr.), Missouri Gamma—from Mrs. Foster.

A photograph of the Boston Convention of 1895from Helen Richardson Corkum (Mrs. Howard D.), Massachusetts A.

A photograph of the Lawrence Convention of 1892-from Lena Judd Green (Mrs. George W.), Michigan Alpha.

A printed history of Iowa A chapter, written by Lillian Kendig Rogers (Mrs. Charles S.), Iowa Afrom Mrs. Rogers.

ARROWS for October 1894, April 1895, October 1895, February 1896, April 1896, April 1897, July 1898, and December 1906; printed minutes of the Syracuse Convention of 1901 and the St. Louis Convention of 1904; Convention and banquet programs from Boulder in 1899, St. Louis in 1904, Indianapolis in 1906, New Orleans in 1908, Yellowstone in 1934, Edgewater Beach in 1936, Asheville in 1938, and Pasadena in 1940; annual bulletins printed by the Colorado State Association from 1896 to 1916; Colorado State Annual Bulletin for 1911; three old convention badges and a Grand Treasurer's ribbon badge which was worn at the St. Louis convention of 1904--all from Martha Kimball, Colorado B, Grand Treasurer from 1901 to 1908.

A collection of five individual and group photographs of charter members of Michigan Beta as they appeared at the time of chartering; three snapshots of the above members taken forty years later; some typewritten notes by Fanny Read Cook concerning the conventions of 1888, 1890, 1892 and 1893; a photograph of the three living charter members of Michigan B, taken at their fiftieth reunion on April 30, 1938 all from Mary Ellen Read, niece of Fanny Read Cook (Mrs. Justin), Michigan B charter, Grand Vice-President from 1901 to 1904.

Program and complete description of Michigan B's 1950 luncheon in honor of its Order of the Golden Arrow Alumnæ; group photograph of those attending; memorial tribute to Fanny Read Cook—all from Rebecca Downey White (Mrs. Alfred H.), Colorado B and Michigan B.

(Note: The Historian wishes to take this opportunity to express her appreciation to Mrs. White. The fraternity has no member who takes a greater interest in its history. Her contributions to the already comprehensive history of Michigan Beta, which she herself assembled, continue to arrive every few months.)

I.C. arrow worn by Isabella Love, Kansas A '79, and by Agnes Love Crawford, Kansas A '86-from Elizabeth Crawford Scott (Mrs. Wardner G.), Nebraska B, through the courtesy of Lucille Nitsche Junge (Mrs. Carl L.), Nebraska B, I Province President.

Guest towel embroidered by Inez Smith Soule as a gift to Agnes Wright Spring; also a letter concerning former Grand President Elizabeth Gamble—from Agnes Wright Spring (Mrs. Archer), Wyoming A charter, former ARROW Editor and National Historian.

Iowa Z chapter picture of 1900; also a photograph of the three Iowa Z graduates of 1899 in their caps and gowns—from Lulu Graff Weld (Mrs. Leroy D.), Iowa Z. A collection of 19 old letters, written during the '70s and '80s, and found in Iowa B's archives—from Roberta Starry, Iowa B active, and Helen Wright Grant (Mrs. G. A.), Iowa B, Theta Province Vice-President.

Copy of the first printed ARROW-from Elberta Smith, Illinois E.

Three Kansas A chapter pictures, fully identified, for the years 1916, 1917, and 1918—from Matilda Smithmeyer Longnecker (Mrs. Harold J.), Kansas Alpha.

An extensive collection of biographical notes concerning the life of Emma Harper Turner, former Grand President—from Gertrude Deer Owens (Mrs. Roger B.), Indiana A.

Appreciation is expressed to the following for assistance in gathering information concerning Miss Turner: Irene Hay Hoggatt (Mrs. Wilford J.), Indiana B; Grace McGaw Phelan (Mrs. William), Indiana A; and Eunice McGaw Records (Mrs. Frank S.), Indiana A.

Appreciation is expressed to Jane Griffith Stevens (Mrs. Richard B.), Kansas A, and to Clara Poehler Smithmeyer (Mrs. F. H.), Kansas A, for assistance in identifying old photographs.

The Historian wishes to thank Mary Lou Borders Cook (Mrs. Sam), Kansas A, for her assistance in preparing the very attractive Album of the Founding.

All gifts have been appropriately labeled and complete descriptions have been entered in the archives gift book.

In accordance with Grand Council's request that an historical paper be prepared for clubs and chapters to use as program material, an account of the convention of 1888 was written and mimeographed copies were sent out in the fall to each club and chapter president.

This year much time has been devoted to refiling of the contents of the archives. Hundreds of worn folders have been removed. Much miscellaneous material has been destroyed. Over four hundred new folders with typed labels have been added. The task has not yet been completed.

An extensive exhibit was prepared for display at convention. In addition to items shown at the previous convention, more than a dozen convention group photographs were mounted on mat board and covered with acetate sheeting for display. Two new posters contained photographs and excerpts from the letters of Emma Harper Turner. Photographs of the Founders were shown in a new album. The archives collection of jewelry was augmented with items lent by Lillian Kendig Rogers of Iowa A.

To W. H. H. Piatt, the author of a history of the University of Kansas, the Historian lent a fully identified photograph of the Kansas A chapter of Pi Beta Phi in 1895, for inclusion in his book.

The jewelry collection is far from complete. The historian most earnestly desires to obtain: All types of guards, a colonization pin, a platinum arrow, a diamond-in-the-chain arrow, and one of the elongated angular arrows, usually set with emeralds, which were worn in the '90s.

During the months of January and February the Historian was asked to speak on the subject of fraternity history before the Kansas City, Missouri, Alumnæ Club, the Kansas City, Kansas, Alumnæ Club, and the Kansas City, Missouri, Mother's Club of the University of Kansas. It was a pleasure to meet with these groups.

One of the most delightful experiences of the year came with the invitation to attend the Michigan State Day luncheon in honor of the Founders. The Historian will not soon forget the many fine Michigan Pi Phis who have long shown such deep appreciation for the fraternity and for its history. The dinner with Michigan  $\Gamma$  chapter was a high point of the visit.

The visits of Mrs. Alford in March and of Miss Onken in April were a source of pleasure and in-spiration to the Historian and to all Kansas City Pi Phis.

Work on the chapter histories has been handled with the utmost efficiency by Elizabeth Heryer De-laney, Assistant National Historian. She has brought to the duties of her office a competence and an objectivity which have simplified the work of all concerned.

The Historian wishes to thank all the members of

Grand Council for their patience and their encouragement. She is especially grateful to Miss Onken for prompt attention and unfailing interest in every phase of the work, to Mrs. Alford for her understanding and excellent guidance, and to Mrs. Prouty for her continued interest in the archives. She appreciates the prompt replies received from the Director of Central Office, and the latter's readiness to lend all the facilities of her office whenever they are needed. The many delightful and informative letters received from Pi Phis everywhere have enriched the contents of the archives and been a source of very real pleasure to the Historian throughout the past four years.

Respectfully submitted,

MARIAN K. SIMMONS, National Historian

## NATIONAL SUPERVISOR OF CHAPTER ACCOUNTING

Chapters with no delinquents for the entire year, 1949-50:

Maine Alpha Maine Alpha Vermont Alpha Vermont Beta Massachusetts Alpha Pennsylvania Alpha Ohio Alpha Ohio Epsilon

Virginia Alpha Virginia Gamma South Carolina Alpha Michigan Alpha Michigan Beta Michigan Gamm Indiana Alpha Gamma

Indiana Delta Indiana Epsilon Missouri Beta Missouri Gamma Missouri Ganta Tennessee Beta Alabama Alpha Wisconsin Alpha Wisconsin Beta Wisconsin Alpha Wisconsin Beta Illinois Alpha Illinois Beta-Delta Illinois Zeta North Dakota Alpha Minnesota Alpha Iowa Alpha

Chapters ending the year with no delinquents: Pennsylvania Gamma North Carolina Alpha North Carolina Beta Indiana Beta Indiana Gamma Missouri Alpha Tennessee Alpha

Iowa Gamma Nebraska Beta Kansas Beta Kansas Beta Colorado Beta Wyoming Alpha Arkansas Alpha Texas Alpha Texas Beta Idaho Alpha Oregon Beta California Delta California Zeta Arizona Alpha

Wisconsin Gamma Illinois Theta Wisconsin Gamma Illinois Theta Iowa Zeta Kansas Alpha Utah Alpha Washington Alpha Oregon Gamma

Respectfully submitted,

DOROTHEA W. FLINT

## PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY REPORT 1949-50

THE COMMISSIONS realized on magazine sales for 1949-50 amounted to \$10,724.69. Of this amount clubs contributed \$8,367.63, active chapters \$2,307.06, and individuals \$50.00. During this same period \$508.03 was collected from bonuses, prizes, and direct commissions, making a gross profit of \$11,232.72. Below are listed the commissions for the first year

of the agency and for the last three years:

1929-30	Approximate	\$ 810.00
1947-48		9,567.58
1948-49		10,096.57
1949-50		10,724.69
1 1 1 1 1 1	1 10/0	

The contest winners for 1949-50 were:

ALUMNE CLUBS:

Dallas, Texas-Mrs. Chester R. Cole, chairman, for making the highest total commissions, \$457.22. San Jose, California–Miss Ida Karsten, chairman,

for making the highest per capita commissions, \$660. . .... wins \$10.00 ..... Mobile, Alabama-Mrs. R. W. Deshon, chairman, for making the greatest percentage increase, 

ACTIVE CHAPTERS:

Maryland Beta-Letitia Louise Earll, chairman, for making the highest total commissions, \$154.50. ......wins \$10.00

Maryland Beta-Letitia Earll, chairman, for making the highest per capita commissions, \$3.96. ...

......wins \$10.00 Alabama Beta-Beverly Goodwin, chairman, for making the greatest percentage increase, 

The following number of chapters and clubs have been active contributors to the profits of the agency the past seven years:

																								0	2	bapters	Clubs
1943-44		5		i,	i.	4	i.	i.	5	i,	k		à	k	s	١.,		h		4	4	i,	4	i,	ŝ	.77	184
1944-45	١.	5	1	í,		í,	į,	i.	ī,	ŝ	i.	i,		í,	1	ŝ					í,	i.	4		ι,	.79	195
1945-46				5	è	à		à		į	i.	ŝ	4	į	į,	ģ				4		4	à	6	5	.84	189
1946-47			Ļ	j,		1		2				2	į.		à		i.			í,	ģ	_	1		à	.86	194
1947-48																										.87	204
1948-49	2				1	ŝ		2		,	ŝ	2			2	2	1		ŝ				k		ź	.80	187
1949-50																										.89	210

Following is the financial statement and statistical reports showing commissions earned by chapters and

58

clubs. It also shows the net profit for the year-amounting to \$8,943.41. This has been sent to the Settlement School.

clubs. It also shows the net profit for the year-amounting to \$8,943.41. This has been sent to the Settlement School. Please note that last year's commissions are also given so that the contributors can see their gains or losses. The director of the Magazine Agency wishes to thank all who have contributed to the Settlement School through the Magazine Agency and asks for your continued interest and support. GLADYS H. SCIVALLY, Director Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency

Rounter and

#### ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGENCY

JUNE 1, 1949 THROUGH MAY 31, 1950

Receipti :	Disbursements:
Balance on hand, June 1, 1950       \$ 4,011.8         Magazine Subscription Deposits       \$ 353,862.79         Total: Bonuses and prizes       \$ 508.03         Refunds from pub- lishers       \$ 1,115         Accounts Receivable       \$ 1,116.62         Accounts Receivable       \$ 1,116.62         Postage       .60         Direct commission       2.00         Refund on Supplies       5.95	tions \$21,023.70 Payments for Franklin Square Subscriptions to Frank- lin Square
\$37,631.19 \$37,631.1 Total	- \$37,701.48
	\$41,643.04

5	FCEIPTS	AND	EXPENSES	PI BETA	PHI MAG	GAZINE	AGENCY

Receipts	Commissions	Do	Prizes	Total	
June 1 through August 31, 1949 September October November December January February March April May	216.47 589.68 2,581.70 3,675.80 1,046.00 688.70 597.69 366.41	\$	2.00 135.80 4.00 7.25 38.63 312.85 2.00 2.00 3.50	\$ 568.9 216.4 725.4 2,585.7 3,683.0 1,084.6 1,001.5 599.6 368.4 398.7	47 48 70 53 55 59 41
	\$10,724.69	\$	508.03	\$11,232.7	2

Expenses	Salaries	Postage	Misc. Exp. & Supplies	Prizes	Total
June 1 through August 31, 1949 September October November December January February March April May	78.20 64,40 361.00 432.30 292.50 260.50 161.28 152.96	\$ 45.21 15.00 21.00 30.00 15.00 15.00 27.15 15.00	\$20.20 .61 2.36 8.11 11.42 1.09 13.70 5.96	\$50.00	\$ 167.41 78.20 80.01 384.36 470.41 318.92 276.59 202.13 167.96 143.32
	\$1,992.50	\$183.36	\$63.45	\$50.00	\$2,289.31

#### MAGAZINE SALE STATISTICS FROM JUNE 1, 1949 THROUGH MAY 31, 1950

	Total	Clubs	Chapters	Individu	al
Iota Province Kappa Province Delta Province Epsilon Province Eta Province Beta Province Mu Province Gamma Province Lambda Province Zeta Province Zeta Province Alpha Province West Alpha Province East Miscellaneous	1,364.79 1,208.02 1,170.75 1,147.49 1,000.13 949.65 928.94 618.45 565.75 545.40 517.94 437.00 248.38 22.00	\$1,056.69 1,046.92 760.90 921.66 777.25 767.90 857.34 302.50 459.92 488.50 368.52 354.45 205.08	\$ 308.10 161.10 409.85 225.83 194.88 181.75 71.60 315.95 105.83 56.90 149.42 82.55 43.30	Miss Onken	\$28.00 \$22.00
3	10,724.69	\$8,367.63	\$2,307.06		\$50.00

### THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CHAPTER 1949-50

Chapter	Amount 1948-49 Chairman	Amount 1948-49
1. Maryland Beta	.\$154.50Letitia Louise Earli	\$127.58
3. Indiana Epsilon	. 110.70June Bird . 102.45Barbara Brasmer	102.70
4. Kansas Beta	. 89.10Patricia Johnson . 78.57Beverly Goodwin	110.35
6. Kansas Alpha	. 78.05Nancy Matteson	104.95
7. Michigan Beta	70.55Barbara Gerholz 70.15Elizabeth Nixon	

## THE EIGHT HIGHEST TOTAL COMMISSIONS PER CLUB 1949-50

Club	Amount 1949-50 Chairman	Amount 1948-49
<ol> <li>Denver, Colorado</li> <li>St. Louis, Missouri</li> <li>Kanasa City, Missouri</li> <li>Washington, D.C.</li> <li>Milwaukee, Wisconsin</li> <li>San Jose, California</li> </ol>	\$457.22 Mrs. Chester R. Cole 345.12 Mrs. John Ryland 314.84. Mrs. Frank L. St. Cyr 266.72. Mrs. G. R. Challinor 158.10. Mrs. Will Groves 157.35. Mrs. Robert Rauh 145.35. Miss Ida Karsten 141.00. Mrs. Blair Amos	342.30 173.20 225.75 128.30 57.60 116.95

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMISSIONS PER CAPITA FOR ACTIVE CHAPTERS 1949-50

Chapter	Amount	Chairman
1. Maryland Beta		
2. Indiana Gamma		
3. Alabama Beta 4. Michigan Beta		Beverly Goodwin
3. Kansas Beta		Patricia Johnson
6. Indiana Epsilon		Barbara Brasmer
7. Kansas Alpha	1.32	Nancy Matteson
8. Jowa Alpha	1.27	Audrey Grim

## THE EIGHT HIGHEST COMMISSIONS PER CAPITA FOR ALUMNÆ CLUBS 1949-50

Club	Amount	Chairman
1. San Jose, California		
2. Richmond, Indiana		
3. Avon, Illinois	3.71	Mrs. T. P. Brown
4. Hillsdale, Michigan		Mrs. G. D. Andrews
5. Mobile, Alabama	3.40	Mrs. R. W. Deshon
6. Dallas, Texas	3.19	Mrs. Chester R. Cole
7. McAlester, Okla,	3.08	Mrs. Walter Dell
8. Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	3.00	Mrs. C. S. Rogers

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST PERCENTAGE INCREASES FOR ACTIVE CHAPTERS 1949-50

Chapter	Amount of Increase	Chairman
1. Alabama Beta 2. Illinois Eta 3. Missouri Alpha 4. Florida Gamma 5. Florida Alpha 6. Michigan Alpha 7. Washington Beta 8. Illinois Alpha	1,516.63% 1,486.66% 504.69% 425.00% 369.24% 268.31%	

#### THE EIGHT HIGHEST PERCENTAGE INCREASES FOR ALUMNÆ CLUBS 1949-50

Club	Amount of Increase	Chairman
1. Mobile, Alabama		Mrs. R. W. Deshon
2. Lakeland, Florida		Dora C. Delay
3. Pauls Valley, Oklahoma		Mrs. Roger Blake
4. South Coast	830.00%	Mrs. D. K. Brown
5. Topeka, Kansas		Mrs. Carl Shankland
6. Mahoning Valley		Mrs. E. G. McConnell
7. Akron, Ohio	402.43%	Mrs. S. D. Gehman
8. Colorado Springs, Colorado	371.61%	Mrs. M. A. Ziegler

#### ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Club N	o. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-30	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
E-110	Boston, Mass Mrs. Richard Miner	\$ 34.20	\$ .87	\$ 35.85
E-112	Halifay N.S.	None		10.80
E-113	Hartford, ConnMrs. W. V. Adams	97.68	2.03	72.05
E-114	Montreal, Ouebec, Can,-Mrs, J. M. Gillies		none	29.55
E-115	New Haven, ConnMrs, Stanley Tolman		1.35	18.80
E-116	Portland, Me Mrs. I. N. Mitchell		2.07	35.15
E-117	Wiscasset Me.	2.95	no club	6,40
E-118	Burlington, VtMrs. H. Allen	none		none
E-120	Eastern Maine-Berniece Thompson		.41	4.40
	Nova Scotia Alpha-Geraldine Cragg		.01	2.60
	Maine A-Hilda Livingston		.53	none
	Vermont A-Jean Hosford		.17	11.40
	Vermont B-Joan Coffman		.12	2.75
	Massachusetts A-Maryclare Livgenfelter			3.05
	Massachusetts B-Marjorie Sullivan		.20	4.90
	Connecticut A-Lois Palmer		.17	none
	TOTAL FOR ALPHA PROVINCE EAST FOR YEAR 1949-50	\$248.38		6505 00
	Alpha Province East Alumaæ Club Commissions Alpha Province East Active Chapter Commissions		*****************	·· \$205.08 ·· 43.30
	Тотац			\$248.38

## ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

	ALPHA PROVINCE	WEST	Calescen 1	1.1.1.1.1.
Club No	o. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
W-120 W-121 W-123 W-125 W-126 W-127 W-128 W-127 W-128 W-130 W-131 W-132	Albany, N.Y.—Mrs, Edward Tearne, Jr. Buffalo, N.Y.—Mrs, L. O. Burrell, Jr. Poughkeepsie—Frances Taylor Pearson New York, N.Y.—Mrs, R. S. Madden, Jr. Northern New Jersey—Mrs, Chas, Crittenden Rochester, N.Y.—Mrs, Fred Hadeed; Mrs, E. C. Chamberl Syracuse, N.Y. Uthaca, N.Y. Westchester, N.Y.—Mrs, H. J. Schlereth Schenectady, N.Y.—Mrs, David Lupfer Toronto, Ont., Can. New York A—Joanne Dixon New York A—Joanne Dixon New York A—Joanne Dixon New York A—Carolyn White Ontario A—Nancy Derry Ontario B—Diane Hueston TOTAL FOR ALPHA PROVINCE WEST FOR YEAR 1949-50 Alpha Province West Active Chapter Commissions Alpha Province West Active Chapter Commissions	17.35 9.60 43.75 98.35 Jain 54.70 none none 2.00 none 2.00 none 25.80 10.80 18.95 17.20 9.80 ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	\$ .88 .26 .96 .60 1.61 1.76  2.08 .16  23 .45 .44 .23	\$ 24.85 18.80 none 51.55 54.10 48.75 none none 68.35 7.00 none 25.30 4.20 29.80 26.83 11.50  \$354.45 82.55
	TOTAL			\$437.00

#### BETA PROVINCE

BETA PROVIN	CE		
Club No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
200 Akron, Ohio-Mrs. S. D. Gehman	\$ 51.75	\$1.15	\$ 10.30
201 Athens, Ohio-Mrs. Oscar Fulton		1.11	28,50
202 Central Pennsylvania	.60		2.40
203 Charleston, W.VaMrs. Roy B. Cook	49.25	1.33	72.55
204 Cincinnati, Ohio-Miss Stella Koons; Mrs. W. H. Tucker,	Jr 59.90	1.62	42.30
205 Cleveland East-Mrs. J. F. Zook	17.35	.13	55.65
206 Columbus, Ohio-Mrs. Blair Amos		1.28	83.10
207 Dayton, Ohio-Mrs. James Coughlin		.74	54.85
209 Harrisburg-Carlisle, PaLouise Heckman		.89	24.10
210 Mahoning Valley-Mrs. E. G. McConnell, Jr.	13.15	.55	10,70
211 Morgantown, W.VaMrs, J. S. Farland	23.40	.73	4.20
212 Ohio Valley-Mrs. George B. Byrum	.30	.02	5.20
213 Philadelphia, Pa.—Mrs. J. R. Park	18.25	.17	33,80
214 Pittsburgh, Pa Mrs. W. L. James, Jr.	115.80	2.22	140.95
217 South Hills, Pittsburgh-Mrs. P. R. Carr	41.95	1.20	49.85
218 Toledo, Ohio-Mrs. D. W. Miller	82.20	.84	82.00
220 Fairmont, W.Va Mary E. Shingleton	5.85	.45	8.15
221 Cleveland West-Mrs, Wm. Gibson	19.85	.31	24.38
222 Oxford, Ohio-Mrs. Everett A. Houghton		1.87	18.45
Pennsylvania B-Jean Heim		.62	48.25
Pennsylvania r-Joyce Ingham		.85	8,35
Ohio A-Joan Herrold		.13	19,50
Ohio B-Margaret Wessler	15.35	.26	16.90
Ohio $\Delta$ -Jo Anne Young	33.20	.49	57.15
Ohio E-Alcena Wittenberg		.62	38.35
Ohio Z-Carolyn Edwards	26.00	.33	23.65
West Virginia A-Ann Dahlstrom	5.95	.11	22.60
TOTAL FOR BETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	\$949.65		
Beta Province Club Commissions Beta Province Active Chapter Commissions	*********************		\$767.90 181.75
TOTAL		****************	\$949.65

## GAMMA PROVINCE

Club No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
300 Baltimore, MdMrs. R. E. Clegg	\$ 54.90	\$1.10	\$ 41.90
301 Chapel Hill, N.CMrs. E. A. Cameron		.54	14.55
302 Columbia, S.CMrs, J. R. Rader, Jr.		.27	23.85
303 Richmond, VaElizabeth Wilson	7.05	.30	5.55
305 Washington, D.CMrs. Will Groves	158.10	1.05	128,30
306 Charlotte, N.CAnn Craver		.95	14.00
307 Washington, D.C. Jr Mrs. Yvonne Shaw	2.25	.06	
308 Wilmington, DelMrs. M. F. Wood		.52	26,90
309 Norfolk, VaIda Moore		1.20	23.70
311 Durham, N.CMrs. Oliver Upchurch		.62	16.65
Maryland A-Mary Emma Wood		.10	none
Maryland B-Lelitia Louise Earll		3.96	127.58
D.C. A-Alice Corvin		.60	23.25
Virginia A-Barbara Fitch		.57	20.00
Virginia I-Carroll Walker	53,45	1.01	37.50
North Carolina A-Betsy Hommel	23.10	.41	1,60
North Carolina B-Mary Ann Clements		.19	81,25
South Carolina A-Elizabeth Buechel	7.25	.23	.90
TOTAL FOR GAMMA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50 Gamma Province Club Commissions Gamma Province Chapter Commissions			
TOTAL			\$618,45

### DELTA PROVINCE

	DELTA PROVINCE			
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
400	Ann Arbor, Mich-Mrs. H. L. Hallock	10.10	.22	\$ 29.95
401	Bloomfield Hills, Mich Mrs. J. M. Holden		2.74	215.90
402	Bloomington, IndMrs. Mark Wolff	9.70	.28	16.80
403	Detroit, MichMrs. R. T. Cowan	105.75	.84	96.85
405	Ft. Wayne, IndMrs. Rovt. Schmoll	23.25	.59	29.25
406	Franklin, IndMrs. R. B. Lybrook	34.80	.74	34.85
407	Richmond, Ind Mrs. Glen Ward Lee	67.25	4.80	44.25
408	Gary, IndMrs. Raymond Howell	none		none
409	Grand Rapids, MichMrs. R. B. Rowland	68.00	2.12	52.77
410	Southeastern Ind Mrs. B. W. Bosserdet	18.75	.62	none
411	Indianapolis, IndMrs. E. J. Oertling	78.55	.53	131.85
412	Lafavette, IndMrs. Wm. I. Cole	79.75	1.77	86,30
413	Southwestern IndMrs. Vernal Klipsch	80.75	1.58	59,70
414	Southwestern Mich Mrs. Maurice Payne	6.65		9.15
415	Muncie, Ind Mrs. J. W. Davidson	14.15	1.28	new club
416	Northern Indiana-	5.75		5.35
417	Hillsdale, Mich Mrs. G. D. Andrews	55.40	3.46	22.45
418	Lansing-E. Lansing, Mich Mrs. A. T. Ambroson	1,90	.55	16.05
419	Jackson, Mich,-Mrs. Marcus Sharpe	4.25	.20	10.20
420	Shelbyville, Ind Mrs. Joseph Butler	none		2.15
120	Michigan A-Florrie Johns	34.25	.90	7.30
	Michigan B-Barbara Gerholz	70,55	1.81	38.15
	Michigan I-Helen Bogden	20.65	.48	31.15
	Indiana A-Barbara German	11.50	.36	14.70
	Indiana B-Carolyn Funk	37.20	.49	86.70
	Indiana I'-June Bird	110.70	2.04	84,75
	Indiana A-Evelyn Hynes	22.55	.49	4.10
	Indiana E-Barbara Brasmer	102.45	1.44	102.70
	Inchaile is protonic and included in the second sec	L'UNITES .		
	TOTAL FOR DELTA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	1,170.75		
	Delta Province Club Commissions Delta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$ 760.90 409.85
	TOTAL		*****	\$1,170.75

## EPSILON PROVINCE

	EPSILON PROVINCE		2.000	Sec. and
Clab .	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
500 501 502 503 504 505 506 508 509 510 511	Chattanooga, Tenn.—Edna Jacaway Columbia, Mo.—Mrs. H. E. Scurlock Kansas City, Mo.—Mrs. G. R. Challinor Knoxville-Little Pigeon—Mrs. J. N. Huff Louisville, Ky.—Mrs. I. F. Archer, Jr. Memphis, Tenn.—Mrs. Reed Knight Nashville, Tenn.—Mrs. Reed Knight Nashville, Tenn.—Mrs. Frank P. Cantwell St. Louis, Mo.—Mrs. Frank L. St. Cyr Springfield, Mo.—Mrs. Geo. A. Rozier Tri-State—Mrs. Galen Longnecker Missouri A—Rosemary Leitz Missouri B—Kathy Mirjanich Missouri F.—Pegy Atkins Kentucky A.—Estill Eskew Tennessee B—Elizabeth Nixon Tennessee I—Janis Hale	37.35 61.90 266.72 24.90 119.60 15.60 314.84 52.90 2.60 5.55 23.80 20.60 25.75 24.25 24.25 20.50 70.15 40.78	\$,73 1.82 1.55 1.56 2.13 .56 .47 2.34 1.01 .18 .42 .41 .64 .71 .52 1.16 1.01	\$ 42.00 83.10 225.75 66.45 86.47 12.40 16.00 173.20 71.05 23.45 none 1.50 19.25 15.45 28.70 none 38.35 42.90
	TOTAL FOR EPSILON PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	1,147.49		
	Epsilon Province Club Commissions Epsilon Province Active Chapter Commissions		****************	\$ 921.66 225.83
	TOTAL			\$1,147.49

## ZETA PROVINCE

	ZETA PROVINCE			
Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
600 601 603 604 605 606 607 608 609 610 611 613 615	Atlanta, Ga.—Mrs. Leon D. Howell Birmingham, Ala.—Mrs. Jas. E. Bagley DeLand, Fla.—Mrs. J. C. Bradley Jacksonville, Fla.—Kathleen Simpson Lakeland, Fla.—Ora C. Delay Miami, Fla.—Mrs. C. H. Summers Orlando, Fla.—Mrs. C. H. Summers Orlando, Fla.—Mrs. John Dickinson Tampa, Florida—Mrs. Malcolm Hall Ocala, Fla.—Mrs. Frank Bowen Mobile, Ala.—Mrs. Frank Bowen Mobile, Ala.—Mrs. R. W. Deshon Gainesville, Fla.—Eleanor Dooley Palm Beaches, Fla. Alabama A—Mary Allen Spencer Alabama B—Beverly Goodwin Florida A—Anna Stewart Florida B—Doris Jean Smith Florida F—Carolyn Alfred Georgia A—Teckla Stelling	25.00 42.05 30.70 15.00 49.65 57.25 5.45 1.75 37.45 11.72 3.25 2.00 78.57 26.25 12.35	\$1.15 .25 1.14 1.02 .83 1.05 .64 1.84 .13 3.40 .40 .18 .06 1.82 .82 .20 1.01 .29	\$ 12.00 13.67 26.25 44.20 1.25 19.15 58.30 33.55 28.55 2.30 new club new club new club new club 8.65 5.00 8.65 3.20 8.60
	TOTAL FOR ZETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	\$517.94		
	Zeta Province Club Commissions Zeta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$368.52 149.42
	Τοτλε			\$517.94

## ETA PROVINCE

Club		commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
	Avon, IllMrs. T. P. Brown		3.71	\$ 35.00
700	Beloit, Wis.—Mrs. Geo. L. Allen	11.25	.36	21.80
701	Carthage, Ill.—Miriam E. Williams	10.60	1.32	14.40
702	Champaign-Urbana, Ill,-Mrs. Joseph Ashbrook, Mrs. Charles	10.00	1.52	14.40
703	Jakowatz	64.65	.79	41.25
204	Chicago Business Women—Lucile Grover	9.45	.59	15.90
704	Chicago North-Mrs. P. C. Fisher	16.10	.59	17.50
705	Chicago South-Mrs. Merrill B. Townsend	28.70	.49	35.20
706	Chicago West Suburban-Mrs. G. W. Hayden	14.10	.29	26.00
707	Decatur, Ill,-Mrs. Paula Taylor	100.62	1.01	111.48
708	Du Page County-Mrs. J. G. Witte	7.35	.26	4.50
	Elgin, Ill.—Carole Collingbourne	36.25	2.01	56.10
710	Galesburg, Ill.—Mrs. C. V. Swank	8.95	.15	11.65
711	Jacksonville, Ill.—Amy Burnham Onken	16.70	1.39	8.95
712	Joliet, Ill.—Mrs. W. C. Lynch	13.85	.92	15.90
713	Joher, III.—Mrs. W. C. Lynch	23.55	.58	26.10
714	Madison, Wis.—Mrs. D. É. Williams Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. Robert Rauh	157.35	1.65	57.60
715	Milwaukee, Wis.—Mrs. Robert Raun	44.73	1.78	
716	Monmouth, IllMrs. R. M. Grier	27.35	.31	40.25
717	North Shore—Mrs. W. D. George Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.—Mrs. A. Short	17.45	.52	35.85
718	Peoria, III.—Mrs. Louis Tinthoff	39.40	.28	44.55
719		20.25	1.01	44.55
720	Rockford, IllMrs. Edward M. Fox	3.75	.12	
721	Springfield, IllKathleen Cline	28.00	no club	4.45
722	Amy Burnham Onken	23.50	2.35	39.10
724	Fox River Valley, Wis.—Mrs. Paul Radtke	4.45	.31	16.05
726		15.35	.27	6.45
	Wisconsin Alpha-Barbara Janson	45.20	.75	11.35
	Wisconsin Beta-Patricia A. Tracy	6.55	.09	16.20
	Wisconsin Gamma-Joan Donaldson	11.28	.23	5.40
	Illinois Alpha-Susan McDougall	14.95	.26	3.50
	Illinois Beta-Delta-Mary Ellen McNamara			15.65
	Illinois Epsilon-Patricia Vos	9.20 24.55	.11	25.35
	Illinois Zeta-Joyce Bresee	53.25	1.08	10.05
	Illinois Eta-Jean Keller			3.30
	Illinois Theta—Janet Whalen	14.55	.30	23.00
	TOTAL FOR ETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	1,000.13		
	Eta Province Club Commissions			\$ 777.25
	Eta Province Club Commissions			194.88
	Amy Burnham Onken		***************	28.00
	Any burman Onken concentration of the second second			20.00
	Тотац			\$1 000 13
	1 Mills 10-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-11-1			

#### THETA PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
800	Ames, Iowa-Mrs. John Monroe	\$ 58.75	\$1.67	\$ 30,95
801	Burlington, Iowa-Mrs. J. H. Everingham	13,90	.81	8.65
802	Cedar Rapids, Iowa-Mrs. W. J. Foster		1.92	61.18
803	Council Bluffs, Iowa-Mrs. J. Andersen	none		1.20
804	Des Moines, Iowa-Mrs, J. F. Quigley	21.05	.43	23.10
805	Duluth, MinnSuperior, Wis Mrs. James Fisher	21.90	1.04	24.95
806	Grand Forks, N.DMrs. J. A. Ferguson		.30	5.70
807	Indianola, Iowa-Mrs, Ryle S, McKee		.78	7.35
808	Iowa City, Iowa-Mrs. Whitney Foster	15.80	.36	24.60
809	Minneapolis (afternoon-Mrs. G. R. Matchan	60.90	.85	31.50
810	Mt. Pleasant, Iowa-Mrs. C. S. Rogers	105.23	3.00	108.25
811	St. Paul, Minn,-Mrs. J. D. LaZerte	41.02	1.47	51.30
812	Sioux City, Iowa-Lou Schwartz		.10	21.85
815	Winnipeg, Man., CanPeggy Motrison	35.20	1.10	49.10
816	Tri City-Mrs. A. E. Marwick		.37	none
817	Minneapolis, Minn. (evening)-Janet Stewart	13.50	.64	16.40
	Manitoba Alpha-	none		none
	North Dakota Alpha-Mrs. W. E. Pond	none		2.30
	Minnesota Alpha-Marlys Merrell	10.20		12.00
	Iowa Alpha-Audrey Grim	28.05	1.27	22.95
	Jowa Beta-Deborah Stoner	9.40	.28	15.40
	Iowa Gamma-Claire Stark	5.50	.10	27.40
	Iowa Zeta-Patti Ricketts	3.75	.06	7.60
	TOTAL FOR THETA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	\$545.40		
	Theta Province Club Commissions Theta Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$488.50 56.90
	Тотац			\$545.40

64

### IOTA PROVINCE

IOTA PROVINCE			
	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
900       Boulder, Colo.—Mrs. N. C. Winchester       \$         901       Casper, Wyo.—Mrs. Donald Tempest       \$         902       Celvenne, Wyo.—Mrs. Otis F. Halverson       \$         903       Colorado Springs, Colo.—Mrs, M, A. Ziegler       \$         904       Denver, Colo.—Mrs, John Ryland       \$         905       Laramie, Wyo.—Pat Sullivan       \$         906       Lawrence, Kan.—Ruth Pears Skinner       \$         907       Lincoln, Neb.—Mrs. J. W. Hyland       \$         908       Manhattan, Kan.—Mrs, Max Burk       \$         909       Omaha, Neb.—Betty Ortman       \$         911       Pueblo, Colo.—Mrs, R. H. Finney       \$         912       Topeka, Kan.—Mrs. Carl Shankland       \$         913       Vermillion, S.D.—Mrs, R. M. Konegi       \$         914       Wichita, Kan.—Mrs. Robt, H. Kirk       \$         915       Kansas City, Kan.—Mrs. Chas, R. Bevan       \$         916       Hutchinson, Kan.—Mrs. P. Lamb       \$         917       Salt Lake City, Utah—Esther Nelson       \$         918       Ogden, Utah—Mrs. P. Lamb       \$         918       Ogden, Utah—Mancy Cadwell       \$         919       Colorado Alpha—Nancy Cadwell       \$ <td></td> <td>******</td> <td> 308.10</td>		******	308.10

#### KAPPA PROVINCE

1001       Ardmore, Oklahoma-Mrs, T. R. Lane       none	Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
1002         Austin, Tex,—Mrs, R. M. Hill         57,30         86         42.10           1003         Pauls Valley, Okla,—Mrs, Roger Blake         14,30         1,30         1.50           1005         Pauls Valley, Okla,—Mrs, Roger Blake         14,30         1,30         1.50           1006         Dullas, Tex,—Mrs, Chatter R, Cole, Joan Temple (ass't.)         457,22         3.19         353.77           1006         Ferteville, Ark,—Mrs, Robert Stell         16.5         07         14.85           1011         Houston, Tex,—Mrs, Robert Stell         48.65         31         50.40           1011         Little Rock, Ark.—Mars, B. C. Hays         26.20         1.01         14.85           1012         Muskogee, Okla,—Mrs, A. G. Hays         26.00         1.20         43.35           1013         Norman, Okla,—Mrs, A. L. Pancrast         none         -         none           1014         Norman, Okla,—Mrs, A. L. Pancrast         none         -         none           1017         Nita Hill Stark—Mrs, Curtis Plumly         9.00         .23         40.90           1018         San Antonio, Tex,—Mrs, Leo C. Tyman         none         -         none           1018         San Antonio, Tex,—Mrs, Ruth Morgan         113.80         .25 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>\$ 4.70</td>					\$ 4.70
1003       Pauls Valley, Okla,—Mrs, Roger Blake       14.30       1.30       1.50         1004       Corpus Christ, Tex.—Mrs, F. C. Allen, Jr.       30.80       90       20.80         1005       Dullas, Tex.—Mrs, R. Callen, Jr.       30.80       90       20.80         1006       Fayetteville, Ark.—Mrs, Ralph Goff       6.60       23       9.60         1007       F. Smith, Ark.—Mrs, John Durilla       1.65       .07       14.85         1010       Heits, Ark.—Mrs, A. Ge Hays       26.20       1.01       14.70         1011       Little Rock, Ark.—Marka E. Dellinger       12.05       .37       19.75         1012       Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs, A. G. Hays       26.00       1.20       43.35         1014       Norman, Okla.—Mrs, Lovid Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1015       Okla.Mcs, A. L. Pancrast       none        none         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs, Lov C. Tyman       none        none         1019       Shreveport, La,—Mrs, Low C. Tyman       none        none         1021       Texarkana, Ark.       N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs, Ruth Morgan       113.80       2		Ardmore, Oklahoma-Mis, J. K. Lanc		96	
1004         Garput Christi, Tex.—Mrs. F. C. Allen, Jr.         30.80         .90         20.80           1005         Dallas, Tex.—Mrs. Chester R. Cole, Joan Temple (ass't.)         457.22         3.19         .333.77           1006         Fayetteville, Ark.—Mrs. Ralph Goff         6.60         .23         .960           1007         Ft. Smith, Ark.—Mrs. John Darilla         1.65         .07         14.85           1010         Houston, Tex.—Mrs. Robert Stell         48.65         .31         .00.40           1011         Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. David Cruse         26.00         1.01         14.70           1014         Norman, Okla.—Mrs. A. G. Hays         .26.00         1.20         43.35           1016         Oknahome City, Okla.—Mrs. E. B. Lawrence         44.15         .35         38.65           1016         Oknahome City, Okla.—Mrs. Curits Plumly         .9.00         .23         40.90           1018         San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. Low C. Tyman         none         —         none           1019         Shreveport, Ia.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette         16.75         .50         34.30           1021         Tetas, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes         44.30         .53         .26.90           1022         Telas, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Morgan		Austin, Iex.—Mis, K. M. Hill			
1003       Dailas, Tex.—Mis, Chester R. Cole, Joan Temple (ass't.)       457.22       3.19       333.77         1006       Fayetteville, Ark.—Mrs, Ralph Goff       6.60       .23       9.60         1007       Fr. Smith, Ark.—Mrs, John Durilla       1.65       .07       14.85         1010       Houston, Tex.—Mrs, Robert Stell       48.65       .31       50.40         1011       Little Rock, Ark.—Martha E. Dellinger       12.05       .37       19.75         1012       Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs, A. G. Hays       26.20       1.01       14.70         1014       Norman, Okla.—Mrs, David Cruse       .26.00       1.20       43.35         1015       Okla.Mis, A. L. Pancrast       none       —       none         1016       Okmulgee, Okla.—Mrs, Low C. Tyman       none					
1006         Fayetteville, Ark.—Mrs. Ralph Goff         6.60         23         9.60           1007         Ft. Smith, Ark.—Mrs. John Durilla         1.65         007         14.85           1010         Houston, Tex.—Mrs. Robert Stell         48.65         31         19.75           1011         Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. R. Gehert Stell         12.05         37         19.75           1011         Little Rock, Ark.—Mrs. A. G. Hays         26.20         1.01         14.70           1014         Norman, Okla.—Mrs. A. E. B. Lawrence         44.15         .35         38.65           1016         Okralugee, Okla.—Mrs. Curtis Plumly         9.00         .23         40.90           1018         San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. Leo C. Tyman         none         —         none           1019         Shreveport, La.—Mrs. A. N. Barrette         16.75         .50         34.30           1021         Texarkana, Ark.—         none         —         none           1022         Tolas, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes         44.30         .32         36.90           1023         Tyler, Tex.—         .425         .06         none           1024         Silwater, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan         113.80         2.58         7.55 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>					
1007       Fr. Smith, Ark.—Mrs. John Durilla       1.65       .07       14.85         1010       Houston, Tex.—Mrs. Robert Stell       48.65       .31       50.40         1011       Little Rock, Ark.—Martha E. Dellinger       12.05       .37       19.75         1012       Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs. David Cruse       26.00       1.01       14.70         1014       Norman, Okla.—Mrs. David Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1016       Okmulgee, Okla.—Mrs. A. L. Pancrast       none       —       none         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs. Curtis Plumly       9.00       .23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1021       Texarkana, Ark.—       none       —       none       —         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       .258       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Mars. Malt Dell       46.25       .0.06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       13.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heffin       7.75       .35       .500         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25 <td></td> <td>Dallas, TexMrs. Chester R. Cole, Joan Temple (ass't.)</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Dallas, TexMrs. Chester R. Cole, Joan Temple (ass't.)			
1010       Houston, Tex.—Mrs. Robert Stell       48.65       31       50.40         1011       Little Rock, Ark.—Martha E. Dellinger       12.05       37       19.75         1011       Little Rock, Ark.—Martha E. Dellinger       12.05       37       19.75         1011       Norman, Okla.—Mrs. A. G. Hays       26.00       1.20       43.35         1014       Norman, Okla.—Mrs. A. I. Pancrast       none		Fayetteville, Ark,-Mrs. Ralph Goff			
1011       Little R.ck, Ark.—Martha E. Dellinger       12.05       57       19.75         1012       Muskogee, Okla.—Mrs, A. G. Hays       26.20       1.01       14.70         1014       Norman, Okla.—Mrs, A. G. Hays       26.00       1.20       43.35         1015       Okla.Mirs, D. Vic Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1016       Okmulgee, Okla.—Mirs, A. Pancrast       none       —       none         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs, Curtis Plumly       9.00       .23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mirs, Lo C. Tyman       none       —       none         1019       Shreveport, La.—Mirs, A. N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1021       Texarkana, Ark.—       none       —       none       —         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mirs, Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Mirs, With Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Mirs, Wath Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1030       New Orleans, La.—       Mirs, Law       10.45       —       new club         1031       Wichits Falls, Tex.—Mirs, Irrank Jones       9.65	1007		1.65		
1012       Muskogee, OklaMrs, A. G. Hays       26.20       1.01       14.70         1014       Norman, OklaMrs, David Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1016       OklaMrs, R. B. Lawrence       26.00       1.20       43.35         1016       OklaMrs, K. B. B. Lawrence       44.15       .35       38.65         1016       Okmulgee, OklaMrs, A. I. Pancrast       none	1010	Houston, Tex Mrs. Robert Stell	48.65		50.40
1012       Muskogee, OklaMrs, A. G. Hays       26.20       1.01       14.70         1014       Norman, OklaMrs, David Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1015       Oklahoma City, OklaMrs, E. B. Lawrence       44.15       .35       38.65         1016       Okmulgee, OklaMrs, A. L. Pancrast       none        none         1017       Nita Hill Stark-Mrs, Curtis Plumly       9.00       .23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, TexMrs, Leo C. Tyman       none        none         1012       Texarkana, Ark       none        none         1012       Tulsa, OklaMrs. A. N. Barnette       none        none         1012       Tusa, OklaMrs. Rub Morgan       113.80       .32       36.90         1012       Tulsa, OklaMrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, LaMrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, LaMrs. U. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1031       Wichita Falls, TexMrs. J. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1033       Secola, ArkMrs. Walter Dell       4.25       .0			12.05	.37	19.75
1014       Norman, Okla,—Mrs, David Cruse       26.00       1.20       43.35         1015       Oklahoma City, Okla,—Mrs, E. B. Lawrence       44.15       .35       mone         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs, A. L. Pancrast       none        none         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs, Curtis Plumly       9.00       .23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs, Leo C. Tyman       none        none         1019       Shreveport, La.—Mrs, A. N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1021       Texarkana, Ark—       none        none         1022       Tulsa, Okla,—Mrs. Rube C. Tyman       none        none         1021       Texarkana, Ark—       none        none         1022       Tulsa, Okla,—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Walter Dell       42.55       3.06       none         1030       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. Walter Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1030       New Orleans, La.— Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club<			26.20	1.01	14.70
1015       Oklahoma City, Okla.—Mrs. E. B. Lawrence       44.15       .35       38.65         1016       Okmulgee, Okla.—Mrs. A. L. Pancrast       none       —       none         1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs. Curis Plumly       9.00       .23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. Leo C. Tyman       none       —       none         1019       Shreveport, La.—Mrs. Leo C. Tyman       none       —       none         1021       Texarkana, Ark.—       none       —       none       —         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes       44.30       .32       36.90         1023       Tyler, Tex.—       none       —       none			26.00	1.20	43.35
1016       Okmulgee, Okla.—Mrs, A. I. Pancrast       none		Oklahoma City Okla Mrs F B Lawrence		35	
1017       Nita Hill Stark—Mrs. Curtis Plumly       9.00       23       40.90         1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs. Leo C. Tyman       none       none       none         1019       Shreveport, La.—Mirs, A. N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1012       Texarkana, Ark.—       none        none         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes       44.30       .52       36.90         1023       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heflin       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       5.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1030       Oscola, Ark.—Mrs. V. D. Fergus       10.45					
1018       San Antonio, Tex.—Mrs, Leo C. Tyman       none					
1019       Shreveport, La.—Mrs. A. N. Barnette       16.75       .50       34.30         1021       Texarkana, Ark.—       none         none        none        none					
1021       Texarkana, Ark.—       none       —       none         1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes       44.30       .32       36.90         1023       Tyler, Tex.—       none       —       none         1026       Stillwater, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heflin       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       Nichta Falls, Tex.—Mrs, Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Oscola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1031       Wichta Falls, Tex.—Mrs, I., T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs, I., T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Ark.—Mrs, Rusel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs, Rusel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs, Rusel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         0klahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75       .47					
1022       Tulsa, Okla.—Mrs. Lowell Stokes       44.30       .32       36.90         1023       Tyler, Tex.—       none       —       none       —         1026       Stillwater, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Mrs. Watter Dell       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Watter Dell       46.25       .06       none         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Krank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1038       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. Erank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1038       Soceola, Ark.—Mrs. L. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. L. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. Loc H. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mirs, Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mirs, Russel H. Lewis       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Texas A—Jean Williams       .35.25       .54       27.25 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>					
1023       Tyler, Tex.—       none       —       none         1026       Stillwater, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heffin       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—       4.25       .06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs, Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Cklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       33.25       .41       .35.75         Texas A—Alice Kiech       .22.95       .41       .35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       27.25         TorAL YOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .51.208.08 </td <td></td> <td>Texarkana, Ark</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Texarkana, Ark			
1026       Stillwater, Okla.—Mrs. Ruth Morgan       113.80       2.58       73.55         1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heflin       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1030       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .44       15.85         1030       Soceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. L. T. Matin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Rusel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Rusel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Rusel H. Lewis       17.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       .22.95       .41       .35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .54       27.25         Texas A—J					
1028       Baton Rouge, La.—Marshall Ann Heffin       7.75       .35       5.80         1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       0.06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1035       Midland, Tex.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         0Klahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       .22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       27.25         Texas A—Jean Williams       .3.90	1023				
1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—       4.25       .06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Prank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. J. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         008       Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         0klahoma A—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       27.25         Texas A—Jean Williams       .35.90       .088       47.25         TorAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .51.208.08       .088       47.25         TorAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .51.208.08       .51.046.92       .51.046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions       .161.10       .6	1026	Stillwater, Okla Mrs. Ruth Morgan			
1029       McAlester, Okla.—Mrs. Walter Dell       46.25       3.08       27.95         1030       New Orleans, La.—       4.25       .06       none         1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Prank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. J. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         008       Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         0klahoma A—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       27.25         Texas A—Jean Williams       .35.90       .088       47.25         TorAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .51.208.08       .088       47.25         TorAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .51.208.08       .51.046.92       .51.046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions       .161.10       .6	1028	Baton Rouge, LaMarshall Ann Heflin			5.80
1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45	1029	McAlester, Okla,-Mrs, Walter Dell		3.08	27.95
1031       Wichita Falls, Tex.—Mrs. Frank Jones       9.65       .43       15.85         1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45	1030	New Orleans, La,	4.25	.06	none
1008       Osceola, Ark.—Mrs. W. D. Fergus       10.45       —       new club         1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. L. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1035       Midland, Tex.—Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       17.0       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Texas A—Alice Kiech       22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .54       27.25         Texas A—Jeila Flourney       none		Wichita Falls, TexMrs, Frank Jones	9.65	.43	15.85
1033       Fort Worth, Tex.—Mrs. L. T. Martin, Jr.       15.75       .36       29.05         1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs. C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1035       Midland, Tex.—Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         00138       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B.—Jane McMinimy       .22.75       .47       .22.25         Arkansas A.—Alice Kiech       .22.95       .41       .35.75         Texas A.—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       .27.25         Texas A.—Jean Williams       .35.25       .34       .27.25         Texas B.—Shirley Clark       .66.55       1.10       .56.90         Louisiana A.—Leila Flourney       .00ne       —       .0088       47.25         TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       .\$1,046.92       .\$1,046.92       \$1,046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions			10.45		new club
1034       Waco, Tex.—Mrs, C. F. Miller       7.90       .24       5.35         1035       Midland, Tex.—Mrs, Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs, Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         008       Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       .1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       .1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       .1.70       .02       3.75         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       .22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .34       27.25         Texas B—Shirley Clark		Fort Worth Tex Mrs L T Martin Ir	15.75	.36	29.05
1035       Midland, Tex.—Mrs. Jack M. Moore       21.35       .89       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         1038       Eldorado, Ark.—Mrs. Russel H. Lewis       14.80       —       new club         051       Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       .22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       .33.25       .54       27.25         Texas B—Shirley Clark       .66.55       1.10       .56.90         Louisiana A—Leila Flourney					5.35
1038       Eldorado, ArkMrs, Russel H. Lewis       14.80		Midland Tex Mrs. Jack M. Moore			
Oklahoma A—Joan Roberts       1.70       .02       3.75         Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       .47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       22.95       .41       35.75         Texas A—Jean Williams       33.25       .54       27.25         Texas A—Jean Williams       .66,55       1.10       56.90         Louisiana A—Leila Flourney       none		Eldarado Ark Mer Buccol H Lewis			
Oklahoma B—Jane McMinimy       32.75       47       32.25         Arkansas A—Alice Kiech       22.95       41       35.75         Texas A—Alice Kiech       33.25       .54       27.25         Texas B—Shirley Clark       66.55       1.10       56.90         Louisiana A—Leila Flourney       none	1038				
Arkansas AAlice Kiech       22.95       41       35.75         Texas AJean Williams       33.25       .34       27.25         Texas BShirley Clark       66,55       1.10       56.90         Louisiana ALeila Flourney       none       —       none         Louisiana BJune Chauvin       3.90       .088       47.25         TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       \$1,208.08       \$1,046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions					
Texas A—Jean Williams       33.25       .54       27.25         Texas B—Shirley Clark       66.55       1.10       56.90         Louisiana A—Leila Flourney       none       none       none         Louisiana B—June Chauvin       3.90       .088       47.25         TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       \$1,208.08       \$1,046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions					
Texas B—Shirley Clark       66.53       1.10       56.90         Louisiana A—Leila Flourney       none       none       none         Louisiana B—June Chauvin       3.90       .088       47.25         TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       \$1,208.08       \$1,046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions					
Louisiana A—Leila Flourney       none       none         Louisiana B—June Chauvin       3.90       .088       47.25         TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50       \$1,208.08       \$1,046.92         Kappa Province Club Commissions					
Louisiana B—June Chauvin         3.90         .088         47.25           TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50         \$1,208.08         \$1,046.92           Kappa Province Club Commissions         \$1,046.92         161.10					
TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50					
Kappa Province Club Commissions		Louisiana B-June Chauvin	3.90	.088	47.25
Kappa Province Active Chapter Commissions		TOTAL FOR KAPPA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	1,208.08		
Тотац		Kappa Province Club Commissions Kappa Province Active Chapter Commissions			\$1,046.92 161.10
		Тоты			\$1,208.02

#### LAMBDA PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-30	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
1100	Boise, Idaho-Mrs, L. D. Wilbur	\$ 44.05	\$1.76	\$ 50.85
1101	Bozeman, Mont,-Mrs, E. C. Anderson			1.00
1102	Calgary, Alta., CanMrs. E. E. Gilbert		.19	10.75
1103	Corvallis, OreMrs, Robert Ingalls		.17	3.55
1104	Edmonton, Alta., CanMts, J. W. Neilson		1.25	none
1105	Eugene, OreMrs. B. I. Claska		1.11	15.85
1106	Olympia, Wash,-Mrs, Donald Downard		.51	14.05
1107	Portland, OreMrs. Burton Beck		.76	57.65
1108	Salem, OreMrs. Geo. Schroeher		.53	46.20
1109	Seattle, Wash,-Mrs. V. A. Menella	20.92	.15	73.85
1110	Spokane, Wash,-Mrs. C. G. Sherwin		.21	13.60
1112	Wenatchee, Wash,-Mrs. Harry Fenton	11.15	.55	24.00
1113	Yakima, WashMrs. Gerald Smith	76.95	2.48	70.85
1114	Everett, Wash,-Mrs. Harold Hall	6.60	.36	24.80
1115	Butte-Anaconda, Mont			none
1116	Billings, Mont,	none		none
1118	Tacoma, WashMrs. L. H. Clumpner	37.80	.45	31.85
1119	Pullman, Wash Mrs. H. P. Wheeler	18.25	.83	6,40
1120	Vancouver, B.C., Can,-Mrs. R. A. Fry	none		none
1121	Medford, Ore	none	_	none
1122	Bellingham, Wash,-	2.25	.17	new club
	Montana A-Carlyn Holmes			1.75
	Alberta A-Marion Kulak	none		7.65
	Idaho A-Norma See	1.00	.02	1.05
	Washington A-Nancy Prentice	12.95	.20	7.95
	Washington B-Jean Miller	37.20	.98	10.10
	Washington I-Janis Peterson	39.03	.79	121.07
	Oregon A-Nan Humphrey	8.15	.16	5.30
	Oregon B-Patricia McCumsey	7.50	.13	4.45
	Oregon I-Sue Mellor	none	-	7.75
	TOTAL FOR LAMBDA PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50	\$565.73		
	Lambda Province Club Commissions			
	TOTAL			\$565.75

### MU PROVINCE

Club	No. Name of Club, Chapter, and Chairman	Commissions Earned 1949-50	Commissions Earned Per Capita 1949-50	Commissions Earned Last Year 1948-49
1200 1201 1202 1203 1205 1206 1207 1208 1210 1211 1212	Albuquerque, N.M. —Mrs. A. M. Granum Berkeley, Calif.—Mrs. Percy Welch El Paso, Tex.—Mrs. Thomas Smith Fresno, Calif.—Mrs. Oscar Reeg Honolulu, T.H.—Mrs. M. J. Coltrin Long Beach, Calif.—Mrs. J. K. Grant Los Angeles, Calif.—Mrs. Jos. P. Copp (pres.) Reno, Nev.—Mrs. Ormande C. Bell Palo Alto, Calif.—Mrs. F. M. Smith Pasadena, Calif.—Mrs. L. J. Arnold Phoenix, Ariz.—Mrs. J. R. Cullison	13.65 5.60 	\$1.67 .12 .24 1.92 .60 .55 .40 .44 1.14 .47 .18	\$ 35,35 13,35 7,20 22,95 26,85 none 78,35 8,00 46,20 82,95 3,50
1213 1215 1216 1217	San Jose, CalifIda Karsten	17.45 39.80 145.35	1.49 .33 .56 6.60	54.45 49.22 35.05 116.95
1218 1219 1220 1221 1223 1225 1226 1226 1227 1228 1229 1231	<ul> <li>Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif,—Mrs. Harold McClellan and jorie Hall</li> <li>Santa Monica, Calif,—Mrs. H. K. Hirschman</li> <li>Tucson, Ariz,—Mrs. K. J. Patzman</li> <li>Marin County, Calif,—Mrs. J. B. Chamberlain</li> <li>San Mateo County—Mrs. J. E. Flack</li> <li>South Coast—Mrs. D. K. Brown</li> <li>San Fernando Valley, Calif,—Mrs. R. Thayer</li> <li>Glendale, Calif,—</li> <li>Glendale, Calif,—Iteleanor P. Baylis</li> <li>Contra Costa, Calif,—Mrs. John Sommer</li> <li>Solano County, Calif,—Mrs. John Sommer</li> <li>Solano County, Calif,—Mrs. John Sommer</li> <li>California B—Winifred Woodward</li> <li>California A—Carol Bird</li> <li>California A—Ario Janes</li> <li>Nevada A—Shirley Merwin</li> <li>New Mexico A—Jacqueline Casler</li> </ul>	Mar 40.45 48.40 13.15 25.75 23.25 77.39 none 8.95 5.10 1.75 10.05 2.25 14.75 6.15 7.20 18.85 12.35	1.26.94.37.18.88.80.76.42.19.17.16.03.26.10.17.29.24	60.25 43.40 10.10 1.95 20.10 2.50 31.10 2.25 3.15 new club 23.90 6.95 6.10 new chapter 59.40 none 3.15
	TOTAL FOR MU PROVINCE FOR YEAR 1949-50 Mu Province Club Commissions			\$857.34
	Mu Province Active Chapter Commissions			71.60
	TOTAL		••••••	\$928.94
	MISCELLANEOU			
COM	MISSIONS ON ORDERS SENT TO THE PI BETA PHI MAGAZINE AGE	NCY WITHOUT INST	TRUCTIONS AS TO	WHOM

## **CENTRAL OFFICE REPORT FOR 1949-1950**

Arizona Α California Γ California Δ

Florida B Illinois Z Iowa B

Kansas A

Connecticut A Illinois A Illinois B-A

THE COST of maintaining the Central Office and purchasing supplies for sale to members of the fraternity was as follows from August 1, 1949 through May 31, 1950:

Salaries	\$12,554.32
Rent	1,875.00
Telephone & Telegraph	
Office Equipment	68.26
Office Supplies	
Office Expense	
Robes	
Ribbon	421.33
Chapter & Club Supplies	2,584.87
Withholding Tax	1,554.38
Social Security	514.60
Excise Tax	73.01
Unemployment Compensation	
Refunds	1,110.89
Acct's Receivable-returned checks	
Peity Cash	
Express & Postage	1,718.55
Miscellaneous	26.80
Arrows	
Acct's Receivable-refunds	49.57
Foreign Exchange	
Bank Charge	0.03
Total	\$25,162.77

Receipts from chapter, individuals and alumnæ clubs for supplies, express and postage, telegrams and so forth, fees and dues, Emma Harper Turner Fund, Scholarship Fund were distributed on the record as follows:

Arrows	6.76
Cook Books	496.70
Record Books	174.35
Song Books	199.00
Jewelry	40,019.72
Initiation Fees	85.040.00
Alumnæ Dues	18,874.00
Senior Dues	868.00
Chapter & Club Supplies	888.20
Express & Postage	197.09
Magazine Agency-salaries	1,936.50
Magazine Agency-metered mail	10.71
Stationery	952.53
Ribbon	232.43
Commissions-Balfour	1,092.64
Acct's Receivable	1,673.02
Acct's Receivable-returned checks	135.68
Bond & ARROW	
Foreign Exchange Refunds Due	.08
Refunds Due	1,199.68
Robes	697.50
Social Security & Withholding from	
Mrs. Prouty, Mrs. Carey & Directory	
Fund	692.74
Overpays	1.06
Emma Harper Turner Fund	1,295.50
Scholarship Fund	885.00
New Chapter Supplies	185.00
Miscellaneous	4.00
Bank Charge	.15
Insurance-Fire loss to awnings	22.30
Total	158,215.34

#### MEMBERSHIP STATISTICS AS OF JUNE 1, 1950

 Total Initiates to date
 52,095

 Total Initiates for year 1949-50
 2,321

 Total Members of Pi Beta Phi now living and in good
 40,056

ing 1949-50 is as follows:

Year	Chapters	Initiates
1937-38	80	1,354
1938-39	81	1,331
1939-40	81	1,397
1940-41	83	1,513
1941-42	83	1,494
1942-43	85	1,699
1943-44	87	1,643
1944-45	90	2,019
1945-46	90	1,889
1946-47	92	1,908
1947-48	93	1,851
1948-49	94	2,024
1949-50	97	2,321

ORDER OF GOLDEN ARROW INFORMATION Number of letters returned to Central Office marked DECEASED 1 TOTAL GOLDEN ARROW CERTIFICATES ISSUED TO DATE 736

#### STANDARDIZATION AND SURVEY CHAPTERS RECEIVING EXCEPTIONALLY HIGH GRADES COOPERATION (100% PERFECT)

COOP BRAILON	11070 ILBIELI
Kansas A	*Oklahoma B 9.82
Wisconsin B 9.95	*Pennsylvania B 9.82
Indiana E 9.86	Kansas B 9.80
California Z 9.83	*Arkansas A 9.73
*Alabama B 9.82	*New York A 9.73
*Connecticut A 9.82	*Illinois 0 9.65
*Massachusetts B 9.82	*Nebraska B 9.65
*Missouri B 9.82	Iowa B 9.60

(\*indicates tie)

#### EXTRA-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES

	(20% out	of a possible 20%)
alifornia Г		Iowa B
Ilinois Z		Maryland A
Ilinois O		Michigan B
ndiana A		Missouri A
ndiana B		Nova Scotia A
ndiana T		Oregon A
ndiana A		Virginia A
ndiana E		

COOPERATION WITH CENTRAL OFFICE (5% out of a possible 5%)

	1370	out	01	a .	possible 5701
Alabama B					Massachusetts B
Arkansas A					Michigan A
California B					Michigan B
California I					Michigan <b>Г</b>
California A					Missouri A
California E					Missouri B
California Z					Missouri Г
Colorado B					Nebraska B
Connecticut A					Nevada A
D.C. A					New York A
Florida A					New York F
Florida B					New York A
Florida T					
					Ohio A
Georgia A					Ohio B
Illinois A					Ohio E
Illinois B-A					Ohio Z
Illinois Z					Oklahoma A
Illinois H					Oklahoma B
Illinois O					Pennsylvania B
Indiana A					Pennsylvania T
Indiana B					South Carolina A
Indiana F					South Dakota A
Indiana A					Tennessee A
Indiana E					Tennessee B
Iowa B					Texas A
lows Z					Texas B
Kansas A					Virginia Г
Kansas B					Washington B
Maryland A					and an

INTERNAL ORGANIZATION (15% out of a possible 15%) Maryland B Missouri I Nova Scotia A Ohio B Ontario A Virginia Γ

#### FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (an average of from two to four grades 5% out of a possible5%) Arizona A Arkansas A California Δ Colorado B Illinois Z Indiana A ĥ.

Indiana	в
Indiana	Г
Indiana	Δ
Indiana	E
Kansas	в
	Indiana Indiana

		and the second		And the second second		Same De Miller	
Maine A		Ontario B		Illinois O	14	Nova Scotia A	31
Maryland		Oregon B		Indiana A	17	Ohio A	16
Michigan		Tennessee B		Indiana B	32	Ohio B	31
Michigan I	3	Texas A		Indiana Г	19	Ohio A	25
Michigan	Г	Texas B		Indiana A	37	Ohio E	27
Missouri Г		Vermont A		Indiana E	29	Ohio Z	21
Ohio A		Vermont B		Iowa A	12	Oklahoma A	31
Ohio B		Virginia A		Iowa B	10	Oklahoma B	26
Ohio E		Washington A		Iowa Γ	34	Ontario A	16
Oklahoma	A	Wisconsin A		Iowa Z	40	Ontario B	15
Oklahoma	B	Wisconsin B		Kansas A	19	A	24
transforma	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	o countra e		Kansas B	24	A	28
	C	tions I am Country		R	15	0	25
	CHAPTERS REC	EIVING LOW GRADES			13	Beneralized in B	17
	COOPERATION W	TTH CENTRAL OFFICE			15		
		perfect)			37	Pennsylvania Г	16
						South Carolina A	8
	No chap	ter below 3.50		Manitoba A	12	South Dakota A	19
				Maryland A	27	Tennessee A	19
	INTERNAL	ORGANIZATION		Maryland B	21	Tennessee B	22
	(159	6 perfect)		Massachusetts A	12	Tennessee Г	31
				Massachusetts B	23	Texas A	43
	chapters receivi	ng grade below 7.50		Michigan A	18	Texas B	35
Iowa A		North Dakota A		Michigan B	17	Utah A	22
				Michigan Г	32	Vermont A	21
CH	PTER INITIAT	ES FOR YEAR 1949-1950		Minnesota A	20	Vermont B	17
	in the internet.			Missouri A	24	Virginia A	31
Alabama A		1 Connecticut A	32	Missouri B	20	Virginia Г	29
Alabama I	5 5	1 D.C. A	18	Missouri Г	9	Washington A	18
Alberta A		4 Florida A	18	Montana A	13	Washington B	13
Arizona A		4 Florida B	23	Nebraska B	26	Washington Г	44
Arkansas A		7 Florida Γ	9	Nevada A	17	West Virginia A	20
California		0 Georgia A	27	New Mexico A	21	Wisconsin A	18
	Γ 1		16	New York A	17	Wisconsin B	21
	Δ 2		21	New York T	24	Wisconsin Г	22
	E 13		15	New York A	0	Wyoming A	21
California			28	North Carolina A	24		
Colorado A			19	North Carolina B	19	Total	321
Colorado H			22	North Dakota A	11		12et
Colorado t		a tunnora in concentration		stores areadia de resse			

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

## "If I Were a Freshman Again"

By a GREYBEARD OF FORTY

If I were going to college next year, I would aim for:

1. A letter in athletics—Because play is an essential part of life. Athletic contests some of them—are play at its best for a normal, healthy man.

2. A grade average of "B"—Grade "C" or "D" usually means shoddy work and that's bad habit. "A" for me would require a grind and neglect of life—which I refuse. "B" is all that's left.

3. Time for some real friendships, both men and women-Life's chief value finally is friends. These four years must not be friendless or hurriedly, superficially "friendly."

4. Some real piece of service on the campus or in the community-A great growing selfish life-"There ain't no such animal."

5. To do well what I do—It's a slow college that has less than fifty extra-curricular activities on the campus. Well, about forty-six of these I would let the other fellow run and I would "saw wood" on the few that seemed to me of the most value.

Would I date and "Say It With Flowers?" Sure, but I wouldn't talk myself hoarse saying it.

Would I join a fraternity if I had a chance? By all means, for through the medium of the fraternity I would be able more easily to attain those other things for which I would aim.

Fraternity Month, June 1950

68

# Settlement School Reports

## CHAIRMAN OF THE SETTLEMENT SCHOOL COMMITTEE

IN VIRGINIA lives a wood-carver whose output runs heavily to bears. He carves them swiftly and unerringly from almost any sort of wood. Each one has a remarkably individual bearishness. "I don't see how you can do it so easily," said one as she watched his quick knife. "Well, ma'am," explained the wood-carver, "I just look at a little block of wood 'til I see the b'ar; then I cut away the wood, and thar's the b'ar!"

Perhaps that is what happened in Pi Beta Phi. They just kept lookin' and whittlin' and all at once, there was a pretty sizable b'ar, the Settlement School, carved out of the Smoky Mountains of Tennessee for all to see and admire.

It is true that the original site-selection committee did not altogether have in mind a beautiful setting for our school, as that was not the primary purpose, but it would have had to seek far to find a lovelier one. It is colorful from early spring until the frosts bring the fall foliage into full colors. Last month the Committee received great inspiration for its meeting from the hills where the new young forest greens were combined with the iridescent whiteness of the dogwoods and here and there a wild flaming azalea for contrast.

Because primarily the fraternity plan was for a project in Tennessee which embraced the three Rs, perhaps it is wise to start with a resume of our educational program. From our beginnings in 1912 with one teacher and one school room to benefit the thirteen pupils, the program expanded year by year with other grades being added as the enrollment increased. In the twenties not only was a grade school building erected but an extension plan had been inaugurated at Sugarlands, now a part of the Smoky Mountain National Park.

With the start of the thirties the school had grown into ten grades with an enrollment of one hundred seventy. The county then paid the salary of four teachers. A new building was erected for the use of the high school grades and 1936 found us with a complete high school curriculum, thus offering our young people full educational opportunities through the twelfth year. In the late thirties and early forties, two surveys of our program were made. Both recommended that we turn over to the County the costs of maintaining the school as fast as the County could assume that burden and by 1943 the community and the fraternity convinced the County that it could assume the costs of basic education and offer to Gatlinburg as much as it gave the other schools of the County. A satisfactory Lease-Agreement was drawn up between the fraternity and the County to cover a period of twenty-five years. Since then, from time to time, we have added supplementary courses-Physical Education, Music, and Arts and Crafts to increase the physical well-being of the young people and to expand their natural skills.

In 1947 the State School Planning Commission recommended an immediate building program to care for the fast increasing enrollment. At that time the Grand Council and the Settlement School Committee unanimously agreed to deed 1.8 acres of our property to the County and to draw up a new Lease-Agreement for a longer period of time. However, the Planning Commission felt that the grade and high schools should be kept together and be erected on County owned, not leased, property. For two years the County sought to purchase acreage in Gatlinburg, in order to satisfy the Commission but found only inflated purchase prices. Again the County Board of Education came to Pi Beta Phi. (For more complete details see Information Arrows: 1948, Page 94; 1949, Page 59.) After numerous conferences with the people of the Community and the County Board, ably handled by Miss Onken, and with legal advice, the Council and the Committee, for the second time, agreed to deed about two acres to the County and draw up a new Lease-Agreement on a fifty year basis instead of the original twenty-five year plan, but on the same general terms. This was done and at present writing the first unit of a new grade school plant is in process of construction. It will be ready for the opening of school. This unit accommodates six grades and later a second will be added, at which time our grade school building will revert to us. For the information of those who have visited the Settlement School, the new building stands between our grade school and Teachers' Cottage and the balance of deeded land lies behind Teachers' Cottage.

It should not be our desire to relinquish entirely our supervision nor to remove our helping influence. Perhaps our guidance is needed as never before. The mountaineer of pioneer stock is now outnumbered by the outsiders who have come to Gatlinburg but his family still needs our aid in preserving this native heritage of staunch ideals, integrity and intelligence.

This year Mr. Walter Ogle, once a pupil in our school, has served as Superintendent and High School principal and has won the respect of both students and community. He is eager to work with Pi Beta Phi and appreciates Miss Dyer's counsel. Physical Education was taught by William J. Mir-

Physical Education was taught by William J. Miracle, University of Tennessee graduate. In addition to special emphasis on Basketball, he introduced other sports in season and completed each activity with a tournament among the classes. The intramural competition was new and increased general interest in sports for girls and boys. The inauguration of baseball as a spring sport which could be supported by a small school such as Gatlinburg was well received. The cooperation of the American Legion in loaning uniforms and their playing field was a great help.

In Music, Mrs. Althea Armstrong has continued working with all eight grades and the high school to broaden each pupil's musical appreciation. Major programs were a Stephen Foster evening; the Christmas presentation of Satis Coleman's "Mystery of the Nativity" in pantomine and introducing rare carols of many countries; the pretentious musical, "The Snow Queen" by Cooke. This latter production at the close of the school year used almost one hundred children's voices and would do credit to a much larger school. The lead was sung by Barbara Steele who with Paul Clabo entertained us on the Settlement School program in 1948. Various smaller groups and the high school chorus gave programs before several local and county organizations.

In Arts and Crafts, creative expression was stressed in the lower grades through the media of chalk, charcoal and paint. Poster making in all grades was rewarded by cash prizes from the American Legion Auxiliary for their poppy posters. The fifth grade produced three original plays for glove puppets all of which were made by the children themselves. Chalk murals, soap carving, metal repousee and making "tie dye" scarves were other activities. In the higher grades some outstanding results were evident in metal work, bowls, ash-trays, candle-holders, coasters. Weaving occupied the winter months for the girls, while stenciled luncheon sets and aprons were out-lets for basic designing. The boys found these subjects beneath them but painting had great appeal. Miss Van Roekel and Mr. Miracle were co-sponsors of the Junior class and Miss Van, as the children call her, directed their class play. Her ability to make the backdrops put her in special demand on other occasions also. It is with extreme regret that we accept Miss Van Roekel's resignation in order for her to continue her education toward a Master's degree at Cranbrook.

The Committee was greatly impressed with the progress of the Woodworking class under the supervision of Mr. Carl Huskey, who had a part-time program for the high school boys. Each made some article for the home—a lamp, coffee table, book ends or magazine rack. For those boys not going on to college this course is a practical one toward seeking employment in one of the several furniture factories near-by.

The Health Center is a true center for school, community and district or as our nurse, Marjorie Chalmers, describes it, "a cooperative, not exactly community cooperative, but nation-wide . . . composed of people from all walks of life, all parts of the country, all working for the service of mankind." Under the nurse's leadership, the days are filled with inoculations, first aid, talks on health, nutrition or safety. She has papers to be written and delivered before Knoxville or other Tennessee organizations, writes a weekly "Health Shot" column for the local paper. Through the latter medium she is able to prescribe many sugared bits of health admonition.

This year the County Health Department arranged for twenty clinics in which the first graders were given medical examination now required by Tennessee law. Two of the clinics were held at our Health Center, one for Gatlinburg and the other for the five nearby rural schools. The two local doctors officiated. Hereafter, the state-wide clinics will be held in the summer in order that remedial defects may be corrected and necessary inoculations given before the start of school.

Our little babies continue to hold the spotlight and it is indeed a matter of pride that not one baby has been lost this past year; one premature was returned to the hospital incubator for a time. In our part of Sevier County there are but three children of school age as yet unable to attend. One is a spastic and the others, post polio cases. All receive regular instruction from the State Homebound teacher. A small six year old boy, totally deaf as the result of an attack of meningitis has been placed in the Tennessee School for the Deaf. Our constant efforts toward good health for the younger generation have borne fruit.

Very successful was the day spent in assisting the technicians who brought their large mobile X-ray unit from the Division of Tuberculosis Control to the Health Center where more than seven hundred were processed.

We are very grateful to Sigma Phi Gamma who through their welfare work for mountain children help to provide fitted glasses and dental care. This year nine children were cared for. There is a gradual awakening to the health needs of the community and there are encouraging signs which reflect our influence over the long period. Most recent is the completion of a new system of pure water for the town and when its citizens finally sense the danger of only local sewage systems, one more of our great concerns will be at an end. There is always more to be accomplished at the Health Center than can be done, be it summer or winter, but the unselfish service contributed to school and community is felt throughout the countryside and Marjorie is loved by all the children.

It may be that less need be written about Arrow Craft than any other department since all are so keenly cognizant of it through the beauty of its wares. Under Ethel Snow's capable management Arrow Craft has had an excellent year. We appreciate your sales because the school could not operate without them and we solicit the participation of even the smallest clubs for, in addition to the increased income, it gives us the subsequent fine publicity which the products indeed merit. Though they were by no means leading in membership, last year fourteen clubs each sold more than a thousand dollars worth of goods. This year there are nine with two of them exceeding the two thousand dollar mark. Here is the list: Houston, Texas, \$2220.24; Champaign-Urbana, Illinois, \$2120.98; Portland, Oregon, \$1890.00; Al-buquerque, New Mexico, \$1596.39; Marin County, California, \$1398.21; Denver, Colorado, \$1339.15; Cleveland East, Ohio, \$1326.73; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, \$1278.63; Omaha, Nebraska, \$1210.08. Those considered are only those whose money in these amounts had been received at Arrow Craft by the time of audit. To them and many others, a heartfelt Thank you!'

It would give Arrow Craft fewer headaches and the Committee far less the appearance of ogres if every club or chapter would make complete payment in full or return the unsold goods for credit after the annual sale. No business, large or small, can operate without cash and no shop gives unlimited credit, does it? With an ever increasing number of enthusiastic alumnæ clubs we ask for more sales but we also ask that each club give more thought to why Pi Beta Phi is conducting its Arrow Craft Shop and how much better use there is for the money there than lying idly in some local bank.

The design and colors of Arrow Craft products continue to gladden the eye of all who see them. Tina McMorran has brought to her work a concept of the practical as well as the beautiful. At the suggestion of the Committee, she set to work to reduce the tremendous stock of raw materials on hand, necessarily purchased during wartime shortages, and ingeniously she has cut that inventory; at the same time, not knowing what economic turn might come, she has operated on a greatly reduced budget, dropping those items less in demand and reducing the quantity of others. Unfortunately this has meant a temporary reduction in the number of weavers but with the present furore of the chain stores for woven nylon bags, those released have found work elsewhere. This past year our insurance has been carried on a monthly inventory basis, a sound protection against loss.

One interesting demand this spring is for the longer and brighter neck-tie. This has prompted the weaving of some tie material in Aunt Lizzie's old three harness twill pattern which throws more color to the top, with clearer stronger colors. Izora, long one of our good weavers, feels great pride in being chosen to carry on Aunt Lizzie's weave and she will demonstrate its use at the Craftsman's Fair late this summer.

Tina has worked toward a Master Craftsman award this year and received it from the Southern Highlands Handicrafts Guild at its spring meeting. This is only the third given by this Guild and there are but twelve in the country. She was asked by the University of Tennessee to be one of a very limited few to attend its two-week weaving short course this winter and was also honored in being asked to teach in the Guild Workshop at the Penland, N.C. School of Crafts last fall.

We must not fail to mention the attractive little shop maintained by Arrow Craft in one corner of the Mountain View Hotel, now presided over by Mrs. McCutchean, mother and grandmother of Pi Beta Phis. Her love of our products, combined with a wide acquaintance among the hotel guests, makes her a worthy proponent of sales. No hour is too early nor too late to accommodate the departing guest in her purchase of last minute carry-home gifts.

This year our Grand Vice President offered a prize to the Pi Phi submitting a poster suitable for advertising sales of Arrow Craft products. The Committee appreciated Mrs. Wild's offer and regretted that none of the designs submitted seemed exactly to meet the needs at this time, according to the judges from the University of Tennessee Crafts faculty who considered them.

One special item of interest ere we leave the Arrow Craft department: The Director of Cultural Affairs for the State Department in Washington D.C. has contacted Pi Beta Phi often in the last few years since foreign visitors and students wish to take back the profitable use of native materials to their own coun-tries. The State Department has honored Pi Beta Phi in sending, when possible, both men and women from foreign countries to visit the Settlement School. The most recent occasion was the Prime-Minister and his wife, the Begum Ali-Kahn of Pakistan. She spoke fluent English and held two degrees from the Uni-versity of her native land. The Begum was most anxious to learn of our industries in order to further assist the women of her country in the establishment of their Cottage Industries. It would seem, therefore, that our service to people has gone afar and we are honored that the State Department so highly classifies our Settlement School.

Earlier in this report we mentioned the surveys which had been made of our project in Gatlinburg as they applied to the educational program. These surveys placed great emphasis on the opportunity Pi Beta Phi had in the Southern Highlands for the furthering of the native crafts and since that time an effort has been made to that end. This summer is the sixth for our Summer Workshop. It has passed its "trial and error" period and in the opinion of the present staff, the 1950 organization is running more smoothly than any year. It has been a matter of mutual satisfaction to the University of Tennessee and to Pi Beta Phi to work together for the success of this annual six week project. Miss Marian G. Heard, Professor of Craft Design at the University, again serves as Director but the whole staff of the Applied Arts Department unites in lending its own or helping to find the best possible instruction. We are eternally grateful to Miss Jessie W. Harris, Pi Beta Phi Convention initiate in 1938, head of the Home Economics Department at the University, for her constant inspiration, wise help in planning, and her expert belief in the Settlement School program. For the first three weeks of the six weeks' Workshop there are twenty-one states represented by fifty-four students. Thirty-one are graduate

students, seven are undergraduates and sixteen are enrolled as non-credit pupils. Twenty-nine of these will remain for the full six-week period. Until such time as larger housing facilities are available, further expansion is impossible. Miss Dyer and her corps of workers completely transform our grade school building into a dormitory. It is an herculean task with less than two weeks between the closing of school and the opening of the Workshop. Every vacant cranny is made available to those in attendance.

The Gateway Players, a stock company of New York, will again transform our gymnasium-auditorium into a theater for six weeks, paying rent to us and providing excellent casts in good plays as entertainment for summer visitors. Pi Beta Phi reserves Friday night for the P.T.A. for a money-making plan. The P.T.A. has done a magnificent piece of work in raising money for its school cafeteria where all the school year, two paid cooks, the assisting mothers in turn, with the aid of government surpluses provide hot, well-balanced school lunches. It provided new basket-ball uniforms for the girls' team and in various other ways has assisted the school program.

The Craftsman's Fair will make its third appearance on the Pi Beta Phi campus in late July and again Governor Browning will officiate at the opening. Here will be demonstrated the makings of many handicrafts of that area and the native folk dances. Also there will be a great exhibit and sale of the best under each classification. Pi Beta Phi through its membership in the Southern Highlands Handicrafts Guild shares the responsibility in staging this undertaking. One's pride increases, knowing the part the fraternity has played in the renaissance of these native crafts. At this Convention we hope to bring a widened vision of what the Crafts are in the Southern Appalachians and what the preservation of this early Americana means to that area.

Last but by no means least in the year round picture is the regular staff which keeps the Committee policies in operation. Miss Ruth Dyer in her six years as Director has found no consistent pattern for each day brings new activities and new problems. There have been seven dormitory students this year, five of whom have just graduated, so we shall have room for new material in September. Each boy or girl enters the dormitory only after a clear understanding with the parents that their boy or girl is to work a certain number of hours in part payment for room and board. This, together with our financial assistance in running a bus to distant Elkmont for students, is important Extension service.

A number of years ago the auditors for the Settle-ment School advised, as for any good business, that certain amounts be set aside each year for depreciation. Since then all committees have budgeted toward a Sinking Fund to cover this. The present committee at its recent meeting came to an important decision after studying the contents of this Sinking Fund, taking into account the \$17,000, final generous bequest from the Garshwiler estate, and the prospects in contributions and continued Arrow Craft sales, that now is the time to erect a new Staff House. Several rea-sons controlled the decision to proceed. Part of our staff has been domiciled in Pollard Hall which was originally the old Ogle family farmhouse. It also houses the dormitory boys and the dining rooms and kitchen for all. If Pollard is much longer used, extensive repairs will be necessary, for termites and old age take their toll; should more boys come to school and need housing, space must be found. If the Summer Workshop is ever to expand, additional housing must be provided. That is the big bottle-neck to progress since all applicants prefer to live right at the School. Last year the University of Tennessee could have secured us government barracks for transportation costs but the Committee considered this poor economy as it would have been only a temporary arrangement. In addition, the problem of feeding the staffs and students of the Workshop is most difficult in our kitchen for it is not properly arranged for Institution Management. We also feel that more comfortable surroundings for our regular staff will mean greater efficiency and strengthened morale. So with courage and faith that the best interests of the School will be served, we plan to start a new building this coming year. It is our hope that alumnæ clubs and chapters will be interested in contributing direct to the cost of a room or its furnishings, thus to honor an outstanding member. We solicit your interest and aid, as always.

The fraternity is grateful for the way in which contributions have come in. Three-fourths of the active chapter contributions, going as they do into the Endowment Fund each year, help to spell security against unforeseen emergencies. The balance, together with all other contributions, governs the amount which the Committee can budget annually for the main-tenance of the School. Top-most honors go to the St. Louis Alumnæ Club with its one thousand dollar donation: it has maintained this record, or better, for a number of years; Philadelphia has sent \$500; Cleveland East and Kansas City, Mo., \$300 each; Milwaukee, Wis., \$225; Lafayette, Indiana, \$203.51; In-dianapolis and Denver, \$200 each. The chapters leading in contributions were Missouri B; Nebraska B; in third position, Ohio A and Texas A; while Florida B, Illinois B- $\Delta$ , Illinois  $\Theta$ , Colorado A, Kansas B, and Louisiana A tied for fourth place. Twenty nine clubs gave one hundred dollars or more. It was interesting to discover that twenty chapters and fortythree clubs increased the amount of their donations over 1948-49 and the contributions of fifty-four chapters and one hundred twenty-five clubs equalled those of last year. The chapters of Beta, Delta, Eta, Iota, Kappa, and Lambda provinces were one hundred percent as were the clubs of Alpha East, Beta, Delta, Zeta, Iota, Lambda, and Mu. Right here let us say that it is only ethical and right that money raised through a benefit in the name of the Pi Beta Phi Settlement School should all go to that project. Thank you all!

The gifts received from clubs, chapters and individuals brought both joy and comfort to the School. The many boxes of toys, books, fruit and candy at Christmas time made possible individual gifts to each child in our grade school and for those of the three out-lying rural schools as well; a special room gift of lovely book or game for each grade room; special athletic equipment; clothing for many of the needy. At the hospital layettes made so thoughtfully by some clubs had special use as do the additions to the loaning closet. This latter always has need for more cotton blankets, sheets, bed jackets or night-gowns, which our nurse is thankful to loan in case of sickness or emergencies.

Sigma Phi Gamma, national business organization, through its Southern Mountain Workers division contributed \$50 this year toward eye and dental care, and three of their chapters became so interested they too sent their separate donations toward our health program.

Many Pi Beta Phis and others, too, have found expression of a loving thought through our Memorial Fund. This was particularly true this year when our Grand Vice President and her husband suffered the tragic loss of their son Leonard. The Memorial Fund contributions are being used at the Health Center this year but the donor may specify a particular use, if she desires. A gift to this fund direct, or the gift of a particular book to the School Library are two lovely ways for an expression of sympathy.

The final settlement of the estate left in part to the Settlement School by Dr. William P. Garshwiler in memory of his wife, an Indiana B, has been completed and we are indeed appreciative of this loving generosity.

We are very pleased to have the amount of \$8,943.41 which the Magazine Agency has sent us. Mrs. Alford says, "Pi Phis can't read!" but how we do like for them to keep on trying! We also have done many things with the returns from the Pi Phi best-seller, the *Cook Book*, first produced by the Los Angeles club some fifteen years ago. The Pi Phi girl graduating into a career or to become a summer bride continues to offer a fine field for their continued sales.

One hears a remark now and then that we are finished in Gatlinburg. For the fraternity to be without the Settlement School would be like Arrow Craft existing without its trademark. Do we wish to abandon an undertaking dedicated long ago as a living memorial to our Founders, which has paid through honor to them but not alone to them? Every men's and women's fraternity gives us tremendous acclaim for our foresight in establishing a philanthropy dedicated to unselfish service. We pioneered in this now almost complete trend among National Panhellenic groups. The president of a large alumnæ club said on a recent visit to Gatlinburg that we should not talk of giving prestige to Gatlinburg because of having a school there but instead that every club and chapter receives tremendous publicity and prestige by virtue of the establishment and continued operation of the Settlement School.

What would happen if we withdrew our Health program? There would be only the local doctors, with days already crowded, to care for the school inspections, inoculations and to give advice to the mothers of young babies and the pre-schoolers or the parents of the school children. The advice given so frequently in the community, the tremendous program of disease prevention and sanitation, all these would go with the loss of the Health Center and our nurse.

What would happen to the School if we withdrew, and to the Community which has depended upon Pi Beta Phi for so long? The school would not yet be accredited without our supplementary help in Music, Crafts, Woodworking and Physical Education. The community groups, P.T.A., election boards, churches, all make use of the school buildings as centers of activity while Stuart Cottage and Helmick House are open on many occasions for teas or gathering places for various town groups and school clubs. Old Timers' Day is still held upon our grounds and we wonder where some of the people who lean upon us would be, should we depart. An insurance man not long ago walked down the village street and as he passed first one hotel or another tourist court—and then another—remarked to his companion, "We own this one, we own that," on down the street. And still the local people, intrigued by what appear to be quick money-making schemes continue to build for the tourist trade. There will come a saturation point, one day, and we trust these businesses may be paid off ere that time. Get off Highway 71 and there are more tangible evidences of need for our help nor do the people hesitate to ask of Pi Beta Phi. We hope to help them bridge other adjustments if they come.

An excerpt from a note received by Miss Onken from Miss Anne Guthrie, Pi Beta Phi, world lecturer and traveler, whose delightful program pleased so many at the last Convention, is worth quoting here. It was written this spring after a week's vacation stay in Gatlinburg. "What an interesting piece of work we have been responsible for! And to realize its effect on the community makes one very proud."

Just one last whispered word on this subject! When one hears that we are finished in Gatlinburg, think again! In addition to believing that there are still things to be done there, bear in mind that Pi Beta Phi is a "Not for Profit" organization and that an educational purpose in Gatlinburg has merit. We should not lose our classification.

Arrow Craft alone cannot be relied upon to support the needs of the School because economic conditions are too uncertain and the demand for handwoven articles, beautiful and inexpensive as they are, may not continue at the present high level. Time was when the contributions to the School were taking care of the development of Arrow Craft.

The load of the chairman has been greatly lightened by the happy associations and complete cooperation of the Committee members this past year. Each has had her particular assignment and each has followed through with whole-hearted endeavor. At the beginning of the year, Grace Granger, Indiana  $\Delta$ , of Indianapolis found it necessary to resign and her place was taken by Ethel Gillespie Smith, Indiana  $\Delta$ , of Atlanta, Ga. At the time of the Chairman's fall visit to Gatlinburg, Mrs. Smith came to the Settlement School for a few days and also was able to attend the conferences on the 1950 Summer Workshop held at the University, excellent means of orientation for the year's work. Her assignment has been the

County School and Library and this year she will have the Secretaryship added to her duties. You have known our Publicity member, Harriet Goodsell Rauch, through the fine "News of Little Pigeon" in the AR-ROW and here at Convention as the New York City Club delegate. Her responsibility is to give a true picture of the School to the readers of the ARROW and to lend all possible assistance to chapters and clubs with their publicity about the Settlement School. Only words of praise, well deserved, should be given the Treasurer of the Committee; Olivia Smith Moore, Missouri A, of Texarkana, Texas has clarified the budget making for the committee and has kept track of the rise or decline in funds receivable in meticulous fashion. This month we lose by tenure, Eugenia Brooks Smith, Indiana F, Salem, Oregon, who has handled the routing of the Settlement School film, kept an over-all eye on the Crafts, and this past year served as Secretary. Her latest contribution was the planning of the new film which you shall see here and which will be available for distribution in the fall. No assignment was ever too difficult and the Fraternity loses a valuable person from the Committee. We welcome Nellis Hempel Gibson, Pennsylvania  $\Delta$ , of Baltimore, Maryland, who will take over the re-sponsibility of the film and the supervision of the department of Arts and Crafts.

The Settlement School Committee is deeply grateful for the assistance of Grand Council, especially Amy B. Onken who was chosen the contact member from the Council, and for all the diligent efforts of the alumnæ clubs and chapters whose benefits and Arrow Craft sales made possible a practical working budget and future planning in Gatlinburg. We feel richly rewarded by serving Pi Beta Phi through the Settlement School and humbly ask that all of you share this privilege with us.

Respectfully submitted, RUTH BARRETT SMITH

# REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF SETTLEMENT SCHOOL

1950

TALKING, or writing to Pi Phis is one of the most important phases of the job that I have for the Fraternity. As Director of the Settlement School project it is my privilege to review with you, in this report, the main events of the past year. Life in the Smokies is a busy one as the various seasons follow each other. The pattern of our days is more or less a repeat design with ever changing variations, due to new personalities and interests.

#### Community

In this rapidly growing area, each year brings changes and improvements. Some of the most far reaching ones of the past year are the completion of a city water system, the installation of traffic lights at two busy intersections and the work done on two roads leading into the village. A second power line is being constructed which should provide the town with adequate electric service when it is completed. Building went on all winter so that spring found many new picture theater was opened in May. The Methodist Church was completed and work started on a small Episcopal Church. The Riverside Hotel was enlarged and on the Greystone Hotel grounds a special building, called the Gatlinburg Playhouse, was constructed. This has filled a long felt need by providing a place for lectures, Convention gatherings and Community affairs.

Of most interest to Pi Phis, is the new grade school building that Sevier County is constructing on the plot of ground deeded to them by the Fraternity. This will have six class rooms, two toilet rooms, a small storage room, and a boiler room with a heating plant sufficiently large to take care of this building and future units as they can be built. The Contract was for \$79,000.00 and it is hoped to have the building ready for use this coming fall.

Each year the village Library Board sponsors a community party in February, to raise funds for the library which is entirely dependent upon donations for its operation. This event netted \$615.00. The books have been moved from a room above the bus station to a small cottage on the River Road. The Garden Club has undertaken the landscaping of the grounds around the building and the Girl Scouts are mowing the lawn.

Community Union church services were held at Thanksgiving time in the Baptist church and an Easter sunrise service was held on the Greystone lawn. The Garden Club again sponsored the Community Christmas tree, a pine that grows in our little park across from the Arrow Craft Shop. Other annual events of the holiday season were the beautiful candle lighting service held in the Methodist Church on Christmas Eve and a party for all of the community children given by the American Legion Auxiliary. An awakened interest in the welfare of our young people has been evidenced. Scouting for both boys and girls has been actively revived under adequate leadership. Thirteen boys attended the International Jamboree at Valley Forge under the leadership of Mr, William Cron, Head of the Bureau of Roads. The churches sponsored an Easter egg hunt on the Whittle lawn that was enjoyed by many small children.

Ever increasing numbers of tourists, coming to the Smokies, have caused the town to maintain a Tourist Bureau and to reorganize the Chamber of Commerce with a full time secretary in charge. During the winter a caravan of cars from Gatlinburg toured Florida advertising the tourist attractions and handicrafts of the region. Last summer for six weeks the Fraternity again rented the High School Auditorium to the Gateway Stock Company of New York City. They presented a number of Broadway plays in a very creditable manner. The second Craftsman's Fair, held on our green, was a great success.

Pi Beta Phi and the village lost a valuable friend in the death of Mr. Andy Huff, owner of the Mountain View Hotel.

#### Office

When Esther Mines married last July, we were fortunate in having another Pi Phi, Nancy Holmes, Illinois Zeta, Class of 1949, join the staff as Assistant Director. She has been a great help, especially in taking care of the Workshop correspondence and reports. In addition to her work at the school she has served as the Chairman of the Advisory Board for Tennessee Gamma.

#### School

A backward look over the past school year brings a feeling of satisfaction. Sevier County, Pi Beta Phi and the P.T.A. combined to provide a well rounded program for over five hundred children attending the school. Nineteen full time and one part time teacher carried on the educational program. In high school we had four new teachers. These were, Mr. Walter Ogle, Principal; Mr. Granville Shields, Science; Dorothy Arnold who had attended our Summer Workshop, Home Economics, and Mr. W. J. Miracle who was hired by the Fraternity to supervise the work in Physical Education. In the Elementary School we had no changes in the teaching staff. It was necessary to have two rooms in which there were two grades each. One was a first and second combination and the other a third and fourth grouping. The faculty worked together very harmoniously. In October the school family, the faculty and their families enjoyed a picnic in the mountains. In January we had a faculty party in coach and his bride at Stuart Cottage.

The usual plays were given. The Juniors presented a melodrama, "Only an Orphan Girl," the Senior play was "Brother Goose" and the eighth grade finished their year by giving "Billie's Aunt Jane." The annual Halloween Carnival was enjoyed by the entire school as was the lovely Christmas program. Room parties were held in the different grade school rooms to observe special days. Films were used more frequently than in the past years, as a part of the School program. Twenty-one members of the Senior Class with faculty chaperones went to Washington, D.C. for their trip. This class sponsored a small school annual called "The Mountaineer," which was dedicated to Mr. and Mrs. J. B. Johnson, former Pi Phi employees of the staff. The parting gift from the class to the school was two typewriters which they hope will form the nucleus of a Commercial Department for the school. Nancy Holmes, Assistant Director, was sponsor for the Beta Club. She accompanied several of the club members to the state convention in Nashville. The American Legion Auxiliary entertained the high school basketball teams at a very lovely formal banquet at the New Gatlinburg Inn. The same hotel was the setting for the annual Junior Senior banquet. After the Christmas holidays, the County operated a second bus for Gatlinburg. This helped very much in shortening the day for numbers of bus riding pupils.

#### Pi Phi Contributions

A backward look brings out the many extras en-joyed by the children attending our school which they could not have were it not for Fraternity help. Mrs. Althea Armstrong for Music, Mr. Miracle for Physical Education, Miss Van Roekel and Mr. Huskey for Arts and Crafts and Wood-work, added much to the program. Several years of training in part singing is showing up when public appearances of the students are made. The carols, making up most of the Christmas program, the Stephen Foster songs and Glee Club numbers given at Community and Commencement events were all very well done. The annual Operetta, "The Snow Queen," was one of the most tuneful and colorful that I have seen. The Arts and Crafts teacher, Fay Van Roekel, contributed much to the program. The beautiful back drops, done mostly on her knees, on strips of brown paper, for the Junior play were used again at the Christmas program and for the Operetta. Her fifth grade class designed and made puppets and wrote the script for an original show, as one of their art projects. The seventh grade made murals for the background of the Stephen Foster program. Fay gave a talk on Art at a County Teachers meeting and another one to a Y.W.C.A. Youth group at Alcoa. She served as a Graduate Assistant at the Summer Workshop and in August studied weaving at the Guild Workshop at Penland. Her high school girls produced some very nice weaving in their class work. Mr. Carl Huskey directed the boys in the wood shop. Some very creditable pieces of furniture were turned out by the class. While our boys and girls did not do as well as usual in basketball competitions with outside schools, our coach started a very valuable program of intramural sports within the high school classes that provided entertainment and interest most of the year. These contests were played off during the noon hour and in bad weather were most useful in helping provide an outlet for energies that are sometimes hard to control. The sports which were used in this program were basketball, softball, volleyball, pingpong, and shuffle board. In the spring a baseball team was organized for the first time. The American Legion allowed the use of their athletic field and they also loaned uniforms for the players. On a beautiful spring day, the whole school held a Field Day which resulted in a victory for the Freshman Class.

#### P. T. A.

We were fortunate in having a very active and enthusiastic group of parents who also provided "extras" for the school program. Money for this work comes chiefly from the weekly Bingo games operated during the tourist season in the high school gymnasium and from rummage sales. The school lunch room was again operated by this group, providing hot lunches

for the children in the Elementary school. Free lunches are provided for needy children. We share in the Government program and receive many supplies from that source. In the fall a book store was set up for the first week of school. This was a great convenience since there is not a store in town that handles school supplies or books. From their funds, the organization voted to give each teacher a sum of \$50.00 to be used for supplies. In the high school the teachers pooled their money in order to undertake larger projects. One of these was the sanding and refinishing of the gymnasium floor. An additional gift of one hundred dollars was given for new basketball uniforms, one half to the high school and the other half to the grade school teams, ably coached by Mr. Kelly Huskey, the eighth grade teacher. A class in Parliamentary Law, an old fashioned Spelling Bee and the sponsoring of a delightful concert by a high school chorus from Knoxville, were other activities of this group.

#### Dormitory

Miss Lena Hodgen, our efficient housekeeper, was again in charge of our living arrangements. We had the usual household emergencies to meet but were always provided with good meals. Nancy Holmes was in charge of the six high school girls who lived in Stuart College. Five of them graduated, having been with us most of their school days. In their honor we entertained the senior class and high school faculty following Class Night program. The piano at Stuart was used two days a week when a music teacher from Pigeon Forge gave private lessons to a number of school children. It was necessary to replace some curtains this year. Now ruffled ones were placed in Nancy's suite and at Teachers Cottage we have some beautiful new hand woven draperies in the living room and hall. Tina designed them and Lura wove them at the Shop at times when she was not busy with her regular work. It is interesting to note that she has been with the School long enough to weave three sets of draperies for these same rooms. The second set, taken from Teachers Cottage, are in use at Pollard where shiny yellow paint now makes a more cheerful interior. Three sturdy new card tables were purchased and have been in almost constant use at three houses.

#### Health Center

The health work done by the Fraternity, under the able direction of our nurse, Mrs. Marjorie Chalmers, is indeed a "repeat Design." Year after year, the in-spections, inoculations, health talks with accompanying films, classes in First Aid and home visits for the almost 700 children in the district we serve, add up to an astounding total. Emergencies from school and community, clinics for well babies and expectant mothers, fill many busy days. Our Health Center was used several times for Clinics during the year. Twice the Mobile T.B. Unit was in town and used the building as headquarters. The first day 718 chest x-rays were given and the second time 497. A new law in Tennessee states that every child must be examined by a doctor before he can enter school and that a record of this examination must become a part of his school record. Two such clinics were held in December when 65 children were examined. Children from the rural area were brought to the Health Center. Twenty mothers came with the rural children. The State Department supplies serums but aside from that most of the health work done in town and in three rural schools is taken care of by Pi Beta Phi.

That people of the area still look to us for aid was evidenced last winter. A little girl who had never had preventive vaccinations died suddenly of diphtheria. The next day people brought children from town and country to the health center. By night the weary nurse had given 154 preventive shots.

#### Farm

Two new laying houses for our Pi Phi hens were built this year to replace some unfit for use. We followed plans furnished by the Poultry Division of the University of Tennessee and are proud of the results. These modern houses will make it possible to have a larger poultry flock to supply the kitchen with eggs and chickens. Any surplus can be very advantageously sold to the Mountain View Hotel. Through the year, several litters of small pigs were raised and sold when they were old enough to make it worth while. The garden produced vegetables for our school family and supplied the University staff during the Workshop.

#### Arrow Craft Shop

The year has gone smoothly, following the usual pattern; busy days for Mrs. Snow-filling and ship-ping Club orders-months like April and October when, as always, the "buying tourists" visit the shop and other days when the tables in the stock room are piled high with weaving, waiting to be tagged and put on the shelves. An effort has been made to reduce inventories, use up old stocks of threads and to concentrate on patterns that can make use of threads and to concentrate on patterns that can make use of these materials. However, there will be some new accents in the next price list. We have added yellow and green, in pastel shades, to the baby woolen articles we have always carried. To fill a demand for a heavy textured mat, Mrs. McMorran has designed two sets. The less expensive one is in cotton and is called the Periwinkle, the other one is a very handsome linen set made in a diamond weave on double goose eye threading. Neckties and scarfs in bright stripes are other new items. Our designer, Mrs. McMorran, has been active in weaving circles in the Southern Highland Handicraft Guild. She instructed in weaving at the Guild Workshop, held in Penland, North Carolina, last fall and at the Spring Meeting of the Guild was granted a Master Craftsman's Certificate in Weaving. Upon invitation of the officials an exhibit of Arrow Craft products was placed in the side window of the Hamilton National Bank in Knoxville for a week. A new hand made cabinet for displaying jewelry is a useful as well as ornamental addition to the shop. The Hotel Shop has been operated by Mrs. Mc-Cutchean. Mrs. Snow reports that business has been good and that accounts receivable are better than ever before. Each year brings more craft shops to the village but we feel that the quality of our products, sold in their artistic setting, makes Arrow Craft Shop the best one of all.

This report would be incomplete without the mention of the many wonderful gifts that individual Pi Phis, Active Chapters, Alumnæ Clubs and friends make towards the success of our program. Two gifts of money, one spent for records and the other for library books, were given in memory of Leonard Wild. The staff enjoyed a new waffle iron which I purchased with gift funds. A surprise gift came from the Franklin Square Magazine Agency. The check sent for magazine subscriptions for the high school library was returned with a letter saying that the Fraternity business was so much that they wished to give us the magazines as an expression of their appreciation. The

nurse is always delighted with the boxes of clothing that come to us and especially so with the layettes and baby things. The many boxes of toys and other Christmas gifts help to make Christmas memorable for many children. This year we remembered the 148 children in three rural schools with gifts in addition to 157 gifts to pupils in the three lower grades. Where there is greater need we try to place the really nice toys and clothing. Sigma Phi Gamma, International Sorority, continues to support our health program with gifts of money from their central office and boxes from individual chapters, to whom we are assigned by their welfare secretary. Their gifts are used for eye corrections and new glasses in most cases.

It has been impossible to give you a complete picture of our days at the School. The six weeks Workshop in Crafts, The Craftsman's Fair and the appearances of the Gateway Stock Company in our Auditorium, make the summers most busy and interesting. I wish to close by expressing my thanks to our fine Settlement School Committee, the loyal local staff and employees and the thousands of Pi Phis over the country who yearly remember the school with kind and loving thoughts as well as concrete gifts.

Respectfully submitted, RUTH DYER, Director

# PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL, GATLINBURG, TENNESSEE

# REPORT ON AUDIT, YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1950

Little Rock, Arkansas August 14, 1950

Settlement School Committee Pi Beta Phi Settlement School Mrs. Henry Moore, Jr., Treasurer Texarkana, Texas

DEAR MESDAMES.

We have audited the books, records, and supporting data of

> PI BETA PHI SETTLEMENT SCHOOL GATLINBURG, TENNESSEE JUNE 30, 1950

and present this summarized report for use in publication to the general membership:

Exhibit "A"-Balance Sheet

Exhibit "B"-Statement of Operations

Exhibit "C"-Endowment Fund

Exhibit "D"-Sinking Fund and Memorial Fund

- Exhibit "E"-Arrow Craft Profit & Loss for Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 1950
- Schedule 1-Comparative Summary of Contributions Received
- Schedule 2-Comparative Statement of Club and Chapter Contributions

#### SCOPE OF AUDIT

Our examination embraced comprehensive and complete verification of all assets by independent means. Cash on hand was counted, cash in banks was confirmed by correspondence with the depositories, all receivables were confirmed by communication with the debtors, inventories were viewed in location and inventory valuations and computations thoroughly tested. Securities were verified by examination of securities held by the Treasurer and by direct communication with the Trust Agent of endowment fund securities. All operating income and expenditures of the Treasurer were examined in detail and Arrowcraft transactions were exhaustively tested without a detailed audit of all transactions.

#### CERTIFICATE

In our opinion, the financial position of Pi Beta Phi Settlement School as of June 30, 1950, is properly set forth at the accompanying Exhibit "A" and the supporting Exhibits and Schedules.

COMMENTS

We wish to commend your committee for the high degree of diligence exercised in your fiscal operations and for the general excellence of your accounting for funds entrusted to your care.

Very truly yours, McDuffie-Curry & Company Certified Public Accountants

#### EXHIBIT "A"

### BALANCE SHEET, JUNE 30, 1950

Assets	
Carrent Assets Cash Funds Imprest Cash Funds Treasurers Bank Balance Operating Bank Balances	60,00 15,493.05 16,584,74
Total Cash Funds\$	32,137.79
Investments Endowment Fund Securities	55,160.00 105,642.11 2,238.06
\$	163,040.17
Accounts Receivable Due from Arrowcraft Customers\$ Inventories Arrow Craft Merchandise and Materials\$	
Total Current Assets	265,665.65
Fixed Assets Real Eestate	114,883.41
Less: Depreciation Reserve	152,008.06 57,310.23
Total Fixed Assets, Net Value	
Other Assets Prepaid Insurance Premiums	2,094.85
TOTAL ASSETS	362,458.33

Current Liabilities Withheld Income Taxes\$ 309.60
Endowment Fund
Created by annually setting aside 75% of Active Chapter Contributions See Exhibit
Sinking Fund
Special Reserve for additions to Buildings and Equipment
Memorial Fund Special Reserve contributed for purchase of music supplies 535.94
Total Liabilities and Reserves \$ 80,272.23
NET WORTH
General Fund Surplus\$282,186.10
Analysis of General Fund Surplus
Balance June 30, 1949\$260,413.36 Add: Net Income-Exhibit "B" 26,373.39
\$286,786.75
Deduct Transfers to Reserve Funds Sinking Fund\$3,000.00 Endowment Fund 1,600.65 4,600.65

LIABILITIES

EXHIBIT "B"

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS,

JUNE 30, 1950	
Year Ended House-Guest Fees 6/30/1950 Gifts and Sundry	365.33 91.79
Income—General Contributions—Alumnæ Clubs\$ 8,820.51 TOTAL SCHOOL\$1	6,176.35
Contributions—Active Chapters	2,177.22
Interest on Investments	
Magazine Agency       8,943,41       General and Administrative       \$         Auditorium Rent       675.00       Instructional       1         Arrow Craft Net Profit       26,235.24       Summer Session—Prior Year       1         Torat GENERAL       \$66,000.87       Summer Session—Current Year Advances       1	5,539.62 8,222.07 8,796.28
Income-School Total Expense	5,803.83
Summer Session—Prior Year\$ 9,111.82 Fuel Sold	6.373.39
Hospital Revenue	-1515157
Farm Produce Sales-Outside	1 600 65
Laundry	4,772.74
House-Student Fees	6 373 30
House-Staff Fees 3,504.20	6,373.39

#### EXHIBIT "C"

ENDOWMENT FUND,

YEAR ENDED	JUNE 30, 1950
Endowment Fund June 30, 1949 Bonds	Disbursements and Expense Trust Agents Fee
Receipts and Revenue Interest on Investments\$ 1,403.08	\$ 1,403.08 Balance—Endowment Fund June 30, 1950
75% Active Chapter Contributions 6-30-1950 1,600.65 Gain on Sale of Bonds 104.90 \$ 3,108.63	Represented by: Uninvested Cash Balance\$ 2,238.06 Securities held by Trustee 55,160.00
\$58,801.14	\$57,398.06

EXHIBIT "D"

	EXHIBIT D
SINKING	g fund
JUNE 3	0, 1950
Balance-June 30, 1949\$19,098.63	Memorial Fund
Additions: By Resolution of Committee-Transfer from General Fund Surplus	Balance—June 30, 1949
\$22,098.63	Fund 279.50
	Disbursements \$ 558.51
Disbursements Survey Costs\$ 70.00	Purchased Materials Chargeable to Memorial Fund
BALANCE-JUNE 30, 1950	BALANCE-JUNE 30, 1950\$ 535.94

EXHIBIT "E"

#### ARROW CRAFT SHOP, STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FISCAL YEAR ENDED MAY 31, 1950

		I EAK EN
Sales Cost of Sales	 \$	126,592.51 59,490.13
Gross Profit-Wholesale	 \$	67,102.38 61.30
Gross Profit Commissions Allowed	 \$	67,163.68 24,135.25
Realized Gross Profit	 \$	43,028.43
Expense Salaries—Manager Salaries—Design & Purchasing Salaries—Office Salaries—Office Salaries—Utility Selling & Shipping Supplies Insurance Convention and Travel Fuel Lights Dues and Subscriptions Taxes and Licenses Miscellaneous Car Expense Truck Expense Office Expense Publicity Postage		2,980.00 4,683.34 3,752.51 1,882.50 613.75 753.13 950.00 31.25 277.64 173.38 31.75 92.78 91.32 110.94 261.44 54.34 418.15 140.10

ED MAY 31, 19	50		
Maintenance Telephone & Te Transportation Bad Debts	elegraph	 	207.12 68.19 133.51 174.01
Total Expense	e	 	17,778.51
Operating Pro	ofit	 \$	25,249.92
Retail Expen Salary	1se:	 	2,622.94 1,100.00 240.00
Purchase Disc Savings Acco State of Tenn Sale of Stock	unt Interest	\$ 	162.71 46.30 800.00 115.00
Other Expense Net Income .	•••••	 s	27,656.87

NOTE: Arrow Craft Shop Books are maintained on a May 31st fiscal year, this being the audited statement for May 31, 1950. Income and Expense have been adjusted to June 30, 1950 for preparation of the Settlement School Treasurer's Report.

#### COMPARATIVE SUMMARY OF CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED,

SCHEDULE 1

Alumna Clubs	Year Ended 6-30-1948	Year Ended 6-30-1949	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	30, 1950 Active Chapters Alpha East			
Alpha East Alpha West Beta Delta Delta Epsilon Zeta Eta Theta Iota Kappa	980.80 2,332.00 474.20 615.47 1,868.00 182.00 808.86 242.00 943.91 1,015.66	\$ 171.55 721.27 1,909.00 245.50 649.50 1,647.00 143.00 761.00 289.03 935.50 1,066.93	795.93	Alpha West Beta Gamma Delta Epsilon Zeta Eta Theta Iota Kappa Lambda Mu	25.00 163.78 103.17 173.70 273.75 155.00 378.00 40.00 333.86 375.00 75.00 65.00	38.00 287.04 100.00 150.00 210.00 424.00 40.00 300.50 360.00 65.00 77.50	30.00 200.00 100.00 156.75 205.00 115.00 382.00 352.45 330.00 75.00 77.50
Lambda Mu		741.00 928.00	498.50 721.00	TOTAL CHAPTERS\$	2,206.26	\$ 2,239.40	\$ 2,134.20
TOTAL CLUBS	\$11,075.03	\$10,208.28	\$ 8,820.51	TOTAL CLUBS AND CHAPTERS	13,281.29	\$12,447.68	\$10,954.71

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

# COMPARATIVE STATEMENT OF CLUB AND CHAPTER CONTRIBUTIONS, YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 1950

1.12.AF			Acti	20		
		ALPHA	EAST			
-30-1948	6-30-1949	6-30-1950	6	-30-1948	6-30-1949	6-30-1950
82.25	\$ 81.55	\$ 50.29			\$ 10.00	\$ 10.50
50.00	50.00	25,00	Vermont A	5.00	7.36	10.00
7.50			Massachusetts A	5.00	5.00	5.00
10.00	10.00	10.00	Massachusetts B		15.00	15.00
1.00	3.00	3.00	vermont B	20.00	20.00	20.00
	2.00	6.00				
178,25	\$171.55	\$139.29	4	45.00	\$ 67.36	\$ 65.50
		ALPHA	West			
\$ 20.00	\$ 20.00	\$ 25.00	New York A		\$ 5.00	\$
75.00	75.00	65.00	New York A	10.00	10.00	5.00
5.00	5.00	5.00	Ontario A	10.00	8.00	10.00
55,30	350.00	150.00	Ontario B	5.00	5.00	5.00
200.00	100.00	100.00				
50.00	50.00	25.00				
10.50	76.27	50.00				
25.00	10.00	10.00				
10.00	15.00	10.00				
\$980.80	\$721.27	\$465.00		\$ 25.00	\$ 38.00	\$ 30.00
160.00 5.00 10.00 180.00 750.00 250.00 100.00 75.00 100.00 12.00	\$ 150.00 10.00 25.00 100.00 305.00 252.00 125.00 50.00 15.00 100.00 7.00	\$ 100.00 10.00 20.00 75.00 300.00 100.00 15.00 50.00 5.00	Pennsylvania B \$ Pennsylvania F Ohio A Ohio B Ohio A West Virginia A Ohio E Ohio Z	35.00 8.78 65.00 15.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 15.00	\$ 35.00 161.64 15.00 45.40 5.00 10.00 15.00	\$ 35.00 10.00 100.00 15.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 15.00
5.00 10.00 500.00 75.00	5.00 15.00 10.00 500.00 150.00 15.00	10.00 10.00 500.00 155.10 25.00				
25.00	25.00	25.00				
2,332.00	\$1,909.00	\$1,665.10	ī	163.78	\$ 287.04	\$ 200.00
	\$ 22.25 2.50 50.00 7.50 25.00 1.00 1.00 \$ 25.00 1.00 \$ 25.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.30 475.00 5.30 475.00 5.30 475.00 5.00 5.30 10.00 5.30 475.00 5.30 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 25.00 12.00 25.00 12.00 25.00 12.00 25.00 12.0	\$ 82,25         \$ 81,55           2:30         50.00         50.00           7:50         10.00         25.00           10.00         10.00         15.00           2:50         \$ 20.00         \$ 20.00           \$ 178,25         \$ 171.55           \$ 20.00         \$ 20.00           \$ 178,25         \$ 171.55           \$ 200,00         100,00           5.00         5.00           5.00         5.00           5.00         5.00           50.00         100,00           50.00         50.00           50.00         50.00           50.00         100,00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           10.00         15.00           100.00         15.00           100.00	10.00         10.00         10.00         10.00           1.00         10.00         10.00         10.00           1.00         3.00         3.00           2.00         6.00           \$178.25         \$171.55         \$139.29           \$20.00         \$20.00         \$25.00           75.00         75.00         65.00           100.00         50.00         50.00           200.00         \$20.00         \$25.00           475.00         350.00         150.00           200.00         50.00         150.00           200.00         50.00         100.00           200.00         50.00         100.00           100.00         100.00         10.00           25.00         76.27         50.00           15.00         15.00         10.00           15.00         15.00         10.00           15.00         10.00         10.00           10.00         15.00         10.00           10.00         15.00         10.00           10.00         15.00         10.00           10.00         15.00         10.00           10.00         15.00	82.25       \$ 81.55       \$ 50.29       Maine A       4         2.50       5.00       Nova Scotia A       4         7.50       10.00       10.00       Wermont A       4         7.50       10.00       10.00       Massachusetts A       4         10.00       10.00       10.00       Massachusetts B       4         10.00       20.00       6.00       Connecticut A       4         10.00       20.00       6.00       Vermont B       4         75.00       75.00       6.00       New York A       5         75.00       5.00       5.00       New York A       5         10.00       100.00       100.00       100.00       100.00         5.00       5.00       100.00       100.00       100.00         5.00       5.00       10.00       10.00       10.00         10.00       100.00       15.00       10.00       10.00         10.00       15.00       10.00       15.00       10.00         10.00       15.00       10.00       Pennsylvania B       \$         5.00       100.00       75.00       00.00       100.00         10.00       10.00<	B2.25         \$ 81.55         \$ 50.29         Maine A	$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

SCHEDULE 2

			DE	LTA			
Ann Arbor, Mich	35.00 100.00 25.00 10.00 20.00 1.00 8.00 1.00 200.00 139.47 5.00 2.00	\$ 25.00 100.00 25.00 100.00 10.00 30.00 25.00 8.00 1.00 247.50 25.00 5.00	\$ 25.00 100.00 25.00 100.00 15.00 15.00 8.00 1.00 200.00 203.51 5.00	Michigan A	10.00 60.00 5.00 30.40 5.00 10.00 5.00 48.30	\$ 10,00 60,00 5,00 10,00 20,00 5,00 10,00	\$ 10.00 60.00 10.00 30.00 21.75 5.00 10.00
Richmond, Ind. Shelbyville, Ind. Southwestern Indiana Jackson, Mich. Southeastern Indiana Hammond, Ind. Muncie	1.00 1.00 40.00 2.00	2.00 3.00 40.00 2.00 1.00	2.00 5.00 100.00 2.00 1.00 1.00				
\$	615.47	\$ 649.50	\$ 835.51	\$	173.70	\$ 150.00	\$ 156.75
			Epst	108			
Chattanooga, Tenn,\$	5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 15.00	Kentucky A\$	20.00	\$ 5.00	\$
Columbia, Mo. Jefferson City, Mo. Kansas City, Mo. Little Pigeon-Knoxville,	100.00 2.00 500.00	75.00	50.00 300.00	Missouri Α Missouri Β Missouri Γ	20.00 125.00 25.00	10.00 125.00 20.00	10.00 125.00 20.00
Little Pigeon-Knoxville, Tenn. Louisville, Ky. Memphis, Tenn. Nashville, Tenn. St. Louis, Mo. Tri-State—Joplin Blue Ridge, Tenn.	1.00 25.00 10.00 10.00 ,200.00 15.00	5.00 25.00 10.00 5.00 1,200.00 15.00 5.00 2.00	5.00 25.00 10.00 1,000 1,000.00 15.00 5.00 20.00	Tennessee A Tennessee B Tennessee T	53.75 30.00	30.00 15.00 5.00	30.00 20.00
	,868.00	\$1,647.00	\$1,455.00		273.75	\$ 210.00	\$ 205.00
-				-			
Atlanta, Ga	50.00 15.00 20.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 5.00	\$ 35.00 10.00 25.00 5.00 25.00 10.00 10.00 15.00 2.00 1.00	ZE \$ 35.00 10.00 25.00 2.00 25.00 10.00 25.00 20.00 2.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	TA Alabama A\$ Florida A Florida B Florida Γ Georgia A Alabama B	30.00 10.00 75.00 20.00 20.00	\$ 15.00 10.00 75.00 20.00	\$ 15.00 75.00 10.00 5.00 10.00
Pensacola\$	182.00	\$ 143.00	1.00	5	155,00	\$ 120.00	\$ 115.00
-							
Aron, III	7.00 20.00 4.00 100.00 5.00 25.00 50.00 5.00 35.00	\$ 10.00 20.00 5.00 100.00 5.00 25.00 75.00 5.00 35.00	E1 \$ 10.00 20.00 140.50 5.00 25.00 75.00 25.00 49.18	TA         Wisconsin         Λ         Λ         \$           Wisconsin         Γ         Π	50.00 50.00 20.00 133.00 75.00	\$ 50.00 50.00 25.00 20.00 75.00 64.00 50.00 75.00	\$ 50.00 50.00 25.00 75.00 15.00 62.00 10.00 75.00
Decatur, 111. DuPage County-Nina Harris Allen Eigin, 111. Fox River Valley, Wis. Illinois Fox River, 111.	10.00	10.00 1.00	10.00 1.00				10.00
Fox River Valley, Wis Illinois Fox River, III. Galesburg, III. Jacksonville, III. Madison, Wis. Milwaukee, Wis. Monmouth, III. North Shore, Wis. Oak Park-River Forest, III.	15.00 5.00 15.00 5.00 50.00 200.00 5.00 102.86 50.00	10.00 5.00 15.00 5.00 20.00 200.00 35.00 35.00 50.00	25.00 15.00 5.00 225.00 35.00 60.00				
Peoria, III. Rockford, III.	25.00 25.00	25.00 15.00	25.00 15.00				
springneid, III.	30.00 808.86	30.00 \$ 761.00	30.00 \$ 845.68	5	378.00	\$ 424.00	\$ 382.00
-							

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

			TH	ETA				
Ames, Iowa	20.00 5.00 10.00 15.00 75.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00	\$ 20.00 5.00 30.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00	\$ 25.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.0	Iowa A Iowa B Iowa Γ Iowa Ζ Manitoba A Minnesota A North Dakota A	5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00	\$ 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00	\$ 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 5.00	
\$	242.00	\$ 289.03	\$ 221.00	\$	40.00	\$ 40.00	\$ 45.00	
				-				

Casper, Wyo.         25.00         25.00         25.00         25.00         Colorado B         50.00         50.00         50.00         50.00         50.00         20.00         Nebraska B         43.86         25.50         102.					Io	TA					
\$ 943.91 \$ 935.50 \$ 782.00 \$ 333.86 \$ 300.50 \$ 352.	Casper, Wyo, Cheyenne, Wyo, Colorado Springs, Colo. Denver, Colo. Hutchinson, Kan. Kansas City, Kan. Laramie, Wyo. Lawrence, Kan. Lincoln, Neb. Manhattan, Kan. Ogden, Utah Omaha, Neb. Sioux Falls Pueblo, Colo. Salt Lake City, Utah Topeka, Kan.	 25.00 85.00 10.00 400.00 45.00 25.00 27.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 100.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00	5	25.00 25.00 50.00 400.00 35.00 20.00 28.50 25.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00	\$ 25.00 25.00 25.00 35.00 20.00 20.00 25.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00	Colorado B Kansas A Nebraska B South Dakota A Utah A	50.0 20.0 100.0 43.8 20.0 20.0	00 00 00 36 00	\$ 50.00 20.00 100.00 25.50 5.00 20.00	\$ 75.00 50.00 20.00 75.00 102.45 5.00 20.00 5.00	
		\$ 943.91	\$	935.50	\$ 782.00	\$	333.8	16	\$ 300.50	\$ 352.45	

			KAI	PPA			
Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Texas Gorpus Christi, Texas Dallas, Texas Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Little Rock, Ark. Houston, Texas McAlester, Okla. New Orleans, La. Nita Stark-Beaumont, Texas Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okmulgee, Okla. Ponca City, Okla. Okmulgee, Okla. Shreveport, La. Stillwater, Okla. Tulsa, Okla. Tyler, Texas Bartlesville, Okla. Brazos Valley Ft. Worth, Texas San Antonio, Texas Waco, Texas Lake Charles Midland	100.00 5.00 40.00 200.00 10.00 10.00 200.00 200.00 5.00 120.66 10.00	\$ 15.00 76.33 50.00 200.00 10.00 15.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 100.00 10.0	\$ 15.00 76.33 50.00 50.00 10.00 15.00 10.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 15.00 10.00 15.00 15.00 10.00 5.00 15.00 15.00 5.00	Texas A	100.00 20.00 50.00 25.00 100.00 50.00 30.00 30.00	\$ 100.0 50.0 25.0 50.0 25.0 25.0 \$ 360.0	00 20.00 00 50.00 10 10.00 10 75.00 10 50.00 10 50.00 10 25.00
	\$1,015.00	er,000.95	· (2).73	-		-	

Boise, Idaho       \$ 50.00       \$ 50.00       \$ 50.00       \$ 50.00       Alberta A       \$ 5.00       \$         Bozeman, Mont,       5.00       5.00       5.00       Idaho A       5.00       \$ 5.00       \$         Butte-Anaconda, Mont,       5.00        5.00       Montana A       10.00       10.00       10.00         Calgary, Alberta       1.00       1.00       1.00       Oregon A       10.00       10.00         Edmonton, Alberta       5.00       5.00       5.00       5.00       Washington A       15.00       5.00         Eugene, Ore,       5.00       5.00       5.00       5.00       0.00       0 regon F        20.00       10.00         Olympia, Wash.       35.00       35.00       35.00       00       Washington F        10.00         Portland, Ore,       150.00       100.00       100.00       100.00       100.00       10.00	\$ 5.0 5.0 10.0 10.0 10.0 10.0	00 00 00
Wenatchee, Wash.       25.00       45.00       50.00         Yakima, Wash.       10.00       5.00       10.00         Seattle, Wash.       200.00       300.00       50.00         Billington, Wash.       -       5.00       -         Walla Walla, Wash.       -       20.00       10.00         Bellingham, Wash.       -       -       5.00         Medford, Ore.       -       -       5.00         Vancouver, B.C.       -       -       5.00	5.0 10.0 10.0	00
\$ 712.00 \$ 741.00 \$ 498.50 \$ 75.00 \$ 65.00	\$ 75.0	00

Mu

Albuquerque, N.M. Berkeley, Calif. El Paso, Texas Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif. Honolulu, T.H. Long Beach, Calif. Marine County, Calif. Marine County, Calif. Marine County, Calif. Marine County, Calif. Pasadena, Calif. Pasadena, Calif. Phoenix, Ariz. Sacramento, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Fernando, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Jarbara, Calif. Santa Barbara, Calif. Santa Barbara, Calif. Santa Monica—Westwood South Coast California Tucson, Ariz. Contra Costa, Calif. Roswell	2.50 5.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 5.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 25	\$ 5.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 25.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 10.00 20.00 20.00 20.00 10.00 10.00 25.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 15.00 25.00 10.00 15.00 25.00 15.00 15.00 25.00 15.00 15.00 25.00 10.00 10	$\begin{array}{c} 150.00\\ 5.00\\ 15.00\\ 25.00\\ 16.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 15.00\\ 10.00\\ 10.00\\ 10.00\\ 5$	Arizona A	15.00 30.00 5.00 15.00	\$ 7.50 25.00 30.00 15.00	\$ 7.50 20.00 5.00 5.00 15.00 5.00	
	\$ 721.88	\$ 928.00	\$ 721.00	\$	65.00	\$ 77.50	\$ 77.50	

82

# Committee Reports

# HOLT HOUSE COMMITTEE

I N GIVING this last report for the present Holt House Committee I have a feeling of sadness, as one cannot assume the responsibilities of maintaining and supporting Holt House without acquiring a deeper appreciation of our heritage and of the twelve girls who founded our Fraternity.

The increase in the number of active chapters and alumnæ clubs contributing to the Holt House Fund this year is evidence of the pride Pi Phis have in Holt House.

From these contributions minor repairs have been made, and necessary new furnishings have been purchased. We purchased a new refrigerator and two electrical units for the stove-and are in the process of having the parlor curtains duplicated, as the old ones were beyond repair. As soon as the material can be matched we hope to have the occasional chairs in the Pine Room recovered. Many necessary repairs have been made; such as painting of the shutters, storm windows, screens, and gutters. The foundation has been re-pointed both inside and out-and the floors and basement walls have been repaired and painted. The inside of the house has been painted.

Climbing roses have been planted at the base of the trellises which were given to Holt House last year by Paul B. Wallace, in honor of his mother, one of our Founders, Nancy Black Wallace. Mr. Wallace, in writing of his mother's college life has mentioned her speaking of the beauty of the entrance to the Holt home with its trellises and climbing roses. This

he restored in her memory. The kitchen, the hostess' bathroom, the lavatory off the powder room, and the porch floors have been painted-and minor repairs were made to the roof.

The number of alumnæ clubs contributing to the Holt House Fund increased from 179 last year to 217 this year. The highest contributing clubs were Iowa City, Iowa \$50, Kansas City, Missouri, \$50, and Everett, Washington, \$30. Many other clubs sent generous checks.

The active chapters increased their contributions, with 87 chapters contributing as compared with 83 for last year. The highest contributing chapters were Louisiana A \$100, Illinois A \$50, and Oklahoma A \$35. The following chapters each gave \$25: Missouri B, Iowa F, Kansas B, and Texas A.

The highest contributing provinces (alumnæ) were: Mu, Lambda, and Kappa. Every club in the following provinces contributed; Mu, Lambda, Theta, and lota.

The highest contributing provinces (active) were: Kappa, Eta and lota. Every chapter in the following provinces contributed: Kappa, Eta, Iota, Delta, Beta and Lambda.

Besides active chapters and alumnæ clubs in and near Monmouth using the house this past year, the following organizations have held meetings or parties there: Woman's Club, D.A.R., P.E.O., Women's Mis-sionary Group, Book Club, Home Bureau, and the Alumnæ Sewing Circle. Several showers, luncheons, weddings, and receptions have been accommodated.

Mrs. Carey, known far and wide in Monmouth for her gracious hospitality, continues to manage the house very efficiently.

The chairman is grateful to Mrs. John Trost-our most able treasurer, and to the other committee memR

A

bers: particularly Mrs. R. M. Jensen, Monmouth, who has scheduled the film and done innumerable other things to facilitate the work of this committee.

The chairman gratefully acknowledges the encouragement and guidance given by Miss Onken during the past year. She is grateful also for the many duties performed for the committee by the Director of Central Office, Gladys Hayes Scivally, and by each member of Grand Council. The assistance and cooperation of the province officers has greatly facilitated the work of the committee and of the chairman. Again, this chairman and committee is grateful to Gladys Stump Nall, the preceding chairman, for her advice and help during the past year.

We are drawing to the close of a successful year for Holt House, and already planning for an even more successful year in 1950-1951.

Respectfully submitted, NANCY ILGENFRITZ SWISHER

#### FINANCIAL REPORT OF HOLT HOUSE TREASURER FOR THE YEAR MAY 17, 1949-JUNE 15, 1950

Receipts

ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Chapters		
Nova Scotia A	5.00 10.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00	\$ 41.00
Alumna		
Boston, Mass. Burlington, Vt. Eastern Maine Halifax, Nova Scotia Hartford, Conn. Montreal, Que. New Haven, Conn. Portland, Me,	$1.00 \\ 6.50 \\ 4.50 \\ 6.00 \\ 10.00 \\ 4.00 \\ 4.00 \\ 10.00 \\ 10.00 \\$	46.00
LPHA PROVINCE WEST		
Chapters		
New York A New York Γ New York Δ Ontario A Ontario B	5.00 15.00 5.00 5.00	30.00
Alumnæ		
Albany, N.Y. Buffalo, N.Y. Hudson River, N.Y. London, Ontario New York City Northern New Jersey Poughkeepsie, N.Y. Rochester, N.Y. Schenectady, N.Y. Syracuse, N.Y. Toronto, Ontario Westchester County, N.Y.	5.00 5.00 5.00 2.50 3.00 6.00 2.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	48.50
ETA PROVINCE		
Chapters	10.00	
Pennsylvania B Pennsylvania Γ Ohio A Ohio B Ohio Δ Ohio Δ Ohio Z West Virginia A	10.00 10.00 15.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00	75.00

A	1	-	1.00	-

84

Alumnæ Akron, Ohio Central Pennsylvania Charleston, W. Va. Cincinnati, Ohio Cleveland, East, Ohio Cleveland, East, Ohio Columbus, Ohio Dayton, Ohio Fairmont, W. Va. Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa. Mahoning Valley, Ohio Oxford, Ohio Philadelphia, Pa. Pittsburgh, Pa. Pittsburgh, South Hills, Pa. Toledo, Ohio Southern New Jersey Group	$\begin{array}{c} 10.00\\ 5.00\\ 10.00\\ 12.50\\ 10.00\\ 10.00\\ 10.00\\ 5.00\\ 5.00\\ 7.00\\ 5.00\\ 7.00\\ 5.00\\ 7.00\\ 10.00\\ 5.00\\ 7.50\\ 10.00\\ 5.00\\ 4.00\\ \end{array}$	178.50
GAMMA PROVINCE Chapters	10.00	
Maryland A Maryland B Dist. of Columbia A	10.00 5.00	
Maryland B Dist, of Columbia A Virginia A Virginia F North Carolina A North Carolina B	10.00 5.00	
North Carolina B South Carolina A	15.00	45.00
Alumnæ	* 00	
Baltimore, Md. Chapel Hill, N.C. Charlotte, N.C.	5.00 1.00 3.00	
Durham, N.C.	1.00	
Norfolk, Va. Richmond, Va.	2.00 3.00 5.00	
Richmond, Va. Washington, D.C., Senior Washington, D.C., Junior Wilmington, Del.	7.50	28.50
DELTA PROVINCE		
Chapters Michigan A Michigan B Michigan F Indiana A Indiana B Indiana B Indiana C Indiana C Indiana E	10.00 30.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00	80.00
Alumnæ	10.00	
Ann Arbor, Mich. Bloomineld Hills, Mich. Bloomington, Ind. Detroit, Mich. Fort Wayne, Ind. Franklin, Ind. Gary, Ind. Grand Rapids, Mich. Hammond, Ind. Hillsdale, Mich. Muncie, Ind. Indianapolis, Ind. Jackson, Mich. Lafayette, Ind. Lansing and East Lansing, Mich. Richmond, Ind. Southeastern Indiana Southwestern Indiana	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 1.00	88.00
Epsilon Province Chapters		
Missouri A Missouri B	10.00 25.00 15.00	
Kentucky A Tennessee A Tennessee B Tennessee F	10.00 20.00	80.00
Alumna	1.00	
Blue Ridge Chattanooga, Tenn. Columbia, Mo. Kansas City, Mo. Knoxville-Little Pigeon, Tenn.	4.00 15.00 50.00 5.00	

	Epsilon Province (Continued)		
	Lexington, Ky. Louisville, Ky. Memphis, Tenn. Nashville, Tenn. St. Louis, Mo. Springfield, Mo. Tri-State	5.00 5.00 6.00 15.00 10.00 5.00	125.00
	ZETA PROVINCE		
	Chapters Alabama A Alabama B Florida A Florida B Florida T	10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00	
	Georgia A	5.00	45.00
78.50	Alumnæ Atlanta, Ga. Birmingham, Ala. De Land, Fla. Jacksonville, Fla. Jacksonville, Fla. Lakeland, Fla. Mobile, Ala. Ocala, Fla. Ocala, Fla. Palm Beach, Fla. Pensacola, Fla. St. Petersburg, Fla. Tallahasse, Fla.	$\begin{array}{c} 10.00\\ 5.00\\ 5.00\\ 1.00\\ 3.00\\ 3.00\\ 10.00\\ 1.00\\ 2.00\\ 3.00\\ \end{array}$	
45.00	Pensacola, Fla. St. Petersburg, Fla.	1.00	
	Tampa, Fla.	$1.00 \\ 10.00$	60.00
	ETA PROVINCE		
28.50	Chapters Wisconsin A Wisconsin B Wisconsin Γ Illinois A Illinois B-Δ Illinois Z Illinois H Illinois H Illinois θ	20.00 10.00 20.00 50.00 20.00 10.00 15.00 10.00 20.00	175.00
	Alumnæ		
80.00	Appleton, Wis. Avon, Ill. (Libbie Brooks Gaddis) Beloit, Wis. Carthage, Ill. Champaign-Urbana, Ill. Chicago Business Women, Ill. Chicago, North, Ill. Chicago, South, Ill. Chicago, West Suburban, Ill. Decatur, Ill. Du Page County, Ill.	3.00 5.00 1.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	
	Du Page County, 111. Elgin, 111. Fox River Valley, Wis.	1.00	
	Du Page County, III. Elgin, III. Fox River Valley, Wis. Galesburg, III. Illinois Fox River Valley, III. Jacksonville, III. Joliet, III. Madison, Wis. Milwaukee, Wis. Monmouth, III.	15.00 10.00 2.00 5.00 10.00	
	North Shore, III. Junior Oak Park-River Forest, III. Peoria, III. Rockford, III. Springfield, III.	5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00	117.00
88.00	Glen Ellyn, Ill.	5.00	157.00
	THETA PROVINCE Chapters		
80.00	Manitoba A North Dakota A Minnesota A Iowa A Iowa B Iowa T Iowa Z	5.00 6.00 5.00 10.00 25.00 15.00	66.00
80.00	Alumnæ		
	Ames, Iowa Burlington, Iowa Cedar Rapids, Iowa Council Bluffs, Iowa Des Moines, Iowa Duluth, MinnSuperior, Wis.	5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	

# THE SEPTEMBER ARROW

Theta Province (Continued)					
			LAMBDA PROVINCE		
Grand Forks, N.D.	5.00		Chapters		
Indianola, Iowa	5.00		Alberta A	2,50	
Iowa City, Iowa	50.00		Montana A	10.00	
Minneapolis (afternoon), Minn	10.00		Idaho A	5.00	
Minneapolis (afternoon), Minn Minneapolis (evening), Minn Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	1.00		Washington A	5.00	
St. Paul, Minn.	1.00		Washington A Washington B	10.00	
Siony City Iowa	5.00		wasnington 1	10.00	
Sioux City, Iowa Tri-City (Rock Island, Moline, Ill.,	2.00		Oregon B	10.00	
Davenport, Iowa)	5.00		Oregon I	10.00	72.50
Winnipeg, Manitoba	1.00	110.00		10.00	12.00
			Alumnæ		
Ion Province			Bellingham, Wash.	10.00	
IOTA PROVINCE			Boise, Idaho	5.00	
Chapters			Bozeman, Mont. Butte-Anaconda, Mont.	2.50	
South Dakota A	5.00		Calgary Alberta	1.00 2.00	
Nebraska B	10.00		Calgary, Alberta Corvallis, Ore,	5.00	
Kansas A	10.00		Edmonton, Alberta	5.00	
Kansas B	25.00		Eugene, Ore	2.00	
Colorado A	10.00		Eugene, Ore. Everett, Wash. Klamath Falls, Ore.	30.00	
Colorado B	10.00		Klamath Falls, Ore	4.00	
Wyoming A Utah A	10.00	85.00	Medford, Ore. Olympia, Wash	10.00	
Otan A	10.00	83.00	Olympia, Wash,	5.00	
Alumnæ			Portland, Ore Pullman, Wash.	10.00	
	5.00		Salem, Ore.	15.00	
Boulder, Colo Casper, Wgo.	1.00		Seattle, Wash.	10.00	
Cheyenne, Wyo.	5.00		Spokane, Wash	5.00	
Colorado Springs, Colo,	5.00		Tacoma, Wash.	20.00	
Denver, Colo. Fort Collins, Colo. Hutchinson, Kan.	10.00		Spokane, Wash. Tacoma, Wash. Vancouver, B.C. Wenatchee, Wash.	4.00	
Fort Collins, Colo,	5.00		Wenatchee, Wash.	5.00	
Hutchinson, Kan.	5.00		Yakima, Wash. Walla Walla, Wash.	5.00	
Kansas City, Kan.	2.00		Walla Walla, Wash.	10.00	175.50
Laramic, Wyo.	1.00				
Kansas City, Kan. Laramie, Wyo. Lawrence, Kan. Lincoln, Neb.	5.00		MU PROVINCE		
Manhattan, Kan.	20.00		Chapters		
Orden Utah	5.00		California B	15.00	
Omaha, Neb. Pueblo, Colo. Salt Lake City, Utah Sioux Falls, S.D.	5.00		California C California A	10.00	
Pueblo, Colo.	3.00		California A	20.00	
Salt Lake City, Utah	5.00		California E California Z	5.00	
Sioux Falls, S.D.	1.00		California Z		
LODCKA, NAD.	10.00		Arizona A	15.00	
Vermillion, S.D Wichita, Kan.	1.00	109.00	Nevada A	10.00	85.00
wichita, Kan.	10.00	109.00	<ul> <li>March 1990 March 1991 March 199</li></ul>	10.00	85.00
			Alumnæ		
KAPPA PROVINCE			Albuquerque, N.M. Berkeley, Calif. Centinela Valley, Calif. Contra Costa, Calif.	5.00	
Chapters			Berkeley, Calif.	2.50	
	25 00		Centinela Valley, Calit.	5.00	
Oklahoma A Oklahoma B	35.00		El Paro Ter	10.00	
Arkansas A	5.00		Fresno Calif	10.00	
Texas A	25.00		El Paso, Tex. Fresno, Calif. Glendale, Calif. Honolulu, T.H.	5.00	
Texas B	5.00		Honolulu, T.H.	10.00	
Louisiana A	100.00		Long Beach, Calif	5.00	
Louisiana B	10.00	190.00	Los Angeles, Calif.		
				10.00	
Alumnæ			marin County, Cant,	8.00	
			Palo Alto, Calif.	8.00	
Amarillo, Texas	10.00		Palo Alto, Calif. Pasadena, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00	
Amarillo, Texas	15.00		Palo Alto, Calif. Pasadena, Calif. Phoenix, Ariz. Reno, New.	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex.	10.00		Honolulu, T.H. Long Beach, Calif. Marin County, Calif. Palo Alto, Calif. Pasadena, Calif. Phoenix, Ariz. Reno, Nev. Roswell, N.M.	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00 2.50	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Battos Rouge La			Sacramento, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Battos Rouge La	10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Bartos Rouge Lu	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla, Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla, Baton Rouge, La, Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 20.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla, Austin, Tex. Bartiesville, Okla, Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County. Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartiesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00 1.00	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Forts Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock Texas	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 1.00 2.50	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Forts Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock Texas	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 5.00	176.50
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 4.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	176.50
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties)	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 20.00 10.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 5.00	176.50
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Sonta Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions. House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co.	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 2.55 5.00 1.00	176.50
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties)	8.00 5.00 1.00 2.50 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00	176.50
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage)	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage)	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Swith, Ark. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage)	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fortsmith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okmulgee, Okla. Osceola, Ark. Pauls Valley, Okla.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 3.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 4.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Sonta Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions. House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co.	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okmulgee, Okla. Pauls Valley, Okla.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage)	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fortsmith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okseola, Ark. Pauls Valley, Okla. Ponca City, Okla. Ponca City, Okla. Sabine District, Tex. San Antonio Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 5.00 5.00 1.00 5.00 1.37.00 1.4	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fortsmith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okseola, Ark. Pauls Valley, Okla. Ponca City, Okla. Sabine District, Tex. San Antonio Tex.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Total Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Total Contributions (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund Disbursements	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 2.00 10.00 2.00 10.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 1.00 1.	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartiesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. New Orleans, La. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. O	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco. Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund Disbursements Loan repaid to Grand Treasurer	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 2.50 5.00 137.00 14.25 500.00	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. New Orleans, La. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okahoma City, Okla. Okahoma City, Okla. Okanong, Cokla. Sabine District, Tex. San Antonio, Tex. Shreveport, La. Stillwater, Okla.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.0		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund Disbursements Loan repaid to Grand Treasurer	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 2.50 5.00 2.555.00 137.00 14.25	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartlesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. Midland, Tex. Muskogee, Okla. New Orleans, La. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okahoma City, Okla. Okahoma City, Okla. Okanong, Cokla. Sabine District, Tex. San Antonio, Tex. Shreveport, La. Stillwater, Okla.	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 1		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Fernando Valley, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Monica-Westwood, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions House Revenue (Parties) Phoenix Insurance Co. (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund Dibbarsements Loan repaid to Grand Treasurer Electricity Gas (Furnace)	8.00 5.00 1.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 2.50 5.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 5.00	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27
Amarillo, Texas Ardmore, Okla. Austin, Tex. Bartiesville, Okla. Baton Rouge, La. Brazos Valley, Tex. Corpus Christi, Tex. Dallas, Tex. Fayetteville, Ark. Fort Smith, Ark. Fort Worth, Tex. Houston, Tex. Lake Charles, La. Little Rock, Ark. Lubbock, Texas. McAlester, Okla. New Orleans, La. Norman, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. Okla. Oklahoma City, Okla. O	10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.0		Sacramento, Calif. San Bernardino, Calif. San Diego, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Francisco, Calif. San Jose, Calif. San Mateo County, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. Santa Barbara-Ventura, Calif. South Coast (Laguna, Balboa, New Port Beach), Calif. Tucson, Ariz. Total Contributions (Windstorm Damage) Total Receipts Balance on hand May 17, 1949 Holt House Petty Cash Fund Disbursements Loan repaid to Grand Treasurer	8.00 5.00 1.00 10.00 2.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 2.50 5.00 2.555.00 137.00 14.25	.\$2,706.25 . 3,405.34 . 40.27

Committee Expenses

Dry cleaning and Laundry	
(Rugs and Draperies)	62.31
Housecleaning (Labor)	80.16
Piano Tuning (2 times)	14.25
Repairs-Paintings-floor refinishing	
Porch repair-furnace, etc	430.34
Miscellaneous Supplies	27.07
Curtains	13.94
Plants	5.30
Refrigerator	250.25
Punch Bowl and cups	28.15
Hand-lettered cards	25.00
Insurance	94.50
'Mrs. Carey's Salary\$715.00	693.45
Less Social Security 10.55 Withholding Tax 11.00 21.55	
Withholding Tax 11.00 1 21.33	
Taxes paid	25.61

Film costs 5.00 Stationery, Stamps, etc. 50.79	123.85	
Total Disbursements Balance June 15, 1950		2,82
Represented by Cash in Bank Holt House Petty Cash		3,30
		\$3,32
Enterior C	Terrer T	

10.00

FRANCES S. TROST. Treasurer

## COMMITTEE ON LOAN FUND

URING the year 1949-1950 we made about the same number of loans as in the preceding year. Contributions received from chapters were forwarded to Central Office, for credit to the Scholarship Fund, as it was felt the chapters really intended to contribute to the required project, instead of to the Loan Fund. Following is a report of operations for the vear-

Loans made 1949-1950\$	1,877.50
Repayments on loans	2,889.41
Interest paid on loans	175.37
Contributions (Alumnæ Clubs)	17.50

C	utstand	ling	Loans, i	U	n	d	e	٢.	g	ra	ia	1	14	u	e									
																	4		ł	ą	ž	a	÷.	1,514.00
	Loans	due	1950 .		ŝ	ŝ	à		÷,	à		4	÷	i.		ž	k	ŝ	2	à	1	ž	4	788.00
			1951				÷							1		÷	÷			÷	÷	ŝ	÷	1,450.00
			1952		Ĵ		ý			ŝ	ý		,				ų,	ì		è	ý	ç		1,285.00
	**		1953																					
	1.1		1954								1													400.00

Graduate Loans . 1,287.50

6.972.00

 $7.11 \\ 4.75$ 

4.75

Sincerely JOSEPHINE MCCLEVERTY Chairman Loan Fund Committee

## REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON PUBLICITY

THE PURPOSE of the Publicity Committee for the year has been "more and better publicity for Pi Phis everywhere." It is the chairman's honest opinion that the chapter and club chairmen have made tremendous strides not only in their publicity but also in their public relations. It is with a feeling of satisfaction of a job well done on the part of the many, many Pi Phi publicity chairmen that the committee closes the year's activities.

From the beginning the problem to be solved first was an organizational one. A card file with the name and address of each chapter and club chairman was set up, and this file facilitated personal correspondence no end. Five letters were sent out during the year, and in each one the need for factual organization was stressed. Use of the manual was particularly emphasized as well as other trade suggestions derived from professional sources.

In addition to the organizational activities, releases

were prepared on Founders' Day, Holt House, Loyalty Day and Settlement School, and were kept on file at Central Office to be disbursed at the request of the chairmen. The committee is also deeply grateful to Ruth Bowen, Edmonton, Alberta, for her invaluable help in preparing convention publicity. She submitted items for newspaper release which were relayed with a letter to all the chaimen for use in pre-convention publicity.

A great many personal requests for specific publicity problems passed over the chairman's desk, and an attempt was made in each instance to solve these problems.

No report of this committee would be complete without a sincere and heartfelt vote of thanks to Gladys Scivally without whose help we simply couldn't have managed.

Respectfully submitted, LORRAINE K. PETERS, Committee on Publicity

## COMMITTEE ON SCHOLARSHIP

. E. MURPHY in "Open Every Door" says, "Life T is a corridor with many doors. I am hurrying to open as many as I can before the ultimate one is opened. An important thing to remember is that no matter what strange door we plan to open, there are experts to guide us—for free." The scholarship com-mittee has worked faithfully to help each girl open doors and to guide her in her chosen field.

The committee is happy to report that 18 chapters were first on their campuses for the year 1948-1949, five more than for the previous year, and the largest number since 1934 except for 1942, when 20 chapters were highest. In addition to these 18, there were 25 others in the upper third, making a total of 43 in the upper third; 31 in the middle third; 18 in the lower third, including 6 in the lowest place. Nine other chapters were first for one term, while two others were lowest for one term. Two chapters were unable to obtain comparative averages. Of the 90 reporting, 44 raised their average from last year, 39 lowered theirs, and 7 remained the same.

For the five years the present officer has been national chairman, the following chapters have been in the upper third for the entire time:

Connecticut A Ohio B Ohio Z Missouri Γ Illinois Ζ North Dakota A Kansas B Colorado B Oklahoma B Arkansas A Oregon Γ

Oklahoma B is unique in that it has received the scholarship cup given by Panhellenic for the last five consecutive years. Epsilon and Kappa are outstanding for no chapter in these two provinces has been in the lowest place for these five years. Epsilon, Kappa, and Lambda have been in the upper third for four years. The grade average for all the provinces for the year 1948-49 is 24.291, just .561 higher than that of the year 1947-48.

The Director of Education of Sigma Chi, Ralph W. Wilson, says, "It is my personal opinion that any chapter of any fraternity is not justifying its usefulness and its existence unless it is able to equal or exceed the all-men's average in scholarship," It is interesting to note that for the year 1948-49, 43 Pi Phi chapters were above the all-women's average, 24 below, and 27 were unable to obtain this information. Of the 24 below, nine were above for one term. The difference between the average of these 24 and that of the all-women varies from .001 to 1.44, the average being .231 below. Considering this information, we should add to our present goal of "Every chapter in the Upper Third," "No Chapter in the Lower Third," this new one, "Every Chapter Above the All-Women's Average.

The December ARROW printed a list of our 198 honor girls, of whom every Pi Phi is justly proud. It is regrettable that because of limited space, not all the names and pictures of the underclassmen could be included.

As the door is closing for this present year, the chairman wishes to express her deepest gratitude to all those who have contributed so willingly to further the work of higher scholarship-the province supervisors, chapter chairmen, Marajane Barksdale, Gladys Scivally, Lucile Carson, and Miss Onken. She has greatly enjoyed the work with the fraternity and counts it a great privilege to be able to serve it.

Respectfully submitted, HARRIET R. JOHNSTONE

#### GRADE AVERAGES FOR THE YEAR 1948-1949

Nova Scotia A Connecticut A Ohio A Michigan A Indiana r Missouri B Illinois B-A Tennessee r	First in Scholarship—18 Grade 40 Illinois O Iowa A Iowa B Colorado B Oklahoma A Oklahoma B Washington T Oregon A
North Dakota A Chapters Vermont B Ohio A Ohio Z	California F First for One Term of the Year North Carolina A Wisconsin A Missouri F Wisconsin B Alabama A Iowa F
0.1 01	11 17

.0	tuet	<i>Ct</i>	цар	10		۲.	н		r,	-	Ε.		1	7	20	x,	19		n	п	a	-	-	٤,		-	Grade	20.00-40,
V	ermo	nt	в							1.	١.	÷					ç,			ù	i.	ç		į.			39.641	
		Δ			١.			į		١.														į		1	38.351	
	hio	z																									.37.975	
Α	rkans	as	A	ς.		ŝ,				۰,		i.		1			÷							i.		ŝ	37.757	
W	ashi	ngt	on		A				2		ż	i.		.,	í.	ŝ				ä		ç		5	ί.	á	37.155	6
																											36.645	
0	hio 1	Β.						i.			×	i,				÷		ŝ	÷	5				2		5	36.323	÷
M	laryla	ind	13	В										4				.,		.,				÷			34.679	,
W	liscon	sir	١.	в								÷			÷			.,		2						.,	34.375	
					÷		÷					÷														i,	34.146	
Ic	wa ]	Γ.			•	ò			• •					ŝ				i,		i.			÷			1	33.149	1 m

Town I	11 050
Texas A Wisconsin A	
Wisconsin A	
Kansas B.	
Alabama A	21 212
Indiana Δ Missouri Γ	11 004
North Carolina A	
South Carolina A	20 714
Oregon B	
DCA	28.073
Minnesota A	
Louisiana A	27 975
Wyoming A	77 602
Illinois Z	77 367
Chapters in the Middle Th	ird-31-Grade 26.66-13.33
Michigan B	26 153
Maine A	26.008
Missouri A	
Maine A Missouri A Indiana B Ontario A	
Ontario A	
I chnessee A	
Illinois Ε California Δ Pennsylvania B	
California A	
Pennsylvania B	
Nebraska B Florida B	
Florida B	
lows Z	21 60
Georgia A	
Indiana A	
Georgia A Indiana A Colorado A Kentucky A	
Kentucky A	
Montana A Michigan I Ohio E	
Michigan I	
Ohio E	
Vermont A	
New York A	19.022
Indiana E	10.674
New Mexico A Washington B	17 60
Texas B	16 \$ 45
Nevada A	16 006
Nevada A	15 808
Nevada A South Dakota A California B	
California B	
California B	
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ	
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d—12—Grade L—13,33—0.0
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d—12—Grade L—13,33—0.0 
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d—12—Grade L—13.33—0.0 12.599 12.275
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d—12—Grade L—13.33—0.0 12.599 12.275
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d—12—Grade L—13,33—0.0 12,599 12,275 12,104 11,538
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin Γ Tennessee B Idaho A	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d-12Grade L13,330.0 12,599 12,275 12,104 11,538 11,047 10,00
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin Γ Tennessee B Idaho A	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d-12Grade L13,330.0 12,599 12,275 12,104 11,538 11,047 10,00
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin Γ Tennessee B Idaho A	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d-12Grade L13,330.0 12,599 12,275 12,104 11,538 11,047 10,00
South Dakota A California B Virginia Γ New York Γ Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin Γ Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A	15,808 15,264 15,19 14,085 13,454 d-12-Grade L-13,33-0.0 12,599 12,275 12,104 11,538 11,047 10,00 9,302 8,306 7,027 5,478
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Luusiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A New York A North Carolina B Utah A	15.808 15.264 15.19 
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A New York A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.75 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade0 Florida A Alberta A
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.75 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 C-G-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A Wisconsin A Wisconsin A Wisconsin A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Utah A New York A New York A New York A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the lower third if Chapters in the lower third if	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest 43 11.212 12.104 11.538 11.047 12.104 11.538 11.047 12.104 11.538 11.047 12.104 11.538 11.047 12.104 11.538 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest 18 31
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 E-G-Grade0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wissconsin T Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third if Chapters in the uower third ir Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters with grades unavail Total	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.75 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the lower third in Chapters with grades unavail Total Total	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.75 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest43 http://www.alberta43 18.200 19.400 19.400 19.400 10.00 9.302 10.000 10.00
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the middle third Chapters in the middle third Chapters in the middle third Chapters with grades unavail Total Averages for the Different Pro Alpha East25.39	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wissconsin T Tennessee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania C Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the middle third Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters with grades unavail Total Averages for the Different Pro Alpha East23.39	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennesee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the lower third in Chapters with grades unavail Total Total Averages for the Different Pro Alpha East	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 11.047 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A Wisconsin F Tennessee B Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters in the lower third ir Chapters with grades unavail Total Averages for the Different Pro Alpha East 25.39 Alpha West A Beta Massachusetts A Chapters 13.19 Beta 25.05 Gamma 18.270	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.275 12.104 11.538 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 E-G-Grade0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest
South Dakota A California B Virginia F New York F Louisiana B Chapters in the Lower Thir Arizona A Massachusetts B Illinois A Wisconsin F Tennesee B Idaho A Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A West Virginia A New York A Manitoba A North Carolina B Utah A Chapters Lowes Massachusetts A Pennsylvania F Maryland A Chapters with G Florida F Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the upper third i Chapters in the lower third in Chapters with grades unavail Total Total Averages for the Different Pro Alpha East	15.808 15.264 15.19 14.085 13.454 d-12-Grade L-13.33-0.0 12.599 12.775 12.104 11.538 11.047 11.047 11.047 10.00 9.302 8.306 7.027 5.478 3.001 2.105 t-6-Grade-0 Florida A Alberta A Ontario B rades Unavailable Illinois E including those highest

.18.822

Zeta

Mu Total Average

.....24.291

## COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY STUDY AND EXAMINATION

		ACTIVE CHAI	PTER EXAMINATION			
Province	Chapters	Actives	No. Examined	Excused	Failed to Take	Province Average
Alpha East	7	290	2120	78	0	94.37
Alpha West	5	152	150	2	0	93.61
Beta	8	345	312¢	32	1	87.65
Gamma	8	269	226	42	1	83.30
Delta	8	342	291	51	0	96.40
Epsilon	7	279	218 <sup>d</sup>	61	0	96.00
Zeta	6	214	129	83	2	90.30
Eta	9	356	345	11	0	96.16
Theta	7	238	205	32	1	98.70
Iota	8	320	315*	5	0	97.20
Kappa	7	266	264	1	1	98.20
Lambda	9	341	273	68	0	96.88
Mu	84	204	202ť	2	0	92.00
					-	
	97	3616	3142	468	6	

\* Report is on 6 chapters only, (2 new chapters took the pre-initiation examination this year.)

	PRE-INITIATION EXA	MINATION	
Province	Number Examined	Re-examined	Province Average
Alpha East	181	0	98.37
Alpha West	94	0	98.96
Beta	130	ĩ	98.65
Delta	172	0	99.90
Gamma	191	0	98.00
Epsilon	133	0	98.45
Zeta	114	0	98.50
Eta	198	0	99.55
Theta	101	0	99.40
Iota	160	0	99.10
Kappa	192	1	98.30
Lambda	200	0	98.86
Mu	241*	0	96.74
		-	
	2107	2	

\* Includes both actives and pledges for California Epsilon and Zeta. With appreciation to each committee member for her cooperation,

Respectfully submitted, FLORENCE HUNT ISERT

(By Helen S. Mann)

## COMMITTEE ON SOCIAL EXCHANGE

THE Social Exchange Committee, whose duty it is to collect and select the best material from all the chapters, has had a busy and profitable year. Even though we were informed that so many chapters were finding the Bulletin most helpful in putting on rush weeks, homecomings and Founders' Day celebra-tions, we discovered to our satisfaction that Pi Phi imagination and ingenuity still produces quantities of new ideas for the Social Exchange Bulletin. We won't have to close up shop for years at this rate.

Newcomers to our committee have performed nobly under unusual circumstances and the members who have been serving for several years turned in some beautiful reports.

We heard from 86 chapters, receiving information on rushing for the 1949 season and on Founders' Day for the spring of 1949. Twenty-nine chapters received a perfect score for cooperation, nine chapters failed to send in reports, and twelve sent in only one of the two required.

Gamma Province showed as the best in cooperative chapters, with five out of eight receiving perfect scores. Eta Province placed highest in quality and originality of her chapter reports.

The winning chapter with the best all-round reports and co-operation with the province chairman is WISCONSIN BETA, Runner-up is Illinois Z.

For originality in material on rushing the Social

Exchange award goes to MASSACHUSETTS ALPHA. Their skit on "South Pacific" was delightful and clever ideas on favors and invitations were unusual.

Hall of Fame shows the names of Vermont B, Texas A, Ohio Z, and Iowa B. The first three named turned in excellent rush party plans and Iowa Beta rates her place due to the awards she won for originality during the school year: the Tomahawk (Simpson's highest Homecoming festivities award) for taking first places in the varsity show, for their float, in campus spirit and the window decoration contest. Ohio Zeta sent samples of place cards and favors that made us all want to be rushees again so we could have them. In spite of the fact that Alabama Beta is such a baby chapter they have not relied completely on other Pi Phis' for all their rushing ideas, but have sent in some fine examples of their own to pass on to older chapters. They, too, deserve mention in the Hall of Fame.

For the fine spirit of cooperation and friendliness, could with excellent work on reports, this chairman warmly thanks her committee. To Miss Onken and Gladys Scivally she always owes a deep appreciation and to the chapter chairmen who compiled their information so beautifully she gives her vote of thanks. Respectfully submitted,

VIRGINIA DALE MCMAHAN

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> 1 failed to pass.
 <sup>b</sup> 1 failed to pass.
 <sup>c</sup> 9 failed to pass.
 <sup>d</sup> 1 failed to pass.
 <sup>g</sup> 4 failed to pass.
 <sup>f</sup> 1 failed to pass.

## COMMITTEE ON FRATERNITY MUSIC

BECAUSE of her appointment as Epsilon Province President, the Music Committee lost one of its members, Marilyn Weigner Brandom, who had served two years. Knowing her capabilities, we can only feel that Epsilon Province is very fortunate in having such an enthusiastic and qualified leader, and that our loss is very much their gain. The Committee wishes to thank her for her contributions to our work during her time of membership.

As a new member of the Committee, the Grand President appointed Dorothe Anderson Lanning, who is well qualified, being a composer herself and very much interested in the musical activities of the chapters. She has been most cooperative and helpful, and the Committee welcomes her to membership and looks forward to working with her.

During the past year, the Committee has been gratified to receive many letters from the various chapter Song Leaders, with an indication that they take their music seriously and are really working to better chapter singing. This year particularly there have been a number of chapters which have sung at off-campus occasions, in town, at hospitals, etc., and several have done local radio work. The Committee feels this is commendable, and hopes that more chapters will do this sort of thing, as it inspires the girls to better singing and to sharing our lovely Pi Phi music, as well as furthering the Pi Phi reputation for good Fraternity music.

With the 1950 Convention at hand, the Committee has received many original songs to be entered in the Song Contest, all of which show above average talent. It will be difficult to choose the winners, but they will be a real contribution to the Fraternity repertoire.

For the cooperation of the committee members, the understanding and help of each Grand Council member, and the rewarding associations with Pi Phis, both active and alumnæ, we are appreciative.

The Committee extends to all these Pi Phis and to all chapters sincere good wishes. Respectfully submitted,

DOROTHY VALE DURAND

# COMMITTEE ON CHAPERONS

T HAS been a pleasure to serve the Fraternity again this year as a Committee Chairman.

The letters from Grand Council members to Province Presidents and Vice-Presidents, the cards and blanks with chaperon data from the Corresponding Secretaries of the active chapters keep us in close touch with fraternity affairs, and we realize the co-operation it takes to keep Pi Beta Phi the strong outstanding women's fraternity that it is.

All chapters which maintain fraternity houses have sent in reports to this committee. We now have sixty-six chaperons, six of whom are members of Pi Beta Phi, Nineteen chaperons are new this year and from reports all of them are the high type of women who grace all of our fraternity homes with distinction.

Letters were sent to all chaperons notifying them of the Training School for Housemothers at Purdue University this summer and of Grand Council's offer to pay tuition for any Pi Beta Phi housemother who wishes to attend the school.

Again this year my hat is off to our prompt active chapter corresponding secretaries, and my thanks to the chaperons who have kept in touch with me. I also wish to express my sincere appreciation to Mrs. Carson and to Miss Scivally who so ably assist this committee at all times and to Miss Onken who gives so generously of her time and enthusiasm, and to all members of Grand Council to whom we may always turn for support and cooperation.

Respectfully submitted. LEILA GRAY CLIFTON

## EMMA HARPER TURNER MEMORIAL FUND COMMITTEE

'Rememb'ring, yet, that when needs arise Your Arrow asks of you unstinted measure Of love and sacrifice for all Pi Phis.'

YOUR remembering has given pure delight, price-less courage and material benefit to a little group of dearly loved Pi Phi sisters. To a much larger group your remembering has awakened renewed pride and great satisfaction as they shared in Pi Phi's adventure in friendship which is proving that "Pi Phi love is ever thus abiding."

This committee reports that a total of seventeen gifts of \$180.00 each have been given by you to remind Pi Phi shut-ins of your loving and friendly interest, bringing happiness to them and to those Pi Phi friends who love and admire them.

There is need for a more general understanding of the functioning of this four year old Pi Phi service in order to use wisely the small fund now available. The committee foresees the desirability of increasing this fund in order to meet an ever-growing opportunity

to serve. Considering Pi Beta Phi's chapter expansion program and recognizing the rate of our annual increase in membership, the law of averages indicates that many, many members will need our help and encouragement.

In the case of need we have found that this giftform assistance can be given with the minimum amount of Fraternity responsibility. Since our assistance does not involve a pledge to provide income, housing, or physical care, our recipients remain eligible for all possible public aid and the supervisory care is left to members of their home community.

As our fund grows Pi Beta Phi could make gifts which would provide adequately for complete care of a needy member, if we considered the need urgent and justified, but in no sense would we be embarrassed or overburdened by assuming permanent responsi-bility. We give only as we are able, with no legal involvements. This freedom from obligation is one good reason why we recommend to the Fraternity a continuance of this gift-form assistance.

Because a Pi Phi remembered to request a gift for a friend, many beautiful letters of appreciation are recorded as touching tribute to the worth of this endeavor to live up to our cherished ideals. Strong links in our golden chain of friendship are being formed through the use of the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund.

This committee thanks you for the privilege of serving as your messenger of good will.

ETHEL H. COPP

## ALUMNÆ HOME COMMITTEE

DURING this past fraternity year which is just closing, the Alumnæ Home Committee and the affiliated sub-committee of forty have put forth their best efforts toward raising money for the Home and acquainting all alumnæ with its purpose. In September, 1949, we mailed out to all of our 37,000 alumnæ the brochure setting forth the purpose of the Home and asking for funds for its support. Response to that appeal has been generous and widespread. Though the figures change constantly, we have, at this time, about \$27,000.00 in the bank. In addition, several clubs and individuals tell us that they have cash or bonds earmarked for the Home, which they will give as soon as actual need for them arises. Also we have promises of gifts of more than \$5,000.00 once the Home is actually in operation.

We have not formulated definite plans for establishing and running the Home. Present day conditions change rapidly and it seemed useless to make too many plans until more money was available. However, the Committee has several suggestions and recommendations to make.

We suggest that the next Committee be chosen as this one was—from one strong club or from a group of well-organized clubs in the same locality. It is of great value to the Committee to be able to meet often and sometimes on very short notice.

We recommend that the next Committee, with the advice and co-operation of our Pi Phi lawyer, Mr. Wheat, be incorporated into a Board of Trustees, with all legal rights, duties and privileges appertaining to such a Board. At this point I can do no better than to quote from Mrs. Middleton's recommendation to the 1948 Convention: "The purpose of the corporation is to establish

"The purpose of the corporation is to establish and maintain a home for elderly Pi Phis and not for profit; to buy and to hold real estate for the use of said home and to sell the same when deemed necessary; to receive, hold, use and dispose of gifts, donations and bequests for the benefit of said home and to do all things necessary to establish, maintain and to carry on such a home."

In any event the lawyer's counsel would be vital.

Details of admission to and administration of the Home could best be left to this Board.

We suggest that a small hotel or a large home be bought and remodeled, if necessary, rather than to build a house, since present construction costs are so high and uncertain. Possibly several smaller homes located in various parts of the country would be better than one large home.

At this time a great deal of attention is being paid to the needs and wants of the older members of our population. Rightfully so, since we are constantly being reminded of the increasingly greater proportion of persons over 65 to the younger people. How fitting that Pi Phi should recognize this condition and be among the first to help meet it by providing a pleasant home, or homes, on the order of clubs, for our members who desire such accommodations! Once established, these homes could be very nearly selfsupporting. Helping to maintain them could well be a project which our alumnæ would undertake with enthusiasm.

For the plan to succeed it must have plenty of publicity and the enthusiastic and sincere support of all alumnæ and alumnæ clubs. There is plenty of interest in the Home. Our alumnæ need only the assurance that the Home project will be continued to expand that interest.

In closing, I wish to extend my heartfelt thanks to the members of the Cleveland Committee who have worked so faithfully. It has been a closely knit and harmonious group. Also a special tribute of gratitude to the members of the sub-committee of forty. Most of them have worked like beavers and to their efforts we owe a great deal of the success of our campaign for funds.

The Committee acknowledges with thanks the help it has received from Miss Onken and Mrs. Wild. We also thank Mrs. Alford for always giving us space in the ARROW.

#### Respectfully submitted,

#### MARY W. GIBSON

NOTE: For Convention action on the Home Project see the Minutes of Convention in this issue.

# CONTACT MEMBER OF SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION

PNR

0

OPCOS

NR

ŋ

D

IIIN BGF

AS

NKTNFCNL

GF

AAFFOND

AB

INCLACOBAAEPA

SALCI

T IS most gratifying to report on the generosity of our organization to the children in the stricken areas of Europe who are needing our help. This personal contact will mean much more in the years to come than we can realize at this time. Our contact is a link that cannot be forgotten. A recent talk which was given here seems applicable to our work. The speaker said, "the best investment toward the begin-ning of new democratic countries is in cultivating friendships with the young people. Representatives of universities, churches and the press from the United States have made gains toward that end. With them, will be the responsibility of carrying on when the occupation ends and we may be sure they will continue.

Again to Iota Province goes the achievement award in the way of praise. Three chapters, Colorado A, Colorado B, and Utah A have taken full sponsorships, and the donations of South Dakota A and Nebraska B have been combined with the Iota Clubs for a sponsorship. The following chapters and clubs each has given full sponsorships: Ontario A, Missouri B, Kansas A. The six chapters in Zeta Province have one together; Illinois Z, Colorado A, Colorado B, Utah A, Texas A, Oklahoma B, Nevada A, Washing-ton B, Cleveland East and West, Champaign-Urbana, Oak Park-River Forest, Tulsa and Honolulu. Twelve of seventeen individual organizations who have sponsorships had full sponsorships the previous year. The Tulsa Club is sponsoring an eight year old Indian child. When it is possible, the donations of a province have been used in the name of the province. The instructions in such cases are that all communications are to be made through the province officers concerned. Many clubs have been most generous in sending

boxes to the children of Europe and it would give a much truer picture of our generosity and helpfulness if it were possible to include this in the report. Some clubs have sent boxes to their sponsored child twice a year and in these included gifts for other members of the family. Some chapters have contributed generously through similar organizations in their respective schools.

Save the Children Federation has a full program for the United States and will send out information about those who need this help. Some clubs have wanted to sponsor children to our own country, and in each instance this has been taken up with the Federation. This choice seems advisable for some of our clubs and chapters feel greater interest in the needs of their own section of the country.

Your Contact Member feels it a real privilege to have served Pi Beta Phi in this capacity.

Respectfully submitted, LOIS F. STOOLMAN

#### SAVE THE CHILDREN FEDERATION.

Balanc	*	è	'n	ř.	h	a	in	ie	1	1	n	h	r.	1	2	ł.		1	34	19	ř.	ŝ	1	2		2	3	8	9			à	ć	ŝ	į.,	1	\$	198.7
Provin				1	1				۰.	1	7	7		ľ		1			S	ĩ			1		1		1	ĩ	1			1	1	1				17011
Alpha	1	2	is	ť	1					2		١.		į,	L,		J		١.	ċ.		4	J.							4		4	ų	Ŀ,	J.	ċ	\$	41.0
Alpha	1	X	'e	st	ŧ.	1				2			2	ć	2						÷	÷	2		i.	2		÷						÷	ł.	5		96.0
Beta .								2				ί.	5	1	į,	2		i.			9	0				1		2	Ç,					2	2	2		227.0
Samm																																						70.0
																																						97.0
Epsilo																																						255.0
Leta .																																						141.0
Ita .																																						305.0
																																						105.0
																																						368.0
Cappa																																						328.0
ambd		2	Ο,	2	2	2	2	5	3		2		1	3	č	ē	Ĉ,	3			2	3	ē	1	X	Ľ,	ĉ	3	2	Q.,	1	0	1	9	2	1	<u> </u>	177.3
Mu .	3		3	9	2	1	1	0	1	5	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	٥.	1		9	1	2	2		7	1	9	۰.	1	1			2	•	1	<u>.</u>	204.0
nu .	• •	1	1		•	•	•	•	1	٢		1	1	f	1	7	7	*	•		1	•	*	1	1	1	1	1	1	۲		1	1	1	•	1		204.0
																																					82	.414.3
т			ŕ.	÷	١.			ż.	4	-		2	4					1.		4																	10	613.0

#### Alpha East Province

ortland Me.	
ortland Me\$ Iew Haven, Conn. urlington, Vt.	5.00 20.00 16.00
Alpha West Province	
ntario A\$	96.00
Beta Province	25.00
hio A ennsylvania B leveland East & West	25.00
leveland East & West	96.00 10.00
with Hills	10.00
arrisburg-Carlisle olumbus	48.00
	10.00
	227.00
Gamma Province	10.00
irginia A	25.00
Ashington D.C. Junior	10.00
chmond ashington D.C. Junior 	10.00
summer, orea	
Delta Province	
diana A	\$ 5.00
diana Δ ichigan A	5.00
loomfield Hills	10.00
ranklin nn Arbor	10.00 25.00
D. Indiana	5.00
	97.00
Epsilon Province	
lissouri B	96.00 96.00
ansas A	24.50
anhattan ort Smith hattanooga	5.00
ashville	10.00 8.50
ouisville	5.00
	\$255.00
Zeta Province	16.00
eorgia Α orida Γ Iabama B	16.00
laDama D	10.00
Ispama A	16.00
orida A	
lorida A lorida B rlando	10.00
laoina A lorida A rlando limi	10.00 10.00 5.00
labama A lorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta	10.00
Jahama A Jorida A Iorida B Flando Jiami eland tlanta irmingham	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00
radama A orida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham Eta Province	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00
Inoina A lorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i>	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 \$ 141.00 \$ 96.00
Inoina A orida A orida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham Eta Province linois Z	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 \$ 141.00 \$ 96.00 10.00 96.00
lanama A lorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i> linois Z <i>Lisonsin B</i> hampaign-Urbana cksonville—Amy B. Onken Club	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 141.00 \$ 141.00 \$ 96.00 10.00 10.00 10.00
lanama A lorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i> linois Z <i>Lisonsin B</i> hampaign-Urbana cksonville—Amy B. Onken Club	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 25.00
Inorida A Iorida B Irando Itanti eland Itanta irmingham Eta Province linois Z Sisconsi B hampaign-Urbana cksonville—Amy B. Onken Club hicago West hicago South	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 \$ 141.00 \$ 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 8.00
Inorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i> linois Z Visconsin B hampaign-Urbana licksonville—Amy B. Onken Club filwaukee hicago South eloit von (Libbie Brook Gadis)	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 141.00 141.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 1
Inorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i> linois Z Visconsin B hampaign-Urbana licksonville—Amy B. Onken Club filwaukee hicago South eloit von (Libbie Brook Gadis)	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 \$ 141.00 \$ 141.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 8.00 5.00
Inorida A lorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham Eta Province linois Z linois Z linois Z hampaign-Urbana hampaign-Urbana hampaign-Urbana hampaign-Urbana hampaign-Urbana hampaign-Urbana livoit B hampaign-Urbana livoit B hampaign-Urbana hampaig	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 8.00 5.00 5.00 10.00
Inomia A Iorida A Iorida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham <i>Eta Province</i> linois Z <i>Sisconsin B</i> hampaign-Urbana teksonville—Amy B. Onken Club lii waukee hicago West hicago South eloit won (Libbie Brook Gadis) urora Igin eoria Iadison	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 10.00
Inorida A (orida B rlando liami eland tlanta irmingham	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 5.00 10.00
Inorida A Iorida B Irando Iiami eland Itanta irmingham Eta Province linois Z Visconsin B hampaign-Urbana tcksonville—Amy B. Onken Club Nicago South eloit tivaukee hicago South eloit von (Libbie Brook Gadis) urora Igin Coria Iadison Theta Province t. Paul mes North Club Inoria	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 1
Inorida A Iorida B Iorida B Flando fiami Land Itanta irmingham Eta Province linois Z Sisconsin B hampaign-Urbana acksonville—Amy B. Onken Club Micago South Horago South	10.00 10.00 5.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 96.00 10.

Theta Province (Continued) Tri City Iowa City Minneapolis Evening Cedar Rapids Mt. Pleasant	10.00 10.00 10.00 5.00 5.00	Kappa Province (Continued) Oklahoma City Stillwater Okmulgee	25.00 10.00 5.00 328.00
\$ Iota Province Colorado A Colorado B Utah A South Dakota A Nebraska B Fort Collins Kansas City Casper Lincoln Denver	105.00 96.00 96.00 96.00 10.00 5.00 24.00 6.00 10.00	Lambda Province Washington B Washington F Oregon B Portland Salem Everett Wenatchee Corvallis Calgary Spokane Klamath Falls, Ore.	77.00 10.00 25.00 10.00 8.00 5.00 2.50 1.85 24.00 4.00
Salt Lake City	15.00 368.00 96.00 96.00 96.00	Mu Province Nevada A	96.00 96.00 10.00 2.00

# COMMITTEE ON THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE ALUMNÆ CONVENTION FUND

T HE COMMITTEE appointed by the Grand Treasurer worked out as fair a solution of the distribution of the Alumnæ Convention Fund as they were able. There are unavoidable inequities and no doubt some mistakes, but with the help of the passenger departments of the Burlington and Union Pacific Railways to get rates for us our procedure was as follows:

to get rates for us our procedure was as follows: 1. On a blank map of the U.S. and southern Canada each Pi Beta Phi Province was outlined and the location of each alumnæ club marked. Then this was compared with a standard map and the city in each province considered the "center" was decided upon. We fulfilled to the best of our ability the terms of the motion adopted at the 1948 Convention that the Alumnæ Convention Fund should be so divided that each club's share would be proportionate to the firstclass round-trip railway fare from the center of the province to Convention, plus hotel accommodations.

2. We procured the round-trip rates from these "centers" to Jasper. To each of these we added the minimum hotel accommodations of \$68.00. This is the basic figure for each province.

the basic figure for each province. 3. This basic figure for each province was multiplied by the number of clubs therein and the results added. This sum (\$44,962.97) represents the minimum cost if every club should send a delegate. 4. The Fund totaled \$19,329.12 which is 42.9%

4. The Fund totaled \$19,329.12 which is 42.9% of \$\$44,962.97. Allowing .3% for expenses and contingencies, the allotment to each club was 42.6% of used its 1948 allotment of \$68.00 or in the case of newer clubs, \$34.00, that amount was added to the 1950 allotment. Honolulu was treated as a separate province and allotted 42.6% of the minimum cost instead of the amount allotted to other Mu clubs.

The allotted amounts for clubs in each Pi Beta Phi Province are as follows:

Alpha East	\$100.98	Eta	\$ 75.38
Alpha West	96.21	Theta	67.73
Beta	90.35	Iota	83.37
Gamma	97.66	Kappa	81.86
Delta	80.44	Lambda	54.74
Epsilon	84.56	Mu	80.88
Zeta	104.82	Honolulu	172.96
		tfully submitte	

GERTRUDE T. WHATLEY

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

Send all subscriptions for magazines to Pi Beta Phi Magazine Agency, Central Office, 410 Standard Building, Decatur, Illinois.

92

# Province President Reports

Material on campus activities of chapters has been omitted from these reports, since it has already appeared in chapter letters.

# Information on contributions to National Funds will be found in the charts elsewhere in this issue.

# ALPHA EAST PROVINCE PRESIDENT

It is a pleasure to review the many honors and activities of the members of Alpha East Province. During the year of 1949-50 the seven chapters placed special emphasis on scholarship, pledge training, pledge-active relationships and extracurricular activities, and as a result of their efforts they have made outstanding records on their respective campuses.

Alpha East Province was privileged to have a Grand Council visitor this year. Lucile Douglas Carson made visits to all of the seven chapters in the fall. Each one of the presidents has written me that the members received great inspiration and help from her visits. In the spring, I was pleased to be able to visit the chapters and to find that they had carried through with Mrs. Carson's constructive suggestions.

The Amy Burnham Onken award for this province went to Jean Ritchie, of Vermont B. The nominees for this award, from the other chapters, were: Connecticut A, Ora Belle Holdridge; Maine A, Barbara Richardson; Massachusetts A, Elaine Boggs; Massachusetts B, Barbara Kinghorn; Vermont A, Katherine Pell; Nova Scotia A, Carol Wood. The Portland Alumnæ Club award which is given to the outstanding sophomore in the province, was awarded to two sophomores. The committee felt that there were two girls who were equally outstanding, so they presented the awards to Jane Cook of Vermont B and to Janet West of Vermont A. The following girls were recommended by their chapters for this award: Connecticut A, Farrie Mariner; Maine A, Ida Moorehead; Nova Scotia A, Nancy Briggs; Massachusetts A, Joy Brill; Massachusetts A, Patricia Read. Since all of these candidates had such fine records of service to their colleges and fraternity, the choice was yery difficult.

colleges and fraternity, the choice was very difficult. Scholarship was supervised by Ada Haggett and the chapters benefited by her capable and enthusiastic help. Numerous methods were used to improve the scholastic standings of the chapters. In some instances, the chapters divided into teams and competed for high grades. The losing team entertained the winning team with a picnic, dinner, or some kind of party. Vermont B held a scholarship meeting at which the members assembled into discussion groups according to subjects and they discussed methods by which they could improve their grades. Individual members were appointed to tutor those who needed special help. Nova Scotia A placed first again on their campus and Massachusetts B raised its rank from fifth to second place. In some cases the chapters missed a high standing because of a fraction of a point.

In compiling information on rushing, I find that very few rushces were lost to other fraternities. There is a feeling among the girls that more emphasis should be placed on knowing the rushee better and in getting to know her better by personal contacts rather than by elaborate entertaining. They tried this plan in some of the chapters and the cleverness and ingenuity shown in planning simple rush parties were most outstanding.

The housing situation in the province is the same as it was last year. Vermont B, Connecticut A and Massachusetts B are living in houses. These chapters are fortunate in having fine chaperons who are truly interested in the welfare of the girls. The members of the remaining chapters live in dormitories and have meeting rooms. At Dalhousie University, Nova Scotia A has been fortunate to have a meeting place in the home of one of the members.

All of the chapters have contributed to most of the Fraternity's projects. The chapters have been interested in charitable projects on their campuses, and have worked at Christmas time to bring the spirit of Christmas into the homes of needy families.

Each chapter has a competent financial advisor who has helped check the monthly report and helped to make up the budget. In each chapter visit, I found that the active-alumnæ relationship was very strong and that the girls really looked to their advisors for advice and help. It was most gratifying to hear the Deans of Women speak so highly of the Pi Phis.

The honors which have come to the girls in the province, because of their very active participation in college activities, are many.

I wish to express my appreciation and gratitude to Miss Onken and the other members of Grand Council for their help during this past year. Their inspiration and the fine cooperation of the active members and the alumnæ advisory committee members have provided invaluable assistance to me in my work as President of Alpha East Province.

> Respectfully submitted, ANNIE LAURIE KEYS WHIPPLE

## ALPHA WEST PROVINCE PRESIDENT

The college year of 1949-1950 is rapidly drawmany campuses, and with many changes. It is time to take an inventory now of our progress through this year.

My visit to each chapter in this province was made in October, 1949. That was earlier than I prefer to go-however, due to personal reasons, and the planned visits of other officers, it seemed the best plan this year. The chapter visits are a great inspiration to me. The personal contact with the girlsthe chaperons, and the university personnel, is most beneficial to me as an officer-and I hope also to them all.

New York  $\Gamma$  this year has built and moved into a new home on St. Laurence Avenue in Canton. It is the first fraternity house to be built on that campus especially for a fraternity. It is a lovely building, well planned and spacious, and everything the chapter has needed and desired for many years. The girls are very grateful to Grand Council, and to their interested alumnæ, for all of the help which they have received on the planning, and building of it, and the financial arrangements made. Every chapter in this province owns its own house. New York Delta hopes to be able to build a new house very soon, as the present one which they now occupy is most inadequate. One of the chapters is handicapped by an advisory board that is too small, which of course cannot be helped. The others all have a very satisfactory and interested group of alumnæ, who help them in innumerable ways. The alumnæ club of Toronto this year had a very big Bazaar where they made enough money to re-decorate the chapter house, and also to pay the mortgage off on it. New York Alpha just had another very welcome gift from their alums, a radio-victrola.

There is a quota system on all but one of our campuses—no one of them is alike, but all restrict the number of pledges and upper-class women who can be pledged. All chapters have budgeted for each Pi Beta Phi project. The Amy Burnham Onken Award went this year to Carolyn Reamon of New York T. Carolyn has been outstanding on her campus in activities, sports, scholarship, and leadership. She was recently awarded the Danforth Graduate Fellowship —one of twelve chosen in the U.S.A. for that honor. She has been president of her chapter and her leadership and outstanding personality have won her affection and great respect among her college mates.

I should like to give recognition to the excellent

chaperons who are in charge of the chapter houses in this province. By their interest, diligence, and their loyalty to the girls and our fraternity ideals, they have made a very real place in the hearts of the actives and their officers. Our gratitude and affection goes out to each of them.

To each girl who has won recognition on her campus in some field of extra-curricular activities we feel must go our thanks and our congratulations not only for which she has accomplished for her chapter, but for that which comes to her National Fraternity as well, by her efforts.

Comparative scholarship ratings are unavailable at this time—although we know there are no "firsts" on campus this year in this Province. However, all of the chapters are very scholarship conscious—and making every effort to bring averages up. Many have instituted new methods of study to help those girls under average.

To Miss Onken, members of Grand Council, National Committee chairman, I wish to express my appreciation, and thanks for the assistance, and helpful guidance which have been received from them this year, also to the vice-president of this province and the committee chairmen who have helped so materially in the province work, I tender my gratitude and warm affection.

Respectfully submitted, EVELYN M. SLIFER

## BETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

**I** T HAS been said that a respected name helps young people off to a running start. This is the kind of legacy that the Beta Province chapters will leave to their successors this year. Each chapter has built something of which to be proud. Each has fulfilled her fraternity obligations and has done a wonderful job of bringing Pi Phi ideals and standards into her way of living. It was gratifying to meet with Deans of Women and hear their favorable comment on the Pi Phis, and to learn of each chapter's willingness to work in complete unison with the college Administration. Alumnæ also praised the ability and the accomplishments of their respective groups. There existed an unusually pleasant relationship between actives and their advisors. It is, therefore, with a deep sense of satisfaction and pride that I review the highlights of this year's work.

Candidates for the Amy Burnham Onken Award were very outstanding Pi Phis and a final selection was difficult to reach. The Province Honor was awarded to Janet Monahan of Ohio B. The chapter selections were: Doris Wellenkamp, Pennsylvania B; Ethel Peterson, Pennsylvania  $\Gamma$ ; Janet Ingerham, Ohio A; Joyce Bohyer, Ohio  $\Delta$ ; Marianne Chambers, Ohio E; Ann Marshall, Ohio Z; Mary Lou Hart, West Virginia A.

All chapters were pleased with their new pledges and the total for the province is one hundred twentythree. All chapters held initiation and there are one hundred new Pi Phis in the province. Generally speaking rushing has been more satisfactory this past year because on each campus the Panhellenic organization has increased in strength and forcefulness. Six groups experience fall rushing, so many chapters have a spring 'rushing school' to prepare and educate members for this. Ohio E and Ohio  $\Delta$  have deferred rushing.

Scholarship was under the capable supervision of Virginia Hussey. So far this year reports for the first semester only are available, but decided improvement has been made throughout the province. Five chapters are in the upper third on their respective campuses. Ohio B and Ohio E rate a first place; Ohio A, Ohio Z and Pennsylvania  $\Gamma$  rank in second place. Last fall, the Ohio Z actives and pledges each received a scholarship cup for achieving the highest average for 1948-1949 at Miami University. Many individual Pi Phis are on the Dean's list for scholastic achievement and many are recognized in departmental honoraries. The province boasts of its thirten new Phi Beta Kappa members; Ohio  $\Delta$  has established a record with eight, West Virginia with three, Ohio A and Ohio Z each with one member.

Three chapters maintain houses in the province, furnished and decorated most attractively. Two chapters have very lovely apartments, two have a suite in the girls' dormitories, and Ohio  $\Delta$  has just realized a dream and moved into a new house. It has been planned ideally for this group and furnished with excellent taste. Many busy hours are spent in these dwellings, yet many more happy social hours are enjoyed. As a visitor one is affected by an atmosphere of warm friendliness, hospitality and refinement.

Extracurricular activities are always a source of pride to the chapters, and impressive lists are reported each year. Outstanding work has been done by individuals and through chapter teamwork.

It was a privilege to attend Greater West Virginia Week-End at Morgantown. West Virginia A entertained the state alumnæ with a very lovely luncheon in the chapter house. This was followed by an interesting discussion on local Panhellenic regulations concerning rushing. A very pleasant time was had by those in attendance and a friendly interest renewed among actives and alumnæ. Mutual benefits would be derived from this occasion if it could become traditional.

Another interesting event of the year was a week-

end visit in April with the petitioning group at Davis and Elkins College, Elkins, West Virginia. It was an enjoyable yet educational experience and will be pleasantly remembered by all of us who represented Beta Province.

And still another highlight of the year was the inspiration received by the chapters through visits of the Grand Vice-President, Marianne Wild, and the Grand Secretary, Lucile Carson. Each group considered it an honor and a privilege to meet these national officers and were greatly benefited by their understanding of fraternity procedure.

In closing, I want to take this opportunity to express my deepest appreciation to each chapter for their excellent cooperation with me and the fine manner in which each met her Pi Phi responsibilities; to the Alumnæ Advisory Committee members for their close association and guidance to their respective chapters; to the various Province Supervisors for their service; to Central Office and all other Standing Committees with whom I worked; and finally, to the members of Grand Council for their understanding and assistance at all times. It was a joy to serve the fraternity and the Beta Province chapters. Such a truly happy experience will be remembered forever.

Respectfully submitted, JEAN HOLLER GUSTKEY

## GAMMA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE PI PHI year in Gamma Province started with a successful conference of chapter presidents and pledge supervisors. This meeting was held in Washington in September and was attended by fourteen representatives from the eight chapters. Aside from having a very good time, the girls ironed out together many details about the year's work, which helped to get them and their chapters off to a good start.

All my chapter visits were made during October and early November. At this time, I was able to go over with each chapter and its officers their plans for the many phases of the year's activity. This early meeting was most valuable to the girls (I hope) and certainly to me. Our planning together came at a time when it could be most useful, and I have noted with pleasure the results which have been evident as the year has progressed.

as the year has progressed. In scholarship, District of Columbia A is 1st of 12 groups; North Carolina A, 1st of 5; Maryland B, 2nd of 15; Virginia F, 4th of 9; Maryland A, 4th of 6; South Carolina A, 4th of 7; Virginia A, 7th of 10; and North Carolina B, 11th of 13. I can "point with pride" only to the first three. There is not a single chapter, however, which is not aware of the importance of scholarship. Their scholarship programs have been well thought out, and the scholarship chairmen have put real effort into making them effective.

Rushing was generally successful. The parties showed originality and planning, and the girls enjoyed carrying them out. It was particularly interesting to note that the rush season at Goucher resulted in our chapter's pledging 23 girls even though it was known that this was the last year for fraternities on the campus.

The housing situation has been about as before. Maryland B, Virginia  $\Gamma$ , and North Carolina A live in chapter houses. Maryland A and District of Columbia A have maintained apartments close to the campus, Virginia A has its sorority bungalow on the campus, and North Carolina B, its room in the Panhellenic House. In the middle of the year, South Carolina A moved from the house it had been occupying into a sorority room and dormitory facilities for the girls.

Founders' Day was marked at Maryland A by a banquet with Miss Onken as the honor guest. Maryland B and District of Columbia A celebrated together with alumnæ in Washington. Virginia A and Virginia  $\Gamma$  were together for the week-end in Lynchburg. North Carolina A was entertained by North Carolina B at Duke; and South Carolina A had an open house and a formal dance with alumnæ.

The winner of the Amy B. Onken award for the province is Adeline Andrews, past president of District of Columbia A. Other candidates were: Maryland A, Barbara Westman; Maryland B, Lynn Rossman; Virginia A, Virginia Lee Richardson; Virginia T, Patricia Jones; North Carolina A, Ann Chandler; North Carolina B, Jane Chivers; and South Carolina A, Barbara Raffield.

The work with Gamma Province chapters this year has been a joy. I hope that each chapter will go on with its progress toward the ideal goal we have for each of them.

> Respectfully submitted, BETTY STOVALL KING

## DELTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE DELTA PROVINCE WORKSHOP was held August 30, 31, September 1 in the Union Building on the campus of Purdue University with the eight chapter presidents, and the pledge supervisors of Indiana B and Michigan  $\Gamma$  in attendance. Every phase of chapter functioning was discussed, and the exchange of ideas and information proved to be most helpful and worth while to all.

During the first semester, the province was honored by a visit from Clara Hall Sipherd, Director of Rushing and Pledge Training. Mrs. Sipherd brought new inspiration and enthusiasm to the chapters and completely won everyone with her charming personality. We only regret that these visits by members of Grand Council must be so short.

Again this year our emphasis has been on scholarship and it is most gratifying to report some excellent results. Both Michigan Alpha and Indiana Gamma were first on their campuses for the fourth consecutive semesters, while Indiana Delta came up to second place. The other chapters have good, if not spectacular records, and we are pleased that all are in the upper or middle third. Membership in scholastic honoraries is as follows: Michigan A, 3 members in Guard and  $1 \Phi K \Phi$ ; Indiana B,  $1 \Phi B K$ ; Indiana F, 1 A A  $\Delta$  and 1  $\Phi$  K  $\Phi$ ; Indiana  $\Delta$ , 1 A A  $\Delta$ ; Indiana E, 2 A A  $\Delta$ .

The chapters have been outstanding in activity participation.

This year has brought about some changes in housing. Michigan  $\Gamma$  moved into a new house in the fall and the girls are extremely happy with the change. The house is attractive inside and out and compares very favorably with the other houses on the Michigan State campus. Indiana Epsilon members have been occupying a temporary dwelling this year, as well as three annexes, and are looking forward to moving into their new house next fall. Michigan A lives in a house owned by the college and Indiana A has a suite of four rooms in the women's dormitory. These two places were completely redecorated last summer and are most attractive. Both Michigan B and Indiana B acquired new furnishings and decorations in their recreation rooms which have added to the pleasure of the girls. All the other houses are in excellent condition and provide comfortable and attractive living conditions.

The Delta Province Amy Burnham Onken award went this year, to Lou Ann Woelk, Michigan  $\Gamma$ , and it was a pleasure to be able to present this award in person at the Michigan State Founders' Day luncheon. The other candidates for the award were Betty Link, Michigan A; Joyce Atchison, Michigan B; Annete Havens Edwards, Indiana A; Phyllis Templeton, Indiana B; Alice Robertson, Indiana  $\Gamma$ ; Jane Barkman, Indiana  $\Delta$  and Nancy Fraser, Indiana  $\Gamma$ . The Indiana Cup, given each year to the outstanding chapter in the state, went back to Indiana  $\Gamma$  for the second consecutive year.

The second annual Michigan State Luncheon was held April 15 in the Union Building at Michigan State College and was very well attended. Vivian Lyon Moore, former province president, presided as toastmistress and presented Marion Simmons, national historian, who gave an interesting and inspiring talk on the Founders of Pi Beta Phi. Following the luncheon, a tea at the chapter house gave the Michigan  $\Gamma$  girls an opportunity to show off their new home to the many visiting Pi Phis.

As usual a huge crowd attended the Indiana State Luncheon held in Indianapolis on April 22. The speaker was Frances Falvey, Texas A, Dean of Women at James Millikin University. Dorothea Flint, Supervisor of Chapter Accounting, presented the gifts to the ABO candidates and the cup to Indiana  $\Gamma$ . The province president regrets that she could not be present at this event which always is an outstanding highlight of the year, but at the same time it was a pleasure to be in Louisville that day and be the speaker at the Founders' Day luncheon.

A<sup>s</sup> THE school year of 1949-50 draws to its close, Epsilon Province records a year of experiences, honors, visits, and friendships dear to the heart of its President, and memorable to all Pi Beta Phis within the seven chapters.

Our Province Workshop was held in August, 1949, in St. Louis, Missouri, at the Mayfair Hotel. Fourteen representatives were present, including seven chapter presidents, five pledge supervisors, one rush captain, and one social chairman.

One of the highlights of Workshop was the evening Missouri B chapter entertained all of us in their attractive chapter room in the Women's building on Interest in the new chapter house at DePauw was made evident this spring by some substantial gifts of money to Indiana E. The junior alumnæ group in Indianapolis sponsored a concert by the Purdue Glee Club and gave the profit of \$1000 to the chapter. The Southwestern Alumnæ Club gave \$350, Indiana A, \$50 and Indiana F, \$50. Also the profit from the State Luncheon which amounted to \$101 was sent by the Indianapolis Alumnæ Club.

The chapters are proud to report that for the fourth consecutive year they are 100% in their contributions to the Settlement School, Holt House, and Scholarship Fund. All the chapters enjoyed great success in rush and have added many fine girls to their chapter rolls. Hillsdale, Franklin, Butler and DePauw have rush during the first semester, while the other four campuses have rush deferred until the second semester. Hillsdale College is the only one which does not have a quota system in effect.

The chapters in the province have been meeting their responsibilities to their campuses, for all the Deans of Women reported most favorably. They especially commented on the good cooperation which they were receiving from the Pi Phis and on the fact that our chapters are outstanding in their leadership on the campuses.

No report can be complete without mentioning the outstanding work being done by the advisory boards in the province. They give much of their time and effort in helping to further the progress and development of the chapters and in every instance, the relationship between chapter and board has been most satisfying. The province president is grateful for their help and cooperation throughout the year.

One of the interesting experiences of the year was the opportunity to represent Pi Beta Phi at the Beloit College Panhellenic Workshop on March 4. It was a pleasure to meet the other visiting officers present and particularly to enjoy the wonderful hospitality of the Wisconsin B chapter. We feel that such workshops are valuable and hope that more colleges in this province will schedule them in the near future.

All chapter visiting was done during the second semester and as alwavs the chapters were delightful hostesses. In spite of heavy schedules of conferences, the visits were most enjoyable. The province president wishes to express her appreciation to the chapters for their cooperation at the time of her visits and throughout the year.

To the members of Grand Council who have given their help and advice we are deeply grateful. It has been a pleasure and a privilege to serve the fraternity as Delta Province President.

> Respectfully submitted, HELEN ANDERSON LEWIS

## EPSILON PROVINCE PRESIDENT

the campus of Washington University. Marie Bacon Hagee, Director of Extension on Grand Council was our guest of honor. She gave the chapters words of advice as they were ready to begin their new year, and implanted a driving inspiration within the hearts of the representatives to achieve new goals in their respective chapters. After refreshments and beautiful harmony from the chapter choral group, we expressed our appreciation to Missouri B for another inspiring Pi Phi evening. A dinner and joint meeting with the Alumnæ Advisory Board of Missouri B climaxed our workshop sessions.

In my first year as Province President visits were

the important link between a new officer and her chapters. Since I held a position in the elementary schools of Gallatin, Missouri, I had to stagger my visits throughout the year, rather than complete them in one or two trips.

Very successful rush weeks were reported by all the chapters, and a very high percentage initiated. Two of them reported their pledges in first place on their respective campuses for the Fall-Winter term. One of the active chapters—Tennessee T—secured a first on its campus for the year ending in February, 1950. They were presented a cup by the Women's Panhellenic Association. Three chapters held a close second and two a third rank. Throughout the province scholarship was stressed even more than in the past. It is gratifying to see the continual building and striving for new goals, and near perfection averages for chapters. Next year should show an even greater list of scholarship honors for this province. The chapters gave liberal donations to our Pi Beta

The chapters gave liberal donations to our Pi Beta Phi projects as well as to several local and civic needs.

Missouri A redecorated their large, charming house completely, giving the pastel period living rooms more attractive coverings in the new comfortable, livable, lines and colors of contemporary modern design. The project was a combined one of alumnæ club, advisory board, active chapter and pledge class. The result is as beautiful as it is overwhelming and phenomenal!

Tennessee B is redecorating under a long range plan that adds to the house each year. A wing is to be added to the house in the future which will give added dormitory space.

Tennessee I added new pieces of furniture to their room in the Panhellenic building and have plans for redecorating the entire room before this coming fall.

Epsilon Province has an exceptional project begun by Missouri B a few years ago. This project is the organization of a girl scout troop at the Training School for the mentally deficient. These young girls are the best qualified in the school and are capable of doing some scout work. The chairman of the project has a great deal of initiative and has carefully worked out a rotation plan for the girls in supervising the scout work. They meet each week and either make plans for the next scout meeting, or go to the school to be with the young girls. This is a splendid project because it lacks a great deal of the glamour of social work. It keeps on going, week after week, and once begun cannot be stopped. We as a province are justly proud of Missouri B for undertaking this project, and the fraternity as a whole sends praise to the chapter for their undying interest in this work and the perseverance displayed by the entire group. Several chapters in the province have seasonal proj-

Several chapters in the province have seasonal projects of entertaining underprivileged children, assisting in civic drives as well as all campus drives and projects. The province is commended on its service to other fields as well as its outstanding contributions to the Fraternity.

The nominations for the Amy Burnham Onken awards were so exceptional it would have been just to have made an award to each chapter. However, the award was presented to Betty Stake of Missouri B for her outstanding leadership, long list of honors, and faithful service to the Fraternity. Other nominees were: Missouri A, D. Ann Aultman; Missouri  $\Gamma$ , Mary Lois Humphreys; Kentucky A, Martha Fowler; Tennessee B, Pat Jones; Tennessee  $\Gamma$ , Ann Norment.

Activities throughout the province have been many and varied. More emphasis is being placed on activities, service to the campus, and contributions of service to the community as well as the college administration. This year two chapters received letters of praise and recognition for services that were outstanding. Missouri A and Missouri B have set a new standard, and in the future Epsilon Province has promise of higher goals and more achievements. Missouri A was recognized for outstanding campus participation, and Missouri B for outstanding publications participation.

The wonderful cooperation of all the chapters this past year has been heart-warming and gratifying. Tribute should be paid to each chapter, officer, alumnæ advisory board, Central Office, and all others who have assisted me this, my first year as Province President. To the members of Grand Council who have given advice and suggestions as well as sympathetic understanding, we as a province are most grateful. As we close the year, our plans for the future are held high that we as loyal Pi Beta Phis may keep the position of the Arrow—ever pointing upwards; as a challenge to the womanhood of today from the womanhood of yesteryear to preserve for the womanhood of tomorrow.

> Respectfully submitted, MARILYN WIEGNER BRANDOM

### ZETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

Z ETA PROVINCE began the year with a fine spirit of comradeship and cooperation, resulting from the Province Chapter Presidents' Conference held in Atlanta.

The highlight of the year was welcoming Alabama B into the Fraternity and Zeta Province. The colonized group at the University of Alabama was installed by Miss Onken in September. The beautiful ceremonies were witnessed by a large group of happy Pi Phis from other chapters in the province.

All the chapters contributed 100% to national projects, besides contributing to local Red Cross, student funds, and campus organizations. Zeta Province had a full sponsorship in the *Save the Children Federation*. Through the chapters' generosity, we have furnished clothing and additional pleasant living conditions to a little Italian boy.

Through friendliness and strong internal organiza-

tion, the chapters have made a name for themselves on their respective campuses. Viewing the fact that several of the chapters do not have chapter houses, strong unity within is a fine achievement. Florida B is making plans to remodel their chapter

Florida B is making plans to remodel their chapter house next year. These plans will include enlarging the house, and making a provision to serve meals. Florida A has a new apartment in the Panhellenic House which is very attractive.

Rushing has been very successful in Zeta Province this year. From the various pledge classes, we have received many new initiates who are taking their places in college life. We extend hearty congratulations to these girls who have done, and will continue to do, noble and worthy deeds for Pi Beta Phi. It is the new initiates who will mold the future of their chapter.

Barbara Jean Morgan, Florida B, won the province

Amy Burnham Onken Award this year. The other nominees were: Maude Diseker, Alabama A; Lucy Spain, Alabama B; Lenora Williams, Florida A; Sally McDonald Blake, Florida  $\Gamma$ ; and Elizabeth Neel, Georgia A.

Zeta Province had the honor of Mrs. Prouty's visit this year, and her charm and inspiration were deeply felt and appreciated by each chapter.

It has been a continuing joy to the Province President to know the high regard in which each chapter is held by its Dean of Women. To watch the constant growth in chapter spirit and morale everywhere evident, to learn of successful rushing and pledge training in each chapter, and to see the increasing efficiency in chapter administration are but few of the many pleasures this Province President has known.

Many of the chapters have realized first-place vic-

tories in scholarship this past year. Having been weak on this issue, each chapter has strived to improve its scholastic standing. As a result of this, improved scholarship programs have been introduced to the chapters.

Żeta Province President feels the deepest gratitude for the heartening cooperation given by the chapters in the province. Each chapter has set its goals, and climbed toward them in increasing harmony. To Grand Council, the personnel of Central Office,

To Grand Council, the personnel of Central Office, the National Chairman, and particularly to Miss Onken, I would like to express my deep appreciation and gratitude for their constant help; to the Advisory Boards, my gratitude for their loyal cooperation and friendship.

Respectfully submitted, EDYTHE BELTON TYLER

## ETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

MY WORK during the past year with the nine chapters of Eta Province has been an enriching experience and has given me a deeper and constantly increasing pride in Pi Beta Phi. Each chapter has given any suggestion from me eager cooperation and all have sincerely tried to achieve the highest standing on their own campuses and in the Fraternity. It is a pleasure to report that the year has seen marked progress throughout the Province.

The Province Conference was held the latter part of August in Evanston. The benefits of this meeting have been reflected in the work of the chapters throughout the year. These benefits have come not only from the exchange of ideas and methods, but in the close province and national feeling which resulted. The fifteen girls attending the conference all contributed greatly to its success and did a remarkable job of carrying back to the chapters the feeling of inspiration and close friendship which it gave, as well as the more factual and concrete material.

Chapter organization has greatly improved during the year, as have chapter spirit and pledge-active relationships. Scholarship is the one field in which improvement is not as great as was hoped. However, only two chapters have dropped down the scholarship ladder. The others have remained the same or moved upwards. Illinois B-A and Illinois O won the scholarship trophies at Knox and Bradley, respectively, for the year 1948-49. At the end of the first semester of this year, Illinois H ranked first at Millikin, second place rankings were held by Illinois A at Monmouth and Wisconsin A at the University of Wisconsin, Wisconsin B held third place at Beloit, and Wisconsin I was in sixth place at Lawrence. Illinois Z ranked in the first quartile at the University of Illinois and missed first place by .01. Semester ratings at Knox and Bradley are not available, but Illinois B-A and Illinois O have maintained approximately the same averages as last year. Northwestern University does not publish comparative scholarship lists, but Illinois E continues to keep its B- average. The following chapters have representation in  $\Phi$  B K: Wisconsin A-1; Wisconsin B-2; Illinois B-A-2; and Illinois Z-2.

Rushing was conducted most effectively by all nine chapters. Two hundred and twenty-nine girls were pledged during the year. The percentage of girls initiated was not as high this year as last. Twentythree girls were initiated in the fall and one hundred and fifty-one in the spring.

The housing picture in the province is one of im-provement and enlargement. The addition to Illinois H house was started last July and the chapter moved into its beautiful new home the first part of November. Illinois  $\Theta$  has plans for an addition to its house and it is hoped that construction will start within the year. The bathroom of the present house was enlarged and redecoration done downstairs last summer. During the Christmas vacation the program of complete redecoration at Illinois E was finished and the results are very lovely. Illinois Z has a new terrace, the much longed-for driveway, and the dining room has been refurnished during the year. The living room of Wisconsin B's house has been charmingly redecorated. The House Corporation of these chapters have done a marvelous job. The houses are in excellent condition, physically and financially. Each of these six chapters is most fortunate in having a charming and capable head of house. These fine women have contributed greatly to the gracious and welcoming atmosphere which one finds in the Pi Phi houses of Eta Province. The other three chapters in the province do not have houses. Wisconsin  $\Gamma$  and Illinois A have suites of rooms as meeting places. Illinois B-A shares Panhellenic House at Knox with the other women's fraternity groups. Wisconsin  $\Gamma$  carried out a redecoration scheme in its rooms which resulted in a very charming and more spacious effect.

Chapter nominees for the Amy Burnham Onken Award were Janet Williams, Wisconsin A, the province winner; Shirley Fordham, Wisconsin B; Ann Cox, Wisconsin F; Virginia Haun, Illinois A; Marjorie Cecil, Illinois B- $\Delta$ ; Patricia Olmstead, Illinois E; Patricia Wallace, Illinois Z; Mollie Bence, Illinois H; and Mary Blair, Illinois O. All are fine Pi Phis who have made outstanding contributions to their chapters and college.

I am happy to report that the province is 100% in contributions to the three fraternity projects. Illinois Z and Wisconsin B have sponsored children through Save the Children Federation. Several chapters have contributed to the support of foster children through their Panhellenic. Each chapter through the year has had some local philanthropy. These included parties for orphans, Thanksgiving and Christmas baskets, and work in hospitals. Illinois Z has contributed more than one hundred Pi Phi-made toys to the Champaign Probate Court for distribution to children under its care.

Eta Province chapters hold prominent and respected places on their campuses. Every Dean or administration representative with whom I came in contact spoke highly of the girls for their leadership and maintenance of high standards. Each chapter is outstanding in the field of activities. There can be no doubt that Eta Province Pi Phis are leading full and worthwhile lives at college. Lists of the more prominent honors and activities of each chapter cannot give the true picture of activity participation in the province for it is impossible to include the fine and constructive work done by those girls who were members and committee workers for the various organizations listed. This has been a fine year for Eta Province. Each chapter has made important strides toward its goal, the Balfour Cup. Each chapter has made constructive plans for next year. I am deeply grateful for the grand cooperation I have received and for the excellent work of the chapter officers, Advisory Committees, and chapter members which has made such a good year possible. My very special thanks to Miss Onken and Gladys Scivally for their constant and wonderful help.

And to all Eta Province Pi Phis, I wish to express my sincere appreciation for your fine spirit, friendship, and cooperation. It has been a great privilege to work for the Fraternity, and a real joy to work with you.

Respectfully submitted, MARGARET JANE DICK

# THETA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

**F** ILLING in as Theta Province President early in January after the resignation of Verna L. Moss was indeed a new sphere of action for me. However, I soon learned what a rare privilege being an officer in the fraternity and working closely with the chapters could be. Corresponding with and actually visiting the girls have been a source of real pleasure, and through their fine cooperation I have been in close touch with them. I value these contacts highly and do wish to extend my sincere appreciation to them for the help they have given me this year.

It was a real pleasure to visit each of the seven chapters in the Province this winter and spring. All but two are comfortably settled in homes; these two have chapter rooms.

Scholarship in Theta Province has been a source of pride to most of the chapters. Three chapters ranked first and one second by a very narrow margin, while two others slipped below the upper third in rank. The greatest endeavor in scholarship achievement was at Minnesota A where a scholarship board made up of representatives from each class in the chapter set up study method schemes and plans. The entire chapter became spontaneously enthusiastic over scholarship, and as a result, raised its place on the campus from eighth to third! Two pledge classes won the Junior panhellenic grade cup, and Iowa B won first place for the seventh consecutive semester.

Rushing was successful for the most part. However, deferred rushing made it so difficult on one campus, that no sorority approached its former quota to any degree. In most chapters the parties have become traditional with decorations and ideas used from year to year. The chairmen have been active this spring with committees for fall parties appointed and already working. Pledge supervision has been carefully handled, and as a result the chapters are enthusiastic about their fine pledge classes and prospective active leaders.

My conferences with Deans of Women proved interesting, and in each case reassuring that Pi Beta Phis take the lead in campus honor, responsibilities and leadership. It was a pleasure to meet such charming and interested chaperones on the various campuses. Also likewise, the interest displayed by the various alumnæ advisory boards was really thrilling, and I fully realized the value each one was to its chapter. Without their interest, counsel, and enthusiasm, the chapters would suffer a real loss. The association between alumnæ and actives seemed close and sincere also, and gratifyingly, the chapters greatly appreciated this contact.

The two Big Ten schools, Universities of Minnesota and Iowa, both sent Pi Beta Phis as delegates to the Big Ten Conference held at the University of Illinois. A state wide Panhellenic conference of the University of Iowa was attended by representatives from each of the four Pi Beta Phi chapters in Iowa.

Theta Province is proud to be 100% in its contributions to the Fraternity's three funds: the Settlement School, Holt House, and the Loan Fund. In addition to these Minnesotal A completely sponsors a Dutch foster child, and Iowa Z supports a war orphan.

Each chapter is actively participating in campus events and is receiving the full share of honors and leadership responsibilities.

The untiring efforts and ready willingness of Miss Onken to answer my many queries has been greatly appreciated and I do wish to express my sincere gratitude.

> Respectfully submitted, BETTY WHIPPLE FRANTZ

## IOTA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

A REVIEW of the correspondence and the reports from the eight Chapters in Jota Province has been most pleasant and gratifying, pleasant to hear the success of their plans and gratifying to realize their efficiency and strong organization.

The Province President's Workshop was held at the Brown Palace in Denver August, 1949. Eight chapter presidents and seven pledge supervisors went back to college with a determination to apply the vast amount of information they exchanged. The whole Province has been proud that One of Ours, Kansas A, was awarded the BALFOUR CUP for the 1948-1949 National Award. Kansas A was also awarded the Province Social Exchange Award. Kansas Beta received Honorable Mention and 99% on their History 1948-49. Two Scholarships were awarded to Iota Pi Phis; one Harriet R. Johnstone Scholarship award went to Joanne S. Johnston, Utah A, and one California A Scholarship to Shirley King Sikes, Kansas B. Many new Pi Phi pledges were reported after successful Rush Weeks, either in the Fall or during the year. In most cases, all quotas were either filled or in some cases increased. All Chapters paid particular heed to all Panhellenic Rules.

All Chapter visits were completed by early No-vember. The girls took great pride in showing me the new Decorations. South Dakota A had completely redone their kitchen and had redecorated the housemother's suite. Kansas A had redone their two living rooms, hall and stairway, complete with luscious gray carpeting, ankle deep. Kansas B proudly boasts a very complete redecoration, starting on third and on to second where there are no two rooms alike. New drapes and furniture in the Living Room and on down to and including the basement recreation room made to resemble a French walled garden with painted espaliers. Colorado A has a new and attractive four bed suite for honor seniors and a new annex for twelve or fourteen. Each quarter half the juniors live in the annex and the other half in the house. Colorado Betas do not live in their house but they have plans for enlarging this very attractive Chapter House. While I visited Utah Alpha, the House Association burned their Mortgage and the actives were so proud of the beautiful new decorations and furniture that was added last summer. Wyoming A had plans to show me this Fall of their proposed remodeling and decorating. The work has gone on since Christmas and at last they are truly proud of their very beautiful house. Nebraska B, the last chapter I visited, had no major improvements, since last year they had completed a complete rejuvenation.

Scholarship has been stressed and emphasized all year. Iota is proud of Colorado B being first for two quarters this year. With a first in Spring quarter, it will mean three years running as first and they can keep the Panhellenic Cup. We are proud too of Kansas A and Kansas B for being 2nd by only a fraction of a point. Wyoming A made a great recovery and they were First Fall Quarter of '49. Kansas B was first this fall semester and they have 4 Phi Kappa Phis. South Dakota A has two Phi Beta Kappas and Colorado Beta has one Phi Beta Kappa.

Besides their contributions to national funds listed in P.V.P. charts, Kansas Alpha donated to their Memorial Tower at Kansas University, Kansas B donated to a fund to present the college with a portrait of President Eisenhower at his Farewell Convocation. All chapters assisted with Community Chest and Red Cross Drives or campus Drives. Nebraska Betas assisted the Red Cross Disaster Group when they fed and housed about 150 victims of a flash flood in Lincoln.

Several chapters entertained at faculty teas, dinners or Sunday night suppers. Only a fine friendly relationship between Pi Phis and faculty could result from these affairs. Christmas parties were given for under-privileged children or small children of local Pi Phis.

Founders' Day was celebrated in several ways. South Dakota Alphas went to Sioux City Iowa to celebrate with the alumnæ of that city. Colorado Alphas and Betas had a gathering in Denver with the alumnæ. The Lincoln Alumnæ Club entertained Nebraska B with a cooky-shine. The entire Kansas A Chapter and two thirds of the Kansas B Chapter went to Kansas City for a banquet honoring Miss Onken. Both Wyoming A and Utah A had joint Club and Chapter meetings or celebrations.

Colorado A waited a whole year for Miss Onken's visit and from all reports it was well worth waiting for. When Mrs. Prouty represented the Fraternity at Utah's Centennial, she paid a visit to Utah Alpha. In May she officially visited Colorado B. Mrs. Alford visited Utah A in March. I would like to add my thanks to that of the Chapters visited, to Miss Onken, Mrs. Prouty and Mrs. Alford for their assistance and counsel.

The nominees for the Amy B. Onken Award were most outstanding and were very proudly presented. Each candidate for the award was an outstanding girl on her campus and had a fine record of scholarship, fraternity service, personality or activities participation. Nebraska B's Eugenie Sampson was the winner of the Iota Province AMY B. ONKEN AWARD. Colorado A presented Sarah Brown; Colorado B, Harriet Hardaway; Kansas A, Ann Learned; Kansas B, Shirley King Sikes and Norma Lou Meyers; South Dakota A, Patricia Bauer; Utah A, Jeanne Anderson, and Wyoming A presented Barbara Jones. Two chapters had new House-mothers this year

Two chapters had new House-mothers this year and only South Dakota A will have a new one next year.

The activities reports have been gratifying and besides the BALFOUR CUP, SCHOLARSHIP CUPS, PROVINCE AWARDS AND FIRSTS IN SCHOL-ARSHIP, there have been many outstanding awards and honors.

To have served as Province President, which affords contacts with chapters, their chaperones and alumnæ advisory committees has been a rare privilege. I am especially appreciative of the fine close relationship between the AACs and the chapters. Many thanks to Grand Council, these Advisory Committee members and to all actives who have made this such a pleasant experience. I deeply appreciate the opportunity to share the inspiration and to boast the achievements of these wonderful Pi Phis.

Respectfully submitted, LUCILLE NITSCHE JUNGE

## KAPPA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

E ACH year at this time it is difficult, but gratifying, to make a brief written record of Kappa Province for the preceding twelve-month period—difficult because many of the most exciting accomplishments are among the least tangible—gratifying, because the fine records of individual and chapter accomplishment in the varied avenues of Pi Beta Phi development continue to demonstrate their clear understanding of fraternity standards and goals.

The year really began with a two and a half day Workshop at Dallas, with two representatives of each of the seven chapters in attendance for long, but rewarding, hours of discussion of many phases of chapter activity. Chapter visiting—always a cherished part of the Province President's privileges and responsibilities—was done in November and December. This year's contacts with the chapters at visit time seemed even more worthwhile than before, perhaps due, in part, to the friendships begun at Workshop time. All chapters in the Province were visited in April by the ARROW Editor, and the inspiration from her visits did much to bring enthusiastic endeavors to the end of the year's activities.

In scholarship, the Province "first" honors go again to Oklahoma B, who retained first place on their campus for the fifth year. Oklahoma A not only held first place second semester of last year but made the highest average ever made on the University of Oklahoma campus, 2,038—a record they failed to maintain first semester this year when edged out of first place by a narrow margin. Arkansas Alpha nosed out its close competitors to gain first place on the campus first semester this year. Texas A showed the greatest improvement, coming up from eleventh to fourth place for last year.

Oklahoma A and B have both had adjustments to make in study hall requirements and other pledge responsibilities because of school regulations governing the housing of all freshmen in dormitories and their studying there, at least during evening hours. Louisiana B, too, had to discontinue a study-room in a building on campus because of a University plan for dormitory study. Texas B maintained a study hall at the library for afternoon study hours the greater part of the year, and Louisiana A town members studied at the house during free periods.

Arkansas' Panhellenic started a new system of securing grades of fraternity members through the Dean of Women's office at the end of each quiz-period, and held meetings monthly of all scholarship chairmen. While not as efficient as desired at first there was enough value received that both plans are to be continued another year. Following SMU's First Greek Week, in which all fraternities participated, scholarship chairmen held several meetings.

Chapers maintaining houses continued supervised study halls for pledges, where possible, and for actives falling below certain established averages. On the whole a fine acceptance of chapter and individual responsibility for good scholarship was shown, but results in one or two chapters still fall short of province goals. The Province Scholarship Supervisor, Louise Gribble, has given fine assistance to all chapters and it is hoped her efforts will be rewarded by raised averages for second semester.

Pledge-active relationships have again been stressed—a more necessary part of chapter planning for some Province chapters now that by far the larger number of pledges are not allowed to live in the houses. Arkansas Alpha was again under deferred rushing, and cannot pledge until the fall of the sophomore year, when their pledges move into the house. Panhellenic presented an evening program telling of fraternities at the freshman dormitory this year, but aside from this the amount of association between freshmen and fraternity members is almost nil. Only upperclass pledges can live at Oklahoma A and B houses, now; as before, pledges do not live at the Texas A house.

Two chapters this year began systematic programs of inviting one or two pledges at a time to spend a day at the house, during which special conferences were held with them and special attentions shown them. Regular Pi Phi Nights, pledge-active meetings and social affairs were increased in number in most chapters with these ofttimes serving in a dual capacity by programming faculty members as guest speakers. Every chapter entertained the Dean of Women and most increased their faculty-chapter contacts. Louisiana A held its first Faculty Tea, Arkansas A continued their regular custom in this, and Oklahoma Alpha's tea this year provided opportunity for an informal "sing" by faculty and members. Texas A broadened their guest nights to include honoring outstanding students in a wide variety of campus positions, and set as a goal the bettering of "public relations" between the chapter and the independent students.

Two new house-mothers were welcomed by Kappa Province chapters this year; Mrs. G. C. Parker by Oklahoma B, and Mrs. Claude McClellan, mother of two Dallas Pi Phi alumnæ, by Texas B. Both will return next year.

Texas B has spent an exciting year, for word was finally given that women's fraternities at SMU might have houses. A University-owned lot has been leased and the campaign for funds begun-now plans are being made and it is hoped building can start before the first of the year. Oklahoma B's house is being extensively remodeled-a new wing added, the old house redone and remodeled—so that when com-pleted it will have an entirely new aspect and be greatly enlarged. Texas A has completed a fine addition to its house with enlarged servant facilities, and a good-sized play room where members and guests can gather for fun or such work as float decorations. Best of all perhaps the play room and adjoining sleeping porch are air-conditioned! Arkansas Alpha is hopefully looking to a new well-situated lot as the site of its future home.

Oklahoma A rejoiced in the completion of its twoyear project of complete house-decoration with new bedroom and sleeping porch furniture and a modern, attractive decor throughout the house. Louisiana A added some new furniture and a general redecorating of walls to give a "new look" to its house, and Louisiana B continued to enjoy its room entirely redone only last year.

done only last year. Several interchapter contacts were made during the year, the most unusual one being the trip made by chartered bus of forty Texas Betas to provide a cheering-section for the Texas A Pi Phi-Kappa football game. The game, incidentally, appeared as "Game of the Week," on television!

Texas A provided room and board and incidental expenses for a Displaced Person, who lived at the house. Texas A and Oklahoma B each gave a full sponsorship of a child through the fraternity Savethe-Children plan; Arkansas Alpha continued help for their French girl through Foster Parents. Arkansas A, Louisiana B and Texas B gave Christmas parties for orphans or underprivileged children. Every chapter contributed generously to Campus Chest drives and similar worthy local causes.

Activities are always high-lighted by the chapter nominees for the Amy Burnham Onken awards, and this year those so hoonred included: Paula Reagan, Arkansas A; Jeannine McGee, Louisiana A; Dolly Sue Viebig, Louisiana B; Sara Jean Landsaw, Oklahoma A; Laverne Bradford, Oklahoma B; Betty Bollman, Texas A—the Province winner; and Kathleen Minter, Texas B. Only the most outstanding of other honors are included here as all chapters maintained good representation in honor organizations, and contributed to the personnel of school committees.

My sincere thanks to the girls in the chapters who have made this report possible, to the fine advisory committee members who have assisted equally effectively with projects and problems, and to Grand Council whose advice and inspiration were a source of constant help.

Respectfully submitted, MILDRED SALE

## LAMBDA PROVINCE PRESIDENT

THE CHAPTERS in Lambda Province have made a opment and campus citizenship. The most noticeable result of the right relationship of a girl to her fraternity is the interest in all that pertains to her college. By emphasizing scholarship the chapters reflect character development. Prominent positions in campus activities afford the chapters an opportunity to display true citizenship and a fine interpretation of Pi Beta Phi.

The scholastic rating of the chapters is most acceptable and proves that the memberships are emphasizing this particular objective. Of the eight chapters in the Province there are three in first position; three in second; one in third; one in fifth and one in eighth.

The average size of the chapters in Lambda Province is forty-eight. There are eighty-five Seniors; one hundred two Juniors; one hundred twenty Sophomores; and one hundred twenty-one Freshmen. The statistics on class representation within the chapters indicate that there is a definite increase in the number of women students entering universities, and the desire to continue through the four years is more evident.

Rushing was most successful for all chapters in the Province. The strongest competition in rushing was afforded by K K  $\Gamma$ , K A  $\Theta$ , and  $\Delta \Gamma$ —which evidences the strength within the Pi Phi Chapters.

It would be interesting to note the acceptance of women's fraternities by college women, since there appears to be much unfavorable publicity towards fraternities, generally. The statistics given below refute any statement contrary to the value of fraternity affiliation:

Campus	No.	Fraternities	Affiliated	
University of Alberta		4	20.0	
Montana State		6	50.0	
University of Idaho		8	65.3	
University of Washington		21	34.0	
Washington State College		13	32.0	
College of Puget Sound		4	48.7	

WHEN "Know your Fraternity" was chosen as our Chapter President's Conference, it was with a recognition of the need for better training in fraternity background. Most of our chapters have followed through on a program of education by instituting tours through the archives, studying of national and local history, and improved officers' training programs.

Our Conference took place in August at the California Delta house with two representatives from each chapter, even including a representative from the local  $\Phi \Sigma$  N chapter at San Diego which was soon to be installed. Second only to Convention in helpfulness, these Conferences are a tremendous spur to chapter officers and Province President as well.

Close on the heels of this Conference came the installation of California E just before the opening of school and the pledging of California Z. There is no need to go into the program of these events as they have been well reported previously in the ARROW. As the second semester opened, California Z at Santa Barbara State College was also installed.

There is a very definite realization within the Province that there has been over-organization on our

University of Oregon	16	50.0
Oregon State College	16	50.0
Willamette University	4	50.0

The percentage affiliated is truly remarkable when one considers that the fraternity woman is definitely handicapped by Panhellenic rules and regulations from informing any rushee on the real worth of affiliation with a fraternity.

All chapters, with the exception of two, have their own college homes which are owned and maintained by an alumnæ building association. Idaho A, Washington A and Washington B are to have improvements made on their respective chapter houses this summer. The cost of the seven houses was \$299,000, but the present evaluation would be approximately twice this amount.

The chapters in Lambda Province contributed 100% to the Harriet Johnstone Scholarship Fund, Settlement School and Holt House.

Joan Mimnaugh, Oregon A, was winner of the Amy B. Onken Award for Lambda Province. Joan maintained nearly a 4. scholastic rating during her four years in college in addition to being entirely self-supporting. She is regarded as one of the most brilliant students to be graduated from the University of Oregon. She is a Phi Beta Kappa, Mortar Board, and Business Manager of the EMERALD which is the highest paid campus position. Because of her outstanding personality and high scholarship, she was recommended as a candidate for the national Rotary Scholarship which allows a year's study abroad in any chosen place with all expenses paid.

The Province President wishes to express her official and personal appreciation for the splendid cooperation given by the chapters, the alumnæ clubs, alumnæ advisory committees, and mothers' clubs. With the excellent team work, and splendid spirit manifested by these groups, the chapters in Lambda Province are now enjoying a most enviable position on all campuses.

EMILY DRAPER

## MU PROVINCE PRESIDENT

campuses. Deans of Women and our Panhellenics are taking measures to protect our chapters from being the victims of too many required meetings and projects. As a consequence, our members are being urged by their activity chairmen to choose those activities which give members personal satisfaction and which they can pursue for four years with the certain knowledge that they are giving worthwhile service to the University.

This past year we have held many high campus offices such as those in AWS, student body offices, etc. The province has had an abundance of members in activity honoraries, 9 in Mortar Board and 2 Presidents, as well as 26 in other senior honoraries, 14 in junior honoraries and 26 in sophomore honoraries, 6 in W'ho's W'ho. In the realm of beauty, almost every chapter has had some type of winner. We have a PiKA Sweetheart at California E, a Sweetheart of Lambda Chi Alpha at California Z, a Sweetheart of Sigma Chi at Arizona, a Homecoming Queen and the Junior Prom Queen at California  $\Delta$  and at Nevada a Moonlight Girl of Phi Sigma Kappa who went into the national finals.

There are 29 members in departmental honoraries.

California  $\Delta$  was the proud winner of first in the Spring Sing, New Mexico of the college Stunt Night, California Z of the Parasol Prance and Nevada with her song team was the winner at Mackay Day. Arizona has the outstanding Sportswoman of the Year, as well as 2 members of A Club (1000 athletic points.) California B had the Secretary of Homecoming, California Z was the winner of the Southern California College Oratory Contest, California  $\Gamma$  has the Chief Justice of the Judicial Court and holds the Panhellenic Cup for Scholarship and 6 members in our California State College system are in Cal Club. In addition, we are well represented in all class councils and offices, publications and sports.

and offices, publications and sports. Scholastically, California E is our only first on campus. California  $\Gamma$  is third on her campus with a higher average than when she was first for the entire year last year. There is a great deal of anxiety about the problem of scholarship and I feel that with the proper spirit prevailing our average should be better. However, from past experience, I find that imbuing our girls with a sense of personal responsibility is our greatest problem. We have 3 Phi Kappa Phis in the Province but since reports are not complete, there may be more.

While we failed in being 100% in contributions to our projects because one chapter failed to give to the Scholarship Fund, I feel sure that this was because of an error. The chapter concerned contributed twice to Holt House. The second contribution was probably meant for the Scholarship Fund. Settlement School received \$77.50 from us, Holt House \$72.50 and the Scholarship Fund \$60.

Our chapter houses are all in excellent condition and are well kept up. None have made any major changes since last year. We are losing chaperons at California B, Nevada A, and California  $\Gamma$ . California  $\Gamma$  was the Balfour Cup nomination from

California  $\Gamma$  was the Balfour Cup nomination from Mu Province this year and the ABO Award was won by Jackie Yarborough of California Delta. Other nominees were Sheila Jo McKinney, California E; Dorothy Walker, California  $\Gamma$ ; Rosemary Stockton, New Mexico A, and Elaine Horton, Nevada A.

While Mu Province has had its very definite problems, I truly feel that we have added much to the prestige of the Fraternity. Rushing methods are changing for the better and chapters are definitely learning the value of alumnæ assistance. A tendency to accept their adult judgement with more confidence than in the past, is apparent almost everywhere. This is one of the most heartening signs of strength, for when alumnæ and actives can work toegther with complete confidence, much will have been achieved.

As this year closes, I wish to extend my heartfelt thanks to all those who have helped to make my tasks such pleasant ones, to our splendid Advisors particularly for their fine work and for their kindness and consideration and to all members of Grand Council for their valued assistance.

Respectfully submitted, OLGA CHARLES SILBURG

★ "As for myself, I shall be everlastingly grateful for my fraternity experience. The boys in the chapter did for me what the professors did not have the time or opportunity to do. Every personal trait was examined and checked. I was given first-hand training in the give and take of life. I learned to judge and be judged. I was encouraged to engage in one or more activities outside of my regular studies, and at all times and in all ways to exalt the fair name of my Alma Mater. And above all, I came to realize that the end had not come with the termination of my undergraduate days. Just as the national organization had, in season and out, worked with my chapter in its day to day problems-scholarship, business management, personal conduct, living conditions, loyalty to college, and other phases of campus activity-so had its many thousands of alumni stood ready to greet me and help me, particularly during those early post-graduate years when I was seeking to find my life's work. I spent my undergraduate days at Ohio Wesleyan University-a liberal arts College, having about the same number of fraternities as Amherst. I entered college with a distinct prejudice against fraternities. Among other things, I had been led to believe that they engaged in a lot of frivolities and nonsense-to such an extent as to prove positively harmful to serious scholastic attainment. But as my freshman days wore on, I discovered the fraternity men were not in the minority in any phase of student activities. I found also that the benefits of small group association were not inconsistent with the wider contacts and friendships that flourish in no other place so luxuriantly as on the college campus. In addition, I discovered that the limited brotherhood of chapter life is not inconsistent with universal brotherhood, but inspires one to be ever ready to give freely of himself, not for himself but for all mankind."

 $\rightarrow \rightarrow \rightarrow$ 

These are concluding paragraphs of an address by William R. Bayes,  $\Phi \Delta \Theta$ , at a symposium on "Fraternities in a Liberal Arts college," at Amherst College, February 22, 1950.

# Province Vice-President Reports

Reports of amounts contributed to National Funds will be found on charts elsewhere in this issue.

## ALPHA EAST PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

M EMBERSHIP has showed a slight increase this year and all clubs are 100 per cent in support of our projects. Several have contributed to the Alumnæ Home with Portland contributing \$90. More clubs have had a place in the budget for a Convention delegate so that five clubs will be represented at Jasper Park.

New Haven doubled the amount of its sale of Arrowcraft and all clubs held displays except the two Canadian clubs

Portland found it necessary to award two Sophomore bracelets, one to Vermont A and one to Vermont B. Hartford and New Haven each contributed \$50 towards furnishings for the new house into which Connecticut A will move in the fall. A group of alumnæ near Bridgeport had a benefit bridge for Connecticut A. Between clubs and chapters in the same city there has been fine cooperation this year, and the strong chapters give evidence of loyal Advisory Board members.

Burlington, New Haven and Portland contributed to Save the Children so that next year Alpha East will have a "god child" with whom to correspond. A decrease in magazine commissions is disappoint-

ing. Three clubs did very little and the two in Canada found that the rate of exchange made getting subscriptions for American magazines difficult.

Montreal contributed to local causes: \$100 to the Cerebral Palsy Clinic, \$150 to endow a bed at the Children's Hospital, \$25 to the Joint Hospital Drive. Halifax gave help to a Home for Unmarried Mothers. Portland made a contribution to the Community Chest. Many members in all clubs take a leading part in community drives and other volunteer services.

Founders' Day was celebrated with true loyalty, I had the pleasure of attending banquets in Boston, Hartford, Eastern Maine, and a "Cooky Shine" in New Haven. Visits have been made to other clubs in the province.

There are opportunities for other clubs, Anyone moving to a new place can write to her Province President or the Director of Alumnæ Extension for help in organizing a club. Ten members are required.

The Vermont picnic was held at the home of the State Rushing Recommendations Chairman, Mrs. Duane Sprague in East Middlebury and plans are made for another one this year.

Although Burlington is not sending a delegate, the members of the club have taken an active part in helping the chapter get funds for a third person to attend—a tribute to the Pi Phi spirit of her mother, Mrs. Flossie Hard.

The cooperation of club officers as well as the support of club members during my term of office has been outstanding. For the guidance and aid of Grand Council, Committee Chairmen, Director of Central Office I am humbly grateful. It has been a rewarding experience to try to help the alumnæ clubs of this province.

ERMINIE L. POLLARD

## ALPHA WEST PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

WE ARE delighted to extend a warm and sincere welcome to Hudson River, a new club in our Province, making a total of twelve clubs.

Eleven of the twelve clubs are 100% in contributing to our three projects. The Toronto Club's bazaar was the outstanding

money making project of our Province. With a long range planned program, excellent leadership and co-operation, their proceeds were almost \$4,400.00. This was given to the active chapter to be used for redecorating and repairing the chapter house.

The London club had a talent sale which was most successful.

The Syracuse club sponsored a play, the proceeds to help redecorate their chapter house.

Several clubs who are not close to an active chapter have helped New York Gamma with gifts and money. They are now in their new house. These clubs are Northern New Jersey, Rochester, Buffalo, and Albany.

All the clubs had most impressive Founders' Day dinners and luncheons. It was a real pleasure for me to attend several of them.

The New York City club had Mrs. Enteman, who was the French Lick convention initiate, as their guest speaker. Her talk was an inspiration to all of us. Four members of the Poughkeepsie club joined New York City for their celebration.

The Long Island group which is a part of the New York City club had a beautiful Founders' Day

dinner; thirty-two were present. The Northern New Jersey Club used the twelve figurines representing the Founders as part of their table decorations. One of their members made these figurines. Two of the members of this club have contacted all the Pi Phis in that area and have received \$1,000.00 in personal donations for the Pi Phi Alumnæ Home.

The Westchester Club has made a number of complete layettes for the Health Center.

Rochester honored three Golden Arrow members at their Founders' Day luncheon, and also honored Mrs. Simmons who was initiated sixty years ago

We look forward to convention where eight of the clubs will be represented by delegates. The instruction and inspiration which these delegates will take back to their clubs will be of great value to the Province.

My club visits were most enjoyable. My thanks and gratitude to each club officer and member of Alpha West for their help and for making this year such a pleasant one.

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to Miss Onken, Mrs. Wild, other members of Grand Council and Director of Central Office for the inspiration and guidance they have given me.

Respectfully submitted,

EDNA O. ARCHIBALD

## BETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE NINETEEN clubs of Beta Province have fintional projects, Settlement School, Holt House and the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund. Membership in the province has increased over one hundred. The contributions to the fraternity as a whole, such as chapter help, club gifts to the Pi Phi Home, Save the Children Federation, and the three national projects have increased about one thousand dollars. Arrowcraft sales are higher. Thirteen clubs gave contributions of money to active chapters to say nothing of personal help and cooperation on the part of the others.

Many clubs continue to participate in their local philanthropies. Panhellenic interest is gaining, with Harrisburg-Carlisle and Philadelphia leading the way in forming City Panhellenic groups. Philadelphia again holds first place in contributions

Philadelphia again holds first place in contributions to the Settlement School, Cleveland East second, and Pittsburgh third.

Chapter Loyalty Day observance has taken several interesting forms, and as our Golden Arrows are honored, we more deeply cherish the lasting bonds of Pi Beta Phi.

The province was delighted to have Marianne Wild our visitor from Grand Council but deeply regretted that illness kept her from completing her trip. We were so pleased that Lucile Carson could take her place for some of the visits.

It was a great joy and a keen pleasure to visit all of the clubs of the province during this year. The graciousness with which I was received, the enthusiasm expressed for the work of our fraternity, and the cooperation that followed has been deeply appreciated. Only through cooperation and the realization of the privilege of being a Pi Phi can we best serve our fraternity.

Sixteen Pi Phis put in writing their realization by signing a petition for a club charter May 25, 1950 in Springfield, Ohio. We welcome the Springfield Alumnæ Club in the Alumnæ Department and wish for the members much success and happiness as they renew their fraternity pledge.

To all officers and club members in Beta Province goes my thanks for the work they have done and for the privilege of working with them.

To Miss Onken, Marianne Wild and the other members of Grand Council, the Director of Central Office, as well as National Committee Chairmen, may I express my deepest appreciation and sincere thanks for your inspiration, help and patience throughout the year.

> Respectfully submitted, EDITH HOYER RANKIN

### GAMMA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

THE CLUBS of Gamma Province have reported more than the required four meetings for the year, with two clubs reporting seven meetings in order to enjoy a Panhellenic program of outstanding projects of sister and brother Greek letter organizations, an evening of Christmas celebrations of other countries, and a talk on the work of the United Nations to 1950. They have also contributed to the national projects and in addition have shown local interest in health and dental clinics for children by donating funds for much needed dental work. Three Clubs have reported an increase in paid membership— Charlotte, North Carolina, Wilmington, Delaware, and Washington Junior Group Club, with only one Club reporting a decrease due to the shifting population of Durham, North Carolina.

There is enthusiastic and continuing interest in the nearest active chapter as shown by assisting in rushing, through food preparation, counseling, assisting in house or chapter room decorations and serving as members of the house corporation, as in the case of two members of the Washington Senior Club who were elected by Maryland Beta to the Board of Directors.

The Mothers' Club of Maryland Beta has held monthly meetings and assisted the chapter in many ways including gifts of furnishings..

The District of Columbia A Mothers Club planned a large luncheon and Spring Fashion Show at the Bethesda Naval Officers Club and realized a sizable amount of money to be used for the active chapter. Mrs. Harry S. Truman continued her interest in the Mothers' Club and was guest of honor as were our Mrs. Robert Wild and Miss Kirkbride, Dean of Women at George Washington University.

Columbia and Chapel Hill have given very generously of their time and fund assistance during the year, as well as during rushing.

Baltimore added to their program for the year in

joining with Maryland A in plans for Founders' Day dinner at Levering Hall, Johns Hopkins University, with Miss Onken, Mrs. Wild, and Mrs. Lingo as guests. Mrs. Hubeck read a few of the messages received from the many alumnæ of Maryland Alpha and because all fraternities will go off Goucher Campus at the close of the school year all of the seventy active chapter members were inducted into membership of the Baltimore Club. A plan is now forming to add further to the alumnæ club program for next year in order that the student alumnæ members may participate more fully and grow in knowledge of the organization of Pi Beta Phi.

Miss Onken spoke inspiringly on the subject of service to the fraternity and friendship among the members through the years. Although there was regret at the loss of Maryland Alpha after 43 years of establishment on campus, there was a deeper determination expressed by those present to go forward through accepting individually the challenge to defend and sustain Pi Beta Phi and the fraternity system.

Washington was honored on Founders' Day to have Mrs. Eli Helmick, one of our pioneer workers for the Settlement School, speak on the subject of "Dreams Come True" 1912-1950, at a luncheon at Shoreham Hotel which was attended by some 300 Alumnæ, District of Columbia A and Maryland B. The active chapter girls presented a play in 1867 style costumes depicting the Founding of I. C. Sorosis. An invitation to join us was extended to the Norfolk and Richmond Club but due to their long standing plans they were unable to accept and sent letters of welcome to Mrs. Helmick recently arrived from Honolulu to visit her son and daughter General and Mrs. Gardner Helmick.

Two clubs observed Chapter Loyalty Day with meetings and one club sent two checks of twenty-five dollars each to the nearest active chapters for the new equipment fund. Settlement School Exhibits were shown in South Carolina Alpha House in Columbia followed by tea. Washington also displayed Arrowcraft in District of Columbia Alpha Chapter Rooms from three until nine in order to give all our friends an opportunity to attend. Members of the Junior Alummæ Group and the active chapter served as hostesses with the president and officers of the Senior Club.

Members of George Washington faculty, wives and daughters of Senators, Congressmen, high government officials' wives, Mrs. Tom Clark, Mrs. Charles Brannan, and Mrs. Truman called and purchased our wares.

Baltimore Club and Wilmington invited friends to tea, showed samples of Arrowcraft and accepted orders successfully throughout the year. All clubs have shown interest in Settlement School programs.

Norfolk continues work in Panhellenic and year-

long alertness to new Pi Phi comers in the community since the military and naval establishments bring many transient members; the custom of calling upon arrival has proven an advantage to roving friends.

Richmond contributes to Elizabeth Kates Foundation which they sponsor in addition to our national projects.

Membership runs from 9 to 154 and with two exceptions all clubs have sent in the questionnaire, the audit card, and new officer lists. However, we list many more resident members than paid members and that is not one hundred per cent. Will you join? Officers, members and central office have been co-

Officers, members and central office have been cooperative, and to each one deep appreciation and thanks.

> Respectfully submitted, MARIE TUNSTALL LINGO

# DELTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

T HE 1949-1950 club year was one of progress for Delta Province. The increased giving to the fraternity national projects and to active chapters was the result of 100 per cent cooperation of the 19 clubs which qualified Delta Province as 100 per cent. There was an increase in paid members, affiliated seniors, gifts to Settlement School and Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund and a new high in gifts to chapters. The contributions to Holt House remained \$75. The only decrease was to Save the Children which was \$55 as compared to the previous amount of \$95; however the Pi Beta Phi Home, a new opportunity this year, received \$305.

Dues for 764 members including 7 isolated Pi Phis, netted a gain of 44 memberships over last year and 34 affiliated seniors reported, showed an increase of 22 over the 12 of the year before. Six clubs showed membership gains from 1 to 25 paid members. They are, in the order of greatest gains, Detroit, Southeastern Indiana, Gary, Bloomfeld Hills, Lansing-East Lansing and Hillsdale. Shelbyville, Indiana was the only club to have 100 per cent membership of the local Pi Phis. Indianapolis maintained the same membership although the Junior group enlisted 21 affiliated seniors. Jackson and Fort Wayne also reported the same paid membership as of the year before. Two new clubs were welcomed into the province family. They were Hammond, Indiana with 20 members and Muncie, Indiana with 12. Northern Indiana, it is regretted, is no longer active.

Each year brings new evidence of growing interest and cooperation between actives and alumnæ. Clubs all over the province willingly rush in whatever way Panhellenic rules permit whether it be by planning parties or working in the chapter house kitchen. Michigan I and Indiana E have received the greatest help because of their new houses although the other chapters have been remembered with gifts and loyal support by the nearest club. The chapters received approximately \$2,942.66 in cash and gifts. Clubs have held joint meetings with chapters and both Michigan with 216 and Indianapolis with 316 Pi Phis in attendance, celebrated Founders' Day with State Day luncheons. Other clubs without chapters close-by, entertained actives at Christmas or during the summer.

Pi Beta Phis, in the 12 communities where there are Panhellenics, have supported that organization. In two places, Ann Arbor and Richmond, the Pi Phi club is taking the lead in the organization of the Panhellenic and the president of the Richmond group, is a Pi Phi.

The opportunity to visit the 19 clubs in Delta Province this year was a pleasant experience which proved that Pi Phis are folks you are proud to claim no matter where you are.

VIRGINIA BRACKETT GREEN

## EPSILON PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

WE HAPPILY announce a new club at Lexington, Kentucky, bringing our number of clubs in the province to an even dozen. Along with this new club most of our groups have grown in size, Kansas City having hit a peak of 180 and Nashville having doubled its last year's membership. This year the Province Vice-President had the extreme pleasure of visiting all the clubs except the one at Lexington which was chartered just too late to be included in her trip. She came home overwhelmed by their hospitality and inspired by the interest in Pi Phi.

All the clubs except our brand new one have donated to all three of the projects—the donation totals for each being slightly larger than last year. Chattanooga was able to triple in donations to each project and Nashville doubled its gift to each one, while our year old Blue Ridge Club raised its Settlement School donation from \$2 to \$20. The largest donations came from St. Louis which gave \$1,000 to the Settlement School and \$315 to the Emma Harper Turner fund.

Arrowcraft sales were not quite as successful this year as last year but the province accounted for some \$4,454.97 worth of goods being sold.

In magazine sales the province is in second place and two of the clubs, Kansas City and St. Louis, are among the first eight for the country.

Interest and pride in the Pi Phi Chapters continues to be strong in the province even those clubs not located near a chapter taking as active a part as

possible in rushing and giving such help as is needed. The clubs have tried to serve their own communities, Louisville manned a Cancer Drive Booth, Columbia contributed to an Incubator Fund and to the Red Cross, Kansas City is one of the sponsors of the Rehabilitation Institute with two members on its board, Nashville gave \$500 to the Vanderbilt Hos-pital for care and treatment of indigent pediatric patients, and St. Louis continues its work for handicapped Girl Scouts. Springfield made a contribution to the Community Chest. Chattanooga and Louisville continue to donate to the Save the Children fund. Six of the clubs will be represented at Convention

# ZETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

ZETA PROVINCE has had another most successful year. We have two new clubs, chartered in March, which bring our number up to fifteen. They are at Pensacola and the Palm Beaches and they are doing nicely. Our total paid membership is 441, which includes eight seniors. Since the number of resident members reported is 860, you can see how much more we are capable of growing. Two clubs are 100 per cent paid membership—Lakeland for the tenth con-secutive year, and Pensacola. Tallahassee and Ocala miss this 100 per cent record by only two members each. The clubs showing the greatest percentage gain in membership are St. Petersburg, Tampa, and Jacksonville. The clubs reporting the most new members are Atlanta, Tampa, Orlando and Jacksonville.

We are almost 100 per cent in our contributions to the alumnæ projects. One of the new clubs failed to contribute, but did send a generous gift of money to the Pi Phi Home. Total contributions to the three projects amount to \$304.00, which is slightly more than last year's. In addition, three clubs reported donations to the Home and six to the Save the Children Federation. Interest in local projects has been excellent, with six clubs contributing money, gifts, or service.

Interest in and cooperation with chapters has been splendid and has taken a very tangible form. The most outstanding piece of work in the province was that done by the Birmingham Club because of its assistance to Alabama Beta. This club raised \$800.00 in a little over a year and had charge of installation arrangements, plus the hard but splendid work of the Advisory Board. Atlanta, Jacksonville, Orlando and

and in addition the Junior group in St. Louis is sending its president to act as the alternate delegate from St. Louis. Knoxville is proud to be represented by Miss Ruth Dyer, director of the Settlement School. To the club presidents, their hard working officers

and interested members goes the credit for the good year the province has just ended. To them, to Central Office, and to the members of Grand Council who are ever ready with a helping hand I am extremely grateful.

Respectfully submitted, ALICE W. MANSFIELD

Tampa also sent gifts and money.

Tallahassee gave \$75.00 to Florida B and Atlanta sent \$60.00 to Georgia A. Orlando gave lovely gifts to its seniors at Florida Gamma, also a scholastic award. The DeLand Club had a housewarming shower for Florida A's new rooms and gave an \$18.75 bond. St. Petersburg, Lakeland, Miami and Jacksonville together sent \$70.00 for Florida Alpha's kitchen. Birmingham gave Alabama A \$30.00. Other clubs report assistance in parties and rushing, and all clubs report a fine relationship with their actives and the chapters.

Birmingham Club held a state meeting for Founders' Day to which all known actives and alumnæ in the state were invited. Tampa, Lakeland, St. Peters-burg, Clearwater, and Sarasota Pi Phis celebrated Loyalty Day together in Tampa. Jacksonville and Miami are promoting a state meeting for Florida next year.

My work this year has been particularly enjoyable because of my club visits. Everywhere I went I found enthusiastic response and support. The members have fine spirit of loyalty; they are working hard to a further the ideal of service as expressed in our projects; and I feel sure they have a greater understanding of and interest in our national policies. The greatest problem is still that of membership and I know we can do much better on that if we all work at it. I shall always remember with pleasure the many wonderful Pi Phis I met during my term of office and I thank each of you for what you have given to me.

#### MARGUERITE BLOCKER BARTLETT

### ETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

T and profitable year. They have contributed gen-THE CLUBS of Eta Province have had an enjoyable erously to all the fraternity projects, given help to active chapters, held Arrowcraft sales and Founders' Day celebrations.

We can report no new clubs but we do have several large clubs that hold both afternoon and eve-ning meetings. These clubs feel this interests more members of all age groups.

The membership of the Province shows a slight increase. But in no way do the figures show the spirit behind all the affairs of the clubs. There are still many Pi Phis not members of clubs and this is a challenge to many clubs.

Fifteen clubs held Arrowcraft Sales. Some clubs held these sales with bridge, some style shows, others teas. Some clubs keep a continuous supply of articles to display at each meeting and always available at the home of the Settlement School Chairman. Champaign-Urbana was again high in gross sales in the amount of \$2,860.00; Peoria was second with \$1,263.89.

Save the Children Federation benefited greatly by the contributions of the clubs of Eta Province. Two clubs paid for full sponsorships. These are Cham-paign-Urbana and Oak Park-River Forest. Ten clubs contributed \$105.00 making another full sponsorship for the Province.

Indiana Epsilon benefited from the generosity of several clubs who sent gifts of money to help in furnishing their new home. Nearly every club has a tie with some active chapter which greatly increases the enthusiasm of its members.

Much enthusiasm was manifested in the clubs for the Home for Pi Beta Phis and fourteen clubs sent donations. North Shore Club was high donor, contributing \$600.00. Chicago South was second high donor with \$460.00. The total sum donated was \$1,764.20.

Many clubs plan summer rush parties for girls who plan to enter college this fall.

Aside from contributions to fraternity projects most clubs aid local charities. Peoria gave \$200.00 to two local homes. Seven clubs contributed to their local Red Cross. The total amount was \$130.00.

The Chicago Area Council held a large Founders'

Day luncheon at the Chicago Bar Association, Isabel Pifer, a Pi Phi and president of the Chicago Federation of Settlements was the main speaker-her subject was "Opportunities for Services of College Women." All clubs held impressive candlelighting ceremonies with active chapters, where possible.

The past year has been a happy one for me as well as strenuous. The pleasure of meeting so many members of the clubs in Eta Province was most enjoyable. For your cooperation with me and many kindnesses to me I am most grateful. Also to Grand Council and Central office many thanks.

Respectfully submitted, FLORENCE LAUDER

## THETA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

T is indeed a pleasure to review the activities and achievements of the alumnæ clubs in Theta Province. It is most heartening to see the wonderful spirit of cooperation and the splendid attitude, and the increased feeling of loyalty to, and interest in, the national scope of Pi Phi. The record for the year is presented with pride with all sixteen clubs 100 per cent in contributions to the three national projects, Settlement School, Holt House and Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund.

The Minneapolis Afternoon Club gave the largest club donation to the Home for Pi Phis Fund. It totaled \$200.00. The combined donations to the Save The Children Inc. Fund enabled the province to continue its sponsorship for the little Italian girl, Laura Grimaldi.

Clubs situated in college towns have been most loyal and helpful in giving assistance to the active chapters, both financially and in an advisory capacity. In making official visits at the time of Founders' Day observances I was deeply impressed with the harmonious relationship, which existed between active chapters and alumnæ groups as well as the thoughtful courtesies shown to a visiting officer.

Another observance during the past year is the growing interest and love shown to our Golden Arrow members throughout the province. Many have been beautifully and thoughtfully remembered and honored during the past year. We can all take a cer-tain amount of inspiration from the intense interest and continued loyalty the members of the Order of the Golden Arrow have invested in the fraternity.

Worthy of mention is the matter of program building by the clubs in the province. There has been a marked improvement in the types of programs pre-

pared by the different clubs. A veritable panorama passes in review as these programs are enumerated, style shows, teas, white elephant auctions, square dances and pot luck dinners with the husbands present, in order that they too may see and appreciate the workings of our great fraternity. One of the most interesting programs reported was that of the history of the cooky-shine given by Gladys Noll of Iowa City. It was the result of some painstaking research on the part of the leader but from all reports it was highly successful and should be preserved because of its interest and value to the fraternity as a whole.

We are sorry to report a slight decrease in paid members and hope to be able to overcome this in our next year's report. We are also sorry that it was necessary to list Theta Province with the provinces who have not added any new clubs this past year. Suffice it to say our two urgent goals for the year 1950-1951 will be, (1) a noticeable increase in the number of paid members, and (2) the organizing of at least two new alumnæ clubs in the province.

It is with regret that we find two of our sister clubs in the province having to re-establish themselves after the major catastrophes which came to them at the time of the Red River floods. We wish to extend to them our sympathy and understanding at this time of crisis.

For the co-operation of club officers, for the guid-ance of Grand Council members, and for the everwidening circle of Pi Beta Phi friendships we are deeply grateful for the opportunity to bring to a successful close another year for our great Fraternity.

> Respectfully submitted, HELEN GRANT

### IOTA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

I OTA PROVINCE has closed a most successful year with 100 per cent rating in contributions, and thre clubs, Manhattan, Hutchinson and Lawrence, with 100 per cent membership. We are proud to report the addition of one new club, Sioux Falls, South Dakota, our 243rd club. Although some of the clubs have decreased in membership, others have made substantial gains, and the province as a whole has gained in membership, the total being 879.

Almost all of the nineteen clubs held Arrowcraft sales and reported excellent success, as shown by the amounts on the chart. Splendid publicity with articles about the Settlement School and pictures of local Pi Phis were greatly responsible for the success of these sales. Many clubs felt that the social part of the teas and the publicity given to Pi Phi concerning our philanthropic project would be an invaluable help in rushing this year.

Many of the clubs are continuing their interest in local projects, making Red Cross and Community Chest donations, working on Cancer Fund drives, working with crippled children, Needlework Guild, and supplying food and clothing to the needy. Wichita packed a box of toys and clothing to send to Settlement School at Christmas time. Other clubs sent books to be used in the library.

Although we have had to relinquish our place as first in magazine subscriptions, we are still proud of our record, and hope to regain first place next year. We are happy to know that there is an increase in magazine subscriptions, and hope that many clubs will be stimulated to surpass the record for this year. The Denver Club has been first for several years but it seems that Dallas and Kansas City have taken the lead.

All of the clubs show a keen interest in doing their part in rushing. The Recommendations Committees are doing a splendid work, and wherever possible alumnæ are exhibiting a keen interest in rushing, offering invaluable assistance. The help given to active chapters seems to be of this nature rather than specific gifts, although many substantial gifts have been given wherever needed.

We have one junior group in the province, a part of the Denver Club. This group has been an inspiration to the senior club, meeting with them for the four required meetings and having a member on the Executive Board. They have succeeded in interesting many of the girls graduating from college, and bridging the gap between actives and alumnæ. The substantial increase in membership this year was, no doubt, stimulated by this junior group.

To date ten clubs have signified their intention to send delegates to Convention and we are hoping there may be more. The clubs fortunate enough to send a delegate will benefit immeasurably from the enthusiasm and inspiration brought back to them. I wish it were possible for every club to send a delegate.

It has been a real pleasure to serve you as Province President these past two years and I wish to thank you all for the cooperation and kindness shown to me. I wish to express also my gratitude to Grand Council for their ever-present help and inspiration and the prompt, efficient service from the Director of Central Office.

> Respectfully submitted, MARIE QUILLIN DIVISEK

## KAPPA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

K APPA PROVINCE has gained three clubs this year, those in Midland, Texas, Amarillo, Texas and Lubbock, Texas, which brings the number of active clubs in the province to thirty-four. The total paid membership is 1,417, including seniors. Every active club has paid dues, and clubs range in size from 9 to 164, with four clubs having paid membership of over one hundred. These are Tulsa, which is the largest with 164 members, Houston with 153, Oklahoma City with 128, and Dallas with 124. Four small clubs have 100 per cent paid membership, Pauls Valley, McAlester, Midland, and Lake Charles.

noma City with 128, and Dailas with 124. Four small clubs have 100 per cent paid membership, Pauls Valley, McAlester, Midland, and Lake Charles. Twenty-seven of the thirty-four clubs may be classed as 100 per cent, with contributions to the three projects, the Settlement School, Holt House and the Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund. Four clubs made no contributions, one of these being the club just organized in March.

Problems of clubs ranged from trying to make inactive alumnæ active, raising money (a very common problem of the small club), collecting dues, poor attendance, finding people who have time to work, almost complete lack of interest except in rushing, getting girls pledged, to the other extreme such as finding homes large enough for meetings, and finding a place to use the talents of the many new members due to the rapid growth of the club. Many of the clubs on their questionnaires spoke of the wonderful spirit of fellowship and the complete cooperation of every member, which is the ideal of every club, and which is really true of many of these clubs.

Visits were made to the clubs in Dallas, Ft. Worth, Midland, Houston, and Brazos Valley, Texas, Lake Charles, New Orleans and Shreveport, Louisiana, Osceola and Little Rock, Arkansas, and Norman, Oklahoma. These visits were most pleasant, and profitable. The increased knowledge of the fraternity is reflected in the increase in the number of clubs contributing to all projects. We still have never achieved the perfect record, which would be for all clubs to contribute to all three projects, but perhaps next year will see this ideal realized.

With the close of another club year, may I thank all club officers and members for their fine work and support of all fraternity projects, and Grand Council for the help, advice, and inspiration given so freely when needed. It has been a very successful year for Kappa province.

Respectfully submitted, THERESA GIBSON GRAHAM

## LAMBDA PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

INTEREST, enthusiasm, and accomplishment have run high in Lambda Province this year, due in large part to the fact that, for the second time in history we had the privilege of being hostess to the fraternity at convention. Jasper and its breath-taking beauty, days of working and playing together, and Mary Mooney with her wonderful committee will not soon be forgotten, and we are so happy to have shared them with you. For convention was in truth a Lambda Province success and all the clubs had a part in making it so.

All the while they were busy with decorations and favors, they took time out to enroll the greatest number of paid members we have ever had—877— which is 110 more than last year's all-time high. Many of the clubs were asked to supply favors, but that did not affect their giving to Pi Phi projects for we are 100 per cent as a province, including the club that was organized in Klamath Falls, Oregon in

February. Our Settlement School gift amounts to \$552.50, Holt House received \$136.50 (\$12 more than last year), and the Emma Harper Turner Fund was swelled by \$153—nearly twice the amount for 1948-49. The largest gift, \$50, came from the Portland Club who thought the fund an excellent way to lend a hand to an indigent Pi Phi.

Thirteen of our twenty-one clubs held Arrowcraft Sales, grossing a total of approximately \$10,000, eight gave to local charitable causes and 7 contributed to the Save-the-Children Federation. Sixteen clubs had official representatives at convention.

Our record for the past seven years while I have served as Province Vice-President is one of continual progress, and because I know you all so well, I am sure that that is the pattern of the future. It is with sincere regret, knowing full well how much I'm going to miss you, that I have decided this should be my last year to serve you. But in an or-

ganization like Pi Beta Phi there are so many who should be given the privilege to share and experience the great pleasures and advantages that come to any one who thus serves, that it is only fair to you for me to step aside for one of them. I can't begin to tell you how very much I have loved working with and for you, how much I shall cherish all the experiences that have been mine as your province officer, nor the extent of my good wishes for your future. Your new officer is indeed fortunate to "inherit" such a fine

### MU PROVINCE VICE-PRESIDENT

A<sup>s</sup> I review the accomplishments in Mu Province for 1949-1950, I feel a glow of satisfaction for not only has our family grown in numbers, but I feel we have grown in stature. We have added three new alumnæ clubs to our roster-Roswell, New Mex-ico, Centinela Valley and Solano County. This brings our total to twenty-eight clubs. All of the clubs, with the exception of Solano County (which was just char-tered) are 100 per cent clubs, having supported the three National Projects. The total paid membership in the province is now 1,393, a gain over last year of 145 paid members. Constitutional requirements were met by all the clubs.

One club, Honolulu, supported a child for one year through the Save The Children Federation. San Francisco and Roswell, New Mexico, donated toward that project. San Jose again topped the province in magazine sales for the Settlement School and ranked first of all the alumnæ clubs in the country for the highest commissions per capita.

Ways and Means projects included square dances, dessert-bridge parties, hobby shows, puppet shows, rummage sales, and the sponsorship of plays and programs by professional entertainers. South Coast keeps family, and I know you will continue to give her the very fine cooperation that you have given me; so don't forget that we must continue to work hard, for only one 100 per cent club (Wenatchee) is not enough!

For all the help and understanding from Grand Council members, for the efficient service of Central Office and all the committee chairmen, I am deeply grateful. Very best wishes for each of you always. LOUISE WHEELOCK DOBLER

a "pottery Pig" handy; the proceeds are sent to Settlement School.

Attendance at the meeting of Province officers in Decatur in June 1949 was both an education and an inspiration to this officer. It was also my privilege to assist Miss Onken, Mrs. Alford and Mrs. Siburg at the installation of California E and California Z; this was an inspiration I shall never forget. Our Grand President's devotion to Pi Beta Phi was transferred to each new initiate. For us "old Pi Phis" it was like being initiated all over again.

Official visits were made to every club in the province, except Fresno. Business was combined with the pleasure of meeting old friends and making new friends who wear the arrow.

This year brings to a close my term as Province Vice-President. To all of you-Miss Onken, Marianne Wild, Olga Siburg, Adèle Alford, Gladys Scivally and all of the wonderful presidents of Mu's alumnæ clubs, who have made my term pleasant and successful, I am deeply grateful.

Respectfully submitted. MARCELLA MCCORMICK RHODES

### ALPHA PROVINCE EAST

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Ducs	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Boston, Mass	125	39	\$3.00	5	35	\$ 50.29	\$ 155.84	\$ 34.20	-	\$ 13.00	\$ 1.00	\$ 50.00	-	-	Connecticut Alpha	\$13.00	\$ 5.00		\$10.30	\$ 5.00	-	-
Burlington, Vt	62	29	3.00	8	15	2.50	299.50	-	-	2.50	4.00	125.00	16.00		Maine Alpha	10.00	10.50	-	2.75	10.00	10.00	-
Eastern Maine	22	19	2.00	7	18	3.00	197.90	7.85	-	3.00	4.50	-	-	-	Massachusetts Alpha	2.00	5.00	-	-	5.00	-	25.00
Halifax, N.S.*	50	22	2.25	10	15	6.00		-	-	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	Massachusetts Beta	1.00	15.00	-	13.50	5.00	5.00	-
Hartford, Conn	125	48	3.00	8	30	25.00	497.00	97.68	-	5.00	10.00	50.00	-		Nova Scotia Alpha	16.00	5.00	-	.70	5.00	5.00	-
Montreal, Que.*	48	33	3.50	9	20	10.00			-	3.00	2.00	-	-	2.00	Vermont Alpha	7.00	10.00	-	8.95	1.00	10.00	-
New Haven, Conn	45	20	2.50	8	14	30.00	727.00	27.15	-	10.00	2.00	50.00	20.00	-	Vermont Beta	-	20.00	-	7.10	2.50	10.00	-
Portland, Me	22	18	3.00	8 .	10	10.00	399.85	35.25	-	10.00	10.00	Sophomore award	5.00	90.00								
Isolated	1	-	-	-	-	-		2.95	-	-		-	-	-								

## ALPHA PROVINCE WEST

Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter		Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	S.C.F.
41	33	\$3.00	10	19	\$ 25.00	\$ 553.45	\$ 28.15	-	\$ 10.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 50.00	-	-	Ontario Alpha	\$15.00	\$ 10.00	\$10.00	\$17.20	\$ 5.00	-	-
75	56	3.00	9	32	65.00	301.15	17.35	-	15.00	5.00	-	-	-	Ontario Beta	22.00	5.00	5.00	9.80	5.00	-	-
-	17	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	New York Gamma	-	5.00	10.00	10.80	5.00	-	-
85	46	4.00	8	28	5.00	-	-	-	5.00	5.00	16.00	-	-	New York Delta	15.00	10.00	10.00	18.95	15.00	-	-
300	73	4.50	7	35	150.00	400.00	43.75	-	2.00	5.00	-	-	-	New York Alpha	14.00	-	-	25.80	-	-	-
107	62	3.00	8	45	100.00	753.90	98.35	-	2.50	2.50	50.00		-								
17	14	2.50	7	8	10.00	-	9.60		3.00	3.00		-	-								
79	31	3.00	8	34	25.00	-	54.70	-	10.00	3.00	10.00	-									
55	12	2.00	9	27	50.00	448.30	2.00	-	2.00	2.00	-	-									
120	56	4.00	8	30	10.00	-	-		10.00	5.00	25.00	-									
-	50	-	-	-	15.00	-	-	$\tilde{-}$	15.00	2.50	35.00	-									
150	48	3.00	6	20	10.00	260.55	99.90	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
	Alum. 41 75  85 300 107 17 79 55 120 	Alum.         Mem.           41         33           75         56            17           85         46           300         73           107         62           17         14           79         31           55         12           120         56            50	Alum.         Mem.         Dues           41         33         \$3.00           75         56         3.00            17            85         46         4.00           300         73         4.50           107         62         3.00           17         14         2.50           79         31         3.00           55         12         2.00           120         56         4.00	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet- ings           41         33         \$3.00         10           75         56         3.00         9            17             85         46         4.00         8           300         73         4.50         7           107         62         3.00         8           17         14         2.50         7           79         31         3.00         8           55         12         2.00         9           120         56         4.00         8	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am't Dues         No. of Meet- ings         Age ance           41         33         \$3.00         10         19           75         56         3.00         9         32           -         17             85         46         4.00         8         28           300         73         4.50         7         35           107         62         3.00         8         45           17         14         2.50         7         8           79         31         3.00         8         34           55         12         2.00         9         27           120         56         4.00         8         30            50	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am*t Dues         Neet- ings ance         Attend- ings ance         Settle- ment School           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00           75         56         3.00         9         32         65.00            17              85         46         4.00         8         28         5.00           300         73         4.50         7         35         150.00           107         62         3.00         8         45         100.00           17         14         2.50         7         8         10.00           79         31         3.00         8         34         25.00           55         12         2.00         9         27         50.00           120         56         4.00         8         30         10.00            50           -         15.00	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am't Dues         Meet- Meet- ings         Attend- ance         Bettle- ment School         Craft (gross sales)           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45           75         56         3.00         9         32         65.00         301.15            17               85         46         4.00         8         28         5.00            300         73         4.50         7         35         150.00         400.00           107         62         3.00         8         45         100.00            79         311         3.00         8         34         25.00            55         12         2.00         9         27         50.00         448.30           120         56         4.00         8         30         10.00             50           15.00	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem. Mem.         An't Dues         No. of Meet- ings         age Aluend- ance         Settle- ment         Craft gross         Mag. Com- missions           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$25.00         \$553.45         \$28.15           75         56         3.00         9         32 $65.00$ $301.15$ $17.35$ 17                85         46         4.00         8         28 $5.00$ 300         73         4.50         7         35 $150.00$ $400.00$ $43.75$ 107         62         3.00         8         45 $100.00$ 9.60           79         31         3.00         8         34 $25.00$ $54.70$ 55         12         2.00         9         27 $50.00$ $448.30$ $2.00$ 120         56         4.00         8         30 $10.00$ - $50$ <td< td=""><td>Res. Alum.         Paid Mem. Mem.         Am't Dues         No. of Meet- ings         age Aluend- ance         Settle- ment         Craft gross         Mag. Craft         Mag. missions         Loan           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15         -           75         56         <math>3.00</math>         9         <math>32</math> <math>65.00</math> <math>301.15</math> <math>17.35</math>         -           -         <math>17</math>         -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -           85         46         <math>4.00</math>         8         28         <math>5.00</math>         -         -         -           300         73         <math>4.50</math>         7         <math>35</math> <math>150.00</math> <math>400.00</math> <math>43.75</math>         -           107         <math>62</math> <math>3.00</math>         8         <math>45</math> <math>100.00</math>         -         9.60         -           17         14         <math>2.50</math>         7         8         <math>10.00</math>         -         <math>54.70</math>         -           55         12         <math>2.00</math>         9         <math>27</math> <math>50.00</math> <math>448.30</math> <math>2.00</math>         -</td><td>Res. Alum.         Paid Mem. Dues         Am't Dues         No. Meet- ings         Attend- ance Meet- school         Settle- ment School         Craft (gross)         Mag. missions         Loan Fund         Turner Memorial Fund           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15          \$ 10.00           75         56         3.00         9         32         65.00         301.15         17.35          \$ 10.00            17                 5.00           300         73         4.50         7         35         150.00         400.00         43.75          2.00           107         62         3.00         8         45         100.00         753.90         98.35          2.50           17         14         2.50         7         8         10.00          54.70          10.00           55         12         2.00         9         27         50.00         448.30         2.00          2.00           120         56</td><td>Res. Alum.Paid Mem.Am't Mues.<math>MeethodsanceSettle-mentSchoolCraft(gross)sales)Mag.missionsTurnerLoanFundTurnerHemorialHoltHouse4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.0075563.0093265.00301.1517.3515.00\$ .001785464.008285.00800734.50735150.00400.0043.752.005.00107623.00845100.00753.9098.352.502.5017142.507810.0054.7010.003.0055122.0092750.00448.302.002.002.00120564.0083010.0010.005.005015.0010.002.00</math></td><td>Res. Alum. Mem. Mem. DuesNo. of Meet- ings ings and anceSettle- ment SchoolCraft gross alesMag. missionsLoan FundTurner Memorial FundActive HouseActive Chapter4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932<math>65.00</math><math>301.15</math><math>17.35</math>\$ 15.00<math>5.00</math>1785464.00828<math>5.00</math><math></math>80734.50735150.00<math>400.00</math><math>43.75</math><math>2.00</math><math>5.00</math>107623.00845<math>100.00</math><math>753.90</math><math>98.35</math><math>2.50</math><math>2.50</math><math>50.00</math>17142.5078<math>10.00</math><math>54.70</math><math>10.00</math><math>3.00</math><math>10.00</math><math>55</math>122.009<math>27</math><math>50.00</math><math>448.30</math><math>2.00</math><math>2.00</math><math>2.00</math><math></math>120<math>56</math><math>4.00</math>8<math>30</math><math>10.00</math><math></math><math>2.00</math><math>2.50</math><math>2.50</math>131<math>3.00</math>8<math>34</math><math>25.00</math><math></math><math>10.00</math><math>5.00</math><math>2.50</math>120<math>56</math><math>4.00</math>8<math>30</math><math>10.00</math>&lt;</td><td>Res. Alum.Paid Meem.Am' Meem.Meeth ings ings anceSolution meeth SchoolCraft (gross isles)Mag. russionsTurner MemorialHolt HouseActive ChapterBave Chapter4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932<math>65.00</math><math>301.15</math><math>17.35</math><math>15.00</math>\$ 5.00<math></math>1785464.00828<math>5.00</math>300734.50735<math>150.00</math><math>400.00</math><math>43.75</math><math>2.00</math><math>5.00</math>107623.00845<math>100.00</math><math>-73.90</math><math>98.35</math><math>2.50</math><math>2.50</math><math>50.00</math>17142.5078<math>10.00</math><math>9.60</math><math>3.00</math><math>3.00</math><math>10.00</math>7931<math>3.00</math>834<math>25.00</math><math>54.70</math><math>10.00</math><math>5.00</math><math></math>120<math>56</math><math>4.00</math>830<math>10.00</math><math></math>120<math>56</math><math>4.00</math>830<math>10.00</math><math>10.00</math><math>5.00</math><math>25.00</math>1</td><td>Res. Alum.Paid MeethAm' MeethSettle- meeth ings anceSolution meeth schoolCraft (gross sales)Mag. rum missionsTurner Memorial FundHolt HouseActive ChapterSave FundSave House4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932<math>65.00</math><math>301.15</math><math>17.35</math><math>15.00</math><math>5.00</math><math></math>1785464.00828<math>5.00</math>300734.50735<math>150.00</math><math>400.00</math><math>43.75</math><math>2.00</math><math>5.00</math><math></math>107623.00845<math>100.00</math><math>9.60</math><math>3.00</math><math>3.00</math>79313.00834<math>25.00</math><math>54.70</math><math>10.00</math><math>3.00</math><math>10.00</math>12056<math>4.00</math>830<math>10.00</math>7931<math>3.00</math>830<math>10.00</math>10.00<math>5.00</math><math></math>12056<math>4.00</math>830<math>10.00</math>&lt;</td><td>Res.Paid Alum.Amer ImageSettle- anceSettle- mem schoolCraft (gross)Mag. (gross)Turner FundMemorial HouseHouseSeve ActiveBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave C</td><td>Res.       Paid Alum.       Am't Dues       No. of ings       age Attend- ings       Settle- ment       Craft (gross)       Mag. (gross)       Loan       Turner Fund       Active House       Active Chapter       Chapter       Pipi Hom       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Bave Fund       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Bave Fund       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Chapter       Chap</td><td>Res.       Paid Alum.       American Dues       American Meet- ings       Southe- ment school       Southe- mest gross       Mag. Gross       Turner fund       House       Active Chapter       Chapter       Save Fund       Section House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- Fund       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Ho</td><td>Res.         Paid Alum.         And Dues         And ings         Attend- ance         Settle- school         Settle- school         Mag. Gross         Turner benol         Turner Hous         Andreic         Bare Chapter         Bare Fund         Bare Hous         Bare Stoo         Bare Stoo</td><td>Res. Meet. Auto         Auto         Meet. Auto         Auto         Meet. Auto         Auto         Res. Due         Settle- and         Craft School         Mag. Consistent         Turner missions         Hund         Hund         Auto         Chapter         Chapter         Settle- builden         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Mag. Consistent           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15         -         \$ 10.00         \$ 5.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 5.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         &lt;</td><td>Res. No. of Age         Am't Meet         Attrice Meet         Meet         Attrice (gross sales)         Mag. Constance         Turner (gross sales)         Meen         House         Advite         Plund         Hous         Advite<!--</td--><td>Res.         Am't         Meet         Atter         Section size         Section size<!--</td--></td></td></td<>	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem. Mem.         Am't Dues         No. of Meet- ings         age Aluend- ance         Settle- ment         Craft gross         Mag. Craft         Mag. missions         Loan           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15         -           75         56 $3.00$ 9 $32$ $65.00$ $301.15$ $17.35$ -           - $17$ -         -         -         -         -         -         -         -           85         46 $4.00$ 8         28 $5.00$ -         -         -           300         73 $4.50$ 7 $35$ $150.00$ $400.00$ $43.75$ -           107 $62$ $3.00$ 8 $45$ $100.00$ -         9.60         -           17         14 $2.50$ 7         8 $10.00$ - $54.70$ -           55         12 $2.00$ 9 $27$ $50.00$ $448.30$ $2.00$ -	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem. Dues         Am't Dues         No. Meet- ings         Attend- ance Meet- school         Settle- ment School         Craft (gross)         Mag. missions         Loan Fund         Turner Memorial Fund           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15          \$ 10.00           75         56         3.00         9         32         65.00         301.15         17.35          \$ 10.00            17                 5.00           300         73         4.50         7         35         150.00         400.00         43.75          2.00           107         62         3.00         8         45         100.00         753.90         98.35          2.50           17         14         2.50         7         8         10.00          54.70          10.00           55         12         2.00         9         27         50.00         448.30         2.00          2.00           120         56	Res. Alum.Paid Mem.Am't Mues. $MeethodsanceSettle-mentSchoolCraft(gross)sales)Mag.missionsTurnerLoanFundTurnerHemorialHoltHouse4133$3.001019$ 25.00$ 553.45$ 28.15$ 10.00$ 5.0075563.0093265.00301.1517.3515.00$ .001785464.008285.00800734.50735150.00400.0043.752.005.00107623.00845100.00753.9098.352.502.5017142.507810.0054.7010.003.0055122.0092750.00448.302.002.002.00120564.0083010.0010.005.005015.0010.002.00$	Res. Alum. Mem. Mem. DuesNo. of Meet- ings ings and anceSettle- ment SchoolCraft gross alesMag. missionsLoan FundTurner Memorial FundActive HouseActive Chapter4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932 $65.00$ $301.15$ $17.35$ \$ 15.00 $5.00$ 1785464.00828 $5.00$ $$ 80734.50735150.00 $400.00$ $43.75$ $2.00$ $5.00$ 107623.00845 $100.00$ $753.90$ $98.35$ $2.50$ $2.50$ $50.00$ 17142.5078 $10.00$ $54.70$ $10.00$ $3.00$ $10.00$ $55$ 122.009 $27$ $50.00$ $448.30$ $2.00$ $2.00$ $2.00$ $$ 120 $56$ $4.00$ 8 $30$ $10.00$ $$ $2.00$ $2.50$ $2.50$ 131 $3.00$ 8 $34$ $25.00$ $$ $10.00$ $5.00$ $2.50$ 120 $56$ $4.00$ 8 $30$ $10.00$ <	Res. Alum.Paid Meem.Am' Meem.Meeth ings ings anceSolution meeth SchoolCraft (gross isles)Mag. russionsTurner MemorialHolt HouseActive ChapterBave Chapter4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932 $65.00$ $301.15$ $17.35$ $15.00$ \$ 5.00 $$ 1785464.00828 $5.00$ 300734.50735 $150.00$ $400.00$ $43.75$ $2.00$ $5.00$ 107623.00845 $100.00$ $-73.90$ $98.35$ $2.50$ $2.50$ $50.00$ 17142.5078 $10.00$ $9.60$ $3.00$ $3.00$ $10.00$ 7931 $3.00$ 834 $25.00$ $54.70$ $10.00$ $5.00$ $$ 120 $56$ $4.00$ 830 $10.00$ $$ 120 $56$ $4.00$ 830 $10.00$ $10.00$ $5.00$ $25.00$ 1	Res. Alum.Paid MeethAm' MeethSettle- meeth ings anceSolution meeth schoolCraft (gross sales)Mag. rum missionsTurner Memorial FundHolt HouseActive ChapterSave FundSave House4133\$3.001019\$ 25.00\$ 553.45\$ 28.15\$ 10.00\$ 5.00\$ 50.0075563.00932 $65.00$ $301.15$ $17.35$ $15.00$ $5.00$ $$ 1785464.00828 $5.00$ 300734.50735 $150.00$ $400.00$ $43.75$ $2.00$ $5.00$ $$ 107623.00845 $100.00$ $9.60$ $3.00$ $3.00$ 79313.00834 $25.00$ $54.70$ $10.00$ $3.00$ $10.00$ 12056 $4.00$ 830 $10.00$ 7931 $3.00$ 830 $10.00$ 10.00 $5.00$ $$ 12056 $4.00$ 830 $10.00$ <	Res.Paid Alum.Amer ImageSettle- anceSettle- mem schoolCraft (gross)Mag. (gross)Turner FundMemorial HouseHouseSeve ActiveBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave ChapterBave FundBave HouseBave ChapterBave C	Res.       Paid Alum.       Am't Dues       No. of ings       age Attend- ings       Settle- ment       Craft (gross)       Mag. (gross)       Loan       Turner Fund       Active House       Active Chapter       Chapter       Pipi Hom       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Bave Fund       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Bave Fund       Bave Hom       Bave Chapter       Chapter       Chap	Res.       Paid Alum.       American Dues       American Meet- ings       Southe- ment school       Southe- mest gross       Mag. Gross       Turner fund       House       Active Chapter       Chapter       Save Fund       Section House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- Fund       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Chapter       Southe- House       Southe- Ho	Res.         Paid Alum.         And Dues         And ings         Attend- ance         Settle- school         Settle- school         Mag. Gross         Turner benol         Turner Hous         Andreic         Bare Chapter         Bare Fund         Bare Hous         Bare Stoo         Bare Stoo	Res. Meet. Auto         Auto         Meet. Auto         Auto         Meet. Auto         Auto         Res. Due         Settle- and         Craft School         Mag. Consistent         Turner missions         Hund         Hund         Auto         Chapter         Chapter         Settle- builden         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Settle- ment School         Mag. Consistent           41         33         \$3.00         10         19         \$ 25.00         \$ 553.45         \$ 28.15         -         \$ 10.00         \$ 5.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 5.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         \$ 10.00         -         -         Ontario Alpha         \$ 10.00         <	Res. No. of Age         Am't Meet         Attrice Meet         Meet         Attrice (gross sales)         Mag. Constance         Turner (gross sales)         Meen         House         Advite         Plund         Hous         Advite </td <td>Res.         Am't         Meet         Atter         Section size         Section size<!--</td--></td>	Res.         Am't         Meet         Atter         Section size         Section size </td

. Gave to local cause.

### BETA PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross) sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	8.C.F.
Akron, Ohio*	71	48	\$3.00	9	30	\$100.00	\$ 13.35	\$ 51.75	-	\$ 10.00	\$10.00	-	- \$	50.00	Pennsylvania Beta	\$12.00	\$ 35.00	-	\$32.50	\$10.00	\$15.00	\$12.00
Athens, Ohio*	40	29	.25	6	19	10.00	95.90	33.10	-	5.00	5.00	50.00	-	-	Pennsylvania Gamma.	8.00	5.00	-	32.45	5.00	5.00	
Sentral Pa	50	27	2.50	9	18	10.00	171.25	.60	-	10.00	5.00		10.00	-	Ohio Alpha	10.00	100.00	-	6.20	5.00	20.00	25.00
Sharleston, W.Va	71	37	3.00	10	30	20.00	775.35	49.25	-	5.00	5.00	100.00	-		Ohio Beta	18.00	15.00	-	15.35	10.00	10.00	-
Cincinnati, Ohio*	120	37	2.50	10	35	75.00	110.00	59.90		10.00	5.00	25.00	-		Ohio Delta	15.00	10.00	-	33.20	10.00	10.00	
Cleveland East, Ohio*	250	128	3.00	8	50	300.00	1028.55	17.35	-	10.00	10.00	25.00	48.00	500.00	Ohio Epsilon	11.00	10.00	-	30.10	5.00	5.00	-
Cleveland West, Ohio	114	63	3.00	9	45	100.00	44.00	19.85	-	10.00	10.00	25.00	48.00	-	Ohio Zeta	23.00	15.00	-	26.00	10.00	5.00	-
Columbus, Chio	230	Sr. 8 112	4.00	10	78	125.00	648.86	141.00	-	25.00	15.00	539.90	10.00	-	West Virginia Alpha	15.00	15.00	-	5.95	5.00	5.00	-
Dayton, Ohio	98	54	3.00	9	35	50.00	73.15	39.25	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Fairmont, W.Va	18	13	3.00	8	9	15.00	41.30	5.85	-	5.00	5.00	50.00	-	10.00	)							
Harrisburg-Carlisle, Pa	50	37	4.00	8	24	100.00	128.34	32.30	-	5.00	5.00	90.00	48.00	-								
Mahoning Valley, Ohio	38	24	5.00	6	20	5.00	-	13.15	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								_
Morgantown, W.Va	40	34	3.00	8	18	5.00	32.80	23.40	-	5.00	2.50	70.00	-	-								
Ohio Valley, W.Va. & Ohio	30	16	3.00	8	12	10.00	134.80	.30		5.00	5.00	10.00	-	-								
Oxford, Ohio	8	10	3.50	6	6	10.00	883.67	18.75	-	5.00	5.00	50.00	-	10.00	)							
Philadelphia, Pa	335	103	3.00	7 elub 22 group	45 25	500.00	1235.25	18.25	_	10.00	10.00	50.00	-	175.00								
Pittsburgh, Pa.*	125	52	3.00	10	30	155.10	1619.25	115.80	-	25.00	25.00	25.00	-	200.00								
South Hills, Pittsburgh*	47	35	3.00	10	20	25.00	763.60	41.95	-	5.00	5.00	-	10.00	45.00								
Springfield, Ohio†	16	-		-	-		-	-	-	-			-	-								
Toledo, Ohio*	130	Sr. 7 105	3.50	5 club 4 group	70 25	25.00	725.51	86.20	-	20.00	5.00	250.00	16.00	_								
Miseellancous		1	_	-	-	25.00	-	-		-	÷.	-	-	-								

\* Gave to local cause. † Chartered this year.

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Baltimore, Md	175	50	\$4.00	8	30	\$ 50.00	\$ 122.00	\$ 54.90	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	-	-	-	Maryland Alpha	-	\$ 10.00	-	\$ 7,50	\$10.00	\$10.00	-
Columbia, S.C	40	18	5.00	9	12	2.00	138.00	9.70	-	2.00	10.00	10.00	-	-	Maryland Beta	14.00	5.00	-	154.50	5.00	5.00	-
Chapel Hill, N.C	45	17	2.50	4	12	10.00	223.30	9.25	-	1.00	1.00	-	-	-	S.C. Alpha	9.00	5.00	-	7.25	5.00	5.00	-
Charlotte, N.C	-	22	-	5	-	6.50	-	20.90	3.00	3.00	-	-	-	-	N.C. Alpha	19.00	10.00	-	23.10	5.00	5.00	-
Durham, N.C	6	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.95		-	-	-	-	-	N.C. Beta	11.00	40.00	-	10.35	15.00	15.00	
Norfolk, Va	34	16	4.00	9	14	5.00	221.20	19.25	-	2.00	2.00	-	-	-	D.C. Alpha	1.00	10.00	-	19.30	5.00	10.00	-
Richmond, Va	-	25	3.00	6	-	25.00	-	7.05	-	5.00	3.00	-	-	-	Virginia Alpha	13.00	25.00	-	40.50	10.00	15.00	-
Washington, D.C., Sr	600	150	3.00	7	75	125.00	1137.00	158.00	-	25.00	5.00	100.00	-	-	Virginia Gamma	6.00	5.00	-	53.45	5.00	5.00	-
Washington. D.C., Jr	128	35	3.50	8	30	5.00	-	2.25	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Wilmington, Del	61	32	3.00	8	17	5.00	381.81	16.15	-	5.00	1.00	13.25	-	1.1.1								

## GAMMA PROVINCE

## DELTA PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Ann Arbor, Mich	110	45	\$2.00	5	30	\$ 25.00	\$ 280.55	\$ 10.10		\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$ 26.00	\$25.00	-	Michigan Alpha	\$ 8.00	\$ 10.00	-	\$34.25	\$10.00	\$ 5.00	\$32.00
Bloomfield Hills, Mich	75	35	3.00	9	23	100.00	236.10	96.15	-	10.00	5.00	60.00	10.00	35.00	Michigan Beta	16.00	60.00	-	70.55	30.00	30.00	-
Bloomington, Ind	40	34	3.00	9	23	25.00	904.15	9.70	-	5.00	5.00	25.00	-	100.00	Michigan Gamma	15.00	10.00	-	20,65	5.00	10.00	
Detroit, Mich.*	300	Br. 5	general 4.00	4	100 monthly group	100.00	763.20	105,75	-	25.00	10.00	Gifts 75.00	-	100.00	0 Indiana Alpha	8.00	10.00	_	11.50	5.00	5.00	5.00
Fort Wayne, Ind.*	52	39	3.00	10	25	10.00	47.95	23.25	-	10.00	5.00	Party	-	-	Indiana Beta	13.00	30.00	-	37.20	10.00	10.00	
Franklin, Ind.•	100	Sr. 3 44	2.00	10	35	30.00	99.20	34.80	-	5.00	5.00	100.00	10.00	15.00	) Indiana Gamma	13.00	10.00	-	110.70	5.00	10.00	+
Gary, Ind.•	26	Sr. 1 23	3.50	9	16	15.00	366.20	-	-	1.00	1.00	10.00	5.00	-	, Indiana Delta	. 21.00	21.75	- i-	22.55	10.00	10.00	5.00
Grand Rapids, Mich.*	46	Sr. 2 30	.50 per meeting 2.00	8	22	8.00	265.90	68.00	-	10.00	2.00	267.83	-	25.00	0 Indiana Epsilon	19.00	5.00	-	102.45	5.00	5.00	-
Hammond, Ind. †	27	20	-	7	15	1.00	-	-	-	1.00	1.00	-	-	-		_						-
Hillsdale, Mich.*	20	16	2.00	7	12	1.00	-	55,40	-	5.00	1.00	Gifts		-								
Indianapolis, Ind.*	600	Sr. 21 126	8.00	10	75	200.00	225.75	78.55	-	10.00	10.00	Party 1314.00	-	4								
Jackson, Mich	27	21	3.00	7	14	2.00	6.00	4.25	-	2.00	2.00	30.00	-	-								
Lafayette, Ind.*	59	45	3.00	8	27	203.51	1350.37	79.75	-	3.00	5.00	Gifts 121.05	-	25.00	0							
Lansing-E. Lansing, Mich.	43	Sr. 1 34	3.00	12	20	5.00	364.85	1.90	-	2.00	3.00	543.78	-	-								
Muncie, Ind.†	15	12	3.00	8	8	1.00	-	14.15	-	1.00	1.00	Gift	-	-								
Richmond, Ind	17	14	2.75	8	9	2.00	300.00	67.25		2.00	2.00	Tea	-	-								_
Shelbyville, Ind	. 17	17	3.00	6	14	5.00	Approx. 300.00	-	-	5.00	5.00	15.00	-	5,0	0							
Southeastern Indians	. 31	31	2.50	5	22	2.00	-	18.75	-	2.00	2.00	Picnic luncheon	-	-								
Southwestern Indiana	. 45	Sr. 1 50	3.00	9	22	100.00	744.91	80.75	-	23.00	5.00	355.00	5.00	-								
Isolated Pi Phis	-	7	2.00	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-								
* Gave to local cau		-	-	-	-	-		12.40		-	-	-	-							_		

\* Gave to local cause. † Chartered this year.

## EPSILON PROVINCE

•

Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	8.C.F.
29	27	\$3.00	5	15	\$ 20.00	\$ 340.00	-	-	\$ 2.00	\$ 2.00	\$ 25.00	-	-	Missouri Alpha	\$11.00	\$ 10.00	-	\$23.80	\$10.00	-	-
200	51	5.00	9	30	15.00	-	37.35	-	15.00	15.00	-	10.00	-	Missouri Beta	16.00	125.00	-	20,60	25.00	15.00	96.00
42	34 & 3	4.00	9	17	50.00	477.51	61,90	-	5.00	5.00	102.00	-	-	Missouri Gamma	8.00	20.00	-	25.75	15.00	10.00	-
358	172 & 8	5.00	9	100	300.00	896.35	266.72	-	100.00	50.00	68.00	+	-	Kentucky Alpha	12.00	-	-	24.25	-	-	22.50
29	16	3.00	8	10	5.00	-	24.90	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-	Tennessee Alpha	10.00	30.00		20.50	10.00	5.00	-
21	12 & 2	3.00	4	12	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Tennessee Beta	12.00	28.50	-	70.15	20.00	20.00	5.00
250	56 & 3	5.00	9	40	25.00	363.70	119.70	-	5.00	5.00	20.00	5.00	-	Tennessee Gamma	9.00	-	-	40.78	5.00	-	-
35	33	3.00	7	22	10.00	482.70	19.60	-	5.00	5.00	100		-								
72	33	3.50	12	25	10.00	188.45	15.60	-	10.00	6.00		8.50									
463	134 & 9	3.00 3.50	9	50	1000.00	897.25	314.84	_	315.00	15.00	41.50	_	-								
172	56	3.00	11	35	15.00	561.25	52.90		5.00	10.00	129.70	-	-								
65	30	3.50	8	15	5.00	187.76	5.55	-	5.00	5.00		-	-								
-	-	-		-	-	÷	2.60	-	-	-	-	-	-								
	Alum. 29 200 42 358 29 21 250 35 72 463 172	Alum.         Mem.           29         27           200         51           42         34 & 3           358         172 & 8           29         16           21         12 & 2           250         56 & 3           35         33           72         33           463         134 & 9           172         56	Alum.         Mem.         Dues           29         27         \$3.00           200         51         5.00           42         34 & 3         4.00           358         172 & 8         5.00           20         16         3.00           21         12 & 2         3.00           250         56 & 3         5.00           35         33         3.00           72         33         3.50           463         134 & 9         3.50           172         56         3.00	Res.         Paid Mum.         Am't Dues         Meet- ings           29         27         \$3.00         5           200         51         5.00         9           42         34 & 3         4.00         9           358         172 & 8         5.00         9           29         16         3.00         8           21         12 & 2         3.00         4           250         56 & 3         5.00         9           35         33         3.00         7           72         33         3.50         12           463         134 & 9         3.50         9           172         56         3.00         11           65         30         3.50         8	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am't Dues         No. of ings         Attend- ance           29         27         \$3.00         5         15           200         51         5.00         9         30           42         34 & 3         4.00         9         17           358         172 & 8         5.00         9         100           29         16         3.00         8         10           21         12 & 2         3.00         4         12           250         56 & 3         5.00         9         40           33         3.00         7         22           72         33         3.50         12         25           463         134 & 9         3.50         9         50           172         56         3.00         11         35	Rest. Alum. Alum. Mem.         Paid Mem. Dues         Am't Meet- Meet- ingm         Attend- anore         Settle- ment ment ment anore         Settle- ment Meet- ment Meet-	Res. Alum.         Paid Mem.         Am't Sum         No. of Meet ings         age Attend ance         Settle- ment ance         Craft gross ment seles)           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$ 20.00         \$ 340.00           200         51         5.00         9         30         15.00         —           42         34 & 3         4.00         9         17         50.00         477.51           358         172 & 8         5.00         9         100         300.00         896.35           29         16         3.00         8         10         5.00         —           21         12 & 2         3.00         4         12         —         —           250         56 & 3         5.00         9         40         25.00         363.70           35         33         3.00         7         22         10.00         482.70           72         33         3.50         12         25         10.00         897.25           463         134 & 9         3.50         9         50         1000.00         897.25           172         56         3.00         11         35	Res. Alum. Alum. Mem.         Paid Dues         Am't Dues         No. of ings         age ance         Settle- ment School         Craft (gross         Mag. Com- missions           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$20.00         \$340.00            200         51         5.00         9         30         15.00          37.35           42         34 & 3         4.00         9         17         50.00         477.51         61.90           358         172 & 8         5.00         9         100         300.00         896.35         266.72           29         16         3.00         8         10         5.00          24.90           21         12 & 2         3.00         4         12              250         56 & 3         5.00         9         40         25.00         363.70         119.70           35         33         3.00         7         22         10.00         482.70         19.60           72         33         3.50         12         25         10.00         897.25         314.84           172         56	Res. Alum. Alum. Mem.         Paid Dues         Am't Dues         No. of ings         age ance         Settle- ment ment         Craft gross         Mag. Com- mission         Loan Fund           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$20.00         \$340.00             200         51 $5.00$ 9         30 $15.00$ 37.35            42         34 & 3         4.00         9         17 $50.00$ 477.51 $61.90$ 29         16 $3.00$ 8         10 $5.00$ 24.90            29         16 $3.00$ 8         10 $5.00$ 24.90            21         12 & 2 $3.00$ 4         12              250 $56 & 3$ $5.00$ 9         40 $25.00$ $363.70$ $119.70$ 33 $3.50$ 12 $25$ $10.00$ $482.70$ $19.60$ 463 $134 & 9$ $3.50$	Res. Alum. Mum.Paid DuesAm't Meet- ingsAver- age Attend- anceArrow Settle- ment SchoolArrow (Gross sales)Mag. (Grom- missionsHarper Turner Memorial Fund2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00200515.0093015.0037.3515.004234 & 34.00917 $50.00$ $477.51$ $61.90$ $5.00$ 358172 & 85.009100 $300.00$ $896.35$ $266.72$ $100.00$ 2916 $3.00$ 810 $5.00$ $24.90$ $5.00$ 2112 & 2 $3.00$ 412 $$ 250 $56 & 3$ $5.00$ 9400 $25.00$ $363.70$ $119.70$ $5.00$ 3533 $3.00$ 722 $10.00$ $482.70$ $19.60$ $5.00$ 7233 $3.50$ 1225 $10.00$ $188.45$ $15.60$ $10.00$ 463 $134 & 9$ $3.50$ 9 $50$ $1000.00$ $897.25$ $314.84$ $315.00$ 172 $56$ $3.00$ 11 $35$ $15.00$ $561.25$ $52.90$ $5.00$ 6530 $3.50$ 815 $5.00$ $187.76$ $5.55$ $5.00$	Res. Alum, Mem.Paid DuesArd Meet- algeAver- age anceSettle- ment SchoolArrow Craft gross sales)Mag. Com- missionsHarper LoanHarper FundHolt House2927\$3.00515\$ 20.00\$ 340.00\$ 2.00\$ 2.00200515.0093015.00 $37.35$ 15.0015.004234 & 34.0091750.00477.5161.90 $5.00$ 50.00358172 & 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0029163.00810 $5.00$ 24.90 $5.00$ $5.00$ 2112 & 23.00412 $$ $$ 25056 & 35.0094025.00363.70119.70 $5.00$ $5.00$ 35333.0072210.00482.7019.60 $5.00$ $5.00$ 35333.50122510.00188.4515.60 $10.00$ $6.00$ 463134 & 93.509501000.00897.25 $314.84$ $315.00$ $15.00$ 172 $56$ 3.00113515.00 $561.25$ $52.90$ $5.00$ $10.00$ 65303.50815 <td>Res. Alum. Mem.Paid Meet.Am't Meet.Aver- age ment anceArrow Graft SchoolArrow Graft sales)Mag. Com- missionsHarper Turner Munet FundHarper HouseActive Chapter2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$25.00200515.0093015.0037.3515.00\$2.00\$25.00201515.009100300.00477.5161.905.005.00102.00358172 &amp; 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0068.0029163.008105.0024.905.005.002112 &amp; 23.00412725056 &amp; 35.00940025.00363.70119.705.005.0020.0035333.0072210.00482.7019.605.005.0072333.50122510.00188.4515.6010.006.00463134 &amp; 93.509501000.00897.25314.84315.0015.00141.50172563.0031355.001000.00897.25<td>Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- mem.Arrow mem.Arrow Craft schoolMag. Craft Mag.Harper LoanHarper Mem.HouseSave ChildrenSave Children2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00-200515.0093015.0037.3515.0015.0010.004234 &amp; 34.0091750.00477.5161.905.005.00102.00358172 &amp; 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0068.0029163.008105.0024.905.005.002112 &amp; 23.004125.005.0020.005.0035333.0072210.00482.7019.605.005.0072333.50122510.00188.4515.6010.006.008.50463134 &amp; 93.509501000.00897.25314.84315.0015.0041.5072563.0081155.00188.4515.605.005.0041.5072563.00</td><td>Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- met anceArrow met, SchuleArrow Craft schoolMag. Craft SchoolHarper- Turner FundHarper- HouseArtive ActiveSave ChildrenSave FundHouseActive MemorialSave ChildrenSave FundHouse2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00<math>=</math></td><td>Res. Alum. Mem.Paid DuesAm't Meet- ingsAver- Attend- anceArrow Settle- ment SchoolMag. (Gross sales)Harper FundHarper HouseChildren FundPiphi HouseActive ChildrenChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChil</td><td>Res. Alum. Mem. Mum</td><td>Res.         Paid Alum.         Am't Mem.         Am't Dues         Area mage Mage Mage Alum.         Arrow Age Mage Alum.         Mrow Mage Mage Alum.         Mage Memorial Fund         Loon House         Harper Memorial House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Chapter         Save Fund         Chapter         Settle- ment           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$ 20.00         \$ 340.00         -         -         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math> <math>\$ 0.00</math>         -         400         \$ <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         Memorial House         <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         -         Memorial Memorial         House         <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         -         Memorial Memorial         House         <math>\$ Chapter</math> <math>\$ Chapter</math> <math>\$ Dues</math> <math>\$ Settle-ment           20         51         50.00         9         30         30.00         477.51         <math>61.90</math>         -         <math>50.00</math> <math>50.00</math> <math>68.00</math>         -         -         Memorial         <math>10.00</math> <math>00.00</math> <math>896.35</math> <math>266.72</math>         -         <math>100.00</math> <math>68.00</math>         -         -         Tennessee Alpha         <math>10.00</math> <math>30.00</math></math></td><td>Res. Paid         American Meeting         Averican Meeting         Averican Meeting         Arrow Meeting         Mag. Commission         Laan         Harper Turner         Active         Chapter         Field         Field         Mag. Commission         Laan         Memorial Hole         Active         Chapter         Field         Mode         Active         Save         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mod</td><td>Arver- Alum.         Arver- ment         Arver- school         Settle- ment         Arver- craft (gross         Mag. masions         Loan         Holt Fund         Active House         Chapter         Find         Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Bettle- Fund         Settle- House         Settle- Fund         Mag. House           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$2000         \$340.00         -         -         \$2.00         \$2.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         \$11.00         \$10.00         -         200         \$2.00         \$2.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         \$11.00         \$10.00         -         200         \$2.00         *         -         Masouri Alphan         \$10.00         \$10.00         -         20.00           42         34         4.00         9         170         50.00         477.51         61.09         -         50.00         68.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         8.00         20.00         -         24.25           29         16         3.00         8         10         50.00         26.672         -         100.00         68.00         -         -         Tennessee Alphan</br></br></br></td><td>Res.         Paid         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Save         Save         Pi Pi         Meet         Save         Mag.         Mag.</td><td>Res.         Paid         Aver- Nume         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- school         Aver- school         Aver- masco         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Du</td></td>	Res. Alum. Mem.Paid Meet.Am't Meet.Aver- age ment anceArrow Graft SchoolArrow Graft sales)Mag. Com- missionsHarper Turner Munet FundHarper HouseActive Chapter2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$25.00200515.0093015.0037.3515.00\$2.00\$25.00201515.009100300.00477.5161.905.005.00102.00358172 & 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0068.0029163.008105.0024.905.005.002112 & 23.00412725056 & 35.00940025.00363.70119.705.005.0020.0035333.0072210.00482.7019.605.005.0072333.50122510.00188.4515.6010.006.00463134 & 93.509501000.00897.25314.84315.0015.00141.50172563.0031355.001000.00897.25 <td>Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- mem.Arrow mem.Arrow Craft schoolMag. Craft Mag.Harper LoanHarper Mem.HouseSave ChildrenSave Children2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00-200515.0093015.0037.3515.0015.0010.004234 &amp; 34.0091750.00477.5161.905.005.00102.00358172 &amp; 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0068.0029163.008105.0024.905.005.002112 &amp; 23.004125.005.0020.005.0035333.0072210.00482.7019.605.005.0072333.50122510.00188.4515.6010.006.008.50463134 &amp; 93.509501000.00897.25314.84315.0015.0041.5072563.0081155.00188.4515.605.005.0041.5072563.00</td> <td>Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- met anceArrow met, SchuleArrow Craft schoolMag. Craft SchoolHarper- Turner FundHarper- HouseArtive ActiveSave ChildrenSave FundHouseActive MemorialSave ChildrenSave FundHouse2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00<math>=</math></td> <td>Res. Alum. Mem.Paid DuesAm't Meet- ingsAver- Attend- anceArrow Settle- ment SchoolMag. (Gross sales)Harper FundHarper HouseChildren FundPiphi HouseActive ChildrenChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChil</td> <td>Res. Alum. Mem. Mum</td> <td>Res.         Paid Alum.         Am't Mem.         Am't Dues         Area mage Mage Mage Alum.         Arrow Age Mage Alum.         Mrow Mage Mage Alum.         Mage Memorial Fund         Loon House         Harper Memorial House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Chapter         Save Fund         Chapter         Settle- ment           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$ 20.00         \$ 340.00         -         -         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math>         \$ <math>\$ 2.00</math> <math>\$ 0.00</math>         -         400         \$ <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         Memorial House         <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         -         Memorial Memorial         House         <math>\$ 10.00</math>         -         -         Memorial Memorial         House         <math>\$ Chapter</math> <math>\$ Chapter</math> <math>\$ Dues</math> <math>\$ Settle-ment           20         51         50.00         9         30         30.00         477.51         <math>61.90</math>         -         <math>50.00</math> <math>50.00</math> <math>68.00</math>         -         -         Memorial         <math>10.00</math> <math>00.00</math> <math>896.35</math> <math>266.72</math>         -         <math>100.00</math> <math>68.00</math>         -         -         Tennessee Alpha         <math>10.00</math> <math>30.00</math></math></td> <td>Res. Paid         American Meeting         Averican Meeting         Averican Meeting         Arrow Meeting         Mag. Commission         Laan         Harper Turner         Active         Chapter         Field         Field         Mag. Commission         Laan         Memorial Hole         Active         Chapter         Field         Mode         Active         Save         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mod</td> <td>Arver- Alum.         Arver- ment         Arver- school         Settle- ment         Arver- craft (gross         Mag. masions         Loan         Holt Fund         Active House         Chapter         Find         Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Bettle- Fund         Settle- House         Settle- Fund         Mag. House           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$2000         \$340.00         -         -         \$2.00         \$2.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         \$11.00         \$10.00         -         200         \$2.00         \$2.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         \$11.00         \$10.00         -         200         \$2.00         *         -         Masouri Alphan         \$10.00         \$10.00         -         20.00           42         34         4.00         9         170         50.00         477.51         61.09         -         50.00         68.00         -         -         Masouri Alphan         8.00         20.00         -         24.25           29         16         3.00         8         10         50.00         26.672         -         100.00         68.00         -         -         Tennessee Alphan</br></br></br></td> <td>Res.         Paid         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Save         Save         Pi Pi         Meet         Save         Mag.         Mag.</td> <td>Res.         Paid         Aver- Nume         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- school         Aver- school         Aver- masco         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Du</td>	Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- mem.Arrow mem.Arrow Craft schoolMag. Craft Mag.Harper LoanHarper Mem.HouseSave ChildrenSave Children2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00-200515.0093015.0037.3515.0015.0010.004234 & 34.0091750.00477.5161.905.005.00102.00358172 & 85.009100300.00896.35266.72100.0050.0068.0029163.008105.0024.905.005.002112 & 23.004125.005.0020.005.0035333.0072210.00482.7019.605.005.0072333.50122510.00188.4515.6010.006.008.50463134 & 93.509501000.00897.25314.84315.0015.0041.5072563.0081155.00188.4515.605.005.0041.5072563.00	Aver- Alum, Mem.Aver- met anceArrow met, SchuleArrow Craft schoolMag. Craft SchoolHarper- Turner FundHarper- HouseArtive ActiveSave ChildrenSave FundHouseActive MemorialSave ChildrenSave FundHouse2927\$3.00515\$20.00\$340.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00\$2.00 $=$	Res. Alum. Mem.Paid DuesAm't Meet- ingsAver- Attend- anceArrow Settle- ment SchoolMag. (Gross sales)Harper FundHarper HouseChildren FundPiphi HouseActive ChildrenChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChapterChildren FundPiphi HouseChil	Res. Alum. Mem. Mum	Res.         Paid Alum.         Am't Mem.         Am't Dues         Area mage Mage Mage Alum.         Arrow Age Mage Alum.         Mrow Mage Mage Alum.         Mage Memorial Fund         Loon House         Harper Memorial House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Save Children Fund         Pid House         Chapter         Save Fund         Chapter         Settle- ment           29         27         \$3.00         5         15         \$ 20.00         \$ 340.00         -         -         \$ $$ 2.00$ \$ $$ 2.00$ \$ $$ 2.00$ \$ $$ 2.00$ $$ 0.00$ -         400         \$ $$ 10.00$ -         Memorial House $$ 10.00$ -         -         Memorial Memorial         House $$ 10.00$ -         -         Memorial Memorial         House $$ Chapter$ $$ Chapter$ $$ Dues$ $$ Settle-ment           20         51         50.00         9         30         30.00         477.51         61.90         -         50.00 50.00 68.00         -         -         Memorial         10.00 00.00 896.35 266.72         -         100.00 68.00         -         -         Tennessee Alpha         10.00 30.00$	Res. Paid         American Meeting         Averican Meeting         Averican Meeting         Arrow Meeting         Mag. Commission         Laan         Harper Turner         Active         Chapter         Field         Field         Mag. Commission         Laan         Memorial Hole         Active         Chapter         Field         Mode         Active         Save         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mode         Field         Mod	Arver- Alum.         Arver- ment         Arver- school         Settle- ment         Arver- craft (gross         Mag. masions         Loan         Holt Fund         Active House         Chapter         Find         Holt House         Active Chapter         Chapter         Bettle- Fund         Settle- 	Res.         Paid         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Are's         Save         Save         Pi Pi         Meet         Save         Mag.         Mag.	Res.         Paid         Aver- Nume         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- school         Aver- school         Aver- masco         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- log         Aver- by Due         Aver- by Du

• Gave to local cause. † Chartered this year.

## ZETA PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum,	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	S.C.F.
Atlanta, Ga.*	153	Sr. 1 43	\$4.00	12	20	\$ 35.00	\$ 100.25	\$ 50.75	\$10.00	\$ 5.00	\$10.00	\$ 85.00	_	-	Alabama Alpha	\$ 6.00	\$ 15.00	-	-	\$10.00	\$20.00	\$16.00
Birmingham, Ala.*	100	28	3.00	12	25	10.00	-	25.00	10.00	10.00	5.00	830.00	-	-	Alabama Beta	8.00	10.00	÷	-	10.00	15.00	16.00
Deland, Fia	47	Sr. 2 26	2.50	8	14	25.00	-	42.05	5.00	10.00	5.00	18.75	-	-	Florida Alpha	17.00	10.00	-	-	10.00	10.00	16.00
Gainesville, Fis.*	28	20	3.00	8	15	1.00	-	11.72	-	1.00	1.00		-	-	Florida Beta	13.00	75.00	-	-	10.00	15.00	16.00
Jacksonville, Fla.*	80	30	4.00	9	20	5.00	450.00	30.70	-	3.00	3.00	10.00	-	-	Florida Gamma	4.00	10.00	-	-	10.00	10.00	16.00
Lakeland, Fla	18	18	4.00	9	10	2.00	-	15.00	-	5.00	3.00	10.00	-	1.00	Georgia Alpha	17.00	5.00		-	5.00	5.00	16.00
Miami, Fla	131	47	4.00	11	26	25.00	213.35	49.65	15.00	15.00	10.00	25.00	-	-								
Mobile, Ala	14	12	4.00	7	9	1.00	-	34.45	-	1.00	1.00	-	-	-								
Ocala, Fla	15	13	4.00	7	9	2.00	-	1.75	-	2.00	2.00	+-	-	10.00	)							
Orlando, Fia.*	110	Sr. 1 59	3.50	11	40	10.00	75.00	38.50	10.00	5.00	3.00	10.00	_	-								
Palm Beach, Fla. †	32	20	3.00	2	15	-	-	3.25	-	-	+	-	-	20.00	)							
Pensacola, Fla. †	19	Sr. 1 18	2.00	4	15	1.00	-	-	-	1.00	1.00	-	_	-								
St. Petersburg, Fla.*	46	Sr. 1 31	3.00	9	16	25.00	274.80	57.25	5.00	10.00	5.00	25.00	-	-								
Tallahassee, Fla	31	Br. 2 27	4.00	11	13	1.00	-	-	-	1.00	1.00	75.00	-	-								
Tampa, Fla	50	42	5.00	8	22	20.00	121.45	5.45	1-2	15.00	10.00	10.00	-	-								
Lake County (Fla.) chartered June 1950	-	13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-								
		-																				

• Gave to local cause. † Chartered this year.

Club 1949-50	Res.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend-	Settle- ment Sebool	Arrow Craft (gross) sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior	Settle- ment Sebool	Loan	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	S.C.F.
Avon, Ill	18	18	\$3.00	. 8	\$12	\$ 10.00	\$ 87.55	1	1	\$10.00	\$5.00	\$ 5.00	1	1	Wisconsin Alpha	1	\$ 50.00	1	1	\$20.00	\$60.00	1
Beloit, Wis	35	20	2.00	-	14	20.00	522.17	1	1	15.00	5.00	25.00	1	i	Wisconsin Beta	I.	50.00	Ť	1	10.00	10.00	t
Carthage, Ill.	1	80	1	+	1	1	1	1	I.	T	1	1	E	I.	Wisconsin Gamma	1	20.00	1	1	20.00	25.00	1
Champaign-Urbana, Ill	100	81	3.00	80	22	100.00	2860.00	1	1	10.00	10.00	50.00	1	t	Illinois Alpha	1	25.00	1	t	50.00	25.00	1
Chicago Bus, Women	1	16	3.00	6	12	5.00	1	1	1	5.00	5.00	1	1	1	Illinois Beta-Delta	1	50.00	1	1	20.00	10.00	1
Chicago, North, Ill	250	27	2.50	12	20	25.00	142.90	1	1	5.00	5.00	1	1	1	Illinois Epsilon.	1	15.00	ī	1	10.00	20.00	I
Chicago, South, Ind	247	58	4.50	10	40	75.00	860.00	1	T	5.00	5.00	50.00	1	1	Illinois Eta	1	10.00	1	T	10.00	15.00	1
Chicago West Suburban	150	49	3.00	11	21	25.00	279.45	ł	Ŧ	5.00	5.00	1	J	1	Illinois Theta	j.	75.00	i	t	20.00	5.00	1
Decatur, Ill.	110	86	3.00	2	40	5.00	306.94	Ŧ	1	5.00	5.00	1	1	I.	Illinois Zeta	1	62.00	T	1	15.00	35.00	1
DuPage County, Ill.	45	28	3.00	4	20	10.00	t	1	1	5.00	5.00	50.00	1	1								
Elgin, Ill	25	18	3.00	9	15	1.00	1	ï	1	5.00	1.00	1	1	1								
Fox River Valley, Wis	20	10	3.00	1	Ħ	1	341.39	1	1	T	3.00	11.00	t	1								
Galesburg, III	z	56	2.50	80	50	25.00	27.04	ı	1	2.50	15.00	25.00	L	1								
Fox River Valley, Ill	25	14	3.00	9	15	5.00	1	T	1	5.00	5.00	1	1	1								
Jaeksonville, Ill	I	п	250	1	t.	15.00	1	L	1	10.00	10.00	1	500	1								
Joliet, Ill.	16	15	3.00	9	8	5.00	t	I	t	2.00	2.00	1	1	1								
Madison, Wis	72	40	4.00	6	28	50.00	223.40	ı	t	10.00	5.00	15.00	1	1								
Milwaukee, Wis	209	95	3.00	10	45	225.00	892.00	4	1	10.00	10.00	15.00	ł	I								
Monmouth, Ill	41	25	3.00	8	10	2.00	1	l	I	2.00	30.00	f	1	Ĩ								
North Shore, Ill	430	84	4.00	80	48	35.00	761.63	1	1	10.00	5.00	60.00	Î	Т								
North Shore Jr., III	1	18	1	T	1	ī	T	ţ	1	1	10.00	t	1	f								
Oak Park-River Forest, Ill.	92	33	3.00	16	20	60.00	825.30	1	ť	10.00	10.00	10.00	1	ł								
Peoria, Ill	160	138	3.00	0	20	25.00	1263.89	1	1	10.00	10.00	200.00	1	1								
Rockford, Ill	25	20	2.00	10	20	15.00	60.00	ł	1	15.00	5.00	20.00	1	T								
Springfield, Ill	40	24	2.00	4	19	30,00	I	Ĩ.	Ť.	5.00	5,00	5.00	1	Ĩ								
Individuale	1	6	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	j	1	1	1								

PROVINCE	
THETA	

	Harrlet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund S.C.F.	\$ 5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	10.00	10.00	5.00									
	J Holt House	\$ 5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	10.00	1.00	5.00									
	Mag. Com- missions	t	10.25	1	28.05	9.40	5.50	3.75									
	Loan	t	t	t	Ţ	Ŧ	t	ī									
	Settle- ment School	\$ 5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	10.00	20.00	5.00									
	Senior Dues	\$ 8.00	12.00	15.00	5.00	8.00	8.00	12.00									
	Chapter	\$ 5.00 Manitoba Alpha	Minnesota Alpha	North Dakota Alpha.	Iowa Alpha	15.00 Iowa Beta	Iowa Gamma	Iowa Zeta									
	Pi Phi Home	\$ 5.00	1	I	1		1	I.	T	Ĩ	1	10.00	1	1	10.00	1	1
	Save Children Fund	\$10.00	1	42.00	1	25.00	25.00	1	1	4	200.00	1	t	1	Ű.	1	1
INCE	Active Chapter	\$10.00	T	5.00	1	1	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	1	10.00	5.00	25.00	1	10.00	1
THETA PROVINCE	Holt House	\$170.00	1	t	Ĩ	25.00	15.00	1	50.00	ŧ	30.00	1	ı	1	Ĩ.	Ì.	1
HETA	Emma Harper Turner Fund	\$ 5.00	1.00	5.00	1.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	50.00	10.00	1.00	5.00	1.00	5.00	5.00	1.00
L	Loan A Fund	\$ 5.00	1.00	5,00	2.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	5.00	1.00	10.00	1.00	1.00	5.00	5.00	1.00	1.00
	Mag. Com-	\$ 58.75	13.90	55.80	ī	21.05	21.90	4.25	22.80	15.80	60.00	13.50	105.23	41.02	5.25	13.15	35.20
	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	\$ 685.85	1	1	Ĩ	179.85	141.90	1	1	66.00	747.85	1	175.00	476.00	430.96	142.95	1
	Settle- ment School	\$ 25.00	5.00	50.00	10.00	5.00	50.00	10.00	5.00	5.00	15.00	1.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	10.00	1.00
	Aver- age Attend-	30	12	19	10	39	15	16	23	32	37	18	15	20	18	18	25
	No. of Meet- ings	2	+	80	+	-	10	6	8	6	6	80	0	80	9	8	2
	Am't Dues	\$4.00	2.50	2.50	1.00	3.00	2.00	2.00	2.50	2.50	2.50	3.50	2.75	2.00	3.50	3.00	3.00
	Paid Mem.	36	17	27	12	49	21	19	29	43	20	21	35	35	26	35	32
	Res. Alum.	. 60	. 19	42	. 22	190	. 28	22	. 39	. 60	. 300	. 300	. 58	. 76	40	. 57	86
	Club 1949-50	Ames, Iowa	Burlington, Iowa	Cedar Rapids, Iowa	Council Bluffs, Iowa	Des Moines, Iowa	Duluth, Minn	Grand Forks, N.D.	Indianola, Iowa,	Iowa City, Iowa	Minneapolis Afternoon	Minneapolis Evening	Mt. Pleasant, Iowa	St. Paul, Minn	Blour City, Iowa.	Tri-City, Iowa	Winnipeg. Man., Can.

## IOTA PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Boulder , Colo	80	34	\$3.00	7	30	\$ 25.00	\$ 189.00	\$ 16.35	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	Rush help	-	-	Colorado Alpha	\$ 7.00	\$ 75.00	-	\$31.70	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$96.00
Casper, Wyo	34	22-2	2.50	8	19	25.00	66.00	63.20	-	5.00	1.00	Rush help Xmas gift	24.00	-	Colorado Beta	5.00	50.00	-	61.60	10.00	10.00	96.00
Cheyenne, Wyo	56	42-2	3.00	6	21	25.00	700.00	37.60	-	10.00	5.00	25.00	-	10.00	Kansas Alpha	8.00	20.00	-	78.05	10.00	10.00	96.00
Colorado Springs, Colo	34	19	2.50	7	20	25.00	162.87	36.65	-	5.00	5.00	Gifts to Colo, A & Colo, B	-	4	Kansas Beta	15.00	75.00	-	89.10	25.00	25.00	2 pkg. to care
Denver, Colo.*	700	187 - 2	5.00	9	117	200.00	1297.55	345.12	-	10.00	10.00	Rush help	10.00	-	Nebraska Beta	12.00	102.45	-	26.20	10.00	10.00	10.00
Fort Collins, Colo,	24	18-2	2.50	4	17	35.00	520.00	15.30	-	5.00	5.00	Gift to Theta Upsilon	5.00	-	South Dakota Alpha.	13.00	5.00	-	7.05	5.00	5.00	5.00
100% Hutchinson, Kans	29	34	4.00	9	17	50.00	195.73	47.45	-	5.00	5.00	Rush help 25.00	-	_	Utah Alpha	10.00	20.00		9.65	10.00	5.00	96.00
Kansas City, Kan	41	27 - 1	2.00	10	17	20.00	515.55	39.65	-	3.00	2.00	None	5.00	-	Wyoming Alpha	5.00	5.00		4.75	5.00	5.00	-
Laramie, Wyo	75	24	5.00	7	20	25.00	186.65	66.90	-	10.00	1.00	35.00	-	-								
100% Lawrence, Kan	42	42	2.00	4	38	-	1006.18	.95	_	10.00	5.00	Gifta	4	50.00	)							
Lincoln, Neb	110	88-1	4.00	8	38	25.00	93.36	81,65	-	10.00	5.00	Rush help 16.80	6.00									
100% Manhattan, Kan	46	47-1	3.00	5	20	100.00	1079.05	47.65	-	10.00	20.00	\$25 Gift Rush help	10.00	-								
Ogden, Utab*	34	20	3.50	8	14	10.00	-	21.25	-	5.00	5.00	16.43	-	-								
Omaha, Nebr	133	77-2	3.00	9	45	150.00	1324.55	121.02	-	10.00	5.00	81.15		250.00	)							
Pueblo, Col.*	27	25	3.00	7	18	10.00	591.82	43.70	-	3.00	3.00	Rush help	-	25.00	0							
Salt Lake City, Utah	250	55-3	3.00	9	52	10.00	117.39	25.45	-	5.00	5.00	Rush help	15.00	10.00	0							
Sioux Falls, S.D	-	10	-	-	-	1.00	-	-	-	1.00	1.00	Silver	-	-								
Topeka, Kan	45	20	3.00	5	12	10.00	201.59	7.45	-	10.00	10.00	Rush help	-	-								_
Vermillion, S.D	21	20	3.00	8	15	1.00	-	6.85	-	1.00	1.00	Rush help	-	-								
Wichita, Kan	135	51-2	3.00	7	37	25,00	793.96	32.50	-	5.00	1.00	Rush help	-	\$100.00	0							
Miscellaneous	-	1	-	-	-	-	· · · · ·	-	-		-	-	-									

· Gave to local cause.

### KAPPA PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senlor Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	S.C.F.
Amarillo, Tex.*	-	36	\$2.00	4	12	-	-	-	12-4	-	-	-	-	-	Arkansas Alpha	\$18.00	\$ 10.00	-	-	\$ 5.00	\$10.00	-
Ardmore, Okla.*	37	32	4.00	9	25	15.00	511.10	None	-	10.00	15.00	25.00	-	50.00	Louisiana Alpha	-	75.00	-	-	50.00	50.00	-
Austin, Tex.*	97	71	3.00	8	30	76.33	637.05	57.30	-	10.00	10.00	43.00	-	-	Louisiana Beta	10.00	20.00			10.00	10.00	-
Bartlesville, Okla."	34	33	3.00	8	20	5.00	292.00	None	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	-	Oklahoma Alpha	9.00	50.00	-	-	35.00	15.00	-
Baton Rouge, La	50	19	4.25	6	10	-	64.90	7.75	-	_	-	-	-	-	Oklahoma Beta	12.00	25.00	-	-	10.00	15.00	96.00
Brazos Valley, Tex.*	25	20	3.00	10	13	5.00	-	None	-	5.00	5.00	10.00	-	5.00	Texas Alpha	24.00	100.00	-	-	25.00	50.00	96.00
Corpus Christi, Tes	50	37	5.00	10	20	50.00	161.14	30.80	-	5.00	5.00		-	-	Texas Beta	1.00	50.00	-	-	5.00	10.00	-
Crowley Ridge, Ark		Int	etive								-											
Dallas, Tex.*	365	124	3.00	9	60	50.00	1259.48	457.22	-	5.00	5.00	125.00		-								
E IDorado, Ark		Int	active																			
Payetteville, Ark.*	35	22	3.00	8	20	10.00	577,19	6.60	-	10.00	5.00	\$5.00	-	-								
Ft. Smith, Ark.*	37	20	3.00	8	15	10.00	-	1.65	-	5.00	3.00	-	-	-								
Ft. Worth, Tex.*	75	30	4.00	8	25	25.00	-	15.75		5.00	5.00	-	-	5.00	1							
Houston, Tex.*	259	135	3.75	8	65	100.00	2564.35	48.65	-	5.00	10.00	40.00	-	-								
Lake Charles, La	14	14	3.00	10	9	5.00	419.59	None	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Little Rock, Ark.*	100	30	4.00	10	30	15.00	598.87	12.05	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Lubboek, Tex.†	-	14	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	-								
McAlester, Okla.*	12	14	4.00	11	10	5.00	85.25	46.25		5.00	5.00		4	-								
Midland, Tex	24	24	4.00	8	15	4.00	55.55	21.35	-	4.00	4.00	-	-	-								
Muskogee, Okla.*	30	26	3.00	11	15	10.00	94.36	26.20	-	5.00	5.00	15.00	-									
New Orleans, La	-	62	-	_	35	-	-	4.25	-	10.00	10.00	-	-	-								
Norman, Okla.*	32	26	4.00	8	20	10.00	_	26.00	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	25.00								
Oklahoma City, Okla."	195	128	5.00	9	68	100.00	1201.40	44.15	-	10.00	10.00	200.00	25.00	228.50	11							
Okmulgee, Okla.*	12	9	3.00	9	9	15.00	-	None	-	5.00	-	-	5.00	-								
Osceola, Ark	11	12	5.00	5	8	-	-	10.45	-	-	-	-	-	-								
. Gave to local caus														-				-				

• Gave to local cause. † Chartered this year.

## KAPPA PROVINCE (Continued)

Club 1949-30	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Pauls Valley, Okla	11	11	-	-	-	-	-	\$ 14.30		-	-	-	-	-								
Ponca City, Okla	-	10	-	-	-	5.00	-	None	-		-	-	-	-								
Rio Grand Valley		Ina	ctive																		_	
Sabine District, Tex.*	40	38	3.50	6	24	135.60	638.88	9.00	-	15.00	15.00		-	22.90								
San Antonio, Tex	85	73	4.00	6	15	5.00		None	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								-
Shreveport, La.*	42	22	4.00	10	20	10.00	365.00	16.75	-	5.00	5.00	50.00	-	-								
Stillwater, Okla.*	59	50	3.00	10	35	10.00	542.00	113.80	-	5.00	1.00	82.50	10.00	43.00	_							
Texarkana, TexArk	25	16	5.00	6	12	10.00		None	-	÷	-	-	-	-								
Tulaa, Okla.*	203	164	3.00	10	80	50.00	295.00	44.30	-	5.00	15.00	75.00	96.00	139.48								
Tyler, Tex	-	20	-	-	-	5.00	-	None	\$ 5.00	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Wichita Falls, Tex	-	24	-	-	-	15.00	-	9.65	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Waco, Tex	40	31	3.00	4	18	5.00	400.00	7.90	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	1 <del></del>								

· Gave to local cause.

### LAMBDA PROVINCE

Club 1949–50	Res. Alum.	Pald Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross) sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Bellingham, Wash	-	13		7	9	\$ 5.00	No report	\$ 2.25	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00		-	-	Alberts Alpha	\$26.00	\$ 5.00	-	None	\$ 2.50	\$ 2.50	-
Boise, Idaho	52	35	4.00	9	24	50.00		44.05		5.00	5.00	Gifts	-	-	Montana Alpha	-	10.00	-	None		5.00	-
Bozeman, Mont	35	18	3.50	9	16	5.00	323.17	None		5.00	2.50	14.45	-	-	Idaho Alpha	-	5.00	-	1.00	5.00	5.00	
Butte-Anaconda	27	17	3.00	7	12	5.00		None	-	1.00	1.00	10.00	-	-	Washington Alpha	11.00	10.00	-	12.95	5.00	5.00	-
Calgary, Alta., Can	40	31	3.00	11	17	1.00	-	5.95	-	1.00	1.00	150.00	-	-	Washington Beta	3.00	5.00	-	37.20	5.00	5.00	
Corvallis, Ore	30	23	2.00	7	20	7.50	-	3.55	-	5.00	5.00	Gifts	-	-	Washington Gamma	-	10.00	-	39.03	10.00	10.00	-
Edmonton, Alta., Can	75	48	5.00	6	33	5.00	-	48.75	-	2.00	5.00	75.00	-	-	Oregon Alpha	-	10.00	-	8.15	10.00	10.00	-
Eugene, Ore.*	-	25	-	9	-	5.00	634.85	27.85	-	5.00	1.00	Table silver	-	-	Oregon Beta	-	10.00		7.50	10.00	5.00	-
Everett, Wash	22	19	4.00	9	12	35.00	560.23	6.60	-	5.00	15.00	-	-	-	Oregon Gamma	-	10.00	-	None	10.00	10.00	-
Klamath Falls†	-	13		-	-	4.00	No report	-	-	4.00	4.00	-	-	-								
Medford, Ore	32	21	3.00	5	13	25.00	640.00	None	-	15.00	10.00	Gifta	-	-								
Moscow (adv. board),	(-1)	5	-	-		-	- <u>-</u>	-	-	-	-		-	-								
Olympia, Wash	17	14	2.00	10	8	5.00	238.70	8.60		5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Portland, Ore.*	381	144	3.00	7	75	100.00	2229.40	103.60	-	50.00	10.00	-	-	-								
Pullman, Wash	27	22	3.00	9	20	25.00	236.35	18.26		1.00	5.00	25.00	-	-								
Salem, Ore	93	60	2.75	9	35	25.00	998.85	31.40	-	10.00	15.00	\$150.00 Loan to OF 25.00	-	-								
Seattle, Wash	350	136	3.00	7	50	50.00	316.90	20.92	_	10.00	10.00	\$100.00 Scholarship Wash, A 75.00	_	-								
Spokane, Wash.	131	61	3.25	9	35	25.00	608.19	12.25	-	5.00	5.00	10.00	-	-								
Tacoma, Wasb.*		94	3.00	9	60	50.00	850.33	37.80	4	10.00	10.00	32.50		-						_		
Vancouver, B.C., Can		28	3.00	9	17	5.00	-	None		5.00	2.00	Local fund 5.00	-									
Wenatchee, Wash	20	20	3.00	9	14	50.00	378.95	11.15	-	3.00	5.00	15.00	-	-								
Yakima, Wash.*	38	31	3.00	10	12	10.00	753.39	76.95	-	1.00	5.00	Gifts	-	-								
Walla Walla, Wash. (local)	-	-	-	-	-	100	-		-	-	10.00	-	-	-								

\* Gave to local cause,

### MU PROVINCE

Club 1949-50	Res. Alum.	Paid Mem.	Am't Dues	No. of Meet- ings	Aver- age Attend- ance	Settle- ment School	Arrow Craft (gross sales)	Mag. Com- missions	Loan Fund	Emma Harper Turner Memorial Fund	Holt House	Active Chapter	Save Children Fund	Pi Phi Home	Chapter	Senior Dues	Settle- ment School	Loan Fund	Mag. Com- missions	Holt House	Harriet R. Johnstone Scholar- ship Fund	
Albuquerque, N.M	52	32	\$4.00	8	20	\$ 5.00	\$2000.00	-	-	\$ 5.00	\$ 5.00	\$500.00	-	\$ 5.00	California Beta	\$11.00	\$ 20.00	-	-	\$15.00		-
Berkeley, Calif	289	53	3.00	8	60	150.00	1089.95	-	-	50.00	2.50	50.00		-	California Gamma	8.00	5.00	-		10.00	5.00	-
Centinela Valley	15	24	3.00	12	15	5.00	28.16	-		5.00	5.00		-	5.00	California Delta	. 12.00	20.00	-	-	20.00	20.00	-
Contra Costa	45	17	3.00	12	10	10.00	310.55	. <del></del>	-	10.00	10.00		-		California Epsilon	8.00	5.00	-	-	5.00	10.00	-
El Paso, Tex	40	18	3.00	9	14	5.00	300.00	-	-	5.00	12.00	-	-	-	California Z ta	. 11.00	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fresno, Calif	40	27	2.00	5	17	15.00	73.90	-	-	20.00	10.00		-	20.00	Nevada Alpha	-	5.00	-	-	5.00	5.00	-
Glendale	142	71	3.00	8	30	25.00	103.75	-	-	5.00	5.00	-	-	683.00	Arizona Alpha	. 9.00	7.50		+	7.50	10.00	4
Honolulu, T.H	73	29	3.50	10	25	10.00	760.83	-	-	10.00	10.00	-	96.00	-	New Mexico Alpha	6,00	15.00			10.00	10.00	-
Long Beach, Calif	72	30	3.10	16	30	15.00	100.00	-	-	10.00	5.00	-	-	774.90	)							
Los Angeles, Calif	600	221	4.00	9	55	150.00	767.50	-	-	25.00	10.00	204.56	-	-								
Marin County, Calif	38	28	3.00	8	18	15.00	1321.16	-	-	5.00	5.00	-										
Palo Alto, Calif	148	42	3.00	10	35	20.00	572.00		-	20.00	5.00	10.00	-	50.00	)							
Pasadena, Calif	350	155	3.00	10	75	15.00	692.35	-	-	10.00	1.00	-	-	600.00	)							-
Phoenix, Aris	119	56	3.00	8	40	5.00	169.95	-	_	5.00	5.00	-	-	\$ 53.10	)							
Reno, Nev	140	27	4.00	10	30	10.00	319.50	-		2.50	2.50		-	-								
Roswell, N.M.	16	16	3.00	8	12	2.00	380.00	-	-	2.00	2.00	10.00	2.00	-								
Sacramento, Calif	44	31	3.00	8	20	10.00	1167.63	-		10.00	10.00	10.00	-									
San Bernadino, Calif	70	21	2.00	7	22	5.00	226.24	-		5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
San Diego, Calif	189	135	2.50	9	65	100.00	729.00	-	-	10.00	5.00	100.00	-	-				_				
San Fernando, Calif	115	49	4.00	13	32	10.00	275.90	-	5.00	5.00	5.00	-	-	500.00	)							
San Francisco, Calif	240	63	3.50	7	30	50.00	903.20	-	-	25.00	10.00	-	10.00	50.00	)							
San Jose, Calif	24	19	3.50	10	15	25.00	271.72	-	-	15.00	10.00	10.00	-	-								
San Mateo County	55	30	3.00	9	20	15.00	-	-		25.00	5.00	25.00	-	200.00	(held in reserve)							
Santa Barbara, Calif	59	28	3.00	16	20	5.00	257.85	-		5.00	5.00	100.00	-	50.00	0							
Santa Monica-Westwood.	120	53	4.00	10	50	25.00	-		-	5.00	1.00	8.38	-	-								
South Coast Club	65	33	3.50	8	20	10.00	-	-	-	2.50	2.50	10.00	-	25.00	)							
Tueson, Aris	105	66	4.00	9	33	5.00	442.85	-	5.00	5.00	5.00	-	-	-								
Solano County*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-								

\* Gave to local cause.

# ALUMNAE PERSONALS

#### ALABAMA ALPHA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Ralph D. Goff, Jr. (Nan Barnes) a daughter, Sandra Sue, on March 10, 1950 in Fayetteville, Ark.

### ALABAMA BETA

### Marriage

Margot Anne Preece and Ricardo de la Torre on June 14, 1950 in St. Petersburg, Fla.

#### ARIZONA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Marilyn Henderson and William Raymond Robbins on May 4, 1950 in Columbia, Mo. Joan Elizabeth Shivyers and Albert Edward Safarian on January 28, 1950 in Phoenix, Ariz. Sylvia T. Smith and Edward Dawley Smith on April 27, 1950 in Phoenix, Ariz. Barbara Peabody and Dean Moody in December, 1949 in Phoenix Ariz.

Phoenix, Ariz, Lois Kathryn Lyall and Arthur Pacheco, Jr. on June 21,

1950 in Tucson, Ariz.

### Births

To Dr. and Mrs. Robert R. Maury (Ellen Wright McLain) a daughter, Ann Robinson, on April 24, 1950 in Wheeling, W.Va. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Vincent (Mary Louise Trekell)

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert F. Vincent (Mary Louise Trekell) a son, Robert Frederick, Jr., on January 10, 1950 in Sacra-mento, Calif.

a son, Robert Frederick, Jr., on January 10, 1950 in Sacra-mento, Calif. To Mr. and Mrs. Donald Bartow (Fanchon Leppla) a daughter, in May, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Howell Manning, Jr. (Louise Lewis) a daughter, Ann. To Mr. and Mrs. John Patterson (Jean Hall) a daughter, Nancy Eileen, on June 24, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Boyd Orth (Suzanne Jacobs) a son, on June 6, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. David Wick (Lucille Moore) a son, in May, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Cassidy (Patricia Mae Smith) a daughter, Judith, on May 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Patterson (Elyse Saunders) a daughter, on April 10, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Frank L. LeBus, Jr. (Margaret Florian) a son, Charles Florian, on May 5, 1950 in Longview, Tex.

#### ARKANSAS ALPHA

#### Marriages

Elizabeth Dudley and Walton Edward Terry on April 16, 1950.

Peggy Jacobs and Charles Tuck Crockett on June 25, 1950 in Ft. Smith, Ark. Eleanor Wood and Jack Teague on January 29, 1950 in Alma, Ark.

#### Births

To Dr. and Mrs. Lee A. Biggs (Martha Florence Snow) a son, Guy Beecher, on March 3, 1950 in Hot Springs, Ark. To Mr. and Mrs. Quenton Pullium (Ann Lockhart) a son, Marshall Scott, on September 19, 1949. To, Dr. and Mrs. Edgar Paul (Elaine Queen) a daughter, Patricia Marie, on February 3, 1950 in Chicago, Ill.

### CALIFORNIA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Suzanne Goodwin Williams and William Robert Howell on March 21, 1950 at Merced, Calif.

#### Birth

To Dr. and Mrs. Wayne E. Monsees (Sybil Harrison) a son, Philip Harrison, on April 24, 1950 in San Diego, Calif.

#### CALIFORNIA BETA Marriage

Janice Hecker and Dr. Ralph Spiegl on July 15, 1950.

## CALIFORNIA GAMMA

### Marriage

Helen Christian and Robert Armstrong on September 17, 1949 in Los Angeles, Calif.

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Howard N. Rogers (Trudi Peabody) a

son, Robert Emery, on February 2, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. William F. Kister (Margaretta Turner) a son, Spence Derington, on September 19, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Frederick D. Marshall (Betty Oster) a daughter, Melissa Ann, on October 23, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert G. Irvin (Bette Olerich) a son, Larry Olerich, on February 14, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Chaffee (Dorsey Payne) a son, Craje

Craig. CALIFORNIA DELTA

### Marriages

Martha Ann Hodge and James McKown on April 29, 1949 in New York City. Patricia Price and Jack Herrick on April 22, 1949 in Los Angeles.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. James C. Cordell (Martha Jean Hard-ing) a daughter, Margaret Lane, on June 12, 1950 in Oklahoma City, Okla. To Mr. and Mrs. Lloyd G. Hild (Marian Kunkel) a son Stephen Craig, on December 26, 1949.

#### CALIFORNIA EPSILON

### Marriages

Gerry Barnes and Larry Berger on April 2, 1950 in San Diego, Calif. Arline Haugen and Paul Hales on May 7, 1950 in San Diego, Calif.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Crandall Condra (Shirley Harden) a son, Jon Harden, on November 1, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Harold T. Baker, Jr. (Shirley Bub) a daughter, Sheila Anne, on December 1, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth L. Mark (Sylvia Rock) a daughter, Josephine Norma, on May 25, 1950.

#### COLORADO ALPHA

#### Marriage

Betty Jo Caldwell and L. Robert Safarik in June, 1950 in Denver, Colo. Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Ellis Gilchrist (Gladys Egan) a daugh-ter, Cynthia Ellen, on May 16, 1950 in Denver, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. Walter Carlson (Nancy Ellzey) a daughter, Miriam Nancy, on June 26, 1950 in Westchester. ter, To

daughter, samaa Haney, et J. S. Sakima, Catherine Preston) a daughter, Janet Templeton, on December 19, 1949 in Denver, Colo. Mr. and Mrs. Stuart E. Seelye (Barbara Fishel) adopted a daughter, Marilyn Barbara, on July 11, 1949, who was born July 3, 1949.

#### COLORADO BETA

#### Marriages

Lenore Loeffler and Louis Albi, Jr. on March 18, 1950 in Lenore Loeffler and Louis Albi, Jr. on March 18, 1950 in Denver, Colo. Janet LaRue Brazile and Harry E. Knudsen on April 15, 1950 in Denver, Colo. Marcia Jane McCammon and William Edward Turman on April 29, 1950 in Denver, Colo. Edith Josephine Bacon and Owen Vinson on May 27, 1950 in Los Angeles, Calif.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Caspar Hofmann, III (Betty Kent) a son, Charles, on June 28, 1950 in Denver, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. C. W. Sissman (Jeanne Bauman), a son, Robert Reed, on April 17, 1950 in Casper, Wyo.

### CONNECTICUT ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Lester Norman Hull (Mary Meegan) a daughter, Leslie Jane, on April 3, 1950 in Oklahoma City,

Daugoter, Lenne June, G. Willard (Corinne Wadhams) a To Mr. and Mrs. R. G. Willard (Corinne Wadhams) a son, Richard Griswold, Jr., on May 12, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George Ecker (Harriet May) a daughter, Linda Susan, on May 13, 1950.

### D.C. ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Leon D. Howell (Martha Wofford) a

son, Charles Wofford, on May 19, 1950 in Atlanta, Ga, To Mr. and Mrs. William O. Ritter (Betty Broaddus) a son, William Eugene, on November 6, 1949 in Nashville, Tenn.

To Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Ryan McQuire (Jewel Davis) a daughter, Ann Bradford, on July 7, 1950.

#### FLORIDA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Frances Louise Bosanquet and Harold Thomas Couch on July 12, 1950 in Fruitland Park, Fla.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Howard J. Rice (Ruth Eskey Orum) a daughter, Mary Ann, on February 5, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert T. Hatchett (Patricia Weathers) a daughter, Carrie Anne, on June 17, 1950 in Sarasota, Fla. To Mr. and Mrs. H. Allan Crowther, Jr. (Jean McMurry) a son, H. Allan, III, on April 21, 1950 in Wheeline, W.Va. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Hayes (Marion Burger) a son, Jeffrey Wayne, on April 30, 1950 in Dayton, Ohio.

#### FLORIDA BETA

### Marriages

Betty Abbott Smith and George Shearouse, III on July 21, 1950 in Orlando, Fla. Eloise Frink and Robert Louis Cleveland on June 16, 1950

in Jacksonville, Fla. Iris Knight Roane and William G. Meredith on April 27, 1930 in Portsmouth, Va.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. B. R. Collins (Ann Angel) a son, Lewis Francis, on April 23, 1950 in Orlando, Fla. To Dr. and Mrs. Roland F. Hotard, Jr. (Mary Ann Hitch) a daughter, Louann, on July 5, 1950 in Orlando,

Fla.

To Mr. and Mrs. Quillian Hamby (Elizabeth Almon) a son, Quillian Pattillo, on May 17, 1950 in Atlanta, Ga. To Dr. and Mrs. B. A. Pope, Jr. (Lois Adkins) a daugh-ter, Mary Lois, on June 27, 1950 in Norfolk, Va.

FLORIDA GAMMA

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Ford B. Rogers, Jr. (Ann Everson) a son, Ford Baker, III, on June 14, 1950 in Orlando, Fla, To Mr. and Mrs. Carl Ricker (Barbara Coith) a daugh-ter, Helen Elizabeth, on March 20, 1950 in Anderson, S.C. To Capt. and Mrs. William Tomlinson (Dorothy Payne) a daughter, Jane Axtel, on May 30, 1950 in Jacksonville, Fla.

### GEORGIA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Neva Beers and Harold Coleman on June 27, 1950 in College Park, Ga. Betty Mann and Lewis Edward Jones on March 25, 1950

in Macon, Ga. Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert MacLeish (Mildred Persons) a daughter, Laurin Louise, on March 17, 1950 in Orlando,

daughter, Laurin Louise, on March 17, 1930 in Orlando, Fla. To Mr. and Mrs. G. C. Irving (Mary Tift) a son, Nelson Tift, on March 19, 1950 in College Park. Ga. To Mr. and Mrs. Hugh Ruppersburg (Margaret Caruthers) a son, Hugh Michael, on March 1, 1950 in Atlanta. Ga. To Mr. and Mrs. Ralph W. Barnwell, Jr. (Rosemary Thompson) a son, Ralph W. Barnwell, III, on February 21, 1950 in Jacksonville, Fla. To Mr. and Mrs. Warren Thrasher (Caroline Burson) a daughter, Mary Sue, on May 29, 1950 in Ft. Benning, Ga.

#### IDAHO ALPHA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Paul H. Shaw (Yvonne Neal) a daugh-ter, Andrea Willene, on October 25, 1949 in Washington, D.C. To Mr. and Mrs. Rainer B. Heikel (Joella Gage) a daugh-ter, Lisa Jo, on January 27, 1950 in Hoquiam, Wash. To Mr. and Mrs. R. M. Mairs (Helen Madson) a daugh-ter, Melody, on July 15, 1950.

ILLINOIS ALPHA

### Marriages

Marilynn A. Jones and Curvant Altman on August 19, 1949 in Kewanee, Ill. Viola Van Zelst and H. William Orr on May 6, 1950 in Evanston, Ill.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Julian S. Kennedy (Patricia McConnell) a son, Thomas Russell, on July 25, 1950.

#### ILLINOIS BETA-DELTA

#### Marriages

Marriages Mary Janet Blazer and Benjamin D. Richter, Jr. on June 17, 1950 at Minneapolis, Minn. Elizabeth Jean Wetmore and Charles Theodore Metcalf on June 17, 1950 in Evanston, Ill. Mary Doyle and Douglass Edward Strauss on June 24, 1950 in Knoxville, Ill. Nancy Elizabeth Pearsall and John McCoy on June 17, 1950 in River Forest, Ill. Patricia Marilyn Hug and William Herbert Loring on June 17, 1950 in Chicago, Ill. Marjorie Lewis Cecil and Ralph Keith Burgess on July 8, 1950 in Galesburg, Ill. Binde

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Boyd T. Harris (Jane McCanna) a son, Arthur Russell, on March 9, 1950 in Flushing, N.Y. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Duane White (Bertha Bernice Eldred) a son, on March 19, 1950 in Galesburg, Ill. To Captain and Mrs. Edmund C. Roberts (Helen Kost) a daughter, Mary Virginia, on April 7, 1950 in Fort Riley, Kan.

JILLINOIS EPSILON

### Marriage

Elizabeth Louise Williams and Alden Thayer Wulff on May 20, 1950.

#### Births

To Dr. and Mrs. Carl Greenstein (Betty Barker) a daugh-ter on February 22, 1950. -To Mr. and Mrs. Richard L. Condon (Myram Murphy) a son, David Michael.

#### ILLINOIS ZETA

#### Marriages

Grace Hartman and Richard Leighton on February 4, 1950 in Champaign, Ill. Jo Ann Dillavon and Kent Norwood Westrate on February

5. 1950 in Champaign, Ill.

#### Births

To Major and Mrs. Michael Frisch (Elizabeth Anne Dal-lenbach) a daughter, in April, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Winchester (Dorothy Kelley) a son, Robert Paul, on March 8, 1950 in Holland, Mich. To Mr. and Mrs. Roger Downs (Judith Gardner) a daughter, Jane, in March, 1950, in Urbana, III. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Vance Mauney (Helen Schnepp) a son, John Dowl, on August 13, 1949 in Albuquerque, N.M.

### ILLINOIS ETA

### Marriages

Carolyn Hendrix and Jack Stanley Hart on May 20, 1950. Gloria Weidner and Edward M. Woare, Jr. on July 8, 1950.

Marilyn Billman and Frederick L. Kuny on June 15, 1950. Mollie Lee Bence and John R. Roesler on May 27, 1950. Joan Honicker and Howard Ashley Parker, Jr. on April 1950. 15

Norma Jean Krenzer and John W. Malerich on April 8, 1950.

Rose Marie Buchmann and Robert Corwine Roach on June 7, 1950 in Belleville, Ill. Roberta Mills and Robert Rendfeld on July 8, 1950 in 17

Jonesboro, Ark. Sharlee (Todd) Davis and Dagfinn Odland Amdal on August 19, 1950.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Murray Francis Williams (Eloise Hurtt) a son, Mark Stephen, on July 18, 1950 in Colonia. N.J. To Mr. and Mrs. William Hayden Ettinger (Ann Norman) a son, William Hayden, Jr., on March 16, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. F. R. Sutherland (Annette McDonald) a son, Douglas Robert, on April 5, 1950 in Cleveland, Ohio. To Mr. and Mrs. Wallace Webb (Betty Logan) a son, Scott Arthur, on April 29, 1950 in Chicago, III. To Dr. and Mrs. Edwin Krebs (Virginia Frech) a son, Robert Frederick, on April 7, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Tolley (Marjorie Wilkes) a son, David Hayes. To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Tuck Rivard (Dorother Orword)

David Hayes. To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Tuck Rivard (Dorothea Osgood) a son, Paul Tuck, III. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard C. Scheidt (Nancy Matshall) a daughter, Cathy Ann, on July 28, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Miller (Margaret Deurr) a daugh-ter, Martha Elizabeth, on June 6, 1950 in Galesburg, III. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Dedlow (Carol Temme) a son, David Alan, on July 14, 1950 in New York. To Mr. and Mrs. Stanley W. Taylor (Ann Traver) a daughter, Julia Elian, on January 20, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Verne Erdman (Mildred Smith) a son, Bichard Allen

Richard Allen.

### ILLINOIS THETA

### Marriages

Nancy Shively and Eugene Gire on June 18, 1950 in Peoria, III. Virginia West and Russel Crouch on June 11, 1950 in Peoria, III.

Margaret Hedges and Russel Moore on June 10, 1950 in

Peoria, Ill

Mary Bacon and Robert Protection on April 25, 1950 Barbara Moore and Kenneth Pickens on April 25, 1950

Janet We Peoria, Ill. Lee Leman and Gerald Wilton on April 14, 1950 in Peoria,

III. Madelyn Love and Patrick Kamins on July 8, 1950 in Peoria, III. Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. B. J. Markoski, Jr. (Virginia Ford), a son, Thomas Alan, on February 17, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Blackmon (Carolyn Powell) a son, Gregory Meade, on June 11, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George Morgan (Char-Lou Howard) a daughter, Phylis Dee, on November 6, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Jacob Staab (Shirley Henseler) a son, Philip Jacob, on February 13, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Duane M. Phillips (Emma Moore) a son, Randolph Moore, on May 5, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Edwin Miller (Mardie MacClyment) a daughter, Chelsea, on May 21, 1950 in Denver, Colo.

## INDIANA ALPHA

### Marriages

Jacqueline Pearson and Philip Alexander on June 25, 1950 in New Albany, Ind.

Martha Jane Dungan and John Sohn on July 29, 1950 in ranklin, Ind.

Franklin, Ind. Carol Groat and Rex Oldfather on June 8, 1950 in La-Grange, Ind. Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Howard R. Moulding (Hester Drake Phelan), a son, Blaine Clayton, on April 21, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Brock (Mary Gene Wiesman) a son, Thomas Francis, on April 30, 1950 in Lafayette, Ind. To Mr. and Mrs. William Hemphill, Jr. (Doris Nelp), a son, Stanley Voris, on July 6, 1950 in Franklin, Ind. To Mr. and Mrs. Lester Loomis (Doris McCullough) a son, James Lester, in March, 1950 in Canton, N.Y. To Mr. and Mrs. Douglas Hall (Mary Hosier) a son, Douglas Charles, on June 26, 1950.

### INDIANA BETA

Marriages

Carolyn Day and Thomas L. Hagel on November 23, 1949. Irene Mary Traylor and Julius Frederick Ritter on June 8, 1950 in Evansville, Ind.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Francis Gilbert Gray (Elaine Dovey) a son, David Welker, on February 26, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Malcolm L. Wrege (Mary Ann Sexson) a son, Douglas Malcolm, on March 7, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Dorral F. Shepperd (Carol Rice) a daughter, Dorral Jeanne, on May 29, 1950 at New Orleans,

La. To Mr. and Mrs. Allan Winslow (Peggy Treat) a daugh-ter, Diane Irene, on April 6, 1950 in Evansville, Ind.

### INDIANA GAMMA

#### Marriage

Barbara Belknap and Francis Seawall on August 12, 1950 in New York City, N.Y.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Henry Wagner (Sue Canny) a son, Bruce Canny, on April 25, 1950 in Dayton, Ohio. To Mr. and Mrs. Lowell Turner (Jane Ludwig) a son, Charles Frederick, on April 9, 1950 in Evansville, Ind.

#### INDIANA DELTA

#### Marriages

Barbara Thirne Canniff and George Harry McCray on June 10, 1950 at West Lafayette, Ind. Joanne Englund and Fenton Kelsey on July 1, 1950 in Rockford, Ill.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Massey (Dorothy Hardin) a son, Robert Grant, on June 28, 1950.

#### INDIANA EPSILON

#### Marriage

Catherine Bateman and John G. Maun on July 7, 1950 in Chicago, Ill.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. James L. Pauley (Mary Beth Simmons) a son, Bruce Simmons, on December 15, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph E. Grinnell (Marjorie Volwiler) a son, Stephen Fox, on May 10, 1950 in Winnetka, III. To Mr. and Mrs. A. J. Porteous (Anne Paisley) a daugh-ter, Nancy Ann, on May 14, 1950 in Indianapolis, Ind.

### IOWA ALPHA

## Marriage

Catherine J. Morris and Robert W. Shull on June 10, 1950 in Columbus Junction, Jowa.

#### IOWA BETA

#### Marriages

Martha Kreidler and Paul Jungmann on May 6, 1950 in Des Moines, Iowa. Marilyn Davitt and Carroll Washburn, Jr. on March 20,

Phyllis Warren and Robert Head on June 14, 1950 in

Philadelphia, Pa. Jeanne Hardie and John Buren, Jr. on May 28, 1950 in

Jeanne Hardie and John Daren, Jerour and John Barren, Jerour and John Barren, Jerour and Robert Miller on June 3, 1950 in Glen Ellyn, Ill. Frances Trevethan and Dean Newman on June 4, 1950 in Newton, Iowa. Joan Huffstodt and Arnold Reed on June 4, 1950 in In-

dianola, Iowa. Births

To Mr. and Mrs. R. W. Woline (Olive Wright) a daugh-ter, Gwendolyn Joyce, on March 30, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Harold Kent (Jo Ann McCoy) a son, Stephen Alan, on June 16, 1950 in Tampa, Fla. To Mr. and Mrs. Wade Woodke (Bonnie Leitch) a daugh-ter, Mary Beth, on February 2, 1949 in LeMars, Iowa. To Mr. and Mrs. R. C. Ryan (Pauline Sowers) a daugh-ter, Janet Marie, on June 13, 1950.

### IOWA GAMMA

#### Marriage

Norma Young and Sheldon Becher on June 10, 1950 in Champaign, Ill.

### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Karl F. Schnidt (Ramona Caslavka) a son, John Brian, on June 26, 1950 in Kansas City, Mo, To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Dorsey (Lenore Evans) a son, Michael Martin, on October 13, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. William E. Edgecomb (Marilyn Mon-fore) a daughter, Emily Jane, on June 26, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Martin Boswell (Josephine MacRae) a son, Daniel Murray, on June 30, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert A. Hobbs (Elsie Louise Clarke) a son, Robert Nile, on May 29, 1950 in Seattle, Wash.

### KANSAS ALPHA

#### Marriage

Sally Pegues and Charles Oswald on June 20, 1950 in Hutchinson, Kan. Births

Birtht To Mr. and Mrs. Leo DeGross (Carolyn Combe) a daugh-ter, Suzanne, on April 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Henry Kennedy (Nancy Faxon) a son, Henry, on March 30, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph R. Holt (Betty Rowton) a daugh-ter, Elizabeth Ann, on January 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. S. M. Cook (Mary Lou Borders) a daughter, Courtney Borders, on April 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. S. E. Stephanou (Louise Longenecker) a daughter, Mary Lynne, on June 4, 1950 in Los Alamos, N.M.

### KANSAS BETA

#### Marriages

Mildred Allison and Robert Compton Haver on June 22, 1950 in Colorado Springs, Colo. Leta Jean Christie and John Leroy McKeen on May 25, 1950 in Manhattan, Kan. Mary Ann Montgomery and John Henry, McCoy on April 24, 1950 in Salina, Kan. Mona Peterson and Keith Webb on April 15, 1950 in Wichita, Kan.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Floersch (Jane Haymaker) a son, Jim, on March 31, 1930.

To Mr. and Mrs. K. E. Rall (Elizabeth Nabours) a son, Thomas Monroe, on March 31, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. David Gorrell (June Sorensen) a son,

To Mr. and Michael Kent.

Michael Kent, To Mr. and Mrs. Ward Keller (Jean Holmgren) a son, Kim Roderick, on April 13, 1950 in Manhattan, Kan. To Dr. and Mrs. Richard Patty (Helen Lawson) a daugh-ter, Barbara Ann, on June 28, 1950 in McPherson, Kan. To Mr. and Mrs. William Woodward (Joan Armitage) a daughter, Terran Ann, on March 6, 1950 in Hutchinson, Kan.

#### KENTUCKY ALPHA

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. E. W. Stallings (Doris Sauer) a son, David Warren, on June 9, 1950 in Evansville, Ind. To Mr. and Mrs. Floy Sooy (Margaret Hartman) a son, William Hartman, on April 20, 1950 in Oklahoma City,

### Okla.

### LOUISIANA ALPHA

Marriage

Camille Moss and George Watson Tebo on May 27, 1950 in Lake Charles, La.

### LOUISIANA BETA

#### Marriages

Alma Stroube and Schuyler Woodruff Cummings on June

 1950. Alice Evelyn Pecot and Louis Smith on June 19, 1950. Ann Claire Wilkins and Grover F. Wilson on April 5. 1950

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. E. R. Flanagan (Betty Key), a son, William Emory, on May 12, 1950 in Lake Charles, La.

### MANITOBA ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. C. E. Tidholm (Evelyn Hipperson) a son, Donald Charles, on May 14, 1950 in Oklahoma City, Okla.

### MARYLAND ALPHA

Marriage

Anne Spencer Cooper and Gordon Munson Allen in June, 1950.

#### MARYLAND BETA

#### Marriages

Cora Lynne Rossmann and Richard Treherne Talley on June 17, 1930 in Baltimore, Md. Marjorie Ralston Boswell and Seth Macon Vining, Jr. on May 27, 1950 in Washington, D.C.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Charles B. Tichenor, II (Suzanne Nel-son Stevens) a son, on March 10, 1950.

#### MASSACHUSETTS ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Henry Fischbeck (Rita Jagiello) a son, Kenneth Henry, Jr., on May 3, 1950.

### MICHIGAN BETA

### Marriages

Shirley Sue Montgomery and Dr. Rudolph Edward Reichert, Jr. on May 6, 1950. Mary Jordan and James L. Davis on March 11, 1950 at Villa Park, Ill, Julie Furstenber and David Owens on June 24, 1950 in

Ann Arbor, Mich. Ruth Martini and Dick Rifenburg in June 24, 1950 in Patricia Young and William Crispin on June 24, 1950 in Lansing, Mich. Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. John Leidy (Janet Fisher) a son, John, on April 6, 1950 in Ann Arbor, Mich.

#### MICHIGAN GAMMA

### Marriage

Jacquelyn Ann Smith and Byron Roscoe Converse on April 22, 1950 in Royal Oak, Mich.

### MINNESOTA ALPHA

#### Births

To Lt. and Mrs. William J. Thorpe (Mary Eloise Jack-son) a son, William J., Jr., on June 19, 1950 in Roswell, N.M. To Mr. and Mrs. Philip Rush (Helen Hedin) a daughter,

Susan Elizabeth, in February, 1950 in Washington, D.C. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard W. Nelson (Marie Bergman) a son, Richard William, on May 30, 1950 in Seattle, Wash.

### MISSOURI ALPHA

#### Marriage

#### Carol Foster and Oliver Lee Houts on April 8, 1950.

#### Birth.

To Mr. and Mrs. Bill Isern (Frances Ellinor) a daughter, Karen Ellinor, on April 2, 1930 in Bartlesville, Okla. To Mr. and Mrs. D. C. Robinson (Colette Hurbain) a daughter, Denise, on March 23, 1930. To Mr. and Mrs. Lew Phillips (June Legg) a son, Craig Scott, on March 23, 1950. To Lt. (s.g.) and Mrs. J. C. Dowdy (Jacqueline Tucker) a daughter, Diana Lee, on April 4, 1950 in Patuxent River, Md. Md

To Major and Mrs. J. M. Kinzer (Betty Boucher) a son, John Francis, on February 4, 1950 in Lawton, Okla. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles W. Spann (Sue Middleton) a daughter, on May 19, 1950.

### MISSOURI BETA

### Marriages

Haberta Ramel and Richard Rose on March 11, 1950. Marilyn Campen and T. Nelson Magill on May 26, 1950. Betty Jane Lovell and Robert Frederick Jehle on May 29, 1950 in Piggott, Ark.

#### Births

Birthi To Mr. and Mrs. John S. Brennan (Virginia Donnelly) a son, John Arthur, on December 7, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. James Ingham (Joan Gundlach) a daugh-ter, Helen Ann, on March 10, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Frank L. St. Cyr (Elsie Jean Lantz) a daughter, Christine Ann, on April 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Gene R. Barnard (Dorothy Gaskill) a daughter, Susan Gail, on June 9, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Bush (Gene Penney) a son, Thomas Floyd, on June 11, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Chester Volkman (Frances Peil) a daughter, Hilary, on June 13, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Higginbotham (Jocelyn Taylor) a son, Richard, Jr., on July 5, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Lee White (Betty Chappell) a daughter, on July 8, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. W. S. Reed (Jane Sunder) a daughter, Elizabeth Anne, on May 27, 1950 in Oklahoma City, Okla. MISSOURI CAMMA

### MISSOURI GAMMA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. L. Eugene McMillen (Ylene Carter) a son, Hal Carter, on December 3, 1949 in Sacramento, Calif.

#### MONTANA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Esther Lee Davidson and George Arthur Engstrom in June, 1950 in Bozeman, Mont. Marion Elizabeth Hounsell and Al Heimbach on June 17,

Marybelle Jondrow Bradford and Rueben E. Pankey on June 10, 1950 in Calipatria, Calif.

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Morris (Patricia Flynn) a daugh-ter, Mary Pamela, on March 23, 1950 in Rolla, Mo. To Lt. and Mrs. Clyde O. Clark (Candace Davis) a daughter in March, 1950 in Nuernburg, Germany. To Mr. and Mrs. William Smith (Marge Durham) a daughter, Sandrea Margo, on April 14, 1950 in El Paso, Tevas. ter. To

daughter, Sandrea Bargo, on April 1998. Texas. To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Fagrelius (Frances Teslow) a daughter, Linda Gale, on May 4, 1950 in Helena, Mont. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Pappen (Shirley Reed) a daugh-ter, in June, 1950 in Great Falls, Mont. To Mr. and Mrs. Marc Bensimon (Maxine Esgar) a daughter, Micheline Rea, on April 14, 1950 in Boulder, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. Jim Black (Marjorie Gleason) a daugh-ter, Elizabeth Lucia, on January 7, 1950.

## NEBRASKA BETA

#### Marriages

Frances Copsey and George Fagerberg on April 12, 1950. At home, Denver, Colo. Marjorie Alexis and Dr. Edward William Sevenson on June 9, 1950. At home, Chicago, Ill. Marion Edgren Farrens and Joseph Powell on June 13, 1050 of Discourt

Marion Eugen Farreis and Joseph Powell on June 13, 1950 at Phoenix, Ariz. Dorothy Lucille Nelsen and James H. Hunter on May 6, 1950 at Omaha, Neb. Betty Sherman and Tyler Vanderkolk on June 25, 1950 in Omaha, Neb.

Birbs To Mr. and Mrs. H. R. Bookstrom (Marylouise Goodwin) a daughter, Saranne, on March I, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. I. R. Rosewell (Alice Nimock) a daughter, Sandra Kay, on June 18, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Coleman Furr (Jean Morse) a daughter, Lisa Martin, on March 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Wyatt, Jr. (Jean Parkinson) a son, Edward Charles, on June 17, 1950 in College Park, Ga. To Mr. and Mrs. Richard Dorsey Howell (Jean Compton) a daughter, Kathryn Lee, on August 27, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. John W. Hyland (Jane Shaw) a son, John W., II, on April 13, 1950.

### NEVADA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Florene Miller and Robert L. Burns on July 20, 1949 at

Florene Miller and Robert L. Burns on July 20, 1949 at Zepher Point, Lake Tahoe. Dorothy Elaine Hooper and Gerald F. Lokke on June 18, 1950 in Reno, Nev. Marjorie Simon and George Tavernia on April 23, 1950 in Reno, Nev. Geneve Conaway and Lee DeLauer on June 12, 1950 in

Reno, Nev.

Gloria Rosaschi and Kenneth Kent on May 27, 1950 in Reno, Nev.

Mary Lou Hovenden and James Jacob Noel on June 11, 1950 in Carson City, Nev. Betty Waugh and E. Kelly Lyon on June 3, 1950 in Betty Wa Reno, Nev.

Births

Birth:
To Mr. and Mrs. James Melarky (Betty Avansino) a son, Michael James, on October 31, 1949.
To Mr. and Mrs. Donald Cooney (Helen Traner) a son, Ronald Francis, on January 18, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. David Ross (Jean Marie Procter) a son, David, Jr., on January 22, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Cameron Batzer (Lura Gamble) a daughter, Christina, on March 15, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Myneer Walker (Mary Prida) a daughter, Christina, on March 9, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. James Guisti (Mary Mahoney) a son, in March, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. A. T. Olson (Betty Nelson) a daughter, Linda Kay, on April 22, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Wesley Schlager (Aileen Mahoney) a son, Joseph Phillip, on April 16, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Ted Sherman (Patricia Traner) a daughter, Barbara Jan, on May 4, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Eugene Mastroianni (Doris Hendrick) a son, Robert Paul, on May 26, 1950.

### NEW MEXICO ALPHA

#### Marriages

Marriages Marguerite Gormley and Chester Duprie on March 4, 1950 in Albuquerque, N.M. Anne Johnson and Major Joseph Scepansky on April 16, 1950 in Albuquerque, N.M. Sarah Krakow and Richard Baumgartner on March 18, 1950 in Albuquerque, N.M. Sue Marie Zike and Lt. Cornelius McMillan on March 18, 1950 in Roswell, N.M. Maxine Bullock and Ens. Walter R. Congdon on June 3, 1950 in Annapolis, Md.

1930 in Annapolis, Md. Barbara Clark and Theodore Allen Diekman on June 24, 1930 in Pasadena, Calif. Carolyn Dale and Capt. Louie N. Rodgers on June 23,

1950.

Ann Boyd and Samuel Thornburg on July 21, 1950 in Santa Fe, N.M.

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. John D. Robb, Jr. (Peggy Hight) a daughter, Linda Celeste, on May 7, 1950 in Albuquerque, N.M. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Bennett (Sally Bieber) a son, in

June, 1950. NEW YORK ALPHA

#### Marriages

Nancy Norton and Hollis O'Hanlon on March 22, 1950 t Ancon, Canal Zone. Beverly Strong and Robert W. Steiner on June 7, 1950 at ingoes, N.J. at

Ringoes, N.J. Joan McDermott and Richard O'Shea on June 10, 1950 in

Watertown, N.Y. Betty Anderson and Lynn C. Stoker on June 17, 1950 in Jamestown, N.Y. Joan McCallister and Richard Akenhead on June 29, 1950

Joan McCallister and Richard Akenned on June 29, 1990 in Huntington, Va. Annette Ruby and Thomas Eaton on July 2, 1950 in Oneida, N.Y. Jean Emery and Cyrus Scapellati on July 8, 1950 at Bethlebern, Pa.

Ruth Hittenger and Joseph Motz on July 15, 1950 at Bethlehem, Pa.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Kilgallen (Rinda Shutts) a daughter, Mary Jean, on January 7, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Nathaniel Currier (Marcia Jump) a daughter, Judith Elaine, on March 10, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George Spalt (Marilyn Tincher) a daughter, Patricia Ann, on March 14, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Gordon Compton (Constance Wilder), a son, Willard, on April 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Paul Rush (Elizabeth Johns) a son, Keith J., on May 2, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Andrew Kozak (Virginia Sherman) a daughter, Susan, on May 4, 1950.

Marilyn Stewart and Jack Yale on May 27, 1950 in Fayetteville, N.Y.

#### NORTH CAROLINA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Marriages Ann Canon Brundage and Robert Thurman Barnard on June 17, 1950 in Tryon, N.C. Jane Belo Morrison and Charles Reginald Rouse, Jr. on July 29, 1950 in Asheville, N.C. Elizabeth Prince Nufer and Wright Tracy Dixon, Jr. on June 3, 1950 in Goldsboro, N.C. Ruth Felton Byrum and William Alfred Wichard on June 3, 1950 in Edenton, N.C. Elizabeth Travis Myatt Morris and Roy Walter Holsten on March 18, 1950 in Goldsboro, N.C. Randail Hudson and Harold Milton Morrow on April 15, 1950 in Tarboro, N.C. Elisabeth Wray Nash and Leander Gleynn Yeaton, Jr. on June 24, 1950 in Scarsdale, N.Y. Jean Marie Lester and William Henry Edwards on June 17, 1950 in St. Petersburg, Fla.

### Birthe

To Mr. and Mrs. Montgomery John Corse (Florence Olive aylor) a son, Montgomery John, Jr., on May 6, 1950 in To Mr. and Montgomery John, Jr., on May 6, 1950 in Jacksonville, Fla. To Mr. and Mrs. Arthur B. Moss (Margaret Parker) a son, Samuel Parker, on February 13, 1950.

#### NORTH CAROLINA BETA

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. G. R. Sutterfield (Mary Arden Tucker) a son, Charles Meade, on April 9, 1950 in Atlanta, Ga. To Mr. and Mrs. Earl L. Martin (Eleanor Warren) a son, Warren Douglas, on October 16, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. E. R. Granberry (Dorothy Henry) a daughter, Doris Marian, on May 20, 1950 in Atlanta, Ga. To Dr. and Mrs. Raymond Crawford Ramage (Marguerite Taylor) a daughter, Marguerite Jernigan, on May 30, 1950 in Birmingham, Alabama.

#### NORTH DAKOTA ALPHA

#### Births

To 'Mr. and Mrs. Donald W. Erickson (Beverly Larsen) a daughter, Monica Gail, on June 17, 1949 in Fargo, N.D. To Mr. and Mrs. Stanley Voak (Donna Clayburgh) a daughter, Patricia Helen, on April 16, 1950 in Dayton,

Ohio.

### OHIO ALPHA

### Marriages

Jane T. Grover and Robert E. Scheel on March 18, 1950

Jahre J. Solver and Abbert E. Scheel on March 10, 1990 In Athens, Ohio. Laurie J. Kirlough and James W. Heck on February 11, 1930 at Rocky River, Ohio. Sally Mathison and Drew Turner on January 28, 1930 in

Wheeling, W.Va. Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. George M. Vaughn (Florette Martin) a son, Martin Wesley, on April 24, 1950 in Lakewood, Ohio. To Mr. and Mrs. E. Douglas Reinhardt (Martilyn Martin) a son, Kirk Douglas, on April 28, 1950 in Dayton, Onio. To Dr. and Mrs. William B. Biggs (Elizabeth Wood) a daughter, Marghretta Francis, on June 13, 1950 in Athens, Ohio.

Ohio.

Unio. To Mr. and Mrs. Fred Wheaton, Jr. (Gene Porter) a daughter, Elizabeth Gene, on May 5, 1950 in Athens, Ohio. To Capt. and Mrs. William J. Smith, Jr. (Lee McCaskill) a daughter, Traci Lee, on March 16, 1950 in Denver, Colo. To Mr. and Mrs. William T. Oster (Carolyn Hopkins) a daughter, Catherine Carol, on March 25, 1950 in Bartow,

Fla.

To Mr. and Mrs. Edward C. Hensch (Alice Maccombs) a

#### NEW YORK GAMMA

Marriage

daughter, Lisbeth Kristeen, on May 26, 1950 at Cleveland,

To Mr. and Mrs. Donald M. Compton (Martha Fisher) a son, Dwight Nelson, on May 18, 1950 in Dayton, Ohio.

### OHIO BETA

Marriages

Margaret Davis and Richard D, Wood on March 12, 1950 in Columbus, Ohio. Virginia Smith and Jack Bowman on April 8, 1950 in Fairborn, Ohio. Linda Underwood and A. O. Wing, Jr. on May 5, 1950

in Columbus, Ohio. Marilyn Black and Philip B. Drake on June 3, 1950 in Columbus, Ohio. Marilyn Crumley and Charles R. Gilbert on June 10, 1950

Mariyn Crumley and Charles K. Gilbert on June 10, 1950 in Columbus, Ohio. Jenny Tetlow and Miller Toombs on June 10, 1950 in Columbus, Ohio. Janet Monahan and James Austin Parker on June 14, 1950. Nancylu Brown and Jack E. Sarver on July 1, 1950 in Columbus, Ohio.

### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Donald D. Cryer (Lee Harris) a daugh-ter, Carolyn Lee, on May 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. R. C. Findlay (Dorothy Sain) a son, Richard Elliott, on January 27, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. W. A. Jones (Elizabeth Knotts) a daughter, Della Lee, on March 6, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John Myers (Peggy Julian) a son, John Daniel, II, on April 25, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Johert Powers (Mary Ruth Essex) a son, Fred Winfield, on April 27, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Powers (Mary Ratherine Hanger) a daughter, Ann Leslie, on September 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Ithamar Weed (Sally Lemert) a son, Donald Lemert, on March 27, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Claire Wiseman (Betty Bull) a son, John Steven, on July 3, 1950. Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Collinson (Jean Crayton) adopted a daughter, Jill Susan, December 1, 1949 in Tulsa, Okla. Dr. and Mrs. Judson Wilson (Helen Schoenborn) adopted a daughter, Mary Lynn, on November 29, 1949 in Columbus, Ohio. Ohio.

#### OHIO DELTA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas L. Parker (Frances Newlon) a daughter, Pamela Sue, on May 2, 1950.

## OHIO EPSILON

Marriages

Marilyn Elizabeth Hellrung and Edwin James Wolff, Jr. on April 16, 1950 in Toledo, Ohio. Barbara Riblet and Jerome C. Sullivan on June 17, 1950 in Toledo, Ohio.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Rex Tomb (Lois Cannon) a son, Rex Skelton, on May 8, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John P. Schoen (Margaret Kitzmiller) a son, Patrick Joseph, on March 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Woodward (Joan Bowers) a son, Timothy Allen, on April 20, 1950 in Dayton, Ohio.

#### OHIO ZETA

### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. Roy D. Boucher (Virginia English) a daughter, Jane, on July 4, 1950 in Dayton, Ohio.

#### OKLAHOMA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Helen Marie Robinson and Allan Arch McDonald on July 1, 1950 in Tulsa, Okla. Betty Beckett Brown and James Arthur Dunaway on June

Jean Bailey and Curtis H. McKinney on August 12, 1950 in Excelsior Springs, Mo. Jeraldine Bass and Bill Paul Jennings on September 15, 1950 in Enid, Okla.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. William Morrison (Katherine Dudley) a daughter, Mary Margaret, on March 10, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Edward W. Miller (Julia Wheeler) a daughter, Jean Salin, on September 20, 1949. To Lt. and Mrs. Wayne P. Ramay (Rebecca Tinch) a daughter, Elizabeth, on December 6, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. James Tracy Clark (Mattie Ann Reistle) a daughter, Tracy Ann, on August 11, 1950 in Houston, Texas.

#### OKLAHOMA BETA

### Marriage

Mary Jo Breidenbach and Thomas Milliken on June 9, 1950 in Bartlesville, Okla.

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. James A. Reynolds (Betty Mauck) a son, Theodore David, on May 9, 1950 in Alpine, Texas, To Mr. and Mrs. W. I. Dunlap (Elvira Parker) a son, on June 11, 1950.

#### ONTARIO ALPHA

#### Marriages

Patricia Noble and Charles Wright Forbes on June 16, 1950 in Richmond Hill, Ont. Joan Fletcher and Dr. Donald Christopher Harrison on June 17, 1950 at Toronto.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. William G. Lawson (Bridget Gregson) a son, on March 6, 1950. To Dr. and Mrs. W. M. Lougheed (Grace Cruikshank) a daughter, on April 8, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George T. Gale (Mary Evans) a son, on April 11, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Oliver B. Mabee (Barbara McClelland) a daughter, on May 16, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John D. Flintoft (Anne Norman) a daughter, on June 1, 1950.

#### ONTARIO BETA

#### Marriages

Marriages Sylvia Gengenbach and James Grant McKee on Novem-ber 12, 1949 in St. Catharines, Ont. Ruth Elizabeth Boyle and John B. Hollister, Jr. on April 29, 1950 in London, Ont. Zaida Mary Wheable and Robert Walter Rankin on May 6, 1950 in London, Ont. Marion Jean Cowen and Jack Hepburn Reynolds on May 20, 1950 in Exeter, Ont. Diana Graeme Cameron and John Strachan Robinson on June 10, 1950 in London, Ont. Gloria Elizabeth Sinson Logan and Harold Kenneth Ellen-ton on June 14, 1950 in London, Ont. Elizabeth Jane Edwards and Paul Goforth Jeffrey on June 17, 1950 in Ridgetown, Ont. Catherine Anne Kennedy and William Andrew McKenzie on June 17, 1950 in London, Ont. Births

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Neil Richard Steenberg (Barbara Shook) son, Neil James Francis, on March 21, 1950 in Kingston, Ont.

a son, Neil James Francis, on March 21, 1950 in Kingston, Ont. To Dr. and Mrs. Lloyd Stevenson (Jean Campbell) a son, Peter Campbell, on March 2, 1950 in London, England. To Mr. and Mrs. John M. Jillies (Poppy Jones) a son, Peter John, on March 10, 1950 in Montreal, Que. To Mr. and Mrs. John M. Gould (Marcia Weldon) a son, on March 21, 1950 in London, Ont. To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth R. Murray (Elizabeth Harvey) a daughter, on April 10, 1950 in London, Ont. To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth R. Murray (Elizabeth Harvey) a daughter, on April 10, 1950 in Kichener, Ont. To Mr. and Mrs. Cecil Wood (Eleanor McIntyre) a daughter, Wendy Dianne, in April, 1950 in Kichener, Ont. To Dr. and Mrs. Alan S. Douglas (Aileen Cooke) a son, Michael Alan Tyrrell, on May 6, 1950. To Dr. and Mrs. Mars. Wearing (Jane Robinson) a daughter, Daphne Jane, on July 3, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Gordon Kild (Jean Watt) a son, in July, 1950 in Toronto, Ont. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert McMeekin (Joyce Kemp) a son, Hugh Kemp, on July 7, 1950.

### OREGON ALPHA

#### Marriager

Ann Meilstrup and Richard Harrington Raymond on June

28, 1950. Mary Louise Vincent and Lt. Comdr. Robert S. Powell on April 22, 1950. Jean Page and Wilbert Popp on May 11, 1950.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. George Miller (Frances White) a son, Dwight, on April 6, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Frank Rei (Kitty Ritter) a daughter, Nancy Kitty, on May 6, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John Hugbes Holloway (June Ritter) a son, John H., Jr., on May 6, 1950.

To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth R. Patton (Elizabeth Pratt) a son, Kenneth, Jr., on June 9, 1950.

## OREGON BETA

Marriages Marilyn Estelle Melson and John L. Stevenson on June

24, 1950. Marcella McLean and John William Othus in May, 1950. Margaret Spence Williams and Wesley Philip Massinger on June 10, 1950. Norma Ross and Dr. Robert W. Maris on June 18, 1950. Caroline Janice Owens and Harry M. Wann on June 30,

Marcia Curtis and Gordon Rowe in February, 1950. Katherine Holcomb and Tom Jackson on October 2, 1949. Alice Wanke and Farrold H. Stephens. Billie Hussa and Derwood Smith on February 5, 1950. Nancy Dewey and Arthur Johnson in November, 1949.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Donald Hartvig (Carol Chown) a son, Ross Donald, on July 11, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. James R. Jensen (Ruth Platte) a daugh-ter, Jan Christine, on May 5, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. James E. Ficken (Kathryn Johnson) a daughter, Janet Emory, on November 14, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. D. L. Bower (Peggy Pickett) a son, Scott Leland, on April 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. G. Richard Percival (Ruth Gassman) a daughter, Sandra Anne, on December 9, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. W. Fields Merck (Helen Wright) a daughter, Elizabeth Ann, on March 15, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Kenneth Krell (Patricia Fischer) a son, Kenneth Roydon, on April 2, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. William Belton (Julia Hyslop) a son, Timothy, on April 5, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Nichol (Rosemary Evans) a son, Frederick Roger, on April 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Nichol (Rosemary Evans) a son, Gregory Thomas, on March 21, 1950.

### OREGON GAMMA

### Matriage

Sara Louise Smith and George Wilson Gunn on August 15, 1950 in Salem, Ore.

#### PENNSYLVANIA BETA

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. John J. Lose (Martha Ann Woodburn) a daughter, on March 7, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Donald Schafer (Phyllis Costich) a daughter, Roxanne Mary, on January 13, 1950.

#### PENNSYLVANIA GAMMA

#### Marriages

Patricia Herzig and Robert E. Bernard on February 25, 1950 at Carmel, Calif. Angela Hull and Lt, Charles E. Jacobs on March 25, 1950, Lois Jane Barnard and John T. Carpenter, Jr. on July 8,

1950.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Michael O'Kiefe (Margaret Davis) a son, Michael, in April, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Franklin Gayman (Elizabeth Fields) a daughter, in June, 1950.

### SOUTH CAROLINA ALPHA

#### Marriages

Nancy Towne McDonough and Charles Clifford Satterfield, Jr. on July 14, 1950 in Richmond, Va. Martha Aiken and Robert L. Jones on June 24, 1950 in Columbia, S.C.

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. F. M. Cain, Jr. (Peggy Wright) a son, Francis M., III, on December 8, 1949.

#### SOUTH DAKOTA ALPHA

Birth

To Mr. and Mrs. B. A. Colby, Jr. (Lucy Jo Smith) a daughter, Paula Jane, on March 19, 1950.

#### TENNESSEE BETA Marriages

Katherine Campbell and Edward P. A. Smith on June 10, 1950 in Winnetka, Ill. Jean Cowan and Jack Cummings on June 16, 1950 in Nashville, Tenn.

Jean Cowan and Jack Cummings on June 10, 1930 in Nashville, Tenn. Dorothy Green and William Tune on June 20, 1950 in Nashville, Tenn.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mis. F. J. Malone, Jr. (Edythe Crayton) a son, Franklin Jefferson, III, on February 17, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. James R. Mary (Jean Quarles) a son,

James R., Jr. TEXAS ALPHA

#### Marriages

Barbara Ballard and Robert Schofield on June 16, 1950

in Tucson, Ariz. Milly Ann Million and John Poage Stewart, II on July 1, 1950 in Wichita Falls. Peggy Ferris and David Cochran Neale on May 5, 1950 in Dallas, Tex.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Henry Hopewell (Marjorie Owens) a daughter, Carole Anne, on May 6, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. William Bedford Grace (Patria Junell) a son, John Lawson, on March 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Reuben B. Knight (Florence Hudson) a daughter, Karen Louise, on October 3, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. James Irl Montgomery (Dorothy Thompson) a daughter, Diane, on January 18, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Carter McGregor, Jr. (Doris Mc-Reynolds) a son, William Alfred, in November, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Carter McGregor, Jr. (Doris Mc-Reynolds) a son, William Alfred, in November, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Carter McGregor, Jr. (Doris Mc-Reynolds) a son, William Alfred, in November, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. John C. Horton (Virginia Roberdeau) a son, Wilmot Roberdeau, on June 14, 1950 at Maxwell AF Base, Ala. To Mr. and Mrs. Kenneth Francis C. Murray (Margaret Cochran) a son, Kenneth, Jr., on April 4, 1950 in Rockville Centre, Long Island, N.Y. To Mr. and Mrs. William S. Montgomery (Marian Miller) a son, William Slack, Jr., on June 11, 1950. TEXAS BETA

### TEXAS BETA

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Felix Payne (Peggy Wyatt) a son, Wyatt Payne, in November, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Karl E. Hoeffner (Mary Beth Stine) a daughter, Karol Ann, on March 7, 1950 in Dallas, Tex.

### UTAH ALPHA

### Marriages

Mary Brown and Charles Woodruff Toberman on March 1950. Donna Maria Layng and John Faber Koehule on April 11, 1950 Donna

24, 1950. Mary Ann Palmer and James Hamilton Gardner on June

#### Births

Births
Births
To Mr. and Mrs. Spencer P. Felt, Jr. (Barbara Schenk) a daughter, Marianne, on March 12, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. William E. Hunter, Jr. (Pat Cotterell) a son, William E., III, on April 17, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. George A. Learning (Merline Clark) a daughter, Susan Jane, on April 21, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. George Cannon (Afton Ryberg) a son, George Ryberg, on March 24, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. William George Hunefeld, Jr. (Betty Paine) a son, William George, III.
To Mr. and Mrs. Richard W. Muir (Frances Parmelee) a daughter, Janet Elizabeth, on January 27, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Rugene Kirkpatrick (Joan Roberts) a son, Sherman, on March 2, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Raymond Glen Brewer (Joan Cannon) a son, Sherman, on June 6, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. Howard A. Means (Enid Ryberg) a son, David Ryberg, on May 29, 1950.
To Mr. and Mrs. William Jones (Nancy Squires) a daughter, Vicki, on May 26, 1950.

#### VERMONT BETA

#### Birth

To Mr. and Mrs, Richard P. Smith (Elizabeth Taylor) a daughter, Carolyn Parker, on April 17, 1950.

#### VIRGINIA ALPHA Marriages

Bettie Mildred Smith and J. Richard Pierce, Jr. on De-cember 27, 1949. Ann Caskey and William T. Brotherton, Jr. on June 17, 1950 in Wichita Palls, Tex. Florence Mitchell and William Lee Garrett on March 24, 1950 in Ft. Smith, Ark.

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Henry F. Lochte (Roberta Doggett) a son, Robert Henry, on June 25, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Carleton Billups (Bettye Wilder) a son, Thomas C., III, on April 6, 1949.

To Mr. and Mrs. Frank Bowdle (Margaret Bridwell) a daughter, Bonnie, in November, 1949. To Dr. and Mrs. W. E. Crump (Lida Lea) a son, on February 20, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Charles Wilson (Rosa Gene Walker) a son, "Charles Robbins, on April 6, 1950.

### VIRGINIA GAMMA

#### Marriages

Audrey Allein and Louis Hoitsma on April 1, 1950 in Washington, D.C. Ida Moore and Trevvett Matthews on July 29, 1950 in Norfolk, Va.

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Richard A. Gray (Betty Sue Nunn) a son, Bruce Richard, on February 20, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. William O. Keim (Nancy McCall) a son, Peter Jonathan, on June 7, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George Musgrave (Mary Jean Caldwell) a daughter, Nancy Jean, on March 5, 1950.

WASHINGTON ALPHA

#### Marriages

Lorraine Danell and Robert Blake on May 27, 1950 in Tacoma, Wash. Helen Veatch and F. Lee Campbell on July 28, 1950

in

Tacoma, Wash. Marilyn Ryan and Arthur R. Taylor on March 11, 1950. Gail Matheus and Keith Chase on May 11, 1950. Patricia Ann Hallock and Ronald C. Eader on June 9,

1950 Barbara Joan Whitehead and Lawrence A. Lindberg on

June 9, 1950. Sue Schroeder and Kenneth Aust on June 16, 1950, Sarann Breene and Otis B. Harlan, Jr. on June 29, 1950.

Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Harry L. Stearns (Martha Burkhart) a daughter, Elizabeth Ann, on January 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. J. A. Spongberg (Virginia Cruse) a daughter, Laurie Ann, on December 31, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Patrick McNamara (Bette Horne) a son, Michael William, on October 24, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Harry Michaels (Nancy Reid) a daughter, on March 21, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Lewis P. Crutcher (Virginia Garver) a daughter, Victoria Lee, on February 16, 1950 in Berkeley, Calif.

To Mr, and Mrs. Lewis P. Crutcher (Virginia Garver) a daughter, Victoria Lee, on February 16, 1950 in Berkeley, Calif. To Mr, and Mrs. Gerald Bennatts (Patricia Ricker) a son, Robert Brent, on May 4, 1950 in Tacoma, Wash. To Mr, and Mrs. James Baldwin (Rosalind Rutherford) a daughter, Leslie Ann, on September 15, 1949. To Mr, and Mrs. Jack W. Sutherland (Marianna Lang-stead) a daughter, Janice Ann, on April 13, 1949. To Mr, and Mrs. Jack W. Sutherland (Marianna Lang-stead) a daughter, Janice Ann, on April 13, 1949. To Mr, and Mrs. Robert C. Seaman (Annette Olsen) a daughter, Robin Annette, on January 9, 1950. To Mr, and Mrs. Jack W. Frost (Shirley Butler) a daughter, Barbara Ruth, on March 7, 1950. To Mr, and Mrs. Robert L. Simpson (Robin Harris) a son, Scott LaMont, on April 3, 1950. To Mr, and Mrs. R. L. Loveless (Barbara Crawford) a son, Stephen Crawford, on April 16, 1950. To Mr, and Mrs. Paul Gaudette (Betty Jacobs) a son, Christopher Robin, on April 25, 1950. To Mr, and Mrs. John C. Rushmore (Joann Flaten) a daughter, Gail Kibble, on May 29, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John C. Rushmore (Joann Flaten) a daughter, Gail Kibble, on May 29, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. John C. Rushmore (Joann Flaten) a daughter, Carolyn Adele, on May 31, 1950.

### WASHINGTON BETA

#### Marriages

Janet Ruth McMath and Gordon A. Prentice on June Marilyn Hahn and Dale Stedman on November 26, 1949

Josephine Dorsey and Thomas Lacey on May 13, 1950 in Spokane, Wash. Spokane,

#### Births

Birtht To Mr. and Mrs. Ray L. Whitney (Jane McMicken) a daughter, Nancy Lee, on April 17, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Dale Morrison (Martha Gray) a son, Paul James, on December 7, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Walter Eckhardt (Lenore Elstrom) a daughter, Judith Ann, on November 10, 1949 in Tacoma, Wash. To Mr. and Mrs. Orville Ritchie (Marjorie Neal) a daughter, Nancy Kimball, on October 31, 1949. To Mr. and Mrs. Stanley Ross (Kathryn King) a daughter, Marcia Lee, on March 10, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. George R. Cole (Barbara Carroll) a son, David Alan, on July 2, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Jack Taylor (Betty Matsen) a daughter, Constance Lee, on June 22, 1950.

#### WASHINGTON GAMMA

#### Marriages

Sheila Lamar and Edward Hungerford on June 3, 1950 in Tacoma, Wash. Mary Agnes Gallagher and Lloyd M. Silver on June 17, 1950 in Tacoma, Wash. Mary Elizabeth Morton and Donald Wollett on June 30, 1950 in Tacoma, Wash.

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. Robert C. Barlow (Dorothy Hager) a daughter, Elizabeth, on February 26, 1950 in Tacoma. To Mr. and Mrs. Dean Hackett (Jean Hallen) a son, Lee Edward, on March 27, 1950 in Tacoma. To Mr. and Mrs. E. E. Boyd (Mildred Brown) a son, Robert Brian, on April 4, 1950 in Tacoma. To Mr. and Mrs. William Causin (Janis Eisenhower) a daughter, Jean Nadine, on May 1, 1950 in Tacoma. To Mr. and Mrs. William Guyles (Catherine Foss) a daughter, Margaret Aileen, on May 5, 1950 in Tacoma.

### WEST VIRGINIA ALPHA

#### Marriage

Joan Clemans and Lloyd H. Newcomer on June 29, 1950 in heeling, W.Va. Wheeling,

Births

To Mr. and Mrs. Harry N. Casto (Betty Shanklin) a son, John Shanklin, on June 11, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Thomas B. Moorhead (Janie Brown) a son, David Merritt, on March 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Brooks Smith (Eleanor Margaret Boyle) a son, Patrick, on May 15, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Howard Showalter, Jr. (Virginia Lee Frantz) a daughter, Edith Sands, on June 12, 1950 in Orlando Fla Frantz) a da Orlando, Fla.

### WISCONSIN ALPHA

#### Marriages

Narriagei Nancy Elizabeth Ryan and Albert Alexander Teeter, Jr. on April 15, 1950 in Hibbing, Minn, Nancy Lindblom and Gordon Perry on April 22, 1950 in Wauwatosa, Wis. Janet Kissling and Kurt Wemple on June 24, 1950 in Milwaukee, Wis. Barbara Below and William Kletzien on June 24, 1950 in Glence III

in Glencoe, Ill. Nancy Philipp and John Frost on April 29, 1950 in Wau-

Verone Hetland and Robert Cook on April 15, 1950 in Jefferson, Wis,

#### Births

Births To Mr. and Mrs. George Evans (Hildegard Thadewald) a son, James Mitchell, on April 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. William D. Marx (Patricia Baldwin) a daughter, Melissa, on April 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. William W. O'Brien (Jane Dawdy) a daughter, Kathryn Marie, on March 19, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert Larsen (Joyce Grothe) a daugh-ter, Tamara Joyce, on March 1, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. James Stuart Smith (Jane Meigs) a son, Steven James, on April 10, 1950 in Madison, Wis. To Mr. and Mrs. John B. Secord (Jane Kresge) a son, Mark Lloyd, on May 30, 1950 in Madison, Wis.

### WISCONSIN BETA

### Marriage

Mary Russell and Robert F. Swain on June 10, 1950 in Kewanee, Illinois.

#### WISCONSIN GAMMA

### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. R. M. Davis (Virginia Dalstrom) a son, John Kimball, on March 31, 1950. To Mr. and Mrs. Gene Ellis Claussen (Margaret Miller) a daughter, Christina Louise, on February 1, 1950 at Iowa City, Iowa.

#### WYOMING ALPHA

#### Marriage

Harriet Joan Hagist and Robert A. Harris on July 2, 1950 in Casper, Wyo.

#### Births

To Mr. and Mrs. John H. Maffeo (Mary June Reed) a son, John Reed, on May 3, 1950 in Phoenix, Ariz. To Mr. and Mrs. William Paul Bush (Marybeth Burns) a son, William Paul, II, on April 21, 1950 in Casper,

<sup>a</sup> 50n, William Mrs. J. M. Sullivan (Virginia Davis) a To Mr. and Mrs. J. M. Sullivan (Virginia Davis) a daughter, Karen Winnie, on June 16, 1950 in Casper, Wyo. To Mr. and Mrs. Robert H. Johnson (Helen Hamm) a daughter, Susan Marie, on April 24, 1950 in Cheyenne, Wyo.

# IN MEMORIAM

EVELYN MILLER BLACKMER (Mrs. Percy R.) initiated April 16, 1919 into Missouri Beta, died February 19, 1950.

JESSIE GRIFFIN BONARD (Mrs. U. J.) initiated October 27, 1905 into Colorado Beta, died May 1, 1950.

GENEVIEVE DART CROSSETTE (Mrs. William) initiated June 22, 1872 into Illinois Beta, died December 14, 1949.

EVELYN THORNE FAULKNER (Mrs. F. C.) initiated March 9, 1941 into Ohio Alpha, died April 10, 1950.

MARY GARRISON initiated February 25, 1926 into Missouri Alpha, died October, 1949.

GEORGIA RICHHART GILWORTH (Mrs. F. H.) initiated April 28, 1904 into Indiana Beta, died May 7, 1950.

ÈNID VAN ALSTINE HAYWARD (Mrs. Harry) initiated February 14, 1914 into Colorado Alpha, died July 20, 1950 in Los Angelos, Calif.

HELEN SHUFFLEBARGER JACOBS (Mrs. John M.) initiated March 1, 1918 into Indiana Alpha, died December 23, 1949.

ELEANORE GLASS JENKINS (Mrs. Mark B.) initiated October 29, 1925 into Oregon Alpha, died October, 1949.

FLORENCE NORTH KASPER (Mrs. George J.) initiated February 2, 1924 into Wisconsin Beta, died January 21, 1950.

MINNIE SMITH KINNEY (Mrs. Harvey A.) initiated May 16, 1885 into Iowa Beta, died March 17, 1949.

MARGARET RICKENBAUGH KITCHEN (Mrs. James G., II) initiated February 13, 1935 into Pennsylvania Gamma, died May 15, 1948.

ALFARETTA SMITHSON LADD (Mrs. Carey P.) initiated October 24, 1902 into Vermont Alpha, died March 24, 1950.

ELIZABETH NORTHCUTT LUSTED (Mrs. Stephen W.) initiated March 13, 1925 into Illinois Delta, died July 4, 1950.

ETHEL CAROLINE MAGOON initiated May 5, 1911 into Vermont Alpha, died June 2, 1950.

EILEEN WILSON MCMACKIN (Mrs. John) initiated June 4, 1927 into Illinois Eta, died May 18, 1950.

ELIZABETH KENNEDY MINTURN (Mrs. Ward B.) initiated August 27, 1900 into California Beta, died April 7, 1950.

MARGARETHA FENDRICH NICHOL (Mrs. Walter H.) initiated January 12, 1907 into Maryland Alpha, died February 13, 1950.

MARY NELL SHARP initiated March 19, 1938 into Texas Beta, died in July, 1950.

A. GENEVIEVE WHITE SHORKLEY (Mrs. T. M.) initiated November 13, 1896 into Pennsylvania Beta, died March 22, 1950.

BLANCHE RAINE SIMMONS (Mrs. A. Harvey) initiated April 1, 1922 into Pennsylvania Gamma, died January 29, 1950.

MARY GALBRAITH SOUTHARD (Mrs. George) initiated November 16, 1900 into Massachusetts Alpha, died March 28, 1950.

MARIE WHINERY SPALSBURY (Mrs. George C.) initiated February 11, 1913 into Oklahoma Alpha, died January 6, 1950.

GRACE STUMPE SRYGLEY (Mrs. T. Q.) initiated March 5, 1925 into Missouri Alpha, died December, 1949.

LORETTA FOELLINGER TEEPLE (Mrs. Richard S.) initiated March 25, 1933 into Illinois Zeta, died July 4, 1950.

CHRISTINE ROBERTSON TURNER (Mrs. Pamorrow) initiated March 21, 1919 into D.C. Alpha. BESSIE BEATTY WADE (Mrs. Charles A.) initiated February 28, 1920 into West Virginia Alpha, died April 5, 1950.

JEAN MASSEY WATSON (Mrs. Samuel L.) initiated March 31, 1910 into Missouri Alpha, died November 10, 1949.

HELEN WEBSTER WILLIAMS initiated January 18, 1895 into California Alpha, died July 9, 1950.

# The NEW 1951 BALFOUR BLUE BOOK

The NEW 1951 Balfour Blue Book features an outstanding selection of crested jewelry, personal accessories, Christmas gifts, awards, favors, knitwear, sterling wedding and baby gifts, and paper products—all available with your Pi Beta Phi crest.

RINGS	BRACELETS	CUFF LINKS	POCKET KNIVES
KEYS	NECKLACES	KEY CHAINS	TIE CHAINS
PINS	LOCKETS	CLOCKS	WATCH BRACELETS

Mail a post card NOW to reserve your FREE copy!

### ENGRAVED STATIONERY

Balfour offers you quality stationery with the Pi Beta Phi crest for your chapter's correspondence with alumni and other chapters. Use it for personal letters, too.

Engraved invitations, placecards, and programs also available. Send for samples.

## **PARTY REQUIREMENTS**

Unusual programs and popular favors are styled for every type of party or dance. Decorated miniature and full-size mugs, perfumers, jewelry, animals, and many other items. Write us for suggestions for your special social functions.

### BALFOUR LEATHER

Leather goods mounted with your Pi Beta Phi crest make lasting gifts and attractive accessories. See the NEW 1951 BLUE BOOK for billfolds, key cases, jewel boxes, cigarette cases, picture frames, letter cases, and bridge sets in a variety of fine leathers.

## BALFOUR BLUECREST DIAMONDS

Diamond engagement rings and wedding bands are available, to fraternity men and women. Diamonds are perfect stones, cut to reflect maximum light. Full satisfaction guaranteed or your money refunded. Write for illustrations.

### **BALFOUR IS READY TO SERVE YOU**

Write us for the name of the Balfour representative who can serve you and your chapter. See the BALFOUR BLUE BOOK for your nearest Balfour Store.

### Sole Official Jeweler to Pi Beta Phi

BALFOUR

L. G Attleboro

Massachusetts

COMPANY

In Canada . . . Contact your nearest BIRKS' STORE.

